# The effect of sagittal plane ankle-foot orthosis alignment on gait in children with cerebral palsy

Submitted by

Emily Ridgewell (nee Graham) Bachelor of Prosthetics and Orthotics (Honours)

A thesis submitted in total fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> School of Human Biosciences Faculty of Health Sciences. La Trobe University Bundoora, Victoria 3086 Australia

> > October 2011

# **Table of Contents**

Table of Contents	. 3
List of Figures	. 9
List of Tables	12
Abbreviations	14
Summary	15
Statement of authorship	17
Publications and presentations	18
Publications	18
Conference presentations	18
Posters	18
Course proceedings	18
Scholarships	18
Acknowledgements	19
1 Introduction	21
Problem statement	21
Research questions	23
Objectives	24
Synopsis	24
Overview of the thesis	26
1.1.1 Study 1: A systematic review to determine best practice reporting guidelines for AFO	
interventions in studies involving children with CP	26
1.1.2 Study 2: Pilot study	26
1.1.3 Study 3: The effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait	26
1.1.4 Study 4: Is there an optimal AFO-FC alignment?	27
AFOs in three dimensional gait analysis	27
Significance of the research	27
	20
2 Background	31
Cerebral palsy	31
2.1.1 Definition and incidence	31
2.1.2 Clinical presentation and classification	31
2.1.3 Gait patterns in cerebral palsy	33
Ankle-foot orthoses	38
2.1.4 Terms and definitions	40
2.1.4.1 AFO-1001wear combination (AFO-FC)	.40
2.1.4.2 AFO differential & nitch	.40 70
2144 Shank-to-vertical angle	40
2.1.5 Biomechanics of AFOs	43
2.1.5.1 Controlling rotational movement	.43
2.1.5.2 Modifying the GRF	.44
2.1.6 Footwear	45
2.1.6.1 Sole profiles	.47
2.1.6.2 Heel profiles	.48

2.1.6.3 AFO ankle angle	49
2.1.7 Evidence for the efficacy of AFOs	49
Tuning the AFO-FC	50
2.1.8 Tuning Techniques	52
2.1.8.1 Force vector analysis	52
2.1.8.2 Three dimensional gait analysis	53
2.1.9 Defining AFO-FC tuning	53
2.1.9.1 What parameter is optimised?	53
2.1.9.2 During which part of the gait cycle?	55
2.1.9.3 What is successful and unsuccessful tuning?	58
2.1.9.4 Which children are responsive?	60
Evidence base for AFO-FC alignment	64
2.1.10 How does AFO-FC alignment affect gait?	64
2.1.10.1 Knee kinetics	64
2.1.10.2 Knee kinematics	65
2.1.10.3 Hip kinetics and kinematics	65
2.1.10.4 Temporospatial parameters	66
2.1.10.5 Permanent motor learning	66
2.1.11 Implications for other AFO designs	68
Summary	69
Research Questions	70
2. A sustamatic review to determine best prostice reporting suidelines	
3 A systematic review to determine best practice reporting guidelines	
for AFO interventions in studies involving children with CP	71
3.1 Introduction	71
3.2 Aims	75
3.3 Methods	75
3.3.1 Search Strategy	75
3.3.2 Inclusion criteria	76
3.3.2.1 Participants	76
3.3.2.2 Interventions	76
3.3.2.3 Outcome measures	76
3.3.2.4 Types of papers	77
3.3.2.5 Evaluation methods	77
3.3.2.6 Data extraction and quality checklist	77
3.4 Results	80
3.4.1 Search yield	80
3.4.2 Demographic and descriptive aspects	80
3.4.3 Quality assessment	83
3.4.3.1 Participant details	83
3.4.3.2 AFO details	83
3.4.3.3 Testing protocol	83
3.5 Discussion	89
3.5.1 Participant details	89
3.5.2 AFO details	92
3.5.3 Testing protocol	95
3.5.4 Future directions	96
3.5.5 Limitations	96
3.6 Conclusion	97
1 Dilat study: How doos AFO FC alignment affect gait?	00
4 FILOL SLUUY. HOW UDES AFO-FC diignment direct gall?	99
4.1 Introduction	
4.1.1 Aim & hypothesis	102

4.2 Method	102
4.2.1 Participants	102
4.2.2 Apparatus	103
4.2.2.1 AFO design	
4.2.2.2 Measurement of the AFO ankle angle and SVA	104
4.2.3 Data collection	105
4.2.4 Data analysis	106
4.2.4.1 Quality assessment	
4.2.5 Evidence of Mechanisms	107
4.3 Results	109
4.3.1 Evidence of Mechanisms	109
4.3.2 Summary	109
4.3.2.1 Mechanism 1	
4.3.2.2 Mechanism 2	
4.3.2.3 Mixed	
Key Graphs: Participant 3L (Mechanism 1)	112
Key Graphs: Participant 3R (Mechanism 1)	113
Key Graphs: Participant 4E (Mixed)	114 115
Key Graphs: Participant 51 (Mochanicm 2)	115 116
Key Graphs: Participant 5E (Mechanism 2)	110 117
Key Graphs: Participant 5K (Mechanism 2)	117 118
1.1 Discussion	
4.4 Discussion and future directions	
4.5. Conclusion	120
4.5 Conclusion	
5 Methods	123
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Participants	
5.2.1 Ethical approval	125
5.2.2 Recruitment	125
5.2.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	125
5.2.4 Participant details	126
5.3 Apparatus	
5.3.1 Footwear	129
5.3.2 Wedges	129
5.3.3 3-Dimensional Gait Analysis	131
5.3.4 Marker set	132
5.4 Protocol	
5.4.1 Clinical Assessment	134
5.4.2 3-Dimensional Gait Analysis	134
Urder of testing	
Data collection	135 126
5.4.5 Data Processing	130
6 The effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait	137
6.1 Introduction	
6.1.1 Aims and hypotheses	139
6.2 Methods	
6.2.1 Participants, apparatus and procedures	140
6.2.2 Data analysis	140
6.2.2.1 Sub-groups according to knee kinematic pattern	140
6.2.2.2 Responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change	140
6.2.2.3 The effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait	

6.3 Results	
6.3.1 Participants	146
6.3.2 Sub-groups according to knee kinematic pattern	146
6.3.2.1 a) Solid AFOs	146
6.3.2.2 b) Hinged AFOs	146
6.3.3 Responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change	150
6.3.3.1 RMS difference over mid-stance	
6.3.3.2 RMS difference over stance phase	
6.3.3.3 Difference at 30% gait cycle	
6.3.3.4 Relationship between analyses	
6.3.4 Effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait	156
6.3.4.1 Solid AFOs.	
6.3.4.2 Average common solid AFO sub-group	
6.3.4.4 Average (common' binged AFO sub-group	104
6.3.4.4 Average common hinged AFO sub-group	108108108108108
6.4. Discussion	172 175
6.4.1 Are all shildren responsive to AFO FC alignment shange?	1/3 17г
6.4.1 Are all children responsive to AFO-FC alignment changer	1/5
6.4.2 The effect of ArO-rC anglinent of gait	170
6.4.2.2 Probable response variables	/ / 1۷۱ ۱۷۵
6.4.2.2 Fossible response variables	180 181
6.4.2.4 Type of AFO design	
6.4.3 Limitations	183
6.5 Conclusion	185
7 Is there an optimum AFO-FC alignment?	
7.1 Introduction	
7.1.1 Aims and hypotheses	189
7.2 Data analysis	
7.2.1 Identification of optimum	190
7.2.1.1 Minimum difference	
7.2.2 Agreement between parameters	193
7.3 <i>Results</i>	
7.3.1 Participants	194
7.3.2 Is there an optimum AFO-FC alignment?	194
7.3.2.1 Solid AFOs	
7.3.2.2 Hinged AFOS	
7.3.2.3 Summary of trend type	202
7.3.3 Is there agreement between parameters?	203
7.2.2.2 Hingod AEOc	
7.4 Discussion	207 211
7.4 Discussion	211 211
7.4.1 Is there are oment between parameters?	211
7.4.2 limitations	214
7.4.4 Future directions	210
7.5 Conclusion	217
7.5 Conclusion	
8 A new model to measure movement of the ankle, AFO	and footwear
in solid AFOs using 3DGA	219
8.1 Introduction	219
8.1.1 Plug-In-Gait	213
8.1.1.1 Definition of a rigid-body segment	

8.1.1	1.2 Definition of the joint centre	222
8.1.1	1.3 Soft Tissue Artefact of the knee marker	223
8.1.1	1.4 Calculation of the ankle joint centre	224
8.1.1	1.5 Movement of the AFO and shoe	225
8.1.1	1.6 Calculation of AFO kinematics	226
8.1.1	1.7 Summary of problem & solution	227
8.1.2	2 Aims and hypotheses	227
8.2 Me	ethod	228
8.2.1	Participants	228
8.2.2	Data collection	228
8.2.3	Markers	228
8.2.4	Data processing	229
8.2.4	4.1 Definition of [AFO] and [shank] segments	229
8.2.4	4.2 Definition of [AFOfoot] and [shoe] segments	229
8.2.4	4.3 Angle decomposition	231
8.2.5	Analysis	233
8.2.5	5.1 Parameters	233
8.2.5	5.2 Comparison of ankle kinematics according to $\theta$ ankle anat and $\theta$ PiG	233
8.2.5	5.3 Comparison of AFO, tibial and footwear movements	234
8.3 Res	sults	235
8.3.1	Total ankle ROM	235
8.3.2	STA Error	236
8.3.2	2.1 STA Error across the gait cycle	236
8.3.2	2.2 Correlation of STA Error with knee kinematics	237
8.3.3	Kinematics of the AFO, tibla and footwear	238
8.3.3	3.1 Modelling correlation	238
8.3.3	3.2 I otal ROM of the AFO, tibla and footwear	239
8.3.3	3.3 AFO deformation and tibial movement across the gait cycle	
8.3.3	3.4 Correlation between AFO deformation and ankle moment	243
0.3.3 0.2 2	3.5 Correlation between ubid movement and ankie moment against body weight	244 246
0.5.3	s.o Contraction of APO deformation & tiblar movement against body weight	240 2 <i>4</i> 7
0.4 DIS	Accuracy of the DiC model	/24 مەر
0.4.1	Movement of the tibia	247
0.4.2	Movement of the AFO	240
8.4.3 8 1 1	Movement of the footwoor	249
8.4.4 8.4.5		250
846	Entrations	250
85 Cou	nclusion	251
8.5 00		
9 Grand	Discussion	253
9.1 Ov	erview of findings	253
9.1.1	How well is AFO-FC alignment reported in the wider body of literature?	253
9.1.2	How does AFO-FC alignment affect gait?	253
9.1.3	Are all children responsive to AFO-FC alignment change?	254
9.1.4	What is the effect of systematic AFO-FC alignment change on gait?	255
9.1.5	Is there an optimum AFO-FC alignment?	255
9.1.6	How does the Plug-in-Gait output of ankle kinematics compare to anatomical a	ankle
kinematics	? Can movement of the anatomical ankle, the AFO, tibia and footwear be meas	ured? 255
9.2 Lin	nitations of research	256
9.2.1	Sample size and bias	256
9.2.2	Variety in AFO design and manufacture	257
9.2.3	Generalisation to the tuning process	258
9.3 Im <sub>i</sub>	plications of research	258

9.3.	1 AFO-FC alignment is under reported and potentially underappreciated within the wi	der
body of	literature	259
9.3.	2 When examining the effect of AFO-FC alignment the type of gait pattern matters	260
9.3.	3 All limbs are sensitive to changes in AFO-FC alignment	261
9.3.	4 AFO-FC alignment has a significant effect on gait	262
9.3.	5 AFO-FC alignment affects terminal stance as well as mid-stance	263
9.3.	6 All biomechanical parameters do not optimise simultaneously	264
9.3.	7 AFO flexion is the most significant contributor to excessive ankle ROM in solid AFOs	265
9.3.	8 Implications for clinical researchers	266
9.3.	9 Implications for clinicians	267
9.3.	10 Implications for children, families and policy makers	268
9.4	Future avenues of research	269
9.4.	1 What is the effect of heel and sole modifications on gait?	269
9.4.	2 What is the effect of AFO-FC alignment on other domains of the ICF?	269
9.4.	3 What is the effect of AFO-FC alignment on other populations?	269
9.4.	4 How does AFO rigidity vary across different clinical settings?	269
9.4.	5 What is the effect of poor fitting footwear?	270
9.5	Overall conclusions	271
Appen	dices 2	273
Refere	nces	334

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Concept map of thesis structure.	25
Figure 2.1 GMFCS for children in the 6-12 years age band	33
Figure 2.2 Kinematic patterns associated with the WGH classification (Winters, et al., 1987)	35
Figure 2.3 Postural patterns and management algorithms for spastic hemiplegic CP (Rodda &	
Graham, 2001)	35
Figure 2.4 Sagittal plane kinematics for spastic diplegia (Rodda, et al., 2004).	37
Figure 2.5 Diplegic postural patterns described by Rodda and colleagues (Rodda, et al., 2004)	37
Figure 2.6 Examples of a solid and hinged AFO with a plantarflexion stop at plantigrade	39
Figure 2.7 The SVA ( $\theta$ ) of the AFO-FC reflects the AFO ankle angle ( $\alpha$ ) and the pitch of the	
footwear (β)	41
Figure 2.8 The SVA is a combination of AFO ankle angle and the HSD.	42
Figure 2.9 Diagram of forces applied to prevent plantarflexion.	43
Figure 2.10 Diagram of forces applied to prevent dorsiflexion in a) a solid AFO; b) an articulated	
AFO with a dorsiflexion stop	44
Figure 2.11 Example of the improved relationship between articulating segments as well as the	
angular relationship between the plantar surface of the foot and the ground.	45
Figure 2.12 The sub-set of the algorithm proposed by Owen (2005a) which involves tuning the	
AFO-FC	46
Figure 2.13 Example output of successive freeze-frame images taken from a two dimensional	
video vector generator (Stallard, 1987).	53
Figure 2.14 Increasing the HSD using a heel wedge increases the SVA and as a result, the distance	
from the knee joint to the GRE vector is reduced	54
Figure 2 15 Diagram illustrating consistent reductions in knee extension moment due to	
increased shank incline, but a variable effect on the hin moment	55
Figure 2 16 Divisions of the gait cycle reproduced from Perry (1992, p. 10)	55
Figure 2.17 Mechanism 1: when the foot is flat on ground increased HSD results in shank	57
inclination	61
Figure 2.18 Mechanism 2: when the foot is inclined on ground increased HSD results in no	01
change to shank inclination	62
Figure 2.19 Increasing the HSD in a flexed limb increases the base of support thus shifting the	02
centre of pressure posteriorly	63
Figure 2.20 Increased HSD increases the base of support and shifts the centre of pressure	05
nosteriorly. Trunk lean, his flexion moments and knee extension moments are reduced	62
Figure 2.1 Sackett's Levels of Evidence (Sackett <i>et al.</i> 2000)	05
Figure 3.2 The DEDro scale ("DEDro " 2008)	72
Figure 2.2 Ther EDTO scale (TEDTO, 2000)	75
Figure 4.1 Machanism 1: when the fact is flat on ground increased HSD results in shank	70
inclination which moves the knee joint closer to the CPE vector thus reducing the external	
know extension moment	00
Figure 4.2 Machanism 2: when the fact is inclined on the ground an increased HSD results in no	99
rigure 4.2 Mechanism 2. When the root is inclined on the ground an increased hop results in no	
change to shark inclination. Rather, the point of application of the GRF vector will shift	100
Figure 4.2 Modified lang arm ganismater used to measure (VA. The suis use positioned even the	. 100
Figure 4.3 Modified long arm gonometer used to measure SVA. The axis was positioned over the	
lateral maleolus, the stationary arm was therefore aligned vertically and the mobile arm was	
positioned in line with the lateral femoral epicondyle. This design provides a stable base on	404
which to mount the goniometer for measurement	. 104
Figure 4.4 Key outcome variables: a) peak knee extension moment; b) first peak dorsifiexion	
moment in the common double-bump pattern; c) foot flat during mid-stance; d) tibial incline	
at 30% GC; e) peak knee extension angle.	. 108
Figure 4.5 Key Graphs for Participant 3L	. 112
Figure 4.6 Key Graphs for Participant 3R.	. 113

Figure 4.7 Key Graphs for Participant 4L.	. 114
Figure 4.8 Key Graphs for Participant 4R.	. 115
Figure 4.9 Key Graphs for Participant 5L.	. 116
Figure 4.10 Key Graphs for Participant 5R.	. 117
Figure 4.11 Key Graphs for Participant 6	. 118
Figure 5.1 Footwear was modified to a zero pitch by using a spirit level incorporated into a set	
square	. 129
Figure 5.2 Definition of wedge dimensions	. 130
Figure 5.3 Diagram of wedges showing the heel and toe rockers; 0°=flat, 5°=small, 10°=medium	
and 15°=large	. 131
Figure 5.4 Diagram of full marker set.	. 133
Figure 6.1 Probable response variables (hypothesised to demonstrate systematic changes across all limbs or a sub-set of limbs).	143
Figure 6.2 Possible response variables (hypothesised to demonstrate non-systematic changes	
with wedge size). All kinetic variables refer to external joint moments	. 144
Figure 6.3 Average joint kinematics, kinetics and segment kinematics across the gait cycle for the	
baseline (flat) condition for each limb in the solid AFO group	. 148
Figure 6.4 Average joint kinematics, kinetics and segment kinematics across the gait cycle for the	
baseline (flat) condition for each limb in the hinged AFO group	. 149
Figure 6.5 RMS difference between the baseline (flat) condition and the small (5°), medium (10°),	
and large wedge (15°) across 10-30% GC and all of stance phase, and difference at 30% GC for	
the solid and hinged AFO groups	151
Figure 6.6 Scatterplot and line of best fit for gradient according to the mid-stance and stance	
phase analysis, and the mid-stance and 30% gait cycle analysis, including the coefficient of	
determination (r <sup>2</sup> ) and gradient.	155
Figure 6.7 Change ( $\Delta$ ) in variables between the flat wedge and the small, medium and large	
wedges for all limbs in the solid AFO group.	. 157
Figure 6.8 Individual average walking velocity, cadence and stride length across conditions for	450
the solid AFO group.	. 158
Figure 6.10 Average gait traces for each condition for the common solid AFO sub-group. Grey	101
Figure 6.11 Average values + 1SD for each condition for the common colid AEO cub group	161
Figure 6.11 Average values $\pm$ 15D for each condition for the continuon solid AFO sub-group	. 102
rigure 0.11 Change (Δ) in variables between the nat wedge and the small, medium and large	
projection angles	165
Figure 6.13 Individual average cadence, walking velocity and stride length across conditions for	. 105
the hinged AFO group	166
Figure 6.14 Average gait traces for each condition for the common hinged AFO sub-group	169
Figure 6.15 Average values + 1SD for each condition for the common hinged AFO sub-group.	. 170
Figure 6.16 Average and standard deviations for peak knee extension moment and peak knee	
flexion angle during stance for all limbs in the solid AFO group and the hinged AFO group.	. 174
Figure 7.1 Example data demonstrating a a) clear optimum in a U shape (U), an increasing trend	
(IT) and a decreasing trend (DT); b) an ambiguous optimum (A); and c) no optimum (NO)	. 191
Figure 7.2 RMS difference to normal values for able bodied children for a) knee kinetics, b) knee	
kinematics, c) ankle kinetics and d) tibial projection angles for the solid AFO group.	. 195
Figure 7.3 RMS difference to normal values for able bodied children for a) knee kinetics, b) knee	
kinematics, c) ankle kinetics and d) tibial projections, for the hinged AFO group.	. 199
Figure 7.4 Correlation between pairs of biomechanical variables within each participant in the	
solid AFO group. Variant limbs in grey	. 204
Figure 7.5 Correlation between pairs of biomechanical variables within each participant in the	
hinged AFO group. Variant limbs in grey	. 208
Figure 8.1 Concept diagram showing the long axis of the two limb segments used in the PiG	
calculation of ankle kinematics	. 220

Figure 8.2 Concept diagram of movement of the AFO ( $ heta AFO~def$ ), the tibia within the AFO	
( $\theta tib mov$ ), the anatomical ankle ( $\theta ankle anat$ ) and the AFO foot piece within the	
footwear ( <i>θshoe mov</i> )	221
Figure 8.3 Definition of orthogonal axes for a rigid body segment.	222
Figure 8.4 Definition of joint centre in PiG.	223
Figure 8.5 PiG segment definitions. This figure illustrates how STA of the KNEE marker and	
anterior tibial movement within the AFO can affect ankle kinematics.	225
Figure 8.6 Location of the lower limb markers on the skin, AFO and shoe	228
Figure 8.7 Static model segment definitions, used to calculate the local position of FEO relative	
to the [Shank] and [AFO] and the local position of the HEE marker relative to the [AFOfoot]	230
Figure 8.8. Definition and axes of the [AFO] and [Shank] segments.	230
Figure 8.9 Definition of [AFOfoot] and [Shoe] segments	231
Figure 8.10 Segments used to calculate the four angles of interest	231
Figure 8.11 Diagrammatic representation of the four calculated rotations. The new HeeAFOfoot,	
FEOAfo and FEOShank are incorporated into the segment definitions	232
Figure 8.12 Total ROM at the ankle according to $\theta PiG$ and $\theta ankle anat$	235
Figure 8.13 STA error across the gait cycle for all limbs	236
Figure 8.14 Example scatter plot and line of best fit of STA Error against knee kinematics for four	
limbs ( JABU-L, JABU-R, HAHA-R and MAHO-R)	237
Figure 8.15 Scatter plot of <i>\thetaankle anat</i> against the sum of <i>\thetaAFO def</i> and <i>\thetatib mov</i> for all	
limbs	238
Figure 8.16 Total ROM of <i>θshoe mov</i> , <i>θtib mov</i> and <i>θAFO def</i>	239
Figure 8.17 $\Delta \theta$ ankle anat, $\Delta \theta$ AFO def and ankle moment for the four limbs demonstrating	
tibial movement > AFO deformation	241
Figure 8.18 $\Delta \theta$ ankle anat, $\Delta \theta$ AFO def and ankle moment for the nine limbs demonstrating	
AFO deformation > tibial movement	242
Figure 8.19 Scatter plot of ankle moment and degrees of $\Delta \theta AFO \ def$ for all limbs	243
Figure 8.20 Scatter plot and line of best fit between ankle moment and $\Delta \theta tib mov$ for all limbs	244
Figure 8.21 Scatter plot and line of best fit between $\theta AFO$ def and body mass (kg)	246
Figure 8.22 Scatter plot and line of best fit between $\theta tib mov$ and body mass (kg)	246
Figure 8.23 Example data (DEHA-L) where PiG reduces peak dorsiflexion during early stance	
phase and increases plantarflexion during swing phase, resulting in little change in overall	
total ROM	247
Figure 8.24 Example data (HAHA-R) where STA error has lead to overestimated dorsiflexion at	
times of increased knee extension in addition to reduced dorsiflexion at times of increased	
knee flexion during swing phase	248

# List of Tables

Table 2.1 Summary of evidence describing the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait in children and	
adults	68
Table 3.1 Customised data extraction and quality checklist.	79
Table 3.2 Demographic and descriptive aspects of all studies, in chronological order	82
Table 3.3 Summary of responses to each quality item where the outcome was clear	86
Table 3.4 Results of data extraction and quality outcomes for all studies	88
Table 3.5 Best practicing reporting guidelines derived from this review.	90
Table 4.1 Hypothesised response and corresponding baseline gait patterns according to	
Mechanism 1 and Mechanism 2.	102
Table 4.2 Participant characteristics and AFO details	103
Table 4.3 Number of acceptable kinetic trials per condition for the four participants included in	
the analysis	107
Table 4.4 Evidence of mechanisms across key dependent variables	111
Table 5.1 Details of all participants	128
Table 5.2 Dimensions of sole attachments; 0°=flat, 5°=small, 10°=medium and 15°=large	130
Table 5.3 Details of the laboratories at La Trobe University and the Hugh Williamson Gait	
Laboratory	132
Table 5.4 Location of all markers used in the 3DGA.	133
Table 5.5 Balanced Latin Square providing four possible testing orders for the four conditions	135
Table 6.1 RMS difference in knee kinetics across mid-stance and all of stance phase and	
difference at 30% gait cycle, along with coefficient of determination (r <sup>2</sup> ), G=gradient	
(Nm/kg/degree), standard error (SE) of gradient, and significance (p) values for all limbs in the	
solid AFO group	152
Table 6.2 RMS difference in knee kinetics across mid-stance and all of stance phase, and	
difference at 30% gait cycle, along with coefficient of determination (r <sup>2</sup> ), gradient	
(Nm/kg/degree), standard error (SE) of gradient, and significance (p) values for all limbs in the	
solid AFO group	153
Table 6.3 Correlation coefficient (r) and coefficient of determination (r <sup>-</sup> ) for the solid and hinged	
AFO groups for the comparisons of the mid-stance analysis with the stance phase and single	
point analysis.	155
table 6.4 Summary of systematic changes seen across the common and variant sub-groups of	150
Table C.F. Average and standard deviations of values for personators of interest for the common	159
solid AFO sub group. Moments are expressed in Nm/kg angles in degrees	160
Solid AFO sub-group. Moments are expressed in Nin/kg, angles in degrees	103
the binged AEO group	167
Table 6.7 Average and standard deviations of values for parameters of interest for the common	101
hinged AEO subgroup. Moments are expressed in Nm/kg angles in degrees. Significant main	
offorts at p.c. 0.021 indicated in hold, significant pairwise comparisons at p.c. 0.022 indicated	
in hold	171
Table 6.8 Pocults of the two way repeated measures ANOVA for the combined solid and binged	1/1
AEQ groups. Significant offocts are highlighted in hold (p<0.0071)	172
Table 6.9 Results of independent samples t-tests (nost hoc analysis on significant interaction	1/5
effects) Significant results are highlighted in hold text	17/
Table 7.1 RMS difference to normal ontinum wedge size and trend for all limbs and conditions	1/4
across the four biomechanical parameters in the solid AFO group	196
Table 7.2 Average cadence, walking velocity and stride length (absolute values) for all limbs and	150
conditions and classification of ontimum for the solid AFO group	197
Table 7.3 RMS difference to normal values for all limbs, conditions and parameters and	1.57
classification of optimum for the hinged AFO group.	200
Table 7.4 Average cadence, walking velocity and stride length (absolute values) for all limbs and	_00
conditions, and classification of optimum for the hinged AFO group.	201
	-

Table 7.5 Summary data describing the number of limbs conforming to each type of trend for the	
solid and hinged AFO groups	. 202
Table 7.6 Correlation coefficient (r) values for pairs of biomechanical variables within each	
participant in the solid AFO group. Variant limbs in dark grey	. 205
Table 7.7 Optimum wedge size according to each variable for the solid AFO group. Score	
indicates the number of variables in agreement with knee kinetics	. 206
Table 7.8 Correlation coefficient (r) values for pairs of biomechanical variables within each	
participant in the hinged AFO group. Variant limbs in dark grey	. 209
Table 7.9 Optimum wedge size according to each variable in the hinged AFO group	. 210
Table 8.1 Correlation coefficient, coefficient of determination, slope and intercept of the	
regression line representing the accuracy of the new model, for each participant	. 238
Table 8.2 Total ROM of <i>θPiG, θankle anat, θAFO def</i> , <i>θtib mov and θshoe mov</i> for all	
limbs, along with STA Error, average STA Error, the correlation coefficient (r) and coefficient	
of determination (r <sup>2</sup> ) between STA Error and knee kinematics	. 240
Table 8.3 Patient mass (kg), correlation coefficient (r) and coefficient of determination (r <sup>2</sup> ) of	
$ heta\Delta AFO~def$ and $~ heta\Delta tib~mov$ with ankle moment	. 245

# Abbreviations

AFO	Ankle foot orthosis
AFO-FC	AFO footwear combination
СР	Cerebral Palsy
GRF	Ground reaction force
HSD	Heel-sole differential
PiG	Plug-In-Gait
STA	Soft tissue artefact
SVA	Shank-to-vertical angle
$\boldsymbol{\theta}_{AFO \ def}$	AFO deformation
$oldsymbol{ heta}_{ankle anat}$	Anatomical ankle movement
$\boldsymbol{\theta}_{footmov}$	Movement of the shoe on the AFO/foot
θ <sub>PiG</sub>	Ankle kinematics according to the Plug-In-Gait model
$\boldsymbol{\theta}_{tib\;mov}$	Tibial movement
3DGA	Three dimensional gait analysis

### **Summary**

This thesis investigates the effect of ankle foot orthosis footwear combination (AFO-FC) sagittal plane alignment on gait in children with cerebral palsy (CP). Ankle foot orthoses are a common intervention used to manage deviations of ankle movement. Two types of AFOs were examined: solid or non-articulating AFOs and articulating AFOs with free dorsiflexion range of motion but blocked plantarflexion range of motion. The specific aspect of AFO-FC design investigated in this thesis is the sagittal plane alignment which is defined as the shank-to-vertical angle (SVA). This variable has been described theoretically as one stage of the AFO-FC 'tuning' process but little evidence exists which describes the effect of SVA, or any benefit arising from its optimisation.

A systematic review evaluating the level and quality of detail reported in AFO intervention studies in CP was conducted. The overall quality of the studies was found to be low, with few papers describing features of AFO-FC alignment. From this review, best practice reporting guidelines were generated to enable more consistent reporting in future investigations and to permit a transparent assessment of study quality.

An exploratory analysis of pilot data found evidence of two mechanisms by which changing AFO-FC alignment may affect gait, based on type of gait pattern. These results suggest that whether or not foot flat is achieved during stance phase may affect the specific biomechanical changes observed. These results and the methodological limitations of this pilot study informed the design of the major investigations of this thesis.

A study investigating the effect of systematic AFO-FC alignment changes in two types of AFO designs was conducted using three dimensional gait analysis (3DGA). This study revealed that knee moments were sensitive to AFO-FC alignment change in all children, but the degree of sensitivity varied. Solid AFOs were more sensitive to change than hinged AFOs, as were limbs conforming to the common pattern of knee kinematics. Changing the AFO-FC alignment produced systematic patterns of change in ankle, tibia and knee variables, which were more consistent in solid than hinged AFOs. Within the solid AFO group there was some evidence suggesting these changes were affected by type of knee kinematic pattern.

An optimum AFO-FC alignment could be identified according to the wedge size that best normalised knee kinematics, knee kinetics, tibial kinematics and ankle kinetics over mid-stance, for the majority of limbs. However, only two of the 27 limbs had perfect agreement across these variables on optimal wedge size while half had good agreement. An optimum wedge size was less apparent in terms of temporospatial parameters and subjective preference.

When the optimal SVA could be estimated it was found to vary according to gait pattern within the solid AFO group, but in the hinged AFO group was variable. Across both groups changes in knee kinematics tended to agree with changes in knee kinetics regardless of gait pattern. This suggests that changing the AFO-FC alignment does not permit normalisation across a range of variables, and that there must be a prioritisation of the most important variable to address. The best agreement between parameters was in the children wearing solid AFOs and who demonstrated good knee extension.

A new model based on *PlugInGait* (PiG) and static calibration was designed to overcome inaccuracies in the PiG model due to soft tissue artefact (STA) of the knee marker as well as measure the individual kinematics of the AFO, the tibia within the AFO, and the footwear. While discrepancies in the measurement of ankle kinematics was strongly related to knee kinematics and thus can be attributed to STA of the knee marker, the net effect on total ankle ROM was small (1.5°). At specific instances during the gait cycle there were larger discrepancies of up to 7°. The main cause of increased ankle ROM was flexion of the AFO (up to 13°) which increased with bodyweight but tibial movement was limited to approximately 4° and shoe movement to 3°.

This thesis presents the first investigation into the effect of systematic AFO-FC alignment change on gait in children with CP. It provides evidence that AFO-FC alignment can be manipulated to produce specific biomechanical effects but that some of these may be improvements to gait and others may be detrimental. The new approach for measuring AFO kinematics in 3DGA can be used in research and clinical settings to obtain a more accurate measurement of ankle kinematics as well as allow assessment of AFO stiffness, tibial movement and footwear movement. It is hoped that these outcomes can be used to improve gait and ultimately functional outcomes and quality of life in this, and in other populations.

# Statement of authorship

Except where reference is made in the text of the thesis, this thesis contains no material published elsewhere or extracted in whole or in part from a thesis submitted for the award of any other degree or diploma. No other person's work had been used without due acknowledgement in the main text of the thesis. The thesis has not been submitted for the award of any degree or diploma in any other tertiary institution. All research procedures reported in the thesis were approved by the relevant ethics committees.

The systematic review presented in Chapter 3 of this thesis has been published in a peerreviewed journal, Prosthetics and Orthotics International, and is attached as Appendix A.

The involvement of participants and the support and contribution of staff from NovitaTech and Novita Children's Services (Adelaide, SA), in addition to the funding support received from the Channel 7 Children's Research Foundation is acknowledged with regard to the pilot work reanalysed in Chapter 4 of this thesis. The original project was completed in 2007 and presented in report form to the relevant organisations in 2008. The work resulting from this re-analysis was presented as a poster at two international conferences in 2010 as part of the original research team. Ethics approval was obtained prior to this re-analysis in addition to written approval from the director of NovitaTech.

Chapter 8 of this thesis describes the development and testing of a new model to measure behaviour of the solid AFO in a 3DGA setting. This model was developed in collaboration with Dr Morgan Sangeux and Professor Richard Baker.

Signed: \_\_\_\_\_

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

# **Publications and presentations**

\* Denotes work published during the time of the doctoral candidature but not arising from work related to this thesis

\*\*Denotes work arising from the re-analysis of pilot data presented in Chapter 4 of this thesis

#### **Publications**

<u>Ridgewell E,</u> Dobson F, Bach TM, Baker R. (2010). A systematic review to determine best practice reporting guidelines for AFO interventions in studies involving children with CP. Prosthetics & Orthotics International, 34 (2) 129-145

#### Conference presentations

<u>Ridgewell E,</u> Dobson F, Bach TM, Baker R. (2010). A systematic review to determine best practice reporting guidelines for AFO interventions in studies involving children with CP. ISPO World Congress, Germany

\* <u>Graham E</u>, Nguyen TC & Walker L. (2008). The relationship between AFO shank vertical angle and gait in children with cerebral palsy. Scientific Meeting of ISPO ANMS, Adelaide pg 26-27

\* Gibson S, <u>Graham E</u> & Walker L. (2008). The effect of AFO shank vertical angle on functional outcomes in children with cerebral palsy, Annual Scientific Meeting of ISPO ANMS, Adelaide, pg 28-29

#### Posters

\*\*<u>Ridgewell E</u>, Gibson S, Nguyen T, Walker L. (2010). The Biomechanical and Functional Effects of Ankle Foot Orthosis Shank-To-Vertical Angle in Children with Cerebral Palsy: A Pilot Study. ISPO World Congress, Germany and AusACPDM, New Zealand

#### Course proceedings

<u>Ridgewell, E</u>., James, J., and Dillon, M. (eds) (2010). Multi-disciplinary perspectives on the management of children and young adults with cerebral palsy. ISPO Advanced Instructional Course, 11-13<sup>th</sup> November 2010, Melbourne.

#### Scholarships

NHMRC Postgraduate Scholarship (2010-2011)

La Trobe University Postgraduate Scholarship (2008-2009)

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people for their support and encouragement throughout my candidature.

Firstly to my supervisors, Associate Professor Tim Bach, Professor Richard Baker, Dr Morgan Sangeux and Professor Kerr Graham. Thankyou for your remarkable knowledge, guidance and support over the last three years. I thank Tim Bach for encouraging me to pursue this line of research and for helping me grow my knowledge and research skills. I am ever appreciative of Tim's ability to think big picture and for his insights into this work, as well as assistance in data collection. I thank Richard Baker for sharing his vast experience in the field of clinical gait analysis which has made an invaluable contribution to this work. Thankyou for being available, for your encouragement and in particular for your patience with my lack of technical engineering skills. I thank Morgan Sangeux for his extensive contribution to the development of the new biomechanical model. Thankyou for your patience, creativity and technical assistance. Thankyou also to Fiona Dobson for her role as reviewer in the systematic review. Your good humour and support was always an encouragement.

I would like to extend my appreciation to the staff of the Prosthetics and Orthotics Department at the Royal Children's Hospital and at Orthotic Innovations, for their support and assistance in recruiting participants for this thesis. I would also like to thank Joanne Pugh and my colleagues in the Prosthetics and Orthotics for their support during my candidature, in particular for their patience and encouragement throughout the final and more tenuous stages. Thankyou to the staff at the Hugh Williams Gait Laboratory at the Royal Children's Hospital and the Human Movement Laboratory at La Trobe University for allowing me access to use these laboratories for data collection.

Most importantly I would like to acknowledge and thank the children and their families who participated in these studies. Without their willingness to give of their time so generously this work would not be possible.

Finally, I dedicate this thesis to my wonderful husband Adam, whose love, support and encouragement never wavers. Thankyou.

In loving memory of my grandfather, Dr George Edward Doery (8.8.1922 – 18.9.2011) who was always a great believer in education. And who, for some strange reason, always thought I would make a good surgeon.

## **1** Introduction

#### **1.1 Problem statement**

Cerebral palsy (CP) is the most common physical disability in childhood (Reddihough & Collins, 2003) with an incidence of 2-2.5 per 1000 live births (Stanley, Blaire, & Alberman, 2000). While by definition CP is a static neurological lesion and a disorder of motor function, it is also recognized as a progressive musculoskeletal condition (Bache, Selber, & Graham, 2003; Graham, 2002; Rosenbaum et al., 2007). Ankle-foot orthoses (AFOs; also known as splints or braces) are an external supportive device used to modify the structural and functional characteristics of neuro-muscular and skeletal systems (International Organisation for Standardisation, 1989). They are a common non-invasive management option for the musculoskeletal problems of the foot and ankle seen in children and adolescents with CP (Rodda & Graham, 2001). For example, the equinus foot position often seen in children with CP may be managed with the use of an AFO that prevents ankle plantarflexion. Thus the AFO provides direct control of the rotational movement of two body parts. Two common AFO designs used for children with CP are the solid AFO and hinged AFO with a plantarflexion stop. In addition to providing direct rotational control the AFO can also be used to alter the point of application and line of action of the groundreaction-force (GRF). This can be achieved through the AFO design, for example, the movements the AFO permits, assists or resists; but also through the alignment of the AFO and the properties of the footwear. Thus the biomechanical effect of the orthosis reflects the AFO and footwear which has become known as the AFO footwear combination (AFO-FC).

There has recently been considerable interest in *tuning* the AFO-FC for children and adults with neurological disorders. *Tuning* is a complex procedure that involves modifying various aspects of the AFO-FC in order to optimise gait kinematics and kinetics (Owen, 2004c, 2005a; Owen, Bowers, & Meadows, 2004). Most often AFO-FC tuning focuses on reducing the excessive peak external knee extension moment and knee hyperextension often demonstrated by children with CP. The term AFO-FC has been limited to use with solid AFOs and has been used primarily with reference to the tuning procedure. Tuning has previously involved two-dimensional video vector gait laboratories where the GRF is projected onto a video of the patient walking and the position and orientation of this vector relative to the knee joint is assessed (eg. Owen, 2010; Stallard & Woollam, 2003). While there is some ambiguity within the literature regarding the precise goal of the tuning process, the majority of authors have focussed on the normalisation of knee kinetics during the mid to late periods of stance phase.

#### Chapter 1 - Introduction

One of the principal biomechanical properties of the AFO-FC is its sagittal plane alignment, which is the angular relationship between the line of the shank and vertical, known as the Shank-to-Vertical-Angle (SVA). The SVA can be altered by adding material to the heel of the AFO within the footwear or by adding material to the sole of the footwear (the wedge angle), or by changing the AFO ankle angle. Tuning is considered to begin with the judicious choice of AFO ankle angle followed by an adjustment of the SVA to optimise the gait pattern in mid-stance and then modifying the profile of the heel and sole of the footwear to further optimise early and late stance.

The tuning process is commonplace in only a small number of facilities primarily in the United Kingdom, however the evidence supporting this process is largely anecdotal. The time and equipment required to perform tuning makes it a relatively expensive process. Those familiar with the tuning technique present anecdotal evidence to support its use and argue that it is essential for achieving optimal outcomes for children with CP (Anderson & Meadows, 1978; Meadows, Anderson, Duncan, & Sturrock, 1980; Owen, 2004c). However, very little is known about how AFO-FC tuning, or specifically, how altering AFO-FC alignment, can affect gait.

Within this limited body of work the methodological detail regarding the tuning process is often poorly described. The majority of studies do not describe the process in sufficient detail to enable the procedure to be replicated. While tuning algorithms (Owen, 2005a) have offered an explicit description of the process, most studies do not clearly describe the process for determining the final SVA, including the parameters at the heart of this optimisation process. This leads to difficulties in accurately interpreting the findings from an already limited body of literature.

Children with CP are known to present with a wide variety of gait patterns (Rodda & Graham, 2001; Sutherland & Davids, 1993; Winters, Gage, & Hicks, 1987). Within this body of literature there is little understanding of how tuning affects children with different gait patterns. There are suggestions from the literature that not all children are responsive to the AFO-FC tuning process (Butler, Farmer, Stewart, Jones, & Forward, 2007; Owen, 2004c). However the ambiguity regarding the tuning process and decision rules used to classify children according to success in the tuning process limit the generalisability of these findings. If indeed only children who have specific gait patterns can respond to the tuning process, it is essential that this sub-group is defined in order to identify who could benefit from this procedure.

While the majority of tuning literature has focussed on solid AFOs, applying the same principles of AFO-FC tuning to hinged AFOs may produce some similar effects. This type of AFO prevents plantarflexion beyond plantigrade and therefore modifying the SVA is likely to modify tibial kinematics and have subsequent effects on lower limb biomechanics. This AFO is a common prescription in children with CP but it is not known how altering SVA in this AFO design affects gait.

AFO-FC tuning is a complex three stage process whereby AFO ankle angle is chosen, SVA is optimised according to mid-stance kinematics and kinetics, and heel and sole profiles are modified to address early and terminal stance. The majority of studies in this area have examined the entire tuning process, have included multiple components of the tuning process, or have not reported which components were used. Therefore, little is known about the effect of the individual components of the tuning process. Optimising the SVA, or AFO-FC alignment is the focus of this thesis.

#### **1.2 Research questions**

The first five research questions were developed from a review of literature related to AFO-FC tuning and what is known about the effect of AFO-FC alignment change. These research questions were:

- 1. How well is AFO-FC alignment reported within the wider body of literature?
- 2. How does changing AFO-FC alignment affect gait?
- 3. Are all children responsive to AFO-FC alignment change?
- 4. What is the effect of AFO-FC alignment on the gait of children who wear solid and hinged AFOs?
- 5. Is there an optimal AFO-FC alignment?

A sixth research question was added to this thesis following observations of excessive ankle movement in the solid AFOs examined as part of the second study described in Chapter 4. This question was:

6. When ankle movement in a solid AFO is measured using three dimensional gait analysis (3DGA) does this accurately reflect anatomical ankle movement? Is there a way to measure movement of the anatomical ankle, the AFO, tibia and footwear?

#### **1.3 Objectives**

In response to the research questions the objectives of this thesis were:

- 1. To critically review the level and quality of detail reported in AFO intervention studies on children with CP, including AFO-FC alignment.
- 2. To understand the mechanisms by which changing AFO-FC alignment can affect gait.
- 3. To determine whether all children, or just a select group, are responsive to AFO-FC alignment changes.
- 4. To evaluate the effect of AFO-FC alignment on the gait of children and adolescents in solid and hinged AFOFCs.
- 5. To determine whether there is an optimal AFO-FC alignment for each individual limb
- 6. To develop a model that measured both anatomical ankle kinematics as well as AFO kinematics to first compare anatomical ankle kinematics to the output according to the *PlugInGait* model, and to allow an assessment of whether the AFO is flexing, or whether the tibia is moving within the AFO.

#### 1.4 Synopsis

The overall structure and conceptual basis for this thesis is presented in the concept map shown in Figure 1.1. It shows that the review of literature in AFO-FC tuning alignment form the basis for the systematic review described in Chapter 3 and guides the formation of hypotheses and analytical approach of the pilot study described in Chapter 4. Limitations observed in the pilot study informed the design of the investigation into systematic alignment change described in Chapters 5 to 7, and resulted in the design of the final study of the thesis described in Chapter 8.





#### **1.5 Overview of the thesis**

An overview for each study included in this thesis is outlined below:

## **1.5.1** Study 1: A systematic review to determine best practice reporting guidelines

for AFO interventions in studies involving children with CP Chapter 3 presents a systematic review that investigated the quality and level of detail reported within the body of literature examining AFO interventions for children with CP. It had a specific focus on aspects of previous studies that relate to the research questions outlined above. These include the description of patient characteristics, orthotic interventions and test protocols. A rigorous systematic review methodology was employed to develop guidelines for future research in this area and these have formed the basis for the design of the clinical research studies comprising the rest of the thesis. This review has been published in *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*.

#### 1.5.2 Study 2: Pilot study

Chapter 4 describes a re-analysis of pilot data collected by the candidate before enrolment for her PhD. The wedge angle of the AFO-FC of solid AFOs worn by six children with CP was modified systematically by the use of internal heel wedges. Three dimensional gait analysis (3DGA) was performed to measure the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait. These results were analysed in order to validate two proposed mechanisms by which increasing AFO-FC alignment may affect gait. Mechanism 1 had been loosely described within the current literature which was thought to relate to achieving foot flat during mid-stance to produce the desired biomechanical changes due to direct incline of the tibia. Mechanism 2 was hypothesised to occur in limbs where foot flat is not achieved. These mechanisms were explored, defined and applied to the existing data. Limitations of the design of this study informed the hypotheses and design of the subsequent prospective studies 3 and 4. Observations of the extent of dorsiflexion occurring in the solid AFOs used in this study lead to the conduct of Study 5.

#### 1.5.3 Study 3: The effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait

Chapters 5 and 6 describe a prospective experimental study to determine whether all children who wear solid and hinged AFOs are responsive to AFO-FC alignment change. The primary focus was on systematic changes in knee kinetics. A range of gait variables including joint kinematics and kinetics and segment kinematics at the level of the ankle, knee and hip and temporospatial parameters were also analysed. Gait patterns in the baseline AFO condition (without wedges) were investigated to assess the homogeneity of gait patterns between limbs within the solid and hinged groups separately and how responsiveness to alignment change was related to this.

1.5.4 Study 4: Is there an optimal AFO-FC alignment?

The broad conclusion of Study 3 was that systematic changes do occur which led to the question of whether it was possible to define an optimal wedge size for each child. Chapter 7 thus describes the results of a further analysis of the data collected as part of Study 3. This study investigates whether there is an optimal wedge size across a sub-set of gait parameters, and whether the optimal wedge size required to normalise knee kinetics is the same wedge size required to normalise knee kinematics, ankle kinetics and tibial projection angles. This was also compared to temporospatial variables and subjective preference.

**1.5.5** Study 5: A new model to measure ankle, AFO, tibia and footwear kinematics in solid AFOs in three dimensional gait analysis

Chapter 8 reports the findings of a study describing the development and testing of a new model to measure ankle, AFO, tibia and footwear kinematics in three dimensional gait analysis (3DGA). This was in response to Research Question 6 which arose after observing significant ankle movement measured in solid AFOs using 3DGA in Study 2. There are several factors which may contribute to an output of significant ankle movement in a supposedly rigid device, but there is currently no method of assessing the contribution of error or other movement. Therefore the aim of developing this new model was to first compare anatomical ankle kinematics to *PlugInGait* (PiG) output to assess the error relating to soft tissue artefact of the knee marker, and to allow a measurement of AFO flexion, tibia movement within the AFO, and movement of the footwear on the AFO/foot complex as a measure of AFO performance. A new model was designed to isolate movement of the shank from the AFO, and movement of the shoe from an AFO/foot segment. This model allows quantification of movement of the limb, AFO and footwear which was previously unavailable and has implications for researchers and clinicians alike.

#### **1.6 Significance of the research**

Evidence based medicine has been defined as the conscientious, explicit, and judicious use of current best evidence in making decisions about the care of individual patients (Sackett, Rosenberg, Gray, Haynes, & Richardson, 1996). The practice of evidence based medicine involves integrating individual clinical expertise, which refers to the proficiency and judgment that individual clinicians acquire through clinical experience and practice; with the best available external clinical evidence, which refers to clinically relevant research into aspects such as the efficacy and safety of therapeutic, rehabilitative, and preventive regimens (Sackett, *et al.*, 1996).

In the field of lower limb orthotics much of our clinical practice with regard to the management of children (Bowers & Ross, 2009) and adults with neurological disorders (Bowers, 2007; International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, 2004) is not supported by a substantial body of high quality scientific evidence. Much literature has been published and although reviewers are now able to surmise that AFOs has a positive effect on passive and active ankle range of motion, gait kinetics and kinematics as well as functional activities related to mobility of children with CP, the quality of these studies remains low (Figueiredo, Ferreira, Maia Moreira, Kirkwood, & Fetters, 2008). In particular, the effect of AFOs on more proximal lower limb joints is less clear (Morris, Bowers, Ross, Stevens, & Phillips, 2011). In addition, AFO-FC tuning has been proposed as an essential component of orthotic management for children with CP as early as 1980, according to PhD work by Barry Meadows. While this work was never published and there remains very little substantive evidence as to its benefits, AFO-FC tuning is a procedure in use in several centres internationally, in some cases for the past eleven years (Owen, 2010). Thus when placing AFO-FC tuning in the context of evidence based medicine, individual clinical expertise may support this process but there is no opportunity to integrate this with clinical research. If indeed benefits are derived from this process they must be quantified so that more children have access to and may benefit from the process.

This thesis addresses a significant gap in the literature pertaining to AFO use in children with CP. It is not known how changing AFO-FC alignment, either by changing footwear, AFO ankle angle or by adding an internal or external heel wedge affects gait, even though clinicians must make e the decision to alter AFO ankle angle or add a heel wedge based on observable (kinematic) features of gait. It is not known how changing AFO-FC alignment affects gait in the context of the tuning process, where subsequent changes may then be made by altering the heel and sole profile of the footwear.

This research provides the first thorough evaluation of the effect of AFO-FC alignment in children with CP across a range of gait variables. It examines the two types of AFOs which are worn most commonly by children with CP within the state of Victoria, Australia, and potentially also nationally and internationally. By performing systematic changes to AFO-FC alignment valuable insight is gained into how altering this variable affects a range of gait related parameters. This research has application to both clinical and research settings.

The ability to assess the performance of the solid AFO in a 3DGA context provides invaluable insight into the efficacy of the device; that is the ability of the device to achieve the aims for which it was designed. In addition it provides users of 3DGA with improved ability to interpret the output of PiG, in terms of ankle kinematics. The ability to measure performance of the AFO and to test accuracy of the PiG output is essential in order to make informed clinical decisions regarding the efficacy of the device. It is hoped that this thesis, by improving our understanding of how AFO-FC alignment affects gait in this population and by providing a method for measuring solid AFO performance in 3DGA, moves the field of lower limb orthotics one step closer toward better implementing evidenced based practice.

Chapter 1 - Introduction

## 2 Background

This chapter introduces the clinical presentation and classification of cerebral palsy (CP) and provides an overview of the biomechanics of the AFO and footwear combination (AFO-FC) before summarising the evidence base for AFO use in this population. The focus of this thesis was the effect of AFO-FC sagittal plane alignment, and as such this concept is defined and the theories underpinning responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change and optimal alignment are introduced. A summary of the evidence base demonstrating the effect of AFO-FC alignment change is provided. This chapter concludes with the formulation of the broad research questions which were addressed in this thesis.

#### 2.1 Cerebral palsy

#### 2.1.1 Definition and incidence

Cerebral palsy refers to a group of disorders of the development of movement and posture, causing activity limitation, that are attributed to non-progressive disturbances that occurred in the developing fetal or infant brain (Rosenbaum, *et al.*, 2007). It is the most common physical disability in childhood (Reddihough & Collins, 2003) with an incidence of 2-2.5 per 1000 live births that has remained relatively stable over the past decades (Stanley, *et al.*, 2000). The term CP does not refer to a single entity, rather a heterogenous collection of clinical syndromes (Graham & Selber, 2003). For this reason the preferred or more appropriate term is the collective 'cerebral palsies' (Gorter *et al.*, 2004; Graham & Selber, 2003).

#### 2.1.2 Clinical presentation and classification

The primary injury in CP is the static brain injury which results in an upper motor neuron lesion. This is considered to have a number of positive and negative features (Bache, *et al.*, 2003). The positive features include spasticity, hyper-reflexia and co-contraction; and the negative features include weakness, loss of selective muscle control and deficits in balance and coordination (Bache, *et al.*, 2003; Mayer & Esquenazi, 2003). These are often accompanied by disturbances of sensation, cognition, communication, perception, and/or behaviour, and/or by a seizure disorder (Bax, Goldstein, Rosenbaum, & Leviton, 2005). While by definition CP is a static neurological lesion and a disorder of motor function, it is also recognised as a progressive neuromuscular impairment as there is a tendency for the growth of the muscle-tendon units to fall behind the growth of the neighbouring long bone, which results in fixed contractures, secondary bony torsion and joint instability (Bache, *et al.*, 2003; Graham, 2002).

#### Chapter 2 - Background

CP is generally classified according to both the nature of the dominant motor disorder: spastic (85%), dyskinetic (7%) or ataxic (5%) (Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe, 2002); and the topographical distribution (SCPE, 2000). Spastic CP is the most common motor disorder and is defined as hypertonia characterised by abnormal voluntary control, resistance to passive stretch and exaggerated reflexes (Stanley, *et al.*, 2000). Spastic CP is further classified as hemi-, di- and quadriplegia (and also mono- and triplegia) to describe the distribution for unilateral involvement, involvement of the lower limbs more than the upper limbs, and total body (four limb) involvement, respectively (SCPE, 2000). Ambulant children with spastic CP will generally have a consistent gait pattern, both stride to stride and day to day (Gage, 1993).

Dyskinetic (dystonia and choreo-athetosis) and ataxic CP are less common tone and/or movement abnormalities. In dystonic CP there is predominantly hypokinesia and hypertonia, whereas choreo-athetosis is dominated by hyperkinesia and hypotonia (Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe, 2002). Ataxic CP is characterised by a loss of orderly muscular co-ordination, so that movements are performed with abnormal force, rhythm and accuracy (Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe, 2002). These types of movement disorders are generally described as whole body movements and usually have high step-to-step variability (Gage, 1993). While there is often a dominant movement disorder, many children present with a mixed type (Rosenbaum, *et al.*, 2007).

Classifying CP according to the type of motor disorder and topographical distribution primarily involves clinical description at the level of the impairment (Gorter, *et al.*, 2004). Equally important however are descriptions and classification of level of function achieved across this heterogenous group. Gross motor function in children with CP can be reliably and objectively classified using the Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) (Palisano *et al.*, 1997) (Figure 2.1). The focus of the GMFCS is self initiated movement, with particular emphasis on function in sitting and walking. Five levels are used with Level I describing the most independent motor function and Level V the least (refer to Figure 2.1). Five different age bands can be assessed: age 1 to 2, 2 to 4, 4 to 6, 6 to 12 years, and more recently 12 to 18 years (Palisano, Rosenbaum, Bartlett, & Livingston, 2008). The GMFCS has been shown to be reliable, stable over time and can validly predict motor function in this group of children (Wood & Rosenbaum, 2000).

## GMFCS E & R between 6<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> birthday: Descriptors and illustrations



Figure 2.1 GMFCS for children in the 6-12 years age band © Kerr Graham, Bill Reid & Adrienne Harvey, reproduced with permission.

#### 2.1.3 Gait patterns in cerebral palsy

Approximately two thirds of children with CP are able to walk independently, that is, without aids or assistance (Pharoah, Cooke, Johnson, King, & Mutch, 1998). This includes all children with hemiplegic CP, most with diplegic CP but rarely those with spastic quadriplegic CP (Graham & Selber, 2003). In the context of the GMFCS, all children at GMFCS Level I and II are able to walk independently over level ground, whereas children at Level III are dependent on aids, and those at Levels IV and V have limited or no functional walking.

#### Chapter 2 - Background

While many children with CP are ambulant, the energy cost of walking has been shown to be greater than their typically developing peers, when assessed using either oxygen uptake or heart rate (Campbell & Ball, 1978; Duffy, Hill, Cosgrove, Carry, & Graham, 1996; Johnston, Moore, Quinn, & Smith, 2004; Rose, Gamble, Burgos, Medeiros, & Haskell, 1990; van den Hecke *et al.*, 2007). It has also been shown that the energy cost of walking increases with increasing severity of functional involvement (Johnston, *et al.*, 2004).

The combination of initial brain injury and consequent musculoskeletal deformities in children with CP results in a wide variety of gait deviations within this population. These gait abnormalities tend to be multiple, consisting of primary anomalies due to the damage to the central nervous system; secondary anomalies from abnormal bone/muscle growth; and tertiary abnormalities, or coping responses (Gage & Novacheck, 2001). These gait patterns often change over time as a result of musculoskeletal pathology, aging and as a result of intervention (Rodda & Graham, 2001).

Several classification systems have been developed to describe and classify the wide variety of gait deficits demonstrated in children with CP. These systems aim to enable homogenous subgroups of similar patterns to be identified and thereby describe the complexities of spastic gait disorders in a manageable format (Rodda & Graham, 2001). The Winters, Gage and Hicks (WGH) (1987) classification system for spastic hemiplegic CP is one of the most cited gait classifications (Dobson, Morris, Baker, Wolfe, & Graham, 2006; McDowell, Kerr, Kelly, Salazar, & Cosgrove, 2008; Rodda & Graham, 2001). This system describes four gait patterns based on the sagittal plane kinematics of the ankle, knee, hip and pelvis (Figure 2.2).

In the most mild group, Group 1, the primary abnormality is at the ankle with increased plantarflexion during swing phase; in Group 2 this also occurs during stance phase; and is combined with restricted knee motion in Group 3; and then restricted motion at the hip in Group 4 (Winters, *et al.*, 1987). While this system is widely used, it has been suggested that that there may not be any patients who actually fit into WGH Group 3 (Dobson, *et al.*, 2006). Rodda and Graham (2001) provide a useful diagrammatic representation of the postural patterns seen in the WGH classification (Figure 2.3).

#### Chapter 2 - Background



Figure 2.2 Kinematic patterns associated with the WGH classification (Winters, et al., 1987).



**Common Gait Patterns: Spastic Hemiplegia** 

Figure 2.3 Postural patterns and management algorithms for spastic hemiplegic CP (Rodda & Graham, 2001).

The Sutherland and Davids classification (1993) is the most widely used classification system for diplegic CP, describing four common sagittal plane gait abnormalities of the knee; jump knee, crouch knee, stiff knee, and recurvatum knee. Jump knee is described as increased knee flexion in early stance phase with correction to normal or near normal extension in mid-late stance; crouch knee is characterised by increased knee flexion throughout stance phase; stiff knee gait presents with increased knee flexion throughout swing phase with variable motion in stance phase; and recurvatum knee presents with increased knee extension in mid to late stance phase (Sutherland & Davids, 1993).

The original patterns described by Sutherland and Davids (1993) have been more recently built upon in a classification by Rodda and colleagues (Rodda, Graham, Carons, Galae, & Wolfe, 2004). These authors provide both kinematic data and pictorial representations of four groups of kinematic patterns (Figure 2.4, Figure 2.5). Notable differences from the Sutherland and Davids (1993) classification are firstly that the classification by Rodda and colleagues (2004) does not consider 'stiff knee gait' as a single category, rather it is recognised as a feature of several different patterns. In addition, Rodda and colleagues (2004) utilise differences in ankle kinematics to distinguish between Groups II, III and IV, whereas the Sutherland and Davids (1993) classification focuses solely on knee kinematics.

A common feature of the gait patterns demonstrated by children with CP is an increased or decreased plantarflexion–knee extension couple (Gage, 1993). An excessive plantarflexion–knee extension couple is seen when excessive plantarflexion, which is often due to overactive triceps surae leads to an increased external knee extension moment. True equinus and jump knee gait in both the hemi- and diplegic population both demonstrate an excessive plantarflexion-knee extension couple. Other gait patterns demonstrate a reduced plantarflexion-knee extension couple. For example, the plantigrade and dorsiflexed ankle positions seen in apparent equinus and crouch gait result in the ground reaction force (GRF) vector moving from anterior to the knee to behind the knee (Gage, 1993). Thus while gait patterns are often described using kinematic patterns, there are also underlying differences in kinetic patterns.

Gait classifications are an essential tool in the research setting when such a heterogenous participant group is involved and when gait is considered a primary outcome. While the applicability of current gait classifications within the research setting has been questioned (Dobson, Morris, Baker, & Graham, 2007), homogenous groups or sub-groups must be considered to avoid masking the effect of an intervention because of the heterogeneity of the patient sample.




Figure 2.4 Sagittal plane kinematics for spastic diplegia (Rodda, et al., 2004).



Sagittal gait patterns: Spastic diplegia

Figure 2.5 Diplegic postural patterns described by Rodda and colleagues (Rodda, et al., 2004).

### 2.2 Ankle-foot orthoses

Ankle-foot orthoses (AFOs; also referred to as splints or braces) are a common conservative management option for children with CP. An orthosis is defined as 'an externally applied device used to modify the structural and functional characteristics of neuro-muscular and skeletal systems' (pg. 2, International Organisation for Standardisation, 1989). An AFO is a device 'that encompasses the ankle joint and the whole or part of the foot' (pg. 1, International Organisation for Standardisation, 1989).

AFOs are most commonly fabricated from high temperature thermoplastic or carbon fibre material, and are either prefabricated or custom-made over a positive model of the patient's limb. AFOs can be designed and constructed using a range of materials, trimlines and components in order to tailor the design toward meeting specific management goals. They are worn over socks and inside footwear. Appropriate footwear is considered an important determinant of the success of the AFO, which is reflected in the more common use of the term AFO footwear combination (AFO-FC) within this body of literature.

Two types of AFOs commonly used for children with CP are the solid AFO (synonymous with a rigid or static AFO), and the articulating AFO (Figure 2.6). Solid AFOs maintain the ankle in a fixed position and therefore do not incorporate an orthotic ankle joint. Trimlines are usually placed anterior to the malleoli in order to provide adequate stiffness to resist deformation of the plastic under loading. In most cases where a flexible foot deformity exists and adequate gastrocnemius length is available, the limb is positioned in as close to a neutral ankle, subtalar and forefoot alignment as possible. In the case of rigid deformities and contracture, these must be accommodated in the design of the AFO, specifically the choice of ankle and foot position. The solid AFO is one of the two AFO designs investigated in this thesis.

An articulating AFO incorporates an orthotic ankle joint located over the anatomical ankle joint, estimated by the apex of the medial and lateral malleoli. The design of an articulating AFO can be modified to allow free, assisted or resisted motion in either or both directions of dorsi- and plantarflexion, depending on the level of biomechanical control required. The most common design of articulating AFO used in children with CP allow unrestricted dorsiflexion but prevents plantarflexion with a mechanical stop, usually positioned at plantigrade. A pre-requisite for an articulating AFO permitting unrestricted dorsiflexion is generally gastrocnemius length which permits greater than 5° dorsiflexion, triplanar stability of the foot and absence of excessive spasticity in the gastrocnemius muscle (Bowers, 2007; Bowers & Ross, 2009; Owen, 2005b). This AFO design is the second design examined in this thesis, and is hereafter referred to as a hinged AFO.

### Chapter 2 - Background

AFOs are prescribed for patients with musculoskeletal or neuromuscular dysfunction to accomplish a wide range of goals. The International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics has summarised these goal as preventing deformity, correcting deformity, promoting a base of support, facilitating training of skills, and improving the efficiency of movement, such as standing and walking (International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, 1995). The purpose for which the orthosis is prescribed informs the biomechanical principles to be applied in choosing the AFO design and guides the choice of appropriate outcomes in investigative studies. The following section provides terms and definitions relating to the characteristics of the AFO-FC before describing the biomechanics of the AFO and footwear in more detail.



Figure 2.6 Examples of a solid and hinged AFO with a plantarflexion stop at plantigrade.

# 2.2.1 Terms and definitions

# 2.2.1.1 AFO-footwear combination (AFO-FC)

The AFO-FC refers to the combined unit of the footwear and the AFO. The alignment of the AFO-FC, as well as each individual component of the AFO-FC can be described independently. The alignment of the AFO is described by the AFO ankle angle ( $\alpha$ ), the alignment of the footwear is described by the heel-sole-differential (HSD) and resulting pitch ( $\beta$ ), and the alignment of the final AFO-FC is described by the shank-to-vertical angle (SVA,  $\theta$ ) (Owen, 2004c; Owen, *et al.*, 2004) (refer to Figure 2.7). Use of the term AFO-FC has typically referred to solid AFOs.

# 2.2.1.2 AFO ankle angle

The AFO ankle angle ( $\alpha$ ) is the angle of the foot relative to the shank in the sagittal plane, while in the AFO. It is measured as the angle between the line of the fifth metatarsal and the line of the tibia defined as a line intersecting the centre of the knee joint (estimated as the lateral femoral epicondyle) and lateral malleolus (refer to Figure 2.7). The AFO ankle angle is selected prior to assessing the alignment of the AFO-FC, and is based upon clinical assessment of the musculotendinous length of gastrocnemius, dynamic characteristics of this muscle and tri-planar stability requirements of the foot (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Bowers & Ross, 2009; Cusick, 1994; Meadows, Bowers, & Owen, 2008; Owen, 2005b). The AFO ankle angle is measured in degrees where a 90° angle is considered to be plantigrade (0°). Therefore,  $\alpha$  is the angle from the plantigrade position into either dorsiflexion or plantarflexion.

# 2.2.1.3 Heel-sole differential & pitch

The heel-sole differential (HSD) refers to the measured difference between the thickness of the sole of the footwear at mid-heel and at the metatarsal heads, in addition to any material added to the AFO itself, measured in millimetres (Owen, 2004b). If the HSD is not equal to zero an angular offset ( $\beta$ ) is produced (refer to Figure 2.7). This is referred to as the pitch of the footwear and is measured in degrees.

# 2.2.1.4 Shank-to-vertical angle

The shank-to-vertical angle (SVA) of the AFO-FC is measured in degrees and refers to the angle between the tibia and vertical, when the AFO is combined with the footwear and the foot is flat on the ground. The term SVA has been used to describe the static or bench alignment of the AFO-FC, as well as the dynamic alignment, for example a measure of tibial angle taken during stance phase. For the purpose of this thesis the term SVA will be used as a measure of static alignment of the AFO-FC, whereas any measure of tibial angle throughout stance will be referred to as a projection angle.

The SVA of an AFO-FC has been measured using landmarks of the lateral malleolus (LAT MAL in Figure 2.7) and lateral femoral epicondyle (KNEE in Figure 2.7)(Owen, 2004b) (refer to Figure 2.7), and has been measured using the line of the tibial crest relative to vertical (Jagadamma *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma *et al.*, 2010). Some authors have suggested that using the tibial crest to measure SVA is the more accurate method especially in cases of excessive tibial torsion (Owen, 2004b) although this has not been quantified. In a hinged AFO the SVA is measured when the posterior opening of the plantarflexion stop is fully closed.



Figure 2.7 The SVA ( $\theta$ ) of the AFO-FC reflects the AFO ankle angle ( $\alpha$ ) and the pitch of the footwear ( $\beta$ ).

When the shank is tilted anteriorly, the SVA is defined as a positive or inclined angle and a posterior tilt is referred to as negative or reclined SVA angle (Owen, 2004b). The net effect of the AFO ankle angle ( $\alpha$ ) and the pitch ( $\beta$ ) produced by the HSD determines the SVA ( $\theta$ ). For example, a vertical SVA could be produced from a plantarflexed AFO comined with footwear with a positive pitch, or a plantigrade AFO combined with footwear with zero pitch, as demonstrated in Figure 2.8.



Figure 2.8 The SVA is a combination of AFO ankle angle and the HSD.

### 2.2.2 Biomechanics of AFOs

There are four ways in which an orthosis may modify the system of external forces and moments acting across a joint. This includes 1) restricting the rotational motion at the joint to modify joint moments; 2) restricting translational motion at the joint; 3) reducing the axial forces carried across a joint; and 4) modifying the point of application and line of action of the GRF (Bowker, 1993). In children with CP, AFOs are typically employed to achieve the first and last of these aims. The first method involves directly limiting the rotational motion at the ankle joint, and the last involves an indirect biomechanical influence over the GRF.

#### 2.2.2.1 Controlling rotational movement

An AFO is an orthosis that directly encompasses the ankle joint and by virtue of variations in its design can prevent or assist different rotational movements at this joint. Control over rotational movements is achieved using a three point force application system. As previously described, one of the most common gait deviations demonstrated by children with spastic CP is an equinus foot position with the foot plantarflexed throughout swing phase and often also during the stance phase of gait (Goldstein & Harper, 2001; Rodda & Graham, 2001; Sutherland & Davids, 1993; Winters, *et al.*, 1987). This leads to an excessive PF-KE couple.

Both the solid and hinged AFO (with a plantarflexion stop) are designed to prevent excessive plantarflexion. The AFO must apply a corrective force to the posterior proximal calf (directed anteriorly; F1) and distal inferior toe plate (directed superiorly; F2) and a force directed posterior-inferiorly over the anterior ankle (F3), applied by the footwear and often also an ankle strap (refer to Figure 2.9). F3 is equal to the vector sum of reaction forces F1 and F2.



Figure 2.9 Diagram of forces applied to prevent plantarflexion.

#### Chapter 2 - Background

Other gait patterns, such as crouch gait, demonstrate a reduced PF-KE couple, which results in excessive dorsiflexion (Rodda & Graham, 2001; Sutherland & Davids, 1993). Preventing excessive dorsiflexion requires the opposite force system to that described above, and therefore the design of the AFO is altered. Changes may be made to any design features including the location of trimlines, position of straps, the type of material used in AFO construction, the type of joints, and location of mechanical stop. While a solid AFO is an appropriate choice for preventing excessive dorsiflexion, a hinged AFO with free dorsiflexion is not appropriate. Rather a hinged AFO of the reverse design; that prevents dorsiflexion with a mechanical stop but permits unrestricted plantarflexion beyond plantigrade would achieve the required biomechanical aims (refer to Figure 2.10).



Figure 2.10 Diagram of forces applied to prevent dorsiflexion in a) a solid AFO; b) an articulated AFO with a dorsiflexion stop.

# 2.2.2.2 Modifying the GRF

The second way in which an AFO may modify the system of external forces around a joint is by modifying the point of application and line of action of the GRF (Bowker, 1993). The process of realigning the GRF at any particular joint involves changing the angular relationship either between the plantar surface of the foot and the floor or between the articulating segments at a more distal anatomical joint (Bowker, 1993). Figure 2.11 provides an example where an AFO restricts excessive plantarflexion thus controlling the rotational movement of the ankle. This improves the angular relationship between the two articulating segments (foot and shank) which also improves the angular relationship between the plantar surface of the floor. The foot can now achieve foot flat during mid-stance which moves the point of application of the GRF posteriorly along the foot.

An AFO can also indirectly influence the alignment of more proximal body segments (Bowker, 1993). For example in Figure 2.11 below, application of an AFO that restricts plantarflexion will reduce the PF-KE couple, and will therefore also reduce the excessive external knee extension moment and limit knee hyperextension. The line of action of the GRF is reoriented to produce smaller knee extension moments, and potentially also reduced hip flexion moments. AFOs can have both direct effects on the encompassed joint and indirect effects on adjacent joints. The name of the device reflects the joints encompassed by the orthosis, not the joints affected by the orthosis.



Figure 2.11 Example of the improved relationship between articulating segments as well as the angular relationship between the plantar surface of the foot and the ground.

# 2.2.3 Footwear

The increased use of the term "AFO footwear combination" within the wider body of literature acknowledges the importance of the footwear in achieving the desired orthotic outcomes. Changes to the design of the footwear have been purported to affect the GRF point of application and orientation throughout the gait cycle, primarily with reference to the process called 'tuning' (Owen, 2004a, 2005a). Tuning of the AFO-FC is a three step process of making adjustments to the SVA to alter GRF orientation during mid-stance, to the sole profile of the footwear to affect GRF orientation during terminal stance, and to the heel profile and properties of the footwear to affect GRF orientation during early stance (refer to Figure 2.12) (Owen, 2005a).

The modifications made to the footwear as part of the tuning procedure are thought to be essential in order to compensate for the limited ankle motion incurred in a solid AFO. In normal gait three ankle rockers have been described: ankle plantarflexion during loading response which is referred to as first rocker, ankle dorsiflexion during mid-stance which is referred to as second rocker and ankle plantarflexion at terminal stance which is referred to as third rocker (Perry, 1992). A solid AFO interferes with all three rockers because plantarflexion is prevented at heel contact and at late stance, with dorsiflexion prevented during mid-stance. The tuning process is suggested to address each of these restrictions by modifying the heel properties of the footwear, the SVA, and the sole profile of the footwear (Owen, 2004b). While this thesis focused on the first component of tuning, that is the effect of the SVA, an understanding of the potential effect of sole and heel modifications is required in order to interpret findings related to a change in SVA in the context of the entire tuning process.



Figure 2.12 The sub-set of the algorithm proposed by Owen (2005a) which involves tuning the AFO-FC.

### 2.2.3.1 Sole profiles

Within the context of the tuning procedure, three types of sole profiles are used to tune the exit from stance phase (Owen, 2005a). These include a flexible sole; a stiff sole with a rocker sole profile; and a stiff sole with a point loading rocker (refer to Figure 2.12). A flexible sole is recommended when the patient is able to control tibial progression in terminal stance, whereas rocker soles or point loading rockers are recommended where tibial progression in terminal stance stance is uncontrolled (Owen, 2005a).

The purpose of the rocker sole has been described as allowing progression of the tibia over the stationary foot in the absence of ankle dorsiflexion, and to determine the site of the centre of pressure, that is the point of origin of the GRF (Hullin & Robb, 1991). Point loading rockers are said to enable better control over the timing of heel lift by delaying it until the point of application of the GRF reaches the point loading rocker (Owen, 2004a). This is said to facilitate achieving a GRF alignment posterior to the hip but anterior to the knee at terminal stance, and therefore production of hip extension moments (Owen, *et al.*, 2004).

Those with clinical experience in tuning AFO-FCs suggest that the sole profile of the AFO-FC is a critical component of the tuning process (eg. Owen, 2004a). A recent review has suggested that there is little evidence supporting the effectiveness of these modifications in modifying the kinematics or kinetics of gait (in the absence of an AFO) (Hutchins, Bowker, Geary, & Richards, 2009). There is some evidence of improvements in knee hyperextension in an adult with post-stroke hemiplegia (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010) and in two children with CP (Hullin, Robb, & Loudon, 1992) all of whom were wearing solid AFOs, though the rocker designs used in these studies are not well described.

There is also some evidence that rocker design can have a significant impact on kinetics, centre of pressure progression and tibia-to-floor angular velocity when the ankle is immobilised by a cast or AFO. Hullin and Robb (1991) examined 10 commercially available rockers on an able bodied subject wearing a below-knee cast and found that a rocker which allows rapid progression of the centre of pressure imposes a knee extension moment and tibial arrest, and a rocker which prevents centre of pressure progression causes a large knee flexion moment requiring excessive quandriceps activity and may result in a reduction in the second peak of the GRF (Hullin & Robb, 1991). Unfortunately the precise designs of the rockers tested are not described which makes it difficult to generalise their findings to specific rocker characteristics.

Owen recommends modifying the sole profile of the footwear as the second stage of the tuning process, after optimising the SVA (Owen, 2005a). While the precise effect of sole design on the biomechanics of gait is not known, it is apparent that there is potential to significantly affect kinematics, kinetics and COP progression. Changing the sole profile has the potential to induce these changes at any point where the foot is flat on the ground and therefore may influence mid-stance biomechanics as well as terminal stance. Thus, investigations into the effect of SVA on gait should take into account the potential for further modifications by modifying the sole profile of the footwear.

#### 2.2.3.2 Heel profiles

Owen (2005b) describes three heel profiles that are used to tune the entry into mid-stance. These are 1) a plain heel; 2) a negative or cushioned heel; and 3) a positive heel (refer to Figure 2.12). Negative or cushioned heels are advocated for reducing an excessive angular velocity of the shank during early stance (Owen, 2005a; Weist, Waters, Bontrager, & Quigley, 1979) whereas a positive heel is suggested for when angular velocity of the shank needs to be increased (Owen, 2005a). Excessive angular velocity of the shank occurs at heel strike because the orthosis blocks plantarflexion causing the tibia to pivot anteriorly at the point of heel contact. Thus the orthosis imparts to the posterior tibia a knee flexing moment that must be resisted by quadriceps activation (Weist, *et al.*, 1979).

Little is known about the effect of heel profile on gait in pathological populations where ankle motion is limited. One study on nine able bodied adults wearing solid AFOs demonstrated that modifying the heel properties can effectively moderate the increased angular velocity of the shank that occurs due to an immobilised ankle. Negative or cushioned heels successfully reduced tibial advancement velocity compared with hard rubber heels (comparable to the plain heel) and led to increased stride length and therefore also increased walking velocity (Weist, *et al.*, 1979).

Thus in children who achieve heel strike, modifying the heel profile of the footwear as part of the tuning process is likely to induce positive changes to early stance phase, up until the foot achieves foot flat. Knee flexion moments may be reduced and stride length and walking velocity may be increased. It is possible that these changes produce carry-over effects to the remainder of the gait cycle however the tuning process has never been described as requiring a reassessment of the SVA as the final step. The effect of AFO-FC alignment should therefore be considered in light of potential improvements to early stance gait characteristics that may be possible due to heel modifications.

#### 2.2.3.3 AFO ankle angle

Selecting the correct AFO ankle angle is also considered to be part of the tuning process (Owen, 2005a). Owen (2005b) describes an algorithm for selecting the most appropriate AFO ankle angle based on a clinical assessment of gastrocnemius length, the ability to sustain the measured length without excessive pressure or discomfort and the risk of gastrocnemius or soleus length becoming shorter. An AFO ankle angle that does not accommodate the tri-jointed nature of the gastrocnemius muscle is thought to limit knee extension during gait and thus alter proximal kinematics and kinetics (Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, 2005b).

#### 2.2.4 Evidence for the efficacy of AFOs

While there are a wide variety of applications for AFO use within the CP population, there is limited scientific evidence supporting their efficacy in achieving the stated goals. Several systematic reviews have been published in this area (Bowers & Ross, 2009; Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; Morris, 2002; Teplicky, Law, & Russell, 2002) but have drawn only limited conclusions about the effectiveness of AFOs. For example, one reviewer concludes that AFOs that prevent plantarflexion can prevent equinus deformity, and that this improves the temporospatial parameters (walking speed and stride length) of gait for most children, thereby also increasing gait efficiency (Morris, 2002).

However, when hemiplegic and diplegic children are considered as separate groups, the effect of AFOs on temporospatial parameters can be seen to vary according to unilateral or bilateral lower limb involvement. Hemiplegic children generally demonstrate increased walking velocity and decreased cadence whereas diplegic children generally demonstrate no significant changes in these two variables (Bowers & Ross, 2009). In all children step length, stride length and single support time are generally found to increase, but there is little evidence to suggest changes to double support (Bowers & Ross, 2009).

Power generation and absorption at the ankle is generally found to decrease when wearing an AFO, but kinematics at the ankle are generally improved (Bowers & Ross, 2009). Evidence for the effect of AFOs on more proximal joints, namely hip and knee kinematics and kinetics, are however largely inconclusive (Bowers & Ross, 2009). This is not due to a lack of studies which have examined these variables. Rather, methodological limitations make it difficult to synthesise findings across studies and impossible to perform meta-analyses. These studies have, by and large, examined the effect of a range of AFO designs on heterogenous groups of participants, and generally include only limited detail regarding the participants, protocol and apparatus in the trial reports (Bowers & Ross, 2009; Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; Morris, 2002; Ridgewell, Dobson, Bach, & Baker, 2010)

#### Chapter 2 - Background

A recent review by Bowers and Ross (2009) also suggests that variations in the sagittal plane alignment of the AFO-FC, that is the SVA, used across these studies may contribute to the inconsistent effect on knee and hip kinematics and kinetics. There is an emerging body of evidence suggesting that changes to AFO alignment can affect lower limb kinetics and kinematics (eg. Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, van der Linden, Coutts, Herman, & Yirrel, 2007). These studies suggest further, that each child has a unique optimal AFO alignment which minimises abnormal joint biomechanics (Owen, 2002). Bowers and Ross (2009) suggest that one of the reasons it is difficult to conclusively demonstrate the effectiveness of AFOs on the knee and hip in children with CP is because many studies do not report the alignment of the AFO-FC and have not conducted a tuning process to determine the most optimal alignment.

Modifying the SVA of the AFO-FC in order to optimise the performance of the device is one component of the tuning process. It is described as the first stage of tuning (Owen, 2005a), but is also the most common component referred to throughout other literature. Modifying the SVA of the AFO-FC is also arguably the simplest adjustment to execute. For example, an AFO can be fabricated to virtually any AFO ankle angle which will ultimately affect the SVA. Internal heel raises can be added which are a quick, simple and reversible solution. Permanent shoe modifications, though more time consuming, are possible in most clinical situations.

# 2.3 Tuning the AFO-FC

The influence of AFO-FC alignment was the focus of this thesis. The remainder of this chapter provides background information on the theory and evidence for aligning the SVA of the AFO-FCs of children with CP. Studies to date are critically reviewed and a second mechanism by which changing the SVA of the AFO-FC may affect the biomechanics of gait is proposed and is explored further in the subsequent chapter. The evidence base for the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait in children with CP is critically reviewed and summarised. Hereafter the term tuning refers to modification of the SVA of the AFO-FC unless expressly described as involving heel and sole modifications. All joint moments are expressed as external moments unless otherwise stated.

Throughout the wider body of literature examining AFO interventions in children and adults with varying diagnoses, studies that report the AFO-FC alignment are rare. Owen (2004b) conducted a review of 310 publications investigating AFOs and casts for children and adults, from 1959-May 2004. This review revealed a lack of full and precise information about the majority of AFO-FCs described, as well as ambiguity in the terms used to describe the AFO-FC and its SVA (Owen, 2004b).

#### Chapter 2 - Background

Among the papers that did report the AFO-FC alignment, it is apparent that many authors have specific preferences for a certain SVA or AFO ankle angle. For example Nuzzo (1983) recommends a 10° SVA in solid AFOs on the basis that it avoids any impairment to tibial progression. Hullin and colleagues (1992) also prefer a 10° dorsiflexed AFO to a plantigrade AFO, but do not report the design of the footwear thus making the SVA unknown. Other authors chose a specific alignment for each patient, including Rosenthal and colleagues (1975) who selected the AFO ankle angle for their participants by observing correction of genu recurvatum while their patients walked on an adjustable inclined walkway. Again, because the characteristics of the footwear were not reported, the final SVA is not known.

While a variety of AFO-FC alignments are used in the literature, there are also a variety of guidelines offered in orthotics textbooks. In *Paediatric Orthotics*, tuning is recommended but little detail is provided (Morris, 2007). In *Atlas of Orthoses and Assistive Devices* a 10-12° SVA is advocated as this is the shank incline achieved during mid-stance of normal gait, but it is also noted that optimal may be greater or less than normal in pathological situations (Meadows, *et al.*, 2008). Finally, in *Biomechanical Basis of Orthotic Management*, a dorsiflexed ankle angle is suggested possibly in combination with footwear incorporating heel wedges and/or rocker soles, to achieve a reduction in the knee extension moment (Condie & Meadows, 1993). Thus there is not only a lack of scientific evidence guiding clinicians as to how to align the AFO-FCs of children and adolescents with CP, but also a lack of a consistent clinical standard to form the basis of a sagittal plane AFO-FC alignment.

Some authors suggest that AFO-FC tuning leads to an improved biomechanical environment from which the patient can learn to manipulate the GRF while they walk and which encourages appropriate motor learning (Butler, Thompson, & Major, 1992). They suggest that the patient was "released from the need to actively attempt to control the GRF to the same extent, and was able to learn through this enforced situation" (Butler, *et al.*, 1992, p. 574). Other authors suggest improved long term outcomes such as a reduction in damage to the knee joint structures due to excessive extending moment (Butler, *et al.*, 1992) and fewer contractures which in turn minimises requirements for surgery (Owen, 2004b). Tuning is said to allow improved hip extension and hip extension moments thus permitting the child to undertake their own stretching therapy twice during each gait cycle, with increased hip flexion at terminal stance and increased hip extension at terminal swing (Owen, 2004b). Despite these claims, there is little evidence of the effect of tuning on gait, or on these longer term outcomes.

With only one exception (Desloovere *et al.*, 2006) the term 'tuning' has referred only to solid AFOs, which are the most common type of AFO prescribed in facilities that routinely conduct tuning protocols (Owen, 2005b). The intended function of the solid AFO is to prevent all movement of the ankle joint and therefore offer direct control over the ankle, but also indirect control over more proximal lower limb segments and joints (refer to Figure 2.11, p45). Thus the design of the solid AFO allows the greatest degree of control over manipulating the GRF vector and more proximal joints.

Only a limited body of research has been published which has reported experimental data from AFO-FC tuning. For the most part, the process has not been objectively described, decision rules guiding the choice of the final alignment often are not clear, and data describing the final outcome are often not reported. Two studies have reported the final SVA values of tuned AFO-FCs for children with CP. These were an average SVA of 11.86° (±2.05°, 7-16°) (Owen, 2002) and 10.8° (±1.8°) (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). The study by Owen (2002) is a conference abstract reporting average tuned SVAs for the solid AFOs of children with CP, spina bifida and other conditions, according to patient diagnosis. While little detail is reported in the abstract this work is also described in the authors thesis (Owen, 2004b). These studies are discussed further in the subsequent sections.

AFO tuning is not performed in all clinical centres. In the candidate's experience, many clinicians opt for a plantigrade AFO ankle angle except in situations where a plantarflexion contracture must be accommodated. In combination with low pitched shoes this will produce a SVA between 0-5°. If the SVAs suggested in these studies are indicative of the most optimal AFO alignment then it is possible that one of the most common clinical AFO prescriptions are producing suboptimal outcomes.

### 2.3.1 Tuning Techniques

#### 2.3.1.1 Force vector analysis

The majority of papers that report or describe AFO-FC tuning have used a two dimensional video vector system that superimposes a GRF vector over a video of the patient walking. Videos are usually taken in the sagittal and coronal planes (refer to Figure 2.13). This system permits immediate feedback, freeze frame, slow-motion and printing facilities and has been used in both paediatric studies (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Meadows, *et al.*, 1980; Owen, 2004b; Stallard & Woollam, 2003) and in two case studies of adults with post-stroke hemiplegia (Bowers & Meadows, 2007) and acquired brain injury (Butler, Farmer, & Major, 1997). Tuning using force vector analysis involves modifying the characteristics of the AFO-FC in order to improve the sagittal plane moment arm of the GRF at the knee.

There are errors inherent in the use of force vector analysis to the extent that it assumes that changes in segment mass and accelerations are negligible. These errors have been quantified and found to be negligible for assessment of ankle moments and very small, particularly at mid-stance for assessment of knee moments (Boccardi, Pedotti, Rodano, & Santambrogio, 1981; Wells, 1981). As a clinical tool for assessing knee moments and as a way of explaining the effects of changing the point of application and line of application of the GRF, the force vector analysis is extremely useful.



Figure 2.13 Example output of successive freeze-frame images taken from a two dimensional video vector generator (Stallard, 1987).

# 2.3.1.2 Three dimensional gait analysis

More recently, three dimensional gait analysis (3DGA) has been used to tune AFO-FCs of children with CP (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009), and one adult with post-stroke hemiplegia (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010). 3DGA is a form of quantitative gait analysis that seeks to understand the process of walking with measurable parameters collected through instrumentation. The sophisticated technology utilised in 3DGA overcomes many of the limitations of the force vector analysis approach including parallax and perspective error. Using 3DGA permits calculation of internal joint moments throughout stance phase whereas in studies using a video vector approach it is only possible to undertake a simple and more subjective analysis of the position of the GRF vector in the sagittal plane at various isolated instances. 3DGA also permits of measurement of the tri-planar motion deviations often demonstrated by children with CP.

# 2.3.2 Defining AFO-FC tuning

# 2.3.2.1 What parameter is optimised?

The body of literature that has reported or described AFO-FC tuning in both the paediatric and adult population is limited. Unfortunately, most studies report only limited detail about the goal of the tuning process. One of the most notable inconsistencies throughout the literature is the

#### Chapter 2 - Background

variable or parameter at the heart of the optimisation process. Some authors have considered the aim of tuning to be optimisation of the GRF moment arm to the knee in the sagittal plane (Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Owen, 2002) while others have also included reference to kinematic improvements (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010; Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, *et al.*, 2004; Stallard & Woollam, 2003).

This disparity has two probable origins. The first of these may be an underlying assumption that a change in one variable always translates into changes in other variables. For example, some authors suggest that improvements in kinematics, namely shank kinematics, are key precursors to improvements in kinetics (Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, 2004c), and are therefore a necessary component of the tuning process. It is later argued however, that changes in knee kinetics are possible without changes in knee or shank kinematics.

The second possible cause may be confusion between the variables directly manipulated during the tuning process, and the variables assessed as outcome measures. For example, the current reasoning behind AFO-FC tuning suggests that increasing the HSD of the AFO-FC directly inclines the shank during stance phase. If the centre of pressure and line of action of the GRF remain the same, the result is a shift in the knee joint centre towards the GRF vector. This is a direct kinematic change that also reduces the moment arm of the GRF to the knee (refer to Figure 2.14), which is a kinetic outcome. While normalising the GRF moment arm to the knee may also normalise limb segment kinematics, recognising the difference between cause and response provides an important clarification in defining the goal of the tuning process.



Figure 2.14 Increasing the HSD using a heel wedge increases the SVA and as a result, the distance from the knee joint to the GRF vector is reduced.

There is also disparity throughout the literature regarding the lower limb joints that are targeted during the tuning process. Most authors have focused solely on the knee (Butler, *et al.*, 1997; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Butler & Nene, 1991; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010; Stallard & Woollam, 2003) while others recommend that AFO-FC tuning focus on the kinetics of both the hip and knee joint, simultaneously (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, 2004c). One of these authors reports success in one post-stroke adult patient (Bowers & Meadows, 2007), however success in children with CP is likely to be limited at least initially, due to muscle weakness, contracture and/or spasticity limiting full hip and knee extension (Owen, 2004c).

While an increase in shank incline offers the potential to alter the moment arm of the GRF at the hip, the effect will be dependent upon the kinematics of the knee joint. For example, if shank incline occurs simultaneously with knee flexion, the moment arm of the GRF to the hip may remain unchanged (refer to Figure 2.15 a and b). If however, shank incline occurs with knee extension then the hip may move closer to the GRF vector thereby reducing the moment arm (Figure 2.15, c). Thus, changing shank incline will directly affect the GRF orientation to the knee, but the effect on the hip may be variable. In summary, AFO-FC tuning can be considered to focus primarily on kinetics at the knee, with a secondary effect on the hip.



Figure 2.15 Diagram illustrating consistent reductions in knee extension moment due to increased shank incline, but a variable effect on the hip moment.

# 2.3.2.2 During which part of the gait cycle?

In Owen's definition of tuning, modifying the SVA is said to target GRF orientation during midstance (Owen, 2004b, 2004c). A variety of definitions for this period of the gait cycle exist within the literature, the most notable variants of these being a definition as a *phase* or a discreet *event*. Two common definitions that describe mid-stance as a phase or period of the gait cycle are 10-30% of the gait cycle (Perry, 1992) and the period between weight acceptance and push off (Winter, 1987). Discreet events consider mid-stance to be a temporal event (eg. 50% of stance phase); kinematic event (eg. when the medial malleoli of the swing limb passes the stationary limb); or kinetic characteristic (eg. when the GRF vector is vertical in the sagittal plane) (Gibson, Jeffery, & Bakheit, 2006).

Investigations using video vector analysis presumably required a discreet definition of midstance in order to assess moment arm of the GRF to the knee at a specific point in time in a reliable and repeatable way. Unfortunately this has not been reported beyond general terminology such as 'mid-stance' or 'middle of stance'. Authors have defined normal GRF orientation as simply that (Butler, *et al.*, 1992), or when the GRF vector is overlying the knee (Butler, *et al.*, 2007) or when the GRF vector is as close as possible to the centre of the knee joint (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). No description was given of the point during the gait cycle that this was assessed. In addition, discreet definitions only have limited usefulness in the CP population as the gait deviations demonstrated by this group include a wide variety of temporal, kinematic and kinetic variations.

An alternative approach would be to focus on the specific characteristic of gait that is being modified during the tuning process, rather than the timing in the gait cycle. Several such characteristics have been described, including reducing the excessive external extension moment arm to the knee (Butler, *et al.*, 1997; Butler, *et al.*, 1992), and "when the GRF vector becomes briefly misplaced around mid-stance" (Stallard & Woollam, 2003). Thus the focus here is the peak knee extension moment, regardless of the time at which it occurs. This is however, a gait characteristic which is excessive only in those children demonstrating an excessive PF-KE couple, thereby potentially limiting the population to whom this definition may be relevant.

Other authors who have used 3DGA to tune the AFO-FC of an adult with post-stroke hemiplegia have more recently overcome this limitation by defining the optimisation process as normalising joint kinematics and the moment arm of the GRF relative to the knee as far as possible, with the aim of correcting *any* abnormal joint moments created by pathological gait (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010). These authors are the first to clearly define the periods of stance phase of interest, using definitions largely in line with those proposed by Perry (1992), which are summarised in Figure 2.16. This definition considers the stance phase period of the gait cycle according to four sub-divisions: loading response (0-10% gait cycle), mid-stance (10-30% gait cycle), terminal stance (30-50%) gait cycle and pre-swing (50-60% gait cycle).

					Stride			
Periods		Stance				Swing		
Task		Weight acceptance	Single limb support			Limb advancement		
Support		Double	Single		Double	Single		
Phases		Loading Response	Mid- stance	Terminal stance	Pre- Swing	Initial- Swing	Mid- swing	Terminal Swing
Defining events	Initial contact	Foot flat	Heel rise	Contra-lateral initial contact	Toe off	Swing & stance limb in line	Vertical tibia swing limb	Initial contact
% Gait Cycle	0-2%	0-10%	10-30%	30-50%	50-60%	60-73%	73-87%	87-100%
	Initial Contact	Loading Response	Mid Stance	Terminal Stance	Pre-Swing	Initial Swing	Mid Swing	Terminal Swing

Figure 2.16 Divisions of the gait cycle reproduced from Perry (1992, p. 10).

In this study by Jagadamma and colleagues (2010) the authors focused on changing SVA to optimise knee kinetics over mid-stance (defined as 10-30% gait cycle), then used a rocker sole to optimise the period of terminal stance (defined as 30-50% gait cycle) to pre-swing (defined as 50-60% gait cycle). These authors found that increasing the SVA of the AFO-FC improved knee kinetics throughout mid-stance but also terminal stance. They suggested that adding a rocker sole further improved knee kinetics in terminal stance and pre-swing, though these changes were of a much smaller magnitude.

A recent paper by Owen (2010) also included reference to Perry's (1992) definition of the gait cycle. While this definition of mid-stance is in line with Perry's (1992), Owen refers to Perry's 'loading response' as early stance or entrance to stance, and Perry's 'terminal stance' and 'preswing', collectively as exit from stance phase. It can thus be inferred that in Owen's previous publications, her use of the term mid-stance was in line with that of Perry (1992). In addition, Owen (2010) states that the instant in the gait cycle assessed during 2D video vector tuning was the moment that the GRF was vertical, which occurred at the transition from mid- to terminal stance at 30% gait cycle. This highlights one of the discrepancies throughout the wider body of literature regarding the focus of tuning on either a phase or an instant in the gait cycle.

Regardless of how mid-stance is defined, it should be recognised that AFO-FC alignment will affect the orientation of the GRF to the knee, and possibly also the hip joints throughout all of stance phase. In addition to this, if 3DGA is used to measure the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait, the point in the gait cycle at which this is measured does not need to be constrained to a specific temporal definition or gait characteristic. It remains helpful however to consider the focus of previous literature as this informs the research questions.

In summary, literature to date generally considers tuning by way of modifying the SVA to be focused on improving (that is, normalising) knee kinetics during mid-stance (10-30% gait cycle) and terminal stance (30-50% gait cycle), with a particular focus on the peak knee extending moment. The effect on hip kinetics remains of secondary concern.

### 2.3.2.3 What is successful and unsuccessful tuning?

While the goal of the tuning process has not been clearly described, there is also some ambiguity regarding how the final 'optimal' AFO-FC alignment was determined in each case. All proponents of the tuning process agree that the goal of the process is to achieve more normal kinetics. However, several authors have used the divisions 'successful' or 'unsuccessful' to define a patient's ability to respond to AFO-FC alignment change (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c). Such grouping requires *a-priori* decisions about minimum improvement required in a certain parameter in order to qualify as achieving 'closer to normal values'.

One study formed two groups of children based on their success in tuning, but did not report the decision rules used to determine success (Butler, *et al.*, 2007). They also did not report the baseline and tuned values of the variable considered in the tuning process, thereby making it difficult to consider this retrospectively. This makes it impossible to determine whether a child described as one who could have their AFO tuned successfully, achieved within normal values in this variable, or simply demonstrated some improvement regardless of the extent.

There is also no evidence to suggest that a single optimal AFO-FC alignment exists for each child, or whether there is a range of AFO-FC alignments that produce similar outcomes. The current tuning procedure described throughout the literature does not specify a process for determining which alignment is the final optimal alignment, beyond a statement of 'trial and error'. Such a process might be, for example, to continue making adjustments to the AFO-FC even after an optimal is determined, to ensure no further improvement can be made.

The recent case study by Jagadamma and colleagues (2010) described a method where this double-checking was not performed. One trial was captured in each condition with the data viewed and a decision made about the subsequent adjustment. This adjustment was stopped when the data came within one standard deviation of normal values. Such a method carries the assumption that a single AFO-FC alignment exists that will produce discernibly more normal knee kinetics than the surrounding alignments. This assumption is currently unfounded as no studies have sought to examine the effect of a range of AFO-FC alignments and thereby determine sensitivity to change.

It may therefore be helpful to consider children based on their *responsiveness* to a change in AFO-FC alignment, rather than success or failure in tuning. For example, in cases where changing AFO-FC alignment has no effect on knee kinetics a child could be categorised as unresponsive. A responsive child would therefore be one where changing the AFO-FC alignment elicited *a change* in knee kinetics, and this could be either an improvement or a deterioration in performance. In the first case this would indicate a sub-optimal baseline AFO-FC alignment, whereas the latter would indicate a more optimal baseline AFO-FC alignment as the change in AFO-FC alignment produced detrimental effects. The end result is therefore a two level classification which considers children firstly as responsive or unresponsive, and secondly assesses the direction of the response as an improvement or deterioration.

Examples in the literature support the idea of a positive or negative response to altered AFO-FC alignment. Stallard and Woollam (2003) reported results of a pilot transportable tuning program using the 2D video vector generator. While some children were documented to have improved knee kinetics using this method, others were reported to have had their orthotic set-up confirmed. This could reasonably be considered indicative of a baseline AFO-FC alignment that performed equally as well or better than any attempt at modification. Therefore, a child could be described as responsive to tuning, but due to an optimal baseline alignment, could derive no benefit from alignment adjustments. Responsiveness could therefore indicate the potential for altered knee kinetics, regardless of the baseline alignment.

The important differences between a two level classification system based on success, and one based on responsiveness can be demonstrated by examining further the results of the study that attempted to classify children into two groups according to whether or not their AFOs were tuned succesfully (Butler, *et al.*, 2007). Children whose AFOs were not tuned successfully were defined as those who demonstrated less or no change toward normal. This group likely included unresponsive children, responsive children who demonstrated detrimental effects, and responsive children who demonstrated positive effects but to a small degree. Therefore, the successful group would include only those children who were responsive and showed large

improvements in their knee kinetics. Without considering baseline alignment, the categorisation proposed by Butler and colleagues (Butler, *et al.*, 2007) may not be able to identify all children who could potentially benefit from a tuning procedure.

The terms responsive and unresponsive are therefore useful to indicate whether a change in knee kinetics can be achieved as a result of AFO-FC alignment change. This categorisation is based simply on the presence of a change in knee kinetics rather than the direction of change or degree of normalisation that has occurred. This means it is not sensitive to differences in baseline patterns of knee kinetics. Subsequent to a categorisation of responsive or non-responsive an optimal AFO-FC alignment could be defined as the SVA producing the knee kinetic pattern closest to normal values. If responsive children can be predicted beforehand, clinical management of this group could be considerably improved.

# 2.3.2.4 Which children are responsive?

The study by Butler and colleagues (2007) is the only study that has attempted to determine the characteristics that define children whose AFO-FCs were tuned successfully, compared with those whose AFO-FCs were not tuned successfully. While the rationale by which children were classified into the two groups is questionable, the study described a child likely to have their AFO-FC tune successfully to have a barefoot gait pattern of knee flexion less than 20° in the first third of stance phase followed by knee extension of less than 10° knee flexion in the second third of stance phase (Butler, *et al.*, 2007). This represents a relatively extended gait pattern, such as true equinus which is demonstrated in both spastic hemi- and diplegic children (refer to Figure 2.3, Figure 2.5). These findings concur with the findings of Jagadamma and colleagues (2009) who reported successfully tuning the AFO-FCs of five children demonstrating knee hyperextension.

The criterion from Butler and colleague's (2007) study for children whose AFO-FCs did not tune successfully is therefore the opposite; a barefoot gait pattern with knee flexion greater than 20° in early stance, with persistent knee flexion greater than 10° during the second third of stance phase (Butler, *et al.*, 2007). This describes a relatively flexed gait pattern, findings that are in line with anecdotal evidence that tuning is less successful in the AFO-FCs of those who have more flexed gait patterns and increased proximal muscle tightness (Butler & Nene, 1991), dynamic tone and the inability to reach near full extension dynamically at the hip and knee joints (Owen, 2004c). These types of gait patterns (refer to Figure 2.3 and Figure 2.5) represent the more severe end of the CP spectrum (Rodda & Graham, 2001).

Given the supposition that extended gait patterns may be more responsive and flexed gait patterns less responsive to a change in SVA, an explanation for this division becomes apparent. If the child can achieve foot flat during stance phase, they demonstrate a relatively extended gait pattern. Any change to the HSD of the AFO-FC will therefore affect the kinematics of the shank, and subsequently the orientation of the knee joint to the GRF vector (Figure 2.17). This is referred to as Mechanism 1 and is further explored in Chapter 4. In comparison, if a child demonstrates hip and knee flexion during stance phase while wearing an AFO in a plantigrade position, the foot will be inclined with regard to the floor with the heel elevated. The foot is not flat on the ground and therefore any change to the HSD of the AFO-FC will have no direct effect on the kinematics of the shank (Figure 2.18). This is referred to as Mechanism 2.

When the work by Butler and colleagues (2007) is considered in this light, the finding that only the AFO-FCs worn by children demonstrating a more extended gait pattern tuned successfully is expected, as their definition of successful tuning required both kinematic and kinetic changes to the knee. Thus, according to this criteria, the AFO-FCs or children with foot flat gait pattern will tune successfully (i.e. be responsive to AFO-FC alignment changes) because kinematics of the shank will always be affected.



Figure 2.17 Mechanism 1: when the foot is flat on ground increased HSD results in shank inclination.

#### Chapter 2 - Background



Figure 2.18 Mechanism 2: when the foot is inclined on ground increased HSD results in no change to shank inclination.

Many children with CP have flexed postural patterns and as such the question arises whether there are any benefits for this group of children. While the criteria from Butler and colleagues (2007) suggests that tuning was unsuccessful, Owen (2005) suggests attempting tuning even in children who have clinical predictors for lack of success, that is, hip and knee flexor tightness. She recommends increasing the HSD of the AFO-FC such that the sole of the shoe is brought to the floor, thus improving stability (Owen, 2004c). No studies have examined the effects of this wedging technique on gait, though Wesdock and Edge (2003) examined the effect of wedging on standing balance. Improvements in maximum standing time of an average 87 seconds was found to occur due to wedging the AFO-FCs in a sub-group of four children with CP, who could stand unaided for more than 15 seconds.

Wedging an AFO-FC in this manner may have two benefits. Firstly, the base of support over which the centre of mass must remain to maintain balance, is increased (Figure 2.19). This will shift the centre of pressure from its origin at the forefoot, posteriorly toward the centre of the foot (Figure 2.19). Figure 2.20 illustrates the corresponding shift of the position of the GRF vector posteriorly, which reduces the moment arms around the knee joint and the consequent external and internal joint moments. This allows the centre of mass (estimated as the level of the second sacral vertebrae) to shift posteriorly to remain within the base of support, which results in a more upright trunk posture.



Figure 2.19 Increasing the HSD in a flexed limb increases the base of support thus shifting the centre of pressure posteriorly.



Figure 2.20 Increased HSD increases the base of support and shifts the centre of pressure posteriorly. Trunk lean, hip flexion moments and knee extension moments are reduced.

If this same theory is applied to the GRF orientation during the gait cycle, similar effects should result. A posterior shift in centre of pressure and hence of the GRF will alter knee kinetics with no changes to the shank kinematics. This mechanism could therefore normalise knee kinetics in children with a flexed gait pattern, while having no effect on knee or shank kinematics. This provides a second mechanism (refer to Figure 2.18) that is in contrast to the current theory (refer to Figure 2.17) where direct kinematic changes to shank inclination induces kinetic changes in children with an extended gait pattern.

No studies have investigated the effect of increased HSD on GRF alignment in children who walk with flexed gait patterns and therefore who do not achieve foot flat in their AFO-FC. If knee kinetics can be improved by increasing the HSD of the AFO-FC such children may also have the potential to benefit from an alignment procedure such as tuning. This idea not yet been recognised in current literature, and thus has potential to have a significant impact on our understanding of how AFO-FC alignment can affect gait in children with different gait patterns.

# 2.4 Evidence base for AFO-FC alignment

# 2.4.1 How does AFO-FC alignment affect gait?

Walking is an essential skill for functional mobility and as such is considered a component of the basic activities of daily living (James, 2008). Children with CP often walk with abnormal and more energy expensive gait patterns (Duffy, *et al.*, 1996; Johnston, *et al.*, 2004; Rose, *et al.*, 1990). The GRF vector is often at an abnormal position and orientation, and at greater distances from the lower limb joints (Hullin, Robb, & Loudon, 1996; Lin, Guo, Su, Chou, & Cherng, 2000). This produces large external moments that must be counteracted by equivalent internal muscle moments.

Although there is anecdotal evidence for the benefits of AFO-FC tuning (Anderson & Meadows, 1978; Bowers & Ross, 2009; Meadows, *et al.*, 1980; Owen, 2002), these are clinical observations that have not been rigorously tested. The following discussion outlines the available evidence describing the effect of AFO-FC alignment on knee kinetics and kinematics, hip kinetics and kinematics, temporospatial parameters and permanent motor learning. These data are summarised in Table 2.1 (p68).

This synthesis considers two methodological approaches that have been used to investigate the effect of AFO-FC alignment in children with CP. The first involves the previously described tuning process, whereby small trial-and-error adjustments are made to the AFO-FC alignment in an attempt to identify an optimal. The second method is to make systematic changes to the AFO-FC alignment in order to examine the effect of various alignments.

### 2.4.1.1 Knee kinetics

Knee kinetics have been the focus of the tuning procedure to date. In particular this has focussed on normalising any excessive external knee extension moment (Butler, *et al.*, 1997; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Stallard & Woollam, 2003). While two mechanisms have been identified by which changing the SVA of the AFO-FC is thought to affect body segments and GRF orientation, both will involve kinetic changes at the knee. Overall, the literature suggests that tuning an AFO-FC, will reduce and therefore normalise the peak knee extension moment in both adults and children (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1997; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007). However several studies have noted that at the same time, this results in an increased peak knee flexion moment in early stance from 0.59 (±0.41) to 0.7 (±0.32) Nm/kg (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). The only study to find no significant effect of SVA on knee kinetics attributed this to the range of SVAs tested being too small to induce a significant change on this variable. Two SVAs were tested which were 0° and 5-7° SVA (Fatone, Gard, & Malas, 2009). This study examined a group of adults with post-stroke hemiplegia and used articulated AFOs which may also been a contributor to the lack of change.

#### 2.4.1.2 Knee kinematics

Despite several papers suggesting that the goal of the AFO-FC tuning process was to optimise knee kinematics (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, 2004c; Stallard & Woollam, 2003), only a handful of studies reported changes to knee kinematics as a result of AFO-FC alignment change (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010; Reinthal & Hoy, 2005). These studies found reductions in peak knee extension angle in tuned AFO-FCs in children with CP as well as adults with post-stroke hemiplegia (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2000; Reinthal & Hoy, 2005). According to the two previously described mechanisms by which changing the SVA of the AFO-FC can affect gait, only Mechanism 1, involving children with a relatively extended gait pattern is expected to result in a change to the shank kinematics, and possibly also knee kinematics. In all of these examples the subjects demonstrated full knee extension.

It has been noted by several studies that in addition to reducing the amount of knee extension produced during mid-late stance, increased SVA also acts to increase knee flexion in early stance (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007). This variable was quantified in only one case, and although increased by an average 6°, knee flexion was found not to be significantly different from the un-tuned condition (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). The opinion of one author is however that any increase in early stance knee flexion is outweighed by the advantages of tuning (Butler, *et al.*, 2007).

### 2.4.1.3 Hip kinetics and kinematics

While several authors suggest that AFO-FC tuning should also be concerned with hip kinetics (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, 2004b), only one case study investigating an adult with post-stroke hemiplegia, has specifically aimed to achieve more normal hip kinetics as a result of AFO-FC tuning (Bowers & Meadows, 2007). This report included photographs depicting the GRF vector superimposed on a video of the patient walking, indicating a re-orientation of the GRF vector from anterior to the hip joint to posterior, as well as increased contralateral step length. No quantitative data were reported.

#### 2.4.1.4 Temporospatial parameters

Four studies have reported the effect of SVA on temporospatial parameters, one on children with CP (Jagadamma, et al., 2009) and four on adults with post-stroke hemiplegia (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Fatone, et al., 2009; Lehmann, Condon, Price, & deLateur, 1987). Collectively, these studies suggest that in hemiplegic post-stroke adults an increased SVA is likely to increase walking velocity (Lehmann, et al., 1987) and increase contralateral step length (Bowers & Meadows, 2007). Jagadamma and colleagues (2009) found similar effects in their hemiplegic CP subjects, with increased walking velocity (+0.06m/s) and increased cadence (+8 steps/min) in a tuned AFO-FC, whereas diplegic children showed a decrease in walking velocity (-0.06m/s); cadence (-12 steps/min) and stride length (-6cm). The authors suggest these differences may be due to diplegic children being less able to adjust to immediate changes in AFO alignment (Jagadamma, et al., 2009). An alternate explanation may be that differences in gait patterns between the two groups affected the outcomes. If the two diplegic children demonstrated excessive knee flexion in early stance before hyperextending at the knee in mid-stance (eg jump knee gait), an increased SVA may have contributed to more detrimental effects during the first half of stance phase. The study by Fatone and colleages (2009) however found no significant differences in temporospatial parameters in their study of post-stroke adults, though this is likely due to the small magnitude of change in SVA.

#### 2.4.1.5 Permanent motor learning

While the majority of research in this area has examined the immediate effect of AFO-FC alignment change on gait, several papers have suggested that permanent motor learning may occur as a result of improved GRF organisation in an 'optimally aligned' AFO-FC. These papers all described their subjects as demonstrating genu recurvatum though over a range of diagnoses including adults with acquired brain injury (Butler, *et al.*, 1997) and children with CP (Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Rosenthal, *et al.*, 1975). Improvements were seen in the barefoot gait pattern, specifically reduced (normalised) peak knee extension moment arms, after AFO wear. In all of these studies however, it is impossible to distinguish whether the results were due to simply

wearing an AFO or to the effects of the tuning process. In the study by Butler and colleagues (1992) it is also impossible to separate the effects of balance training to that of the AFO.

One major limitation of much of this work is the lack of data describing gait in the baseline and tuned conditions. Several studies describe improvements in certain variables but report only a photograph with the GRF superimposed. In some cases this is because the study is published only in abstract form. Several other studies have however used 3DGA to either tune the AFO-FCs or provide a systematic assessment of the effect of SVA (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010). Unfortunately the protocol used to collect data in these papers has used only a single trial in each condition, which does not account for within subject variability.

The following table (Table 2.1) summarises the current available evidence investigating the effect of SVA on adults and children wearing solid and hinged AFOs.

Authors	N; diagnosis; AFO type	Tuning technique; angles investigated	Findings (knee kinematics; knee kinetics; temporospatial and other)
Case studies			
(Jagadamma, et al., 2007)	N=1; child with CP demonstrating knee hyperextension; solid AFO (abstract only)	3DGA; systematic changes to SVA = 0, 10, 12, 13, 19, 22°	↑SVA = $\downarrow$ peak KE angle and moment moment; ↑ KF at IC and peak KF angle
(Reinthal & Hoy, 2005)	N=1; child with CP with crouch gait; adjustable ankle solid AFO (abstract only)	3DGA; systematic changes to AFO ankle angle = 0, 5, 10, 15°	↑PF = ↓peak KF
(Jagadamma, et al., 2010)	N=1; adult with post stroke hemiplegia; solid AFO	3DGA; tuned SVA & sole profile; T = 14° SVA	$\downarrow$ Tuned AFO-FC = $\downarrow$ KE and $\uparrow$ KF at initial contact
(Bowers & Meadows, 2007)	N=1; adult with post stroke hemiplegia; solid AFO	FVA; tuned SVA only	GRF alignment improved at hip and knee; improved temporospatial parameters. Video images only.
(Butler <i>, et al.,</i> 1997)	N=1; adult with acquired brain injury; solid AFO	FVA; tuned SVA only	Tuned AFO-FC = $\downarrow$ peak KE moment
Studies of n>1			
(Jagadamma, <i>et al.</i> , 2009) & (Jagadamma <i>et al.</i> , 2008)	N= 5 children with CP; all hyperextend; solid AFOs	3DGA; tuned SVA only; T= 10.8° (1.8) SVA	Tuned AFO-FC = ↓ peak KE moment and angle, ↑ peak KF moment and angle, ↑ KF at IC; improved temporospatial parameters in hemiplegic children, but not diplegic children
(Butler <i>, et al.,</i> 1992)	N=6 children with CP all hyperextend; solid AFOs	FVA; tuning component not stated; combined with targeted balance training to knees	Tuned AFO-FC = improved barefoot GRF orientation; Tuned AFO-FC = more upright trunk posture.
(Hullin <i>, et al.,</i> 1992)	N= 6; children with low- level myelomeningocele;	3DGA; tuned point loading rockers in	Point loading rocker = $\sqrt{knee}$ hyperextension in sub-set of children where

Authors	N; diagnosis; AFO type	Tuning technique; angles investigated	Findings (knee kinematics; knee kinetics; temporospatial and other)
	solid AFOs	sub-set of participants	the AFO ankle angle was less dorsiflexed.
(Lehmann <i>, et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1987)	N=7; adults with post- stroke hemiplegia; double-stopped (solid) AFOs	3DGA; systematic changes to AFO ankle angle =5° DF vs 5° PF	Dorsiflexed AFO = 个walking speed and KF moment.
(Fatone <i>, et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2009)	N=16; adults with post- stroke hemiplegia; hinged AFO with PF stop	3DGA; systematic change to AFO ankle = 0° vs 5-7°	No significant differences between conditions but large improvements compared to barefoot, especially for those with knee hyperextension.
Papers without	gait data		
(Stallard & Woollam, 2003)	N=61; children with variety of pathologies; solid AFOs	FVA; tuned SVA	Reports outcomes of gait assessments, not results of tuning
(Owen, 2002)	N=74 children (112 limbs); children with neurological conditions (CP, spina bifida, other) (abstract only)	FVA; tuned SVA	For all children the SVA of the tuned AFO- FCs was mean SVA=11.36° (±2.08°, 7-15°). For children with CP (n=69), mean SVA =11.86°(±2.05°, 7-15°). For children with spina bifida (n=8), mean SVA=7.75° (±0.46°, 7-8°). For other children (n=35), mean SVA=11.28° (±1.41°, 8-14°).
(Owen, 2004a)	N=12; children with CP (abstract only)	FVA; tuned SVA and point loading rockers	Reports % foot length at which the point loading rockers were located
(Owen <i>,</i> 2005a)	N=0; (abstract only)	Tuning algorithm	A clinical algorithm for the design and tuning of AFO-FCs based on shank kinematics
(Owen, 2010)	Theoretical paper		
(Butler & Nene, 1991)	Theoretical paper		
(Butler <i>, et al.,</i> 2007)	N=21 children with CP; solid AFOs	FVG; tuned SVA only;	Retrospective review to determine baseline gait patterns of successful vs unsuccessful tuners
KF = knee flexio plantarflexion; l	n; KE = knee extension; FVA DF = dorsiflexion	= force vector analysis	; 3DGA = three dimensional gait analysis; PF =

Table 2.1 Summary of evidence describing the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait in children and adults.

# 2.4.2 Implications for other AFO designs

The majority of research examining the effect of AFO-FC alignment has examined solid AFOs. Much of this literature has originated from the United Kingdom from facilities where solid AFOs are prescribed more commonly than other AFO designs (Owen, 2005a, 2005b). The types of AFOs prescribed for children with CP presenting with specific deficits are not however, consistent across facilities (Morris, Newdick, & Johnson, 2002). For example, at the Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, Australia, a hinged AFO is the AFO of choice provided there is adequate gastrocnemius muscle length, low spasticity, a stable foot and no excessive dorsiflexion during stance phase (Rodda & Graham, 2001). The hinged AFO prevents plantarflexion beyond plantigrade, and therefore the inclination of the shank will reflect the SVA from heel contact until the point in the gait cycle at which dorsiflexion begins. After this point the tibia is unrestrained by the AFO and can rotate freely. Therefore, the SVA of a hinged AFO may influence the kinematics and kinetics of the lower limb in the earlier part of stance phase in a similar manner to solid AFOs, but will differ from the point the tibia begins to rotate around the foot. It is also possible that due to spasticity and contracture in the gastrocnemius muscle which is so often seen in children with CP, the range of dorsiflexion utilised in the hinged AFO will be limited. No studies have examined the effect of hinged AFO alignment changes on gait in children with CP.

# 2.5 Summary

This chapter has defined the individual components of the AFO and footwear combination that affect the SVA. It has been suggested that variety in the SVA of the AFO-FCs used in studies examining the efficacy of AFOs may contribute to the lack of conclusive evidence describing the effects of AFO-FCs on outcomes in children with CP. It is not known however, how well the wider body of orthotic literature with regard to children with CP report AFO-FC alignment, or how well it is considered.

The literature has been summarised to provide a critical review of the goal of the tuning process. The underlying theory describing how a change in AFO-FC alignment affects gait has been focused on a change in shank kinematics. This is thought to occur only when full contact is made with the foot to the floor. It is however proposed that this is only one of two distinct mechanisms by which an increase in HSD can affect GRF alignment to the lower limb joints. The second mechanism will occur when contact is made with the ground only with the forefoot. While no kinematic changes will occur as a result of increasing the HSD, the point of application of the GRF might shift posteriorly. On this basis it is hypothesised that tuning, or changing AFO-FC alignment will always affect the underlying kinetics and that this will only lead to a change in knee or shank kinematics when the foot is flat on the ground. It is not known whether patterns consistent with these two theoretical mechanisms actually exist.

While several authors have suggested that tuning is only effective in a sub-group of children, the ambiguity surrounding the definition of 'successful' calls this into question. A new method of categorising children based on responsiveness to alignment change has been proposed as a theoretical construct that accounts for differences in baseline SVA. In light of the above two mechanisms by which AFO-FC alignment change may affect gait, it is thus hypothesised that all children are responsive to AFO-FC alignment change.

There is also evidence to suggest that increasing the SVA of the AFO-FC will reduce peak external knee extension moment but will also increase peak knee flexion moment. In children with an extended gait pattern (full or excessive knee extension) there is some evidence to suggest that knee flexion angle in early stance will also increase, while knee extension angle in mid- to late stance will decrease. Very little is known however, about how parameters related to the hip, ankle and temporospatial parameters are affected by AFO-FC alignment. Overall, there is no evidence documenting the effect of AFO alignment change on a complete set of gait variables.

While solid AFOs have been the focus of tuning literature, hinged AFOs are a more common AFO design in the population of children with CP, in Melbourne, Australia. Changing the alignment in this AFO design is hypothesised to have similar effects to a solid AFO, although no studies have examined the effect of AFO-FC on hinged AFOs.

Therefore, an investigation into the effect of AFO-FC alignment on the gait of children with CP who wear either hinged or solid AFOs is warranted. This would examine whether all children were responsive to alignment change, and would provide a complete set of gait variables describing the effect of SVA on gait according to two AFO designs and across different gait patterns. If AFO-FC alignment can improve walking in these children, this provides grounding for implementation of AFO tuning procedures. This knowledge will also shed light onto interpreting the findings of past research.

# 2.6 **Research Questions**

The first five questions which will be addressed in this thesis are identified as follows:

- 1. How well is AFO-FC alignment reported within the wider body of literature?
- 2. How does changing AFO-FC alignment affect gait? Is there any evidence for the two mechanisms by which SVA can affect the biomechanics of walking?
- 3. Are all children responsive to AFO-FC alignment change?
- 4. What is the effect of systematic AFO-FC alignment change on the gait of children who wear solid and hinged AFOs?
- 5. Is there an optimal AFO-FC alignment?

# 3 A systematic review to determine best practice reporting guidelines for AFO interventions in studies involving children with CP

This chapter reports a systematic review that investigates the quality and level of detail reported about patient characteristics, the AFO intervention and testing protocol within the body of literature examining AFO intervention on children with cerebral palsy (CP). This includes an assessment of how well AFO-FC alignment and any associated tuning procedures have been reported, which was the first research question of this thesis. This review has been published in *Prosthetics and Orthotics International* and is included in Appendix A. This chapter provides an extended and enhanced version of the published review, providing discussion on the impact of these quality issues on the degree of confidence that can be had in the findings of these papers, and provides recommendations for improvements in future research in the form of best practice reporting guidelines. The outcomes of the review guide the focus of this thesis and the design of subsequent studies.

#### 3.1 Introduction

Ankle-foot orthoses are a common non-invasive management option for children with CP. These devices are prescribed with a variety of aims including to improve walking, weight bearing, foot postures and musculoskeletal outcomes. However, the evidence supporting their effectiveness on a wide range of outcome measures within this population is limited. Reviewers have by and large, been unable to provide in-depth and meaningful conclusions describing the effect an AFO has on gait, apart from beneficial effects on temporospatial parameters and ankle kinematics (Bowers & Ross, 2009; Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; Morris, 2002).

Reviewers are not restricted in their ability to draw more significant conclusions due to lack of reviews or published research in this area. A significant body of literature has been published that has sought to quantify the effects of AFOs on children with CP. This includes two systematic reviews (Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; Morris, 2002) and one narrative review (Teplicky, *et al.*, 2002) published within the last eight years, with International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics (ISPO) Consensus Conferences held on the topic in 1994 (International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, 1995) and more recently in 2008 (International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, 2009).

One factor that may restrict reviewers from drawing more substantial conclusions from this body of work is undoubtedly the heterogeneity of participants, interventions, testing protocols and outcome measures examined within this body of literature. This prevents any formal meta

analyses and has been recognised as a characteristic limitation of this body of literature by several authors (Bowers & Ross, 2009; Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; Morris, 2002).

A second explanation relates to the quality of the studies included for review. Several reviewers have used Sackett's Levels of Evidence (Sackett, Straus, Richardson, Rosenberg, & Haynes, 2000) (refer to Figure 3.1) or other similar methods to assess evidence quality, and generally report this to be low for this body of research (Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, 1995; Morris, 2002). These Levels of Evidence use an hierarchical approach to rank papers based on the elimination or minimisation of bias in research design (Sackett, *et al.*, 2000). The best type of evidence is considered to be a systematic review of randomised controlled trials (RCTs; Level 1a), followed by cohort studies, case controlled studies, case series and expert opinion as the lowest level of evidence (Level 5) (Sackett, *et al.*, 2000).

#### Level Study design

1a	Systematic review (with homogeneity) of RCTs
1b	Individual RCT (with narrow confidence interval)
1c	All or none
2a	SR (with homogeneity) of cohort studies
2b	Individual cohort study (including low quality RCT; e.g., <80% follow-up)
2c	"Outcomes" Research; Ecological studies
3a	Systematic review (with homogeneity) of case-control studies
3b	Individual Case-Control Study
4	Case-series (and poor quality cohort and case-control studies§§)
5	Expert opinion without explicit critical appraisal, or based on physiology, bench research or "first principles"

Figure 3.1 Sackett's Levels of Evidence (Sackett, et al., 2000).

According to systems such as these, the quality of this body of work has not improved with the majority of papers ranked at Level 3 in 1994 (International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, 1995) and in 2006 (Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008). As a result, reviewers recommend that this be addressed by conducting studies of higher ranking designs such as large scale RCTs (Morris, 2002) or one-group, interrupted time-series designs (single-subject design) (Bowers & Ross, 2009; Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; Morris, 2002).

The levels of evidence described by Sackett and colleagues (Sackett, *et al.*, 2000) is one example of a quality assessment system concerned largely with overall study design. An alternative quality assessment method is a checklist system that scores studies according to internal, external and statistical validity, thereby allowing them to be ranked by their score. One example is the PEDro scale for RCTs ("PEDro," 2008), which is presented below in Figure 3.2.
1.	eligibility criteria were specified	no 🗖	yes 🗖	where
2.	subjects were randomly allocated to groups (in a crossover study, subjects were randomly allocated an order in which treatments were received)	no 🗖	yes 🗖	where
3.	allocation was concealed	no 🗖	yes 🗖	where
4.	the groups were similar at baseline regarding the most important prognostic indicators	no 🗖	yes 🗖	where
5.	there was blinding of all subjects	no 🗖	yes 🗖	where
6.	there was blinding of all therapists who administered the therapy	no 🗖	yes 🗖	where
7.	there was blinding of all assessors who measured at least one key outcome	no 🗖	yes 🗖	where
8.	measures of at least one key outcome were obtained from more than 85% of the subjects initially allocated to groups	no 🗖	yes 🗖	where
9.	all subjects for whom outcome measures were available received the treatment or control condition as allocated or, where this was not the case, data for at least one key outcome was analysed by "intention to treat"	no 🗖	yes 🗖	where
10.	the results of between-group statistical comparisons are reported for at least of	one		
	key outcome	no 🖵	yes 🗖	where
11.	the study provides both point measures and measures of variability for at least one key outcome	no 🗖	yes 🗖	when

#### Figure 3.2 The PEDro scale ("PEDro," 2008).

The most recent systematic review of the effectiveness of AFOs on children with CP (Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008) utilised the PEDro scale to assess study quality. Scores were out of a total of 10 because Item 1 was not scored. Scores were low, with two studies scoring 4/10, 17 scoring 3/10 and one study scoring 2/10. While the authors conclude that this is indicative of low quality evidence these results must be interpreted in light of the fact that four of the ten points on this scale focused on concealment of allocation and blinding (Items 3, 5-7) all of which are difficult if not impossible to apply in orthotic intervention studies. The PEDro scale is designed for RCTs but none of the included studies were RCTs. Scores could therefore be considered out of a total of six points rather than ten which highlights one of the limitations of using this checklist within this body of literature.

Quality assessment methods such as these, which focus on overall study design and aspects of internal, external and statistical validity, provide excellent insight when assessing these aspects of study quality. However, equally important is ensuring the quality by which the intervention itself is administered (Herbert & Bø, 2005). Assessing intervention quality acknowledges that the intervention may be administered differently across trials and that this may influence their

effectiveness and may therefore be responsible for some of the variability in estimates of effects between trials (Herbert & Bø, 2005).

The effect of intervention quality is most problematic in complex health interventions, where the administration is likely to be different across different settings, and thus may be administered well or badly. Examples of complex multifaceted, interventions include physiotherapy programs, many surgical procedures, education programmes (Herbert & Bø, 2005) and arguably also studies of orthotic interventions. Methods of AFO prescription and choice of AFO design are often heavily influenced by the personal choice and experience of the staff, facility and geographical location and have been shown to vary between facilities (Morris, *et al.*, 2002).

Assessment of intervention quality relies on sufficient detail and transparency in trial reports (Herbert & Bø, 2005). Transparency refers to the level of detail and quality of the detail reported in the final publication or report. Within this specific body of literature reviewers have reported considerable variety in the depth and breadth of detail reported, particularly about the AFO intervention, the participants and testing protocol (Bowers & Ross, 2009; Desloovere, *et al.*, 2006; Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; Morris, 2002). Examples include the use of inconsistent terminology describing types of devices and in describing the ankle movements controlled by the AFO (Bowers & Ross, 2009; Desloovere, *et al.*, 2006; Morris, 2002); a lack of objective clinical measurement and assessment of the participant's functional status; and a lack of clear description of the parameters used to prescribe each type of device (Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008).

Adequate transparency is necessary to determine the quality of the intervention and therefore the quality of the study. Only with good transparency can reviewers glean insightful and meaningful conclusions from a collective body of work. Reporting AFO-FC alignment is one example of information that is necessary in order to correctly interpret a study's findings. A review by Owen (2004b) suggests that the majority of studies investigating AFO-FCs and casts in children and adults with neurological disorders do not recognise or describe the AFO-FC alignment. There is however, a small body of evidence that suggests AFO-FC alignment may have a significant effect on sagittal plane knee kinematics and kinetics (Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, studies that have examined AFO-FCs with a variety of AFO-FC alignments, or which have not reported these alignments, may have confounding results. It is not known how well the studies that have examined AFO-FC on children with CP have reported these details. This information would help us better interpret the findings of previously conducted studies and would aid in the design of future investigations of the effectiveness of AFO-FCs on gait in children with CP.

Within this body of literature a wide variety of study designs, AFO designs, testing protocols and outcome measures have been applied on a population of children who are also inherently heterogeneous in their clinical presentation. This makes transparent reporting even more essential in communicating to the reader what was done, on whom, and why. Even if studies eliminate bias by virtue of study design, if the AFO intervention is not administered appropriately or is not described in sufficient detail to communicate this information clearly, the strength of the study's findings are compromised.

A lack of transparent reporting is not limited to this body of literature. Recent work described in the CONSORT statement (Boutron *et al.*, 2008), TREND statements (Des Jarlais, Lyles, Crepaz, Abbasi, & et al, 2004) and by the EQUATOR network (Altman, Simera, Hoey, Moher, & Schulz, 2008) emphasise that improved reporting transparency is necessary to improve the quality of health related research across all areas and study designs. These statements provide general guidelines for reporting of intervention detail in randomised and non-randomised trials, however there are currently no guidelines recommending the specific detail that should be reported in AFO intervention studies.

## **3.2** Aims

A systematic review of the literature investigating the effects of AFOs on children with CP was conducted to address two broad aims. The first was to assess the level of detail and quality of detail reported regarding the AFO interventions, the participants and testing protocol. This included assessment of how well studies reported sagittal plane AFO-FC alignment, and the procedures used to obtain this alignment, which was the first research question of this thesis. Secondly, it was anticipated that by focussing on examples of good practice within the literature, it would be possible to derive best practice guidelines for reporting of research in this area. It was hoped that use of these guidelines would improve the detail reported by future investigators and therefore improve the quality of this evidence-base.

# 3.3 Methods

#### 3.3.1 Search Strategy

An electronic search of the literature was conducted in April 2009 using the following databases: MEDLINE (1966- April 2009), CINAHL (1982- April 2009), RECAL legacy database (1991-2009), EMBASE (1988-2009 week 18), AMED (1985- April 2009), INSPEC (1987- April 2009), ISI Web of Knowledge (sci-expanded, SSCI, A&HCI), Informit Databases (with the sub-selection of health, technology, science, engineering; 1998-2009), the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (1991- April 2009) and the Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro). Medline was also accessed using the internet (PubMed). Databases were searched from database inception with no a priori

exclusions, restrictions or limits. Reference lists from the relevant identified papers were also searched manually.

A search using MESH terms and free text words was performed using the search terms related to "cerebral palsy", "child", "adolescent", "orthosis", "brace" and "AFO". Relevant truncation or wildcard symbols were used to retrieve all possible suffix variations of a root word. An example of the search strategy is listed below in Figure 3.3.

"cerebral pals\$";
"child\$" or "adolescen\$";
"orthos\$" or "orthot\$" or "brace" or "AFO";
Combine 1 AND 2 AND 3.

Figure 3.3 Terms used in search of electronic databases.

## 3.3.2 Inclusion criteria

## 3.3.2.1 Participants

Studies were included if they examined children or adolescents (aged 6-18 years) who had a primary diagnosis of CP. Studies were excluded if they included participants with other diagnoses and did not present results separately for each diagnosis group.

#### 3.3.2.2 Interventions

Papers were included in the review when they evaluated some aspect of AFO use in this group of children. An AFO was defined as an external supportive device that encompassed the ankle joint and the whole or part of the foot (International Organisation for Standardisation, 1989). This review limited inclusion to AFOs designed to control unwanted ankle movement from a biomechanical perspective and therefore included only AFO designs that extended to the proximal calf. Non-rigid AFOs such as elastic wrap or lace up ankle braces, Lycra garments and supramalleolar orthoses were excluded. Studies examining any of these devices in addition to other AFOs that matched the inclusion criteria were included. Devices referred to as dynamic ankle foot orthoses (DAFOs) were initially included and later excluded if further examination indicated that the devices were supramalleolar.

# 3.3.2.3 Outcome measures

To assess the effect of AFOs across the entire spectrum of outcome measures, studies examining any outcome measure or task were included. This included both ambulatory and nonambulatory activities. Studies reporting any parameter including temporospatial, kinematic, kinetic, EMG, energy expenditure and any functional tasks were included.

# 3.3.2.4 Types of papers

Only full papers from peer reviewed journals were eligible for inclusion in the review. Papers in languages other than English were not included. Systematic reviews were excluded as were Level 4 and 5 studies such as case studies or opinion pieces (Sackett, *et al.*, 2000) as the focus of this review was experimental work. Non peer reviewed work such as theses and dissertations and any unpublished studies were not included to allow a reproducible search.

# 3.3.2.5 Evaluation methods

The title and abstract of each study identified from the search strategy was assessed by one reviewer (Emily Ridgewell) for inclusion or exclusion from the review. All papers that were initially discarded by the first reviewer were checked by the second reviewer (Fiona Dobson) to ensure no papers had been accidentally excluded. Any paper initially included but subsequently found not to meet the inclusion criteria was later excluded.

# 3.3.2.6 Data extraction and quality checklist

Data extraction refers to the process by which reviewers obtain information reported by the primary investigators (Khan, ter Riet, Kleijnen, Glanville, & Snowdon, 2001). Data extraction checklists have in the past been combined with quality checklists (eg. Dobson, *et al.*, 2007) that allow an assessment of the level of detail reported in a study. These checklists provide a useful tool for the systematic recording and reporting of specific data across a range of papers.

As no standardised or validated quality checklists were available for this type of review, a new data extraction and quality checklist was designed. Past literature reviews and studies in this area (Desloovere, *et al.*, 2006; Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; Morris, 2002; Teplicky, *et al.*, 2002) and in other areas of orthotic management (Bowers, 2007; Dillon, Fatone, & Hodge, 2007; Fatone, 2006), ISPO Consensus Conference documents (International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, 1995; Owen, *et al.*, 2004), and systematic review and checklist guidelines (Downs & Black, 1998; Khan, *et al.*, 2001; Oxman, 1994; "PEDro," 2008; Updated February 2008; Treatment Outcomes Committee, 2004; Wells *et al.*) were used to guide design.

The major themes for data extraction covered areas of general information including reviewer name and article identifiers; details regarding the type of study design, types and numbers of participants and interventions; and details regarding the participants, the AFOs and testing protocol (which were the primary focus of the quality assessment). Table 3.1 outlines the details obtained using this checklist.

# Chapter 3 – Systematic Review

Both reviewers piloted the data extraction and quality form independently on a sub-group of papers to check the form content and reliability. Inter-rater agreement was 81%. The draft checklist was subsequently altered to provide improved clarity and instruction. Following independent review of all papers by both reviewers, all non-consensus items were discussed until a consensus was reached. Each quality item had detailed pre-determined qualifiers to allow objective categorisation for each response. Any discrepancies were investigated using the original article to ascertain the correct response based on the objective a priori decision rules. Full consensus was reached on all items.

(item)	(record details)	
Identifiers		
Authors, date, journal & review	er initials	
General information		
Participant diagnoses Number of participants Intervention Control Study design Activity/outcome measures <i>(item)</i>	(choose response)	(record details)
Participant details		
Age Diagnosis Common deviation at ankle* Common deviation at knee* Common deviation at hip* Passive ankle (gastroc%) ROM Passive knee ROM Passive hip ROM	Complete/incomplete Complete/incomplete Clear/ambiguous/not stated/na Clear/ambiguous/not stated/na Clear/ambiguous/not stated/na Individual/group/inclusion criteria/not stated Individual/group/inclusion criteria/not stated Individual/group/inclusion criteria/not stated	Mean, SD, range Topographic & type of movement disorder
AFO detail		
Orthotic aim Movements AFO ankle angle	Clear/ambiguous/not stated/other Complete (all clear)/incomplete (some or all unclear) Specified for individual/group/ambiguous/not	Assisted, prevented and permitted Ankle angle in AFO
Toe plate length Materials Manufacture	stated/other All clear/some clear/all ambiguous Complete/partial/not stated/na Custom made/prefabricated/not stated	Full length or 3/4 Material & thickness
If prefab, is device name & supplier listed? Tuning Shank-to-vertical angle	Yes/no Complete/partial/not stated/na Complete/partial/not stated/na	Tuned? Details? Final value
Testing protocol		
Order of testing Acclimatisation Control condition Test condition	Randomised/non randomised/not stated/na <1 day, 1-6days, 1-4weeks, >4 weeks/not stated/na Barefoot/shoes/not stated Clear/ambiguous/not stated	
* Deviation e.g. a pattern of mo % Ankle ROM (gastroc) =ankle R na=not applicable	vement occurring at each of these joints. OM with knee extension	1

Table 3.1 Customised data extraction and quality checklist.

# 3.4 Results

# 3.4.1 Search yield

After removal of duplicates, the electronic search of selected databases identified 374 articles as having possible relevance to the use of AFOs in children with CP. Targeted searching revealed 55 articles that were all later discarded as duplicates. After applying the inclusion criteria, 41 full papers were included in the review.

# 3.4.2 Demographic and descriptive aspects

The total yield was published across 17 journals. More studies examined children with diplegic CP than hemiplegic CP with a total of 1201 children examined over a period of 38 years. The majority of articles were published after 1995.

Eleven different devices or device designs were examined. A barefoot condition was examined in 28 studies, a shod condition was examined in six studies, and one study included both barefoot and shod conditions (Desloovere, *et al.*, 2006). Eleven studies were retrospective with a prospective design in the remaining 30 studies. The majority of studies examined gait while walking on a level surface.

Table 3.2 presents the study details and demographics for the 41 paper yield. This includes participant diagnosis, number of participants, intervention, control, study design and primary activity/outcome examined.

Authors	Diagnosis	N=	Intervention	Control	Study design		Activity/Outcome	
Rosenthal '75	Not stated	12	GRAFO	BF	retrospective	longitudinal	case control	Genu recurvatum
Simon '78	Hemiplegia & diplegia	15	SAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Genu recurvatum
Sankey '89	Hemiplegia	29	SAFO	n/a	retrospective	cross sect	cohort/population	Surgery rates
Mossberg '90	Diplegia	18	AFOs on vs AFOs off	unknown	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Butler '92	Hemiplegia & diplegia	21	SAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	cohort	Genu recurvatum
Ounpuu '96	Hemiplegia & diplegia	31	PLS	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Carlson'97	Diplegia	11	SAFO	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Hainsworth '97	Hemiplegia & diplegia	12	AFOs on vs AFOs off	BF	prospective	longitudinal	case control	AFO withdrawal
Radkta '97	Hemiplegia & diplegia	10	SAFO, short leg AFO+ TRF	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Wilson '97	Diplegia	15	SAFO, HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Sit-stand
Abel '98	Diplegia	35	SAFO	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Brunner '98	Hemiplegia	14	SAFO, spring type AFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Burtner '99	Diplegia	4	SAFO, carbon spiral AFO	unknown	prospective	cross sect	case control	Standing balance
Rethlefsen '99	Diplegia	21	SAFO, HAO	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Crenshaw '00	Diplegia	8	HAFO, HAFO+TRF	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Suzuki '00	Diplegia	6	HAFO	unknown	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Beals '01	Not stated	4	SAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Trunk posture
Buckon '01	Hemiplegia	30	SAFO, HAFO, PLS	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Maltais'01	Diplegia	10	HAFO	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Dursun '02	Hemiplegia & diplegia	24	Unknown	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Kott '02	Mixed	28	orthoses on vs orthoses off	unknown	prospective	cross sect	case control	Obstacle course
Romkes '02	Hemiplegia	12	HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Sienko-T. '02	Hemiplegia	19	SAFO, HAFO, PLS	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Stair climbing
Smiley '02	Diplegia	14	SAFO, HAFO, PLS	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Thompson '02	Hemiplegia	18	SAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
White '02	Hemiplegia & diplegia	115	SAFO or HAFO	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Wesdock '03	Mixed	11	SAFO, wedged AFO	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Standing balance
Buckon '04	Diplegia	16	SAFO, HAFO, PLS	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Park '04	Diplegia	19	HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Sit-stand

Authors	Diagnosis	N=	Intervention	Control	Study design		Activity/Outcome	
Lam '05	Diplegia	13	SAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Radtka '05	Diplegia	12	SAFO, HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Desloovere '06	Hemiplegia	15	PLS, CFO	BF & shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Romkes '06	Hemiplegia	10	HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Balaban '07	Hemiplegia	11	HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Butler '07	Mixed	6	SAFO	n/a	retrospective	cross sect	cohort	Group analysis*
Hayek '07	Hemiplegia & diplegia	56	community prescribed AFOs	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Lucareli '07	Diplegia	71	hinged GRAFO	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Westberry '07	Mixed	102	Unknown	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Bony alignment
Brehm '08	Mixed	172	SAFO or PLS	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Van Gestel '08	Hemiplegia	36	PLS, CFO, orteams	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Smith '09	Diplegia	15	HAFO, dynamic AFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
HAFO = hinged AFO w	ith plantarflexion stop, PLS =	posterior le	af spring, GRAFO = ground reaction	n AFO, SAFO = s	olid AFO, CFO = co	arbon fibre ortho	sis, TRF = tone reducin	g features, BF =

barefoot.\* Examined the gait patterns of children whose AFOs did and did not tune successfully

Table 3.2 Demographic and descriptive aspects of all studies, in chronological order.

#### 3.4.3 Quality assessment

Tables 3.3 & 3.4 present the results of the quality assessment of this systematic review. The following section provides a summary of these results according to the sections on participant details, AFO details and testing protocol.

#### 3.4.3.1 Participant details

Topographical diagnosis (39/41) and participant age (36/41) were well reported. More studies provided information on passive ankle ROM (23/41) than knee (11/41) and hip ROM (10/41). Nineteen of the 41 studies made a clear attempt at describing a common pattern of abnormality or indication that was demonstrated by all participants, at the ankle, knee or hip joint. One study (Smith, *et al.*, 2009) clearly described a homogenous gait characteristic demonstrated by all participants. A homogenous mode of ankle movement was described most frequently (14/41), followed by knee movement (10/41) and three papers described a common pattern of hip movement.

#### 3.4.3.2 AFO details

Seventeen studies clearly stated the orthotic aim of the AFO. A clear description of the type of AFO intervention was provided by most studies, as were clear descriptions of the movements prevented, assisted or permitted by the AFO (35/41). Sixteen studies clearly stated the AFO ankle angle. Nineteen studies gave clear descriptions of toe plate length for all devices tested. In some cases it was necessary to infer this information from photographs or diagrams. A full-length toe plate was used more often (18/41) than ¾-length toe plate (4/41). Two studies investigated both full length and ¾ toe plate lengths. Ten papers provided complete detail on both material type and thickness, and eight more papers provided partial information. Five studies reported that the AFOs were tuned prior to testing. One study provided the final shank-to-vertical angle of the AFOs tested and two provided partial information. Custom made devices were most commonly tested (18/41). Three studies tested prefabricated devices with the name of the device and supplier provided by one study. The remaining twenty studies did not state whether the device was custom made or prefabricated.

#### 3.4.3.3 Testing protocol

More studies used a randomised order of testing (16/41) than non-random (12/41). The remaining studies either did not report this information or the item was not applicable. Twenty studies tested devices unfamiliar to the participant. Across these studies the acclimatisation times ranged from less than one day (2/20), 1-4 weeks (4/20) or greater than four weeks (8/20). The remaining studies did not provide this information. Most studies clearly stated the control condition with barefoot being the most common (28/41), followed by shoes (6/41) and both barefoot and shoes (1/41). The test condition was clearly stated in most studies.

Item & Response	Num	per of studies
Participant details	5	
Age		
Complete	36	(Abel, et al., 1998; Balaban, et al., 2007; Brehm, et al., 2008; Brunner, et al., 1998; Buckon, et al., 2001; Buckon, et al., 2004; Butler, et al., 2007; Butler, et al., 1992; Carlson, et al., 1997; Crenshaw, et al., 2000; Desloovere, et al., 2006; Dursun, et al., 2002; Hainsworth, et al., 1997; Hayek, et al., 2007; Kott & Held, 2002; Lam, et al., 2005; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Maltais, et al., 2001; Mossberg, et al., 1990; Ounpuu, et al., 1996; Park, et al., 2004; Radtka, et al., 1997; Radtka, et al., 2005; Rethlefsen, et al., 1999; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Romkes, et al., 2006; Sienko-Thomas, et al., 2002; Simon, et al., 1978; Smiley, et al., 2002; Smith, et al., 2009; Suzuki, et al., 2000; Thompson, et al., 2002; Van Gestel, et al., 2008; Wesdock & Edge, 2003; Westberry, et al., 2007; White, et al., 2002)
Diagnosis		
Complete	39	(Abel, <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Balaban, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Brehm, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Brunner, <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Burtner, <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Butler, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Butler, <i>et al.</i> , 1992; Carlson, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Crenshaw, <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Desloovere, <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Dursun, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Hainsworth, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Hayek, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Kott & Held, 2002; Lam, <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Maltais, <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Mossberg, <i>et al.</i> , 1990; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Park, <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Romkes, <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Rosenbaum, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Sankey, <i>et al.</i> , 1989; Sienko-Thomas, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Smiley, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Smith, <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Suzuki, <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Van Gestel, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Wesdock & Edge, 2003; Westberry, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; White, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Wilson, <i>et al.</i> , 1997)
Common indication at	t joint	,, ,, ,, ,,,,,,,,
Clear at ankle	14	(Abel, <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Balaban, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Brunner, <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Butler, <i>et al.</i> , 1992; Dursun, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Romkes, <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Smith, <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Van Gestel, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Wilson, <i>et al.</i> , 1997)
Clear at knee	10	(Brunner, <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Butler, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Butler, <i>et al.</i> , 1992; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Smith, <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Van Gestel, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Wesdock & Edge, 2003)
Clear at hip	3	(Butler, et al., 1992)
Passive ROM		
Ankle Complete	23	(Abel, <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Balaban, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Burtner, <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Butler, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Butler, <i>et al.</i> , 1992; Crenshaw, <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Dursun, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Hainsworth, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Park, <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Rethlefsen, <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Romkes, <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Smiley, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Smith, <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Suzuki, <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Wesdock & Edge, 2003; White, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Wilson, <i>et al.</i> , 1997)
Knee Complete	11	(Burtner, et al., 1999; Butler, et al., 2007; Butler, et al., 1992; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Park, et al., 2004; Radtka, et al., 1997; Radtka, et al., 2005; Rethlefsen, et al., 1999; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Wesdock & Edge, 2003; Wilson, et al., 1997)
Hip Complete	10	(Burtner, et al., 1999; Butler, et al., 2007; Butler, et al., 1992; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Park, et al., 2004; Radtka, et al., 1997; Radtka, et al., 2005; Rethlefsen, et al., 1999; Wesdock & Edge, 2003; Wilson, et al., 1997)
AFO details		
Orthotic aim		
Clear	17	(Abel, <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Beals, 2001; Brunner, <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Carlson, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Desloovere, <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Dursun, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Rosenthal, <i>et al.</i> , 1975; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Suzuki, <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Van Gestel, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Wesdock & Edge, 2003; Wilson, <i>et al.</i> , 1997)
Complete	35	(Abel, et al., 1998; Balaban, et al., 2007; Beals, 2001; Brehm, et al., 2008; Brunner, et al., 1998; Buckon, et al., 2001; Buckon, et al., 2004; Burtner, et al., 1999; Butler, et al., 2007; Butler, et al., 1992; Carlson, et al., 1997; Crenshaw, et al., 2000; Desloovere, et al., 2006; Hainsworth, et al., 1997; Lam, et al., 2005; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Maltais, et al., 2001; Ounpuu, et al., 1996; Park, et al., 2004; Radtka, et al., 2005; Rethlefsen, et al., 1999; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Romkes, et al., 2006; Rosenthal, et al., 1975; Sankey, et al., 1989; Sienko-Thomas, et al., 2002; Simon, et al., 1978; Smiley, et al., 2002; Smith, et

Item & Response	Numb	per of studies
AEQ ankla angla		al., 2009; Suzuki, et al., 2000; Thompson, et al., 2002; Van Gestel, et al., 2008; Wesdock & Edge, 2003; White, et al., 2002; Wilson, et al., 1997)
Clear	16	(Balaban, et al., 2007; Beals, 2001; Buckon, et al., 2001; Buckon, et al., 2004; Crenshaw, et al., 2000; Hainsworth, et al., 1997; Lam, et al., 2005; Maltais, et al., 2001; Park, et al., 2004; Radtka, et al., 2005; Romkes, et al., 2006; Sienko-Thomas, et al., 2002; Smith, et al., 2009; Suzuki, et al., 2000; Wesdock & Edge, 2003; Wilson, et al., 1997)
Toe plate length		
Full length	16	(Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Crenshaw, <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Desloovere, <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Lam, <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Park, <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Romkes, <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Smith, <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Suzuki, <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Van Gestel, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Wilson, <i>et al.</i> , 1997)
Different lengths (clear or ambiguous) Material & thickness	4	(Sankey, et al., 1989; Smiley, et al., 2002; Thompson, et al., 2002; White, et al., 2002)
Complete	10	(Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Lam, <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Smiley, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Smith, <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; White <i>et al.</i> , 2002: Wilson <i>et al.</i> , 1997)
Partial	8	(Abel, et al., 1998; Brunner, et al., 1998; Burtner, et al., 1999; Crenshaw, et al., 2000; Park, et al., 2004; Rosenthal, et al., 1975; Suzuki, et al., 2000; Van Gestel, et al., 2008)
Manufacture	10	(Belehan stal 2007 Bashar stal 2000 Burnara stal 1000 Bushar stal 2001)
Custom	18	(Balaban, et al., 2007; Brenm, et al., 2008; Brunner, et al., 1998; Buckon, et al., 2001; Buckon, et al., 2004; Crenshaw, et al., 2000; Desloovere, et al., 2006; Lam, et al., 2005; Ounpuu, et al., 1996; Radtka, et al., 1997; Radtka, et al., 2005; Rethlefsen, et al., 1999; Rosenthal, et al., 1975; Sienko-Thomas, et al., 2002; Smiley, et al., 2002; Smith, et al., 2009; Thompson, et al., 2002; Wilson, et al., 1997)
Prefab. no detail	2	(Burtner, et al., 1999; Van Gestel, et al., 2008)
Prefab. with detail	1	(Suzuki, et al., 2000)
Tuning		
Tuned	5	(Butler, et al., 2007; Butler, et al., 1992; Desloovere, et al., 2006; Rosenthal, et al., 1975; Van Gestel, et al., 2008)
Clear/ambiguous	е 5	(Desloovere, et al., 2006; Lam, et al., 2005; Romkes, et al., 2006; Rosenthal, et al., 1975; Van Gestel, et al., 2008)
Testing protocol		
Order of testing		
Randomised	16	(Balaban, et al., 2007; Buckon, et al., 2001; Buckon, et al., 2004; Carlson, et al., 1997; Desloovere, et al., 2006; Kott & Held, 2002; Lam, et al., 2005; Maltais, et al., 2001; Mossberg, et al., 1990; Park, et al., 2004; Radtka, et al., 2005; Rethlefsen, et al., 1999; Sienko-Thomas, et al., 2002; Smith, et al., 2009; Wesdock & Edge, 2003; Wilson, et al., 1997)
Non randomised	12	(Abel, <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Beals, 2001; Brehm, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Brunner, <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Hayek, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Simon, <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Thompson, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ounpuu, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Ounpuu, <i>et</i>
Not applicable	3	<i>al.</i> , 2002; Van Gestel, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Westberry, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; White, <i>et al.</i> , 2002) (Butler, <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Hainsworth, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Rosenthal, <i>et al.</i> , 1975)
<b>. .</b>		
Acclimatisation	~	(Creilau et al. 2002; Wilson et al. 1007)
<1 day	2	(Smiley, et al., 2002; Wilson, et al., 1997) (Publice et al., 2002; Wilson, et al., 1997)
1-4 weeks	4	(Buttler, et al., 1992; Hainsworth, et al., 1997; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Wesdock & Edge (2003)
>4 weeks	8	(Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Buckon, <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Carlson, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Crenshaw, <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Radtka, <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Sienko-Thomas, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Smith, <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
Not applicable	21	(Abel, et al., 1998; Balaban, et al., 2007; Beals, 2001; Brehm, et al., 2008; Butler, et al., 2007; Dursun, et al., 2002; Hayek, et al., 2007; Kott & Held, 2002; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Maltais, et al., 2001; Mossberg, et al., 1990; Ounpuu, et al., 1996; Park, et al., 2004; Romkes, et al., 2006; Rosenthal, et al., 1975; Sankey, et al., 1989; Simon, et al., 1978; Thompson, et al., 2002; Van Gestel, et al., 2008; Westberry, et al., 2007; White, et al., 2002)

Item & Response	Numb	er of studies
Control condition		
Barefoot	28	(Abel, et al., 1998; Balaban, et al., 2007; Beals, 2001; Brehm, et al., 2008; Brunner, et al., 1998; Butler, et al., 1992; Dursun, et al., 2002; Hainsworth, et al., 1997; Hayek, et al., 2007; Lam, et al., 2005; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Ounpuu, et al., 1996; Park, et al., 2004; Radtka, et al., 1997; Radtka, et al., 2005; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Romkes, et al., 2006; Rosenthal, et al., 1975; Sienko-Thomas, et al., 2002; Simon, et al., 1978; Smith, et al., 2009; Thompson, et al., 2002; Van Gestel, et al., 2008; Westberry, et al., 2007; White. et al., 2002; Wilson, et al., 1997)
Shoes	6	(Carlson, et al., 1997; Crenshaw, et al., 2000; Maltais, et al., 2001; Rethlefsen, et al., 1999; Smiley, et al., 2002; Wesdock & Edge, 2003)
Barefoot & shoes	1	(Desloovere, et al., 2006)
Not applicable	2	(Butler <i>, et al.</i> , 2007; Sankey, <i>et al.</i> , 1989)
Test condition		
Clear	35	(Abel, et al., 1998; Balaban, et al., 2007; Beals, 2001; Brehm, et al., 2008; Brunner, et al., 1998; Buckon, et al., 2001; Buckon, et al., 2004; Burtner, et al., 1999; Butler, et al., 2007; Butler, et al., 1992; Carlson, et al., 1997; Crenshaw, et al., 2000; Desloovere, et al., 2006; Lam, et al., 2005; Lucareli & Lima, 2007; Maltais, et al., 2001; Mossberg, et al., 1990; Ounpuu, et al., 1996; Park, et al., 2004; Radtka, et al., 1997; Radtka, et al., 2005; Rethlefsen, et al., 1999; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Romkes, et al., 2006; Rosenthal, et al., 1975; Sackett, et al., 2000; Sankey, et al., 1989; Sienko-Thomas, et al., 2002; Simon, et al., 1978; Smiley, et al., 2002; Smith, et al., 2009; Suzuki, et al., 2000; Thompson, et al., 2002; Van Gestel, et al., 2008; Wesdock & Edge, 2003; Wilson, et al., 1997)
All unlisted papers we	ere categ	orised as either ambiguous or not stated

Table 3.3 Summary of responses to each quality item where the outcome was clear.

		Participa	nt details		AFO details					Testing protocol			
Authors	Age	Diagnosis	Common attribute	Passive ROMs	Orthotic aim	AFO move- ment	AFO ankle angle	Toe plate length	Materials	Alignment	Prefab or custom?	Randomised testing order?	Acclimati- sation time
Rosenthal '75	-	-	К	-	clear	complete	ambiguous	-	ambiguous	T? SVA?	custom	n/a	n/a
Simon '78	complete	complete	А, К	Н	clear	complete	ambiguous	-	-	-	?custom	no	n/a
Sankey '89	-	complete	-	-	-	complete	ambiguous	FL & ¾	-	-	?custom	-	n/a
Mossberg '90	complete	complete	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	yes	n/a
Butler '92	complete	complete	А, К	А, К, Н	clear	complete	-	-	-	Т?	-	n/a	1-4 wks
Ounpuu '96	complete	complete	-	-	clear	complete	-	full length	-	-	custom	no	n/a
Carlson '97	complete	complete	ambiguous	-	clear	complete	-	-	-	-	-	yes	>4wks
Hainsworth '97	complete	complete	-	А	-	complete	complete	-	-	-	-	n/a	1-4wks
Radkta '97	complete	complete	А	А, К, Н	clear	-	_	full length	complete	-	custom	no	>4wks
Wilson '97	complete	complete	А	А, К, Н	clear	complete	complete	full length	complete	-	custom	yes	<1 day
Abel '98	complete	complete	А	А	clear	complete	ambiguous	-	ambiguous	-	-	no	n/a
Brunner '98	complete	complete	A, K?	-	clear	complete	-	-	ambiguous	-	custom	no	_
Burtner '99	-	complete	-	А, К, Н	ambiguous	complete	-	-	ambiguous	-	X prefab	-	-
Rethlefsen '99	complete	complete	-	А, К, Н	ambiguous	complete	?	-	-	-	custom	yes	-
Crenshaw '00	complete	complete	-	А	-	complete	complete	full length	ambiguous	-	custom	-	>4wks
Suzuki '00	complete	complete	-	А	clear	complete	complete	full length	ambiguous	-	X prefab	-	-
Beals '01	-	-	ambiguous	-	clear	complete	complete	-	-	-	-	no	n/a
Buckon '01	complete	complete	К*	А	-	complete	complete	full length	complete	-	custom	yes	>4wks
Maltais '01	complete	complete	-	-	-	complete	complete	-	-	-	-	yes	n/a
Dursun '02	complete	complete	А	А	clear	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	n/a
Kott '02	complete	complete	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	yes	n/a
Romkes '02	complete	complete	А	А, К	-	complete	-	full length	-	-	-	-	1-4wks
Sienoko-T. '02	complete	complete	-	-	-	complete	complete	-	-	-	custom	yes	>4wks
Smiley '02	complete	complete	ambiguous	А	-	complete	-	34 & ?	complete	-	custom	-	<1day
Thompson '02	complete	complete	А, К	-	other	complete	ambiguous	3∕4?	complete	-	custom	no	n/a
White '02	complete	complete	-	А	-	complete	-	FL & ¾	complete	-	X custom	no	n/a
Wesdock '03	complete	complete	К	А, К, Н	clear	complete	complete	-	-	-	-	yes	1-4 wks
Buckon '04	complete	complete	-	А	-	complete	complete	full length	complete	-	custom	yes	>4wks
Park '04	complete	complete	-	А, К, Н	-	complete	complete	full length	ambiguous	-	-	yes	n/a

	Participant details				AFO details					Testing protocol			
Lam '05	complete	complete	ambiguous	-	ambiguous	complete	complete	full length	complete	SVA?	custom	yes	?
Radtka '05	complete	complete	А	А, К, Н	clear	complete	complete	full length	complete	-	custom	yes	>4wks
Desloovere '06	complete	complete	-	-	clear	complete	-	full length	-	T? SVA?	custom	yes	-
Balaban '07	complete	complete	А	А	ambiguous	complete	complete	full length	-	-	custom	yes	n/a
Butler '07	complete	complete	К	А, К, Н	other	complete	-	-	-	Т?	-	-	n/a
Hayek '07	complete	complete	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	no	n/a
Romkes '06	complete	complete	А, К	А	-	complete	complete	full length	-	SVA	-	probably not	n/a
Lucareli '07	complete	complete	К	А, К, Н	clear	complete	-	-	-	-	X custom	probably not	n/a
Westberry '07	complete	complete	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	no	n/a
Brehm '08	complete	complete	-	-	-	complete	-	-	-	-	custom	no	n/a
Van Gestel '08	complete	complete	А, К	-	clear	complete	-	full length	ambiguous	T?SVA?	X prefab	no	n/a
Smith '09	complete	complete	А, К, Н	А	other	complete	complete	full length	complete	-	custom	yes	>4wks

- =incomplete or not stated, A=ankle, K=knee, H=hip; \*=by analysis; ankle ROM=gastroc ROM; x= details incomplete; FL=full length; T= tuned; SVA = shank-to-vertical angle

Table 3.4 Results of data extraction and quality outcomes for all studies.

## 3.5 Discussion

The aim of this review was to conduct a systematic assessment of study quality with a focus on the details reported about the participants, AFO intervention, and testing protocol. This addressed the first research question of this thesis, which was to determine how well AFO-FC alignment was reported within the wider body of literature. This review identified 41 full papers that examined the effect of AFO use on a diverse range of outcome measures in children with CP. In line with the conclusions of previous reviewers (Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; Morris, 2002) there was considerable variety in the level and quality of detail reported. In many cases the lack of detail reported in these studies prevented assessment of intervention quality, and made it difficult to determine the confidence that can be had in the findings. Poor transparency further reduces the potential for future meta analyses to summarise results across studies in search of more substantial evidence of treatment effectiveness.

Within this body of literature there were however, sufficient examples of good quality interventions to enable best practice guidelines for future studies to be derived. These are discussed in full below and the recommendations for reporting of detail for AFO intervention studies are summarised in Table 3.5.

# 3.5.1 Participant details

A clear description of the clinical characteristics of a participant sample is necessary to enable the reader to generalise the study's findings to a similar population. This is particularly relevant in children with CP because of their diverse physical presentation. While almost all studies in this review reported age and diagnosis of their participant sample, several clinical measurements or descriptors that provide additional information regarding the participant sample, such as joint ROMs, muscle lengths and spasticity, were reported less often and in a variety of ways.

Gastrocnemius length is one clinical measure that often guides the choice of AFO design and AFO ankle angle. Therefore, in addition to helping provide a clear clinical picture of the participants, measures of gastrocnemius length can also be used to confirm the appropriate choice of AFO design and AFO ankle angle. Gastrocnemius length was considered to be synonymous with ankle ROM measured with the knee extended. While approximately half of the studies (23/41; Table 3.4) reported gastrocnemius length, this was done in a variety of ways including as group means, individual measurements and minimum/maximum values included within the exclusion or inclusion criteria. However, reporting only group mean values prevents an assessment of appropriate AFO ankle angle for each participant.

Sample homogeneit	у
Orthotic aim Age	Report sample homogeneity with regard to indication for orthotic treatment. State range (years).
Diagnosis	Specify movement disorder, topographical distribution and GMFCS level.
Gait pattern	Focus on one particular gait pattern or sub-divide into different gait patterns.
	Describe using published gait classification systems or specify ankle, knee and
	hip posture in relevant planes.
AFO details	
Suitability	State orthotic aim and suitability of orthoses for the physical characteristics of the participants.
Movements	Describe the movements assisted, prevented, permitted by the AFO.
AFO ankle angle	Report the angle of the ankle in the AFO.
Materials	Report material type and thickness.
Trimlines	Report trimlines (including toe plate length and flexibility).
Tuning	Report whether AFOs were tuned, and the tuning procedure (what was done,
	the decision parameters used).
Shank-to-vertical angle	Report final shank-to-vertical angle of AFO and footwear combination.
Mechanical	If possible, quantify the mechanical properties of the AFO (stiffness and neutral
properties	position at the ankle and metatarsophalangeal joints)
Manufacture	Describe the manufacture as custom (same or different moulds?) or prefab
	(device name, supplier).
Testing protocol (sp	ecific to studies investigating AFOs)
Control	Clearly state the control condition. Note that comparisons with barefoot may
	over estimate the effect of the orthosis by including a contribution from the shoe.
Order of testing	State the order of testing. Use a randomised order or provide a return to
	baseline measurement wherever possible.
Acclimatisation	State acclimatisation time.

Table 3.5 Best practicing reporting guidelines derived from this review.

In many cases where authors have attempted to provide this information, they have done so with the use of ambiguous terminology. Several studies stated that participants had 'no fixed contractures' but did not specify the muscles or joints that this concerns. In one case, this statement contradicted the reported values of gastrocnemius length, which indicated that contractures were actually present within the sample (Romkes, Hell, & Brunner, 2006). Personal communication with these authors (J. Romkes, personal communication, September 16 2008) confirmed that 'no fixed contractures' referred to ankle ROM with the knee flexed, and therefore soleus muscle length rather than gastrocnemius muscle length. This suggests that some authors may not appreciate the effect that two joint muscles such as gastrocnemius can have on the knee joint or foot position, in a patient with an AFO.

#### Chapter 3 – Systematic Review

Measurements of knee and hip ROM may not directly guide AFO prescription, but they are useful clinical descriptors of the participant sample. While knee ROM was reported in 11/41 studies, and hip ROM was reported in 10/41 (Table 3.4) studies there was variety in the type of measurement used. For example at the knee, descriptions included 'no fixed contracture', specific limits to the size of contractures, as well as measures of hamstring length according to popliteal angle (Butler, Farmer, Stewart, Jones, & Forward, 2007; Rethlefsen, Kay, Dennis, Forstein, & Tolo, 1999; Wilson, Haideri, Song, & Telford, 1997) passive hyperextension (Butler, Thompson, & Major, 1992), and straight leg raise (Radtka et al., 1997; Radtka, Skinner, & Johanson, 2005). Such inconsistency makes it difficult to identify and compare similar patient groups.

While these clinical measurements may help inform the reader of the characteristics of the group, undoubtedly the most important information to be reported is whether or not the group is homogenous in their requirements for the same type of AFO. In children with CP, the majority of AFOs are prescribed to address specific gait related deficits. Each AFO design offers different control over the foot/ankle and over more proximal lower limb joints. Therefore each participant within a sample must demonstrate the same requirement for that AFO which requires both a homogenous group as well as a clear definition of the orthotic goal.

Approximately half of the studies in this review made a clear attempt at describing a deviation (such as gait pattern) that was common to all participants within the sample. However, most of these described solely the position of the ankle joint with only six papers providing descriptions of both ankle and knee movement (Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Romkes, *et al.*, 2006; Simon, *et al.*, 1978; Smith, *et al.*, 2009; Thompson, *et al.*, 2002; Van Gestel, *et al.*, 2008). Four of these used the Winters, Gage and Hicks classification system (Winters, *et al.*, 1987) for hemiplegic CP to describe the types of gait patterns within the sample group (Romkes, *et al.*, 2006; Smith, *et al.*, 2009; Thompson, *et al.*, 1992; Simon, *et al.*, 2008) and two described a genu recurvatum type gait pattern (Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Simon, *et al.*, 1978). Only one study examined a group of participants who demonstrated a single clearly defined gait pattern (Smith, *et al.*, 2009).

An alternative to including participants who have only one type of gait pattern is to analyse subgroups of similar patterns. One study analysed their results according to gait pattern type (Thompson et al., 2002), finding that the effect of the AFO was different on each type of gait pattern. Similarly, Abel and colleagues (Abel, *et al.*, 1998) found that children who had one of two common indications responded differently to the same type of AFO. Buckon and colleagues (Buckon, *et al.*, 2001) have attempted to address this issue of patient homogeneity with regard to gait pattern, by dividing the group into three subgroups according to the position of the knee

during the stance phase during barefoot walking. While the AFO affected each group in a different way, this subgroup analysis was only performed on knee kinematics.

There is therefore, some evidence to suggest that the effect of an AFO on gait varies for different types of gait patterns. Use of non-homogenous groups may mask the true effect of the device. While including a single gait pattern type or analysing by sub-groups are ideal scenarios, it is acknowledged that there are practical limitations of defining such sample groups, which include the small sample sizes which are inherent in these investigations. It is also noted that variations in gait patterns lie upon a continuum and therefore there will always be instances where gait does not conform to identified patterns (Dobson, *et al.*, 2007). Despite this, it is imperative that future work consider participant homogeneity as a priority with regard to the types of AFOs tested.

#### 3.5.2 AFO details

Descriptions of the AFO intervention should enable the device to be replicated and the results verified by an alternate research team. Clearly reporting the design of the AFO is essential as differences between AFO designs have been shown to produce differences in outcomes in temporospatial parameters (Brunner, *et al.*, 1998; Buckon, *et al.*, 2004; Rethlefsen, *et al.*, 1999), ankle kinematics (Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Buckon, *et al.*, 2004; Desloovere, *et al.*, 2006; Radtka, *et al.*, 2005; Rethlefsen, *et al.*, 1999; Smiley, *et al.*, 2002) and knee kinematics (Buckon, *et al.*, 2001) in straight line walking, as well as stair ascent and descent (Sienko-Thomas, *et al.*, 2002).

Most studies in this review clearly reported the movements controlled by the AFO. There are several good examples of studies which have provided excellent descriptions of the physical characteristics of the AFO interventions (Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Buckon, *et al.*, 2004; Lam, *et al.*, 2005; Radtka, *et al.*, 2005; Smith, *et al.*, 2009; Wilson, *et al.*, 1997). Such descriptions do not, however, account for the differences in mechanical properties arising from small variations in AFO design, such as trimline position and choice of materials that may contribute to altered mechanical properties (e.g. Bregman *et al.*, 2009; Major, Hewart, & Macdonald, 2004; Sumiya, Suzuki, & Kasahara, 1996). A new method of measuring the stiffness and neutral angle around the ankle and metatarsophalangeal joints has recently been described and demonstrated as reliable and clinically applicable (Bregman, *et al.*, 2009). Including such objective measurements in future clinical and research practice when they become available will improve our ability to compare AFO interventions. In the interim these small variations in design of the AFO-FCs should be reported.

#### Chapter 3 – Systematic Review

The alignment of the AFO alone, (rather than the AFO footwear combination), is described by the AFO ankle angle, the choice of which is based on clinical measures such as passive and dynamic gastrocnemius muscle length and tri-planar stability of the foot. Severe spasticity or contracture of this bi-articular muscle must be accommodated by the AFO ankle angle to avoid limiting maximum knee extension or compromising the tri-planar stability of the foot (Bowers & Ross, 2009; Cusick, 1994; Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Small, 1994). Reporting passive gastrocnemius length in addition to the AFO ankle angle is important because it permits the appropriate choice of AFO ankle angle to be confirmed.

It could be argued that reporting the evidence for the choice of AFO ankle angle (e.g. passive gastrocnemius length) is unnecessary. However there were two studies (Romkes, et al., 2006; Wesdock & Edge, 2003) in which reported data suggested that the choice of AFO ankle angle did not consider passive gastrocnemius length. Similarly, three studies evaluated the effect of free dorsiflexion AFOs on children who either did have, or may have had limited gastrocnemius length (Brunner, et al., 1998; Romkes & Brunner, 2002; Romkes, et al., 2006). Interestingly, one study explicitly stated that if participants had 0° of available passive dorsiflexion range with full knee extension, this made them eligible for an AFO with free dorsiflexion (Brehm, et al., 2008; Smith, et al., 2009). However, in such cases the ankle may dorsiflex under the load of body weight by using muscle length gained by pronation of the foot or knee flexion (Bowers & Ross, 2009; Cusick, 1994; Small, 1994). On this basis a free dorsiflexion AFO is contraindicated in the case of limited dorsiflexion range (Bowers & Ross, 2009; Cusick, 1994; Owen, 2005b). Similar discrepancies between passive joint ranges of motion and choice of AFO have been identified in the stroke literature (Bowers, 2007). Given that many studies in this review did not report these two variables (gastrocnemius length and AFO ankle angle), there may be several cases where the type of AFO was contraindicated.

It may therefore be beneficial for future work to demonstrate that the choice of AFO ankle angle and AFO design considered restrictions in physical muscle length by clearly stating the relevant details. Alternatively, an explicit statement that gastrocnemius contractures were accommodated by the choice of an AFO ankle angle that did not exceed maximum passive dorsiflexion ROM with the knee extended, could be considered sufficient, with a similar statement regarding a minimum 5° passive dorsiflexion ROM at the ankle with knee extension, for unrestricted dorsiflexion ROM AFO designs. The use of ambiguous statements such as 'no fixed contractures', to describe muscle lengths or joint ROMs should be avoided unless the specific muscles and joints to which this refers are also reported.

#### Chapter 3 – Systematic Review

When the AFO is combined with footwear, the AFO ankle angle may no longer describe the alignment of the device relative to vertical if there is a difference in height between the heel and forefoot of the footwear (heel-sole differential). In order to overcome this limitation, the alignment of the AFO-FC is described by the SVA. Differences in footwear heel-sole differential and therefore SVA angle which have been modified as part of a tuning process have been reported to induce changes such as decreased peak knee extension angle and peak external knee extension moment in stance phase (Butler, *et al.*, 1997; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007).

One study (Romkes, *et al.*, 2006) reported the final SVA of the AFO-FC used, which was a standardised alignment for all participants. Five papers reported fine tuning the AFO-FCs to an individual's requirements (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Desloovere, *et al.*, 2006; Rosenthal, *et al.*, 1975; Van Gestel, *et al.*, 2008) however the descriptions of the tuning process were not sufficient to allow reproduction, and the final AFO-FC alignment was not reported. While the concept of tuning is not new, it has only recently become more widely recognised, which may explain why only a few papers within this review reported tuning of the AFO-FC.

Where AFO-FC alignment is not reported, it is not possible to consider whether the alignment was appropriate and therefore retrospectively assess the implications of that choice of alignment. In the one study where AFO-FC alignment was reported it will be possible to consider retrospectively the effect of that alignment of the device has on gait, and therefore on the results of the study. While those studies that reported tuning procedures may have attempted to ensure that the orthoses were optimally aligned, not reporting the final alignments and ambiguous descriptions of the procedure make it impossible to replicate the studies.

Assessing the quality of the AFO intervention involves a range of aspects including assessing whether the AFO ankle angle was appropriate, reporting AFO design and construction details, and the suitability of prescription to the gait deficit. In order to allow readers to assess quality of the intervention in their critical review of published work, future work would benefit from descriptions of the movements prevented, assisted and permitted by the AFO, toe plate length and flexibility, trim-line position, materials and method of manufacture, AFO ankle angle, shank-to-vertical angle of the combined AFO and footwear, type of footwear worn and details of any tuning process undertaken. Testing of mechanical stiffness of the AFO and the combined AFO and footwear would further enhance objectivity. Transparent reporting permits replication of the study and makes it possible to understand how the variations in AFO design may affect intervention outcomes.

#### 3.5.3 Testing protocol

The majority of studies clearly described the control condition used in the investigation. More studies used barefoot (28/41) rather than a shod comparison (6/41), with one study including both barefoot and shod conditions (Desloovere, *et al.*, 2006). These authors found that footwear alone could have either a negative or positive effect on gait (Desloovere, *et al.*, 2006), thereby confirming findings from the stroke literature (Churchill, Halligan, & Wade, 2003). In order to avoid attributing the effects of footwear to that of the AFO, future work should consider including both of these control conditions wherever possible.

A randomised order of testing is desirable as it eliminates bias resulting from the order of testing. This is particularly important in orthotic research as there are usually two or more conditions being compared over repeated trials of tasks such as walking. Use of a non-randomised order of testing introduces the risk of fatigue in the tasks performed last. Fifteen studies eliminated potential confounding series effects by randomising the testing order. Eight studies did not report the order of testing and 11 reported using a non-randomised order of testing. While a non-randomised order of testing is often unavoidable in cases of retrospective analysis, a randomised order of testing should be used wherever possible, and in any event, the order of testing should be reported.

It is thought that acclimatisation time to an unfamiliar device permits the novel nature of the device to be incorporated into the movement pattern thereby ensuring that the effects of the device accurately represent daily use. All but two studies in this review reported the acclimatisation period, with the majority permitting more than one week and two studies permitting less than one day (Smiley, *et al.*, 2002; Wilson, *et al.*, 1997). While there is no evidence recommending the required length of acclimatisation time to an unfamiliar orthotic device, this should be considered in all study designs and at the very least should be reported.

Several studies in this review did not clearly describe the type of AFO that was tested. Instead, they used descriptions such as "AFO-on" and "AFO-off" (Hainsworth, *et al.*, 1997; Kott & Held, 2002; Mossberg, *et al.*, 1990; Westberry, *et al.*, 2007), and the effect of "community prescribed" (Hayek, *et al.*, 2007) and "clinically prescribed AFOs" (White, *et al.*, 2002). Thus the aim of these studies can be considered to be investigations into the effect of AFO prescription practices within each particular clinical catchment. Unfortunately none of these studies reported the prescription algorithms or decision processes used during in their clinics which would provide information regarding which type of devices were provided for which types of participants. This limits the applicability of these findings to other clinical settings.

## 3.5.4 Future directions

Previous reviewers have suggested that the quality of this body of literature could be improved by focusing on the execution of large scale RCTs (Morris, 2002) or on alternate study designs which overcome some of the difficulties of RCTs, for example cross-over and one-group interrupted time-series (single subject) designs (Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008). If however these studies are conducted but the same essential information is under-reported, ranking the quality of these papers based on the type of study design is largely inconsequential. Use of the reporting guidelines presented in Table 3.5 will enable more consistent reporting and permit a transparent assessment of study quality thereby improving the potential to combine results of several smaller studies using meta analyses.

These reporting guidelines are in line with suggestions arising from the recent International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics (ISPO) consensus conferences on the orthotic management of CP (Bowers & Ross, 2009) and stroke (International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, 2004). While certain elements may be more relevant in CP research due to the heterogeneity seen particularly in gait patterns, the principles on which these guidelines are based may be equally applicable to other populations.

This review has identified several avenues of research that could benefit from focussed attention. For example, should the control comparison for AFO research be barefoot or a shod condition? What is the minimum acclimatisation required for a person to become familiar with a new device? Do small differences in AFO trimlines, stiffness and alignment have a significant effect on the effectiveness of the device? Answering these questions might facilitate comparison across studies already published.

#### 3.5.5 Limitations

This review focussed on an assessment of reporting detail and transparency regarding the participants, AFO intervention and testing protocol. An analysis of appropriate choice of outcome measures was not included as this requires decisions about what research questions are most important. Considering the type of outcome measures employed in each study is, without doubt, essential to future meta analyses as these are only possible between studies that have examined the same outcome measures.

This review did not rank or assign quality scores to studies; rather it focussed on examples of best practice with regard to different aspects of intervention quality specific to research into the effects of AFOs for children with CP. To apply a weighted score to this data, a formal process would need to be undertaken to assign importance to different items according to consensus. Ratings of methodological quality are important in systematic reviews in which the objective is

to assess the evidence for interventions but this was not the purpose of this review as no assessment of treatment effectiveness was undertaken.

Issues relating to effect size, power or choice of statistical analysis were not included in this review as they are well described in general literature on research methodology. Instead, this review focussed on methodological limitations relating specifically to lower limb orthotic management of children with CP. Other items such as reporting of GMFCS level, spasticity, previous surgery and previous injections of Botolinum-Toxin A could also have been assessed.

# 3.6 Conclusion

Assessing the quality of individual studies and the ability to utilise studies in quantitative research synthesis requires transparent reporting. While there was considerable variety in level and quality of detail provided by the studies included in this review, there were sufficient good examples of reporting detail and intervention quality. This enabled the generation of guidelines for reporting of detail in future AFO intervention studies. These guidelines should also direct the design of future investigations in this area which will improve the synthesis of quantitative research and therefore the quality of this evidence-base.

Chapter 3 – Systematic Review

# 4 Pilot study: How does AFO-FC alignment affect gait?

This chapter describes a pilot study designed to address the second research question of this thesis, which was to determine whether there was any evidence for the two hypothesised mechanisms by which changing AFO-FC alignment can affect gait. This exploratory analysis examined data from four children with CP (after exclusion of two participants) to consider how increasing the heel-sole differential (HSD) of the footwear affects the biomechanics of the lower limbs. This study identified several methodological limitations that were addressed in the design of the subsequent investigation and also resulted in an additional research question for the thesis.

# 4.1 Introduction

Chapter 2 of this thesis proposed two mechanisms by which altering the alignment of an AFO-FC by increasing the HSD, may affect gait. In both cases it was hypothesised that increased HSD will reduce the peak external knee extension moment. However each mechanism is thought to achieve this in different ways, according to whether or not the foot achieves full contact with the floor during stance phase. In Mechanism 1 the foot is flat on the floor and an increase in HSD increases tibial incline and moves the knee joint closer to the ground reaction force (GRF) vector, thus reducing the peak knee extension moment, peak knee extension angle and increasing tibial incline (refer to Figure 4.1). This is thought to occur in limbs demonstrating full knee extension.



Figure 4.1 Mechanism 1: when the foot is flat on ground increased HSD results in shank inclination which moves the knee joint closer to the GRF vector thus reducing the external knee extension moment.

In Mechanism 2, the foot is inclined with respect to the floor and an increase in HSD will not affect tibial incline and knee kinematics (refer to Figure 4.2). Rather, the increase in HSD will act to shift the centre of pressure posteriorly and thus shift the GRF line of action closer to the knee and ankle joints, thereby reducing peak knee extension moment and reducing the first peak external dorsiflexion moment.



Figure 4.2 Mechanism 2: when the foot is inclined on the ground an increased HSD results in no change to shank inclination. Rather, the point of application of the GRF vector will shift posteriorly thereby reducing the external knee extension moment.

There is some evidence within the literature that supports these hypotheses. For example, children who demonstrated knee hyperextension, which occurs in conjunction with a foot-flat gait pattern, demonstrated reduced peak knee extension angle and moment as a result of increased HSD (Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). Other authors have suggested that children demonstrating relatively good knee extension are those who will tune successfully (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c). These suggestions support the theory of Mechanism 1.

With regard to Mechanism 2, it has been suggested that children with more flexed gait patterns are less likely to tune successfully, but that tuning should still be attempted as increasing the HSD leads to increased contact of the sole with the ground, which is said to lead to benefits such as increased stability (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c). This implies an effect similar to Mechanism 2 described above, where kinematic changes are not anticipated but some improvements may still be seen due to a posterior shift in the origin of the GRF vector. While there is some evidence in support of these two mechanisms, they have not yet been explored with a full set of quantitative gait data. The aim of the study described in this chapter was to explore the 3DGA data from a previous pilot study in order to determine whether evidence existed for either or both of these mechanisms and thereby address the second research question, 'How does AFO-FC alignment affect gait?' If the biomechanics of walking can be influenced by modifying the AFO-FC alignment then it may be possible to improve walking for children with CP. From this other benefits may result such as improved functional outcomes and walking capacity.

These data were originally collected throughout 2007 during the candidate's employment as an orthotist at NovitaTech (the technology division of Novita Children's Services, Adelaide, South Australia). The project was supported by a grant from the Channel 7 Children's Research Foundation, on which the candidate was chief investigator. Ethics approval was obtained for reanalysis of this data as described below, and the support and contribution of the participants, NovitaTech, Novita Children's Services and the Channel 7 Children's Research Foundation are acknowledged.

Six ambulant children with CP took part in this investigation whereby the alignment of their AFO-FCs were systematically manipulated to reflect 5° incremental increases in SVA up to a maximum of 15°, with data collected in a 3DGA laboratory. Data from two children were excluded after an analysis of data quality. The original project focussed specifically on identifying the most optimal SVA in terms of sagittal plane knee and hip kinematics and kinetics, temporospatial data and subjective feedback. This project was conducted during 2007 and 2008 (Gibson, Graham, & Walker, 2008; Graham, 2008) and a final report (Graham, Nguyen, & Walker, 2008) submitted to the organisation under which the project was conducted (NovitaTech, Adelaide, South Australia) and the relevant funding body (the Channel 7 Children's Research Foundation Inc.).

For inclusion in this thesis these original raw data were re-processed and re-analysed according to a different set of aims and objectives. A thorough assessment of data quality was performed which is described in detail in the following methods section. This resulted in the exclusion of data from two participants. The data was then processed using an additional model (*Projections Model*, Appendix C) to calculate sagittal plane segment kinematics (femur, tibia and foot projection angles) as well as standard joint kinematics and kinetics provided by the model *PlugInGait* (Vicon, Oxford Metrics, Oxford, UK). The results were explored to further consider the evidence for the proposed mechanisms by which increasing HSD of the AFO-FC of solid AFOs is thought to affect gait.

## 4.1.1 Aim & hypothesis

The aim of this re-analysis was to investigate whether evidence exists for either or both of the mechanisms proposed in Chapter 2. It was hypothesised that in both mechanisms, and therefore all limbs, increased HSD would result in a reduction in peak external knee extension moment. It was also hypothesised that for each Mechanism it would be possible to distinguish the responses outlined in Table 4.1, and that these would occur in limbs with the corresponding gait pattern.

Variable	Mechanism 1	Mechanism 2
Peak knee extension moment	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Peak knee extension angle	$\downarrow$	No change
Tibial incline (projection angle)	$\uparrow$	No change
First peak dorsiflexion moment	No change	$\checkmark$
Gait pattern		
Baseline knee kinematic pattern	Full knee extension	Limited knee extension
Baseline foot position	Achieves foot flat	Foot inclined on ground

Table 4.1 Hypothesised response and corresponding baseline gait patterns according to Mechanism 1 and Mechanism 2.

# 4.2 Method

The original study received ethical committee approval from the Human Ethics Review Committee of the Children, Women and Youth Health Service (CWYHS), Adelaide, South Australia. Written informed consent was obtained from the parents or guardians of all children. Re-analysis of this data was approved by NovitaTech (Adelaide, SA), the CWYHS Human Ethics Review Committee (REC1870/9/09) and La Trobe University Health Sciences Faculty Human Ethics Committee (FHEC09/074), Melbourne, Australia.

#### 4.2.1 Participants

Participants were recruited through the NovitaTech Orthotics Department and Physiotherapy staff at Novita Children's Services Inc. The details of the six participants are presented in Table 4.2. Eligibility criteria for participation in the project included age six to 18 years, primary diagnosis of spastic CP (either diplegia or hemiplegia), currently wearing solid AFOs, and level I or II on the Gross Motor Functional Classification Scale (GMFCS) (Palisano, *et al.*, 1997).

				Parti	cipant			
		Exc	luded					
		1	2	3	4	5	6	Average
Age (years	)	9.5	6.08	9.6	11.92	9.92	12.25	9.88
Sex		Male	Female	Female	Female	Female	Male	
Height (cm	ı)	134	116.5	126	144.5	141	150	135.33
Weight (kg	;)	53.4	23.7	29	43.6	31.8	52.6	39.17
Diagnosis		hemi	hemi	di	di	Di	hemi	
AFO side		right	right	bilateral	Bilateral	bilateral	left	
Dorsiflexio	on with kn	ee exten	sion (°) #					
R1	Right	0	-25	-15	-5	-20	-	
	Left	-	-	-20	0	-35	-5	
R2	Right	7	-5	0	7	-10	-	
	Left	-	-	0	10	0	5	
Popliteal a	ngle (°)							
R1	Right	20	20	90	75	90	-	
	Left	-	-	90	75	90	85	
R2	Right	0	0	30	40	40	-	
	Left	-	-	35	35	30	35	
AFO ankle angle (°) #		ŧ						
Right		0	-5	0	0	-10	-	
Left		-	-	0	0	0	0	

Table 4.2 Participant characteristics and AFO details. R1=Dynamic range of motion, R2=passive range of motion. # Negative values indicate PF, hemi=hemiplegic, di=diplegic. Joint ranges of motion were recorded by the physiotherapist researcher.

# 4.2.2 Apparatus

# 4.2.2.1 AFO design

All participants were provided with new custom made solid AFOs, fabricated by a qualified orthotist (ER). The AFOs had full length toe plates extending distally past the toes and on the mediolateral border of the foot, distal to the metatarsal heads. Proximal trimlines were 2-2.5cm below the fibula head with trimlines anterior to both malleoli and straps across the anterior ankle and the proximal tibia. AFOs were made from 4mm polypropylene homopolymer. No reinforcements were applied at the level of the ankle. The stiffness of the toe plate was not altered by adding reinforcements or by reducing the thickness of the plastic.

The choice of AFO ankle angle was determined on an individual basis, depending upon passive gastrocnemius length. If gastrocnemius length limited maximum dorsiflexion to an angle less than plantigrade with the knee in extension, the AFO was made in the equivalent plantarflexed angle. If gastrocnemius length permitted dorsiflexion beyond plantigrade, the AFO was made with ankle in a plantigrade position. The position of the hind and mid foot was maintained in the position closest to neutral.

# 4.2.2.2 Measurement of the AFO ankle angle and SVA

The AFO ankle angle was measured as the angle between the shank of the lower limb and fifth metatarsal when the participant was wearing the AFO. A plantigrade position (90°) was recorded as 0°. Passive dorsiflexion range of motion with the knee extended was measured using the same landmarks, but while the participant was barefoot and was positioned in supine. The line of the shank was considered to be a line joining the knee joint centre (represented by the lateral femoral epicondyle) and lateral malleolus. A hand-held goniometer was used to measure these angles.

For the testing procedure, the SVA of the AFO-FC was altered by adding wedges of high density EVA foam inside the shoe beneath the heel of the AFO. If a leg length discrepancy existed it was equalised by placing internal shoe raises inside the shoe of the shorter leg. Measurement of the desired or target SVA (0°, 5°, 10°, 15°) was considered as the angle between the line of the shank and vertical, as previously defined in Chapter 2. A modified long armed goniometer, aligned parallel to the line of progression of the foot, was used for all measurements which were conducted by the same investigator (ER) (refer to Figure 4.3). The goniometer provided the vertical reference line as well as a moveable arm to align with the shank. The SVA was measured in degrees with a positive angle denoting anterior inclination. This was performed with the participant seated while wearing the AFO and footwear to ensure that the sole of the foot was flat on the ground with even pressure between the heel and sole of the shoe.



Figure 4.3 Modified long arm goniometer used to measure SVA. The axis was positioned over the lateral maleolus, the stationary arm was therefore aligned vertically and the mobile arm was positioned in line with the lateral femoral epicondyle. This design provides a stable base on which to mount the goniometer for measurement.

Additional joint ranges of motion were measured and recorded by the physiotherapist researcher (see Table 4.2). This included both passive and dynamic measures of joint range of motion (ROM) at the ankle and knee on the affected sides. Ankle ROM was measured with full knee extension. Popliteal angle was measured in supine with the hip flexed to 90° and the knee extended to maximum range. The popliteal angle was the angle between the line of the shank and femur.

All children wore their own shoes throughout the study and during all gait analyses. At least one week of wearing-in time occurred between AFO supply and gait analysis. The AFO was combined with footwear without any deliberate change to the alignment. As participants wore solid AFOs prior to participation in the study it was anticipated that one week adjustment time would be adequate.

## 4.2.3 Data collection

Participants attended the South Australian Movement Analysis Centre at the Repatriation General Hospital (Daw Park, Adelaide) for one data collection session. Three dimensional kinematic and kinetic data were collected using an eight camera Vicon Mx3 Motion Analysis System (Vicon, Oxford Metrics, Oxford, UK) with four AMTI force plates (AMTI OR6 series, AMTI, Watertown, MA, USA). Vicon Nexus and Polygon software (Vicon, Oxford Metrics, Oxford, UK) were used for the capturing and processing of all data.

Participants were asked to walk laps of the 10m walkway at a self-selected pace while barefoot, in their AFO and footwear, and in 5° incremental increases in the SVA up to a maximum of 15°. In all participants with one exception, the baseline condition produced a SVA of 5°. This was the SVA that represented the combination of the AFO ankle angle and the participants chosen footwear and was therefore also the SVA that the participants had worn in the previous week. In these participants there were four test conditions (barefoot, and SVA of 5°, 10° and 15°). In the remaining participant (Subject 6) the baseline SVA was 0° due to the participant wearing shoes with a zero degree pitch. This resulted in five test conditions for this participant (barefoot, and a SVA of 0°, 5°, 10° and 15°) (Table 4.2). The same order of testing was used for all participants in order to gain subjective feedback on the different AFO-FC alignments (not reported in the current re-analysis).

Measurements of height, weight, leg lengths and width at ankles and knees were taken for appropriate anthropometric scaling. Fifteen retro-reflective markers were placed on various bony landmarks of the lower limbs for three-dimensional kinematic data capture based on the Newington Marker Set (Davis, Õunpuu, Tyburski, & Gage, 1991). Markers were placed over the anterior superior iliac spines, posterior superior iliac spines, lateral femoral epicondyles, malleoli,

calcanei and second metatarsal, along with thigh and tibial wands. Hypo-allergenic double sided adhesive tape was used to attach markers to the skin, AFO or footwear as required. Markers were taped over to ensure they were secure throughout all testing. To capture data in the AFO conditions the markers over the lateral tibia, malleoli, calcanei and forefoot were removed and replaced. The same investigator applied all markers. Several practice laps were performed in each condition prior to data collections. Six trials containing a clean force plate strike were collected for each affected limb.

4.2.4 Data analysis

#### 4.2.4.1 Quality assessment

The original C3D files were reconstructed, labelled and checked for clean force-plate strikes and correct labelling of events using Vicon Nexus software (Vicon, Oxford Metrics, Oxford UK). Several trials were discarded on the basis of compromised force-plate strikes. The remaining trials were processed using two BodyLanguage models. The dynamic gait model provided standard joint kinematics and kinetics according to the *PlugInGait* model (Vicon, Oxford Metrics, Oxford UK), as in the original study. The angle of the limb segments with reference to the laboratory were calculated using the model *Projections* (Appendix C). During the static trial the foot segment was defined using the foot-flat setting. Therefore, in this study foot projections could be more accurately described as shoe projections. While this angle remained constant across conditions, use of the foot-flat setting resulted in an output showing increased dorsiflexion with each increase in SVA.

These data were further examined for adequate quality using Polygon software (Vicon, Oxford Metrics, Oxford UK). Polygon is an integrated tool for visualisation and analysing captured and modelled 3-dimensional data. It provides a single environment in which users can animate data and graph kinematic and kinetic analyses. A report was designed that enabled simultaneous viewing of both the reconstructed markers and skeleton, and the kinematic and kinetic data. These data included sagittal, coronal and transverse plane kinematics of the pelvis, hip, knee and ankle; kinetics of the hip, knee and ankle; and projection angles of the pelvis, femur, tibia and foot. These data were presented individually for each trial and for all trials in each condition. Trials were then averaged and presented graphically to include the standard deviation which permitted an assessment of within-subject variability. This report was used as a template from which data from each participant could be viewed.

Examining individual data in this way enabled any unusual data to be identified, investigated, and if necessary, discarded. In Participant 1 there were errors in the force plate calibration matrix that were unable to be rectified post data collection that resulted in this data set being

discarded. The data from Participant 2 was discarded due to behavioural issues during data collection that resulted in an inconsistent gait pattern which was reflected in large standard deviations. Any trial where a force-plate strike was compromised was also discarded. At the end of this process each of the remaining four participants had between one and six trials containing kinetic data for all conditions (see Table 4.3). Due to the limited data set it was decided to include all available trials in this analysis.

	Participant 3			Participant 4			Participant 5			Participant 6		
	AFO	AFO1	AFO2									
Left	2	2	3	4	3	3	1	2	4	5	4	6
Right	2	3	3	4	2	2	2	2	3	4	3	3

Table 4.3 Number of acceptable kinetic trials per condition for the four participants included in the analysis.

## 4.2.5 Evidence of Mechanisms

These data were examined to determine whether evidence existed for either or both of the mechanisms described in Chapter 2. The hypothesised patterns of change and corresponding gait patterns are listed in Table 4.1 (p102).

To identify these patterns, a series of key graphs were produced for the affected limbs for each participant. These included the average traces of each condition across the following sagittal plane variables: joint kinematics and kinetics at the hip, knee and ankle; and projection angles (the angle of these segments relative to the laboratory reference frame) of the femur, shank and foot. Normal data for able-bodied children (Hugh Williamson Gait Laboratory, Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne) were included for illustrative purposes.

These key graphs were explored to identify patterns and trends indicative of Mechanism 1 and 2 by considering changes in the dependent variables illustrated below in Figure 4.4. These variables were tabulated and the responses according to Mechanism 1 and 2 were colour coded to enable quantitative comparison across conditions.



Figure 4.4 Key outcome variables: a) peak knee extension moment; b) first peak dorsiflexion moment in the common double-bump pattern; c) foot flat during mid-stance; d) tibial incline at 30% GC; e) peak knee extension angle. Data sourced from the Normal database maintained by the Hugh Williamson Gait Laboratory, The Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, Australia. All moments are external joint moments.
#### 4.3 **Results**

#### 4.3.1 Evidence of Mechanisms

The summary below describes the evidence that was found to relate to each mechanism, as well as other changes that were observed. Table 4.4 presents the changes in the variables of interest and codes these according to Mechanism type. In this table and the following series of Key Graphs (Figure 4.5-Figure 4.11), all of which present average traces, all changes are colour coded to indicate evidence of Mechanism 1 or Mechanism 2. Characteristics relating to the type of gait pattern (peak knee extension and foot incline) are also highlighted on each set of key graphs.

4.3.2 Summary

#### 4.3.2.1 Mechanism 1

Mechanism 1 was demonstrated fully in two participants Participant 3LR (Figure 4.5, Figure 4.6) and Participant 6 (Figure 4.11). Peak knee extension moment was reduced systematically toward normal values with each increase in HSD. However, increasing the HSD also acted to increase knee flexion moments in early stance and away from normal values, in Participant 3.

Systematic increases in tibial incline and peak knee extension angle were also seen with 1increased HSD. It was also observed that knee flexion in early stance increased with each increase in HSD. The only improvement in kinematics as a result of increased HSD was peak knee extension in Participant 3R. All other changes produced detrimental effects (considered as changes away from normal values).

Consistent with the underlying theory, there were no consistent reductions to dorsiflexion moment. These participants demonstrated near full knee extension and achieved foot flat during mid- stance, indicating a relatively extended gait pattern, which is thought to enable these kinematic changes to take place.

At the hip, increased HSD resulted in increased peak hip extension on the left side in Participant 3 with reduced peak hip flexion on the right. Hip moments were however affected similarly on both limbs, with reductions in peak hip flexion and hip extension moments with increased HSD. These changes improved the hip flexion moments, whereas the changes seen in the peak hip extension moment produced a more abnormal pattern. There were no changes to hip kinematics or kinetics in Participant 6.

#### 4.3.2.2 Mechanism 2

Mechanism 2 was demonstrated fully in both limbs of one participant, Participant 5 (Figure 4.9, Figure 4.10). Peak knee extension moment was reduced sequentially with each increase in HSD.

No systematic changes were seen in tibial incline or knee kinematics. Considerable improvements were seen in the reduction of the peak dorsiflexion moment, toward normal values. In line with this, a flexed knee posture was demonstrated throughout the entire gait cycle with limited knee extension (maximum knee extension of 27.3° and 36.6° flexion on the left and right respectively). As a result in both limbs the foot projection angles were inclined throughout stance phase.

At the hip, similar findings were seen as in Participant 3; increased HSD resulted in increased hip flexion on the left, but increased hip extension on the right. In both limbs the peak hip flexion moment was reduced with increased HSD which was an improvement toward normal values, though there was little change in peak hip extension moment.

### 4.3.2.3 Mixed

One participant demonstrated evidence of both mechanisms (Subject 4, Figure 4.7 & Figure 4.8). Peak knee extension moment reduced systematically with increased HSD, though the differences in magnitude (approximately 0.2Nm/kg total change) were smaller than those seen in the participants demonstrating evidence of a single mechanism (0.4-0.6 Nm/kg total change). This participant also demonstrated increased peak knee flexion moment in early stance with increased HSD. This was a deterioration as the changes were away from normal values.

While there were systematic increases to tibial incline, peak knee extension and peak knee flexion in early stance, these were smaller in magnitude than those limbs demonstrating only evidence of Mechanism 1, but also of shorter duration, with changes seen between 0-40% of the gait cycle, rather than from 10% of the gait cycle.

In addition to systematic changes to kinematics, evidence of Mechanism 2 was demonstrated in the considerable reductions in the early peak dorsiflexion moment in both limbs of Participant 4, to almost normal values. This participant did not demonstrate full knee extension (10° knee flexion in the baseline condition) and also demonstrated an inclined foot in baseline, which improved with each increase in HSD on the right more so than the left. There were no changes to either hip kinematics or kinetics with increased HSD.

	AFO	AFO1 Average	AFO2 Average	Normal				
	Average (SD)	(SD)	(SD)	Average (SD)				
Participant 3L	5°	10°	15°					
Peak DF moment (Nm/kg)	1.4 (0.15)	1.1 (0.26)	1.5 (0.26)	None; 0.30 (.23) at 20%GC				
Tibial incline (°)	11.9 (1.7)	18.1 (5.0)	22.8 (1.9)	11.0 (3.1)				
Peak KE angle (°)	4.9 (3.4)	11.6 (5.7)	20.1 (2.2)	5.2 (5.7)				
Peak KE Moment (Nm/Kg)	-0.78 (0.20)	-0.43 (0.05)	-0.25 (.09)	-0.16 (0.18)				
Foot incline (flat or inclined)	Flat							
Baseline peak KE	<5 °							
Participant 3R	5°	10°	15°					
Peak DF moment (Nm/kg)	1.7 (0.27)	1.9 (0.18)	1.6 (0.10)					
Tibial incline (°)	12.3 (5.2)	19.5 (2.9)	21.2 (3.2)					
Peak KE angle (°)	-4.3 (4.3)	2.9 (4.2)	6.2 (2.9)					
Peak KE Moment (Nm/Kg)	-0.92 (0.02)	-0.64 (0.03)	-0.39 (0.08)					
Foot incline (flat or inclined)	Flat							
Baseline peak KE	<5 °							
Participant 4L	5°	10°	15°					
Peak DF moment (Nm/kg)	0.77 (0.09)	0.58 (0.28)	0.43 (0.09)					
Tibial incline (°)	16.2 (1.9)	16.7 (1.4)	20.6 (1.7)					
Peak KE angle (°)	11.4 (1.2)	12.3 (1.5)	19.4 (2.4)					
Peak KE Moment (Nm/Kg)	-0.19 (-0.08)	-0.18 (0.10)	0.005 (0.08)					
Foot incline (flat or inclined)	Flat							
Baseline peak KE	>5 °							
Participant 4R	5°	10°	15°					
Peak DF moment (Nm/kg)	1.3 (0.16)	0.83 (0.18)	0.56 (0.004)					
Tibial incline (°)	20.4 (1.1)	21.3 (2.2)	23.7 (0.7)					
Peak KE angle (°)	13.6 (0.7)	16.9 (2.1)	20.9 (2.8)					
Peak KE Moment (Nm/Kg)	-0.27 (0.05)	-0.20 (0.12)	-0.06 (0.04)					
Foot incline (flat or inclined)	Flat							
Baseline peak KE	>5	4.00	4=0					
Participant 5L	5°	10°	15°					
Peak DF moment (Nm/kg)	0.97 (-)*	0.89 (0.007)	0.74 (0.028)					
Deale KE angle (2)	27.3 (2.7)	24.9 (2.2)	24.9 (6.1)					
Peak KE angle (*)	27.3 (2.4)	24.6 (3.4)	28.9 (8.1)					
Peak KE Moment (Nm/Kg)	-0.59 (-)*	-0.22 (0.19)	0.10 (0.07)					
Pool incline (flat of inclined)	Inclined							
Baseline peak KE	>5	10°	15°					
Peak DE moment (Nm/kg)	1 7 (0.06)	15 (0 16)	1 14 (0 087)					
Tibial incline (°)	25 0 (2 4)	25 5 (2 2)	1.14 (0.087) 22 8 (2 7)					
Peak KF angle (°)	36 6 (3 47)	31 1 (4 2)	23.8 (2.7)					
Peak KE Moment (Nm/Kg)	-0 59 (0 045)	-0.45 (0.01)	-0 15 (0 22)					
Foot incline (flat or inclined)	Inclined	0.45 (0.01)	0.13 (0.22)	ΔΕΟ3				
Baseline neak KE	>5 °			Average (SD)				
Participant 6	0°	5°	10°	15°				
Peak DF moment (Nm/kg)	1.57 (0.082)	1.41 (0.38)	1.47 (0.15)	1.42 (0.39)				
Tibial incline (°)	16.6 (2.4)	16.5 (3.1)	23.4 (1.5)	28.2 (2.3)				
Peak KE angle (°)	5.12 (3.0)	9.01 (3.3)	17.2 (3.5)	21.9 (3.5)				
Peak KE Moment (Nm/Kg)	-0.68 (0.19)	-0.53 (0.12)	-0.43 (0.10)	-0.29 (0.098)				
Foot incline (flat or inclined)	Flat							
Baseline peak KE	5 °							
Green indicates a change pred	icted by both me	chanisms (ie. red	duced peak KE n	noment); Red indicates				
patterns associated with Mechanism 1; Blue indicates patterns associated with Mechanism 2; Black indicates								

patterns associated with Mechanism 1; Blue indicates patterns associated with Mechanism 2; Black indicates no change. \* indicates only 1 trial with kinetic data therefore no standard deviation. DF= dorsiflexion, KE = knee extension, KF = knee flexion, tibial incline = tibial projection angle at 30% gait cycle. All peak KE angles are angles of knee flexion

Table 4.4 Evidence of mechanisms across key dependent variables.

# *Key Graphs: Participant 3L (Mechanism 1)*



Figure 4.5 Key Graphs for Participant 3L.

# *Key Graphs: Participant 3R (Mechanism 1)*



-Normal

-AFO

-AFO1

-AFO2

Figure 4.6 Key Graphs for Participant 3R.

# *Key Graphs: Participant 4L (Mixed)*



Figure 4.7 Key Graphs for Participant 4L.

# Key Graphs: Participant 4R (Mixed)



Figure 4.8 Key Graphs for Participant 4R.

KEY

Normal

-AFO

AFO1

AFO2

# *Key Graphs: Participant 5L (Mechanism 2)*



Figure 4.9 Key Graphs for Participant 5L.

# *Key Graphs: Participant 5R (Mechanism 2)*



Figure 4.10 Key Graphs for Participant 5R.

# *Key Graphs: Participant 6 (Mechanism 1)*



Figure 4.11 Key Graphs for Participant 6.

#### 4.4 Discussion

This analysis examined the effects of a systematic change in AFO-FC SVA on the gait of four children with CP, all of whom wore solid AFOs to address the second research question of this thesis was 'How does AFO-FC alignment affect gait?' In line with the literature, (Butler, *et al.*, 1997; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007) all children demonstrated reductions in peak external knee extension moment with increased SVA and in some cases the largest SVAs also produced external knee flexion moments (Participant 4L, 5L). Evidence was also found for the two proposed mechanisms by which changing the SVA of the AFO-FC could affect lower limb biomechanics. While the hypothesis was supported, the presence of 'mixed' type of response was not anticipated.

The most normal peak knee extension moments in this study were produced by a SVA of 10-15°. These findings are in line with the two studies that have reported tuned SVA alignment for children with CP, which were 11.36° (range 7-15°) (Owen, 2002) and 10.8° (±1.8°) (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). However in the study by Owen (2002) modifications were also made to the heel and sole profiles of the footwear which makes direct comparisons more difficult.

This analysis identified that increasing the SVA had some positive and some negative effects depending on the variable examined and the time in the gait cycle. In particular, the limbs of all children who demonstrated evidence of Mechanism 1 also demonstrated increased knee flexion angles and moments in early stance with increased HSD, away from normal values. Similar results have been reported by other authors (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009) who considered this inconsequential compared with the supposed benefits of more normal knee kinetics at mid-stance (Butler, *et al.*, 2007). The changes in knee flexion angles and moments in early stance undesirable and energy expensive as the large external flexion moment must be opposed by a large internal extension moment which is produced by contraction of the quadriceps.

Because the full tuning process as described by Owen (Owen, 2004c, 2005a; Owen, *et al.*, 2004) involves two subsequent steps, heel and sole modification, it is possible that these and any other undesirable effects in early and late stance phase could be ameliorated by modifications to the heel and sole profile of the footwear. If it is not possible to perform a complete three stage tuning process, then the choice of SVA must be made on an individual basis, taking into account the desirable and undesirable changes in both kinematic and kinetic variables. While this thesis examines AFO-FC alignment in isolation in order to understand the first component of this complex procedure, there is a clear need to investigate the effect of heel and sole profiles on gait in future studies.

A mixed response was demonstrated in one participant (Participant 4) who demonstrated systematic kinematic changes as well as systematic reductions in peak dorsiflexion moment. Full knee extension was not achieved (maximum knee extension was 10° knee flexion) but the foot appeared flat on the ground, at least for a short period in early stance, in the baseline condition. It is probable that both responses are present because while the foot is flat on the ground, weight is unevenly distributed between the heel and forefoot, favouring the latter. Thus increasing the HSD provided more time for the foot to be flat on the ground and provided more even weight distribution.

#### 4.4.1 Limitations and future directions

The small number of participants included in this pilot analysis is one of the major limitations of the work. Children with CP are an inherently heterogeneous population particularly with regard to gait pattern. A small sample size makes it difficult to generalise the results to the wider population and provides impetus for a study using a larger sample size.

Another important limitation of this study design was the non-randomised order of testing. This was done in order to facilitate subjective feedback from the participants, which was an aim of the original study and not reported here. Because the smaller SVAs were administered before the largest, the changes observed may have been affected by series effects. For example, increased knee flexion during early stance phase in conditions of larger SVAs may have been in part due to fatigue rather than simply due to the AFO-FC alignment. Future investigations involving repeated measures design should certainly provide a randomised order of testing to eliminate the possibility of series effects influencing the results.

A second limitation relates to measurement error arising from use of a hand-held goniometer to measure SVA. Reliability of goniometric measurement of ankle dorsi- and plantarflexion has been widely questioned (Elveru, Rothstein, & Lamb, 1988; Evans & Scutter, 2006; Lundgren *et al.*, 2008; Martin & McPoil, 2005; Van Gheluwe, Kirby, Roosen, & Phillips, 2002; Wright & Feinstein, 1992). Use of this technique to measure SVA in patients wearing AFOs may create additional error because the AFO may disguise the apex of the anatomical lateral malleoli and the tibia may move within the AFO. Goniometric measurement was used to determine the height of the internal heel wedge required to produce the required SVA. It was intended that SVA would increase in 5° increments however the changes to ankle kinematic data suggest that these increments were not consistent. This problem is also evident in a case study examining the effect of SVA on one child with CP (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007). Wedge size increased from 4°, 8°, 12° and 20° while the SVA was measured as 12°, 13°, 19° and 22°. The use of internal heel wedges to alter SVA may also compromise the fit of the AFO within the shoe, particularly in larger SVAs and cause increased movement between the shoe and AFO during walking.

An alternative method of inducing systematic SVA changes would be to use external wedges attached to the sole of footwear (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). Footwear in a range of sizes could be prepared with a set of wedges that have been fabricated according to specific measurements to produce the desired SVA. This approach does not require individual measurement of SVA but calculation of the heel height of the wedge relative to foot length needed to produce the required SVA. This approach would have the further advantage that the fit of the footwear would not be compromised. This approach was used in the study reported in Chapter 5.

Of primary concern when prescribing a solid AFO is that the AFO is designed and fabricated in a way which prevents any movement of the ankle during walking, primarily in the sagittal plane. The results of this study suggest however that there was up to 12.5° sagittal plane ankle movement (Participant 4L). These results were similar to those reported in the wider body of literature, which report between 8-16° ankle ROM (Abel, *et al.*, 1998; Brunner, *et al.*, 1998; Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Buckon, *et al.*, 2004; Carlson, *et al.*, 1997; Lam, *et al.*, 2005; Thompson, *et al.*, 2002). This movement has often been attributed to insufficient rigidity of the SAFO which allows plastic deformation and buckling at the ankle with loading (Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Buckon, *et al.*, 1997; Thompson, *et al.*, 2002).

There are however several other factors that may have contributed to the measured ankle range of motion. For instance, if the tibia moves in an anterior posterior direction relative to the orthosis, would be measured as a change in ankle angle though it reflects anatomical ankle movement rather than deformation of the AFO. As a result of these observations, a sixth and final research question was added to this thesis which asks, 'When ankle movement in a solid AFO is measured using 3DGA, does this accurately reflect anatomical ankle movement? Is there a way to measure movement of the anatomical ankle, the AFO, tibia and footwear?' This concept is addressed in the project reported in Chapter 8 which describes a new model developed to assess both the actual and the apparent ankle kinematics.

#### 4.5 Conclusion

Biomechanical changes supporting both Mechanisms 1 and 2 were demonstrated within this pilot data, along with an additional mixed response. While some positive changes or improvements were seen in peak knee extension angle and moment, other kinematic and kinetic changes demonstrated according to Mechanism 1 were detrimental effects, that is, changes away from normal. The aim of orthotic intervention in this participant group is to improve gait and as such further investigation of the effect of SVA is warranted.

# **5** Methods

This chapter describes the method used for the studies reported in Chapters 6-8 in which systematic alignment changes were made to the AFO-FCs of children with spastic hemi- and diplegia who wore either solid or hinged AFOs, and the effect of these changes measured using 3DGA. The subsequent Chapters 6-8 address the third, fourth, fifth and sixth research questions of this thesis. Chapter 5 describes the participants, apparatus, data collection protocol and data processing that apply to all of these studies. Data processing and analysis particular to each of the subsequent studies is reported within the relevant chapter.

### 5.1 Introduction

The systematic review described in Chapter 3 resulted in the formation of best practice reporting guidelines for AFO interventions in studies involving children with CP. These were considered under the three broad areas of sample homogeneity, AFO details and the testing protocol. The method described in this chapter demonstrates the implementation of these guidelines in the design of the subsequent investigations.

The guidelines suggest that ensuring sample homogeneity in children with CP is essential in AFO intervention studies, particularly with regard to gait pattern. In these studies it was not considered feasible to limit the inclusion criteria to a specific type of gait pattern due to the potential small numbers of eligible participants. Instead the results were analysed according to homogenous sub-groups of similar types of gait patterns. Sub-groups were formed on the basis of similar patterns of knee kinematics in the baseline AFO condition. The aim of the current study was to investigate the effect of variations in AFO design (i.e. the SVA) and not the effect of the AFO intervention. Therefore the baseline AFO gait pattern was considered to provide the most relevant information. Published gait classifications could not be applied to the baseline AFO data because ankle movement, which is a defining feature for most classification systems, was constrained by the AFO which was worn for all conditions. The different gait patterns found within this group are however clearly described which enables comparison with other literature.

The guidelines also suggest that across participants there should be a common indication for orthotic treatment, and that the type of AFO should be suitable for each participant in order to achieve the same orthotic management goal. In these studies a common indication, orthotic goal or suitability of type of AFO to each patient was not considered to be critical to the investigation, as the purpose of the study was not to examine effect of the orthosis or to compare orthoses. Rather, the purpose was to determine how changing one feature of the AFO-FC (the sagittal plane alignment), affected gait, regardless of the rationale for AFO prescription. Further work could investigate the effect of AFO-FC alignment according to the original prescription goal.

The second area addressed by the reporting guidelines focussed on details describing the AFO intervention. Details describing the two types of interventions were clearly described and the individual variations recorded (refer to Appendix D). No methods were available for quantifying AFO stiffness, but in Chapter 8 a new method for measuring AFO flexion in a dynamic context was developed. The focus of the thesis was one area identified by the review as necessitating further research.

The final area addressed by the reporting guidelines focussed on the testing protocol, particularly on use of a control condition, a randomised order of testing and an acclimatisation time. Although barefoot data was collected in this study, this was not used as a control comparison. Instead, each patient had four test conditions which represented four AFO alignments. A randomised order of testing was used for all orthotic conditions according to a counterbalanced Latin square design. Acclimatisation time was provided but limited to approximately five minutes per condition due to an already lengthy testing time.

The protocol described in this chapter utilised 3DGA to collect data relating to a range of gait parameters. Historically, AFO tuning has been performed using two dimensional video vector analysis (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Owen, 2002). While there are errors inherent in the use of force vector analysis these are negligible for assessment of ankle moments and very small, particularly at mid-stance for assessment of knee moments (Boccardi, *et al.*, 1981; Wells, 1981). More recently however, 3DGA has been used to tune AFO-FCs of children with CP (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009), and one adult with post-stroke hemiplegia (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010). As a clinical tool for assessing knee moments and as a way of explaining the effects of changing the point of application and line of application of the GRF, the force vector analysis is extremely useful. The sophisticated technology utilised in 3DGA overcomes many of the limitations of the video vector approach including parallax and perspective error. Using 3DGA permits calculation of joint moments throughout stance phase whereas in studies using a video vector approach it is only possible to undertake a simple and more subjective analysis of the position of the GRF vector in the sagittal plane at various isolated instances.

Chapters 6 and 7 of this thesis describe the results of a study designed to examine the effects of different AFO-FC alignments on two groups of children with CP who were wearing either hinged or solid AFOs, using 3DGA. Methodological limitations of the pilot study described in Chapter 4 informed the design of this study. Because the process of AFO-FC has not been clearly described a tuning process was not conducted. Instead, systematic changes were made to the AFO-FC alignment by attaching external heel wedges in line with the protocol described by Jagadamma and colleagues (2009). This avoided the need to measure SVA using hand held goniometry and

maintained the fit and function of footwear as wedges could be pre-fabricated according to different size footwear to produce a range of systematic alignment changes.

### **5.2** Participants

#### 5.2.1 Ethical approval

Ethical approval for these studies was granted through the La Trobe University Faculty of Health Sciences Ethics Committee (FHEC09/209) and the Royal Children's Hospital Human Research Ethics Committee (29106D) (Appendix B).

#### 5.2.2 Recruitment

Participants were recruited through two paediatric Orthotic departments in Melbourne, Victoria: the Royal Children's Hospital Prosthetic and Orthotic Unit (Parkville, Victoria), and Orthotic Innovations (Surrey Hills, Victoria).

Three recruitment methods were employed. Advertisements were posted to clinic room walls allowing interested families to request an information sheet. If clinicians were consulting with a potential participant they could provide the family with an information sheet directly. Finally, a mail-out of invitation letters was performed after using two cross-checking methods. Permission was obtained to cross-check records from the Orthotic department at the Royal Children's Hospital, which identified all children supplied with solid or hinged AFOs within the past 12 months, against the Victorian Cerebral Palsy Register. This eliminated from the mail-out, all children with diagnoses other than CP. Permission was also obtained to conduct a search of the Hugh Williamson Gait Laboratory patient database at the Royal Children's Hospital to identify children with the appropriate diagnosis, GMFCS level and type of orthosis. The purpose of this second search was to identify children who had their orthoses supplied by Orthotic Innovations, rather than through the Orthotic department at the Royal Children's Hospital. Included in the mail-out was a reply slip, which if returned, permitted the researcher to contact them, confirm their eligibility and, if appropriate, to arrange a testing time.

### 5.2.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Included in this study were children aged 6-18 years of age, with a primary diagnosis of spastic diplegic or hemiplegic cerebral palsy, a Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) level of 1 or 2 and who were currently wearing either solid or hinged AFOs (with a posterior stop). Children were excluded if they had lower limb orthopaedic surgery within the past six months.

#### 5.2.4 Participant details

Details of all participants in this study are presented in Table 5.1 . Details of medical history including past surgeries, as well as AFO details are included in Appendix D. A total of twenty children participated. This included eight females and 12 males; eight with diplegic CP and 12 with hemiplegic CP (11 right sided, one left sided). All children with hemiplegia wore a hinged AFO on their affected side and six of the eight children with diplegia wore bilateral solid AFOs. One child wore bilateral hinged AFOs and the other wore one solid and one hinged AFO. The average patient weight was 37.13 (±14.47) kg, the average height was 143.57 (±17.46) cm, and the average age was 10.9 (±3.7) years.

Data from all children except one (HAHA) were included in the studies described in Chapter 6-7. Data from HAHA were excluded from these analyses due to an insufficient number of successful trials in all conditions. All children who wore solid AFOs participated in the study described in Chapter 8.

	Age	Sex		AFO	AFO	Height	Weight	Preferred	AFO و		AFO Gastroc		Soleus		Hamstrings		KE
	Yrs.Month s	M/F	Dx	side	type	(cm)	(kg)	SVA <sup>#</sup>	Lim	Ankle Angle (°)	R2	R1	R2	R1	R2	R1	contrac.
ACBE	13.1	F	Hemi	R	Hinged	155.4	38.2	0>5>15=10	L								
									R	0	not n	neasur	ed ^				
ALBR	7.2	F	Hemi	L	Hinged	132.7	26.3	None	L	0	15	-10	15	0	45	62	0
									R								
CHJE	9.8	F	Hemi	R	Hinged	125	23.8	0=5>10>15	L								
				_					R	0	25	5	35	20	30	35	0
DEFO	11.8	М	Hemi	R	Hinged	155	34.9	10>5>0>15		_					~~		
DELLA	12.2	F	D:		Calid	1 4 0 0	<b>CO 7</b>		R	-5	4	-2	9	0	60 50	55	0
DEHA	13.2	F	DI	В	Solid	149.8	68.7	10> 0, 5 & 15		3	0	-10	12	-5	50	64 57	0
нлсо	7.0	c	Homi	Р	Hingod	117 E	17 /	10-15550	ĸ	0	5	-15	15	0	55	57	0
HAGO	7.0	Г	пенн	n	ппдеи	112.5	17.4	10-132320	R	0	10	-10	20	0	10	28	0
	6.0	c	Di	Р	Solid	111 2	10.2	Nono		0	0	то г	20 E	ט ר	22	40	0
папа	0.0	Г	DI	D	30llu	111.2	19.2	None	R	0	0	-5 -5	5	-2	22	40 70	0
IABU	18.0	М	Di	в	Solid	174 5	59	5=15>10>0		0	0	0	12	5	20 45	55	0
57 (15)	10.0		Di	D	30114	174.5	33	5 15/10/0	R	0	0	0	0	0	60	70	0
ΙΔΝΙ	11.0	М	Hemi	R	Hinged	134 3	30.1	10>5>0=15		-	-		-	-			-
57.000	11.0				Timbea	10 110	5011	10, 5, 0 15	R	0 <sup>\$</sup>	-10	-10	-20	-30	60	65	-5
JOBA	8.2	М	Hemi	R	Hinged	136.5	38.1	0>5=10>15	L	Ū	20						Ū
	-		-		0				R	0	5	-5	11	0	45	53	0
JODA	12.8	М	Di	В	Solid	138.3	27.3	5=10>0 & 15	L	0	5	-10	11	5	48	55	0
									R	0	-2	-15	5	-11	52	62	0
JORI	12.9	М	Di	В	Hinged	164.5	44	10>5>0>15	L	0	0	-5	5	-5	60	70	0
									R	0	0	-10	0	-15	50	65	0

#### Chapter 5 – Methods

	Age	Sex	_	AFO	AFO	Height	Weight	Preferred	q	AFO	Gastroc		Sole	us	Hamstrings		KF
	Yrs. Months	M/F	Dx	side	type	(cm)	(kg)	SVA <sup>#</sup>	Lin	Ankle Angle (°)	R2	R1	R2	R1	R2	R1	contrac.
JOTH	1.1	М	Di	В	Solid	140.5	34.8	10>5&15	L	0	0	0	23	0	60	60	0
									R	0	3	-10	20	8	50	65	0
LIEM	14.4	Μ	Hemi	R	Hinged	169.7	59.3	5>0>10>15	L								
									R	0	5	0	0	-5	45	67	0
LIKE	9.5	Μ	Hemi	R	Hinged	130.5	25.5	15>10>5>0	L								
									R	0	0	-10	0	-20	46	50	0
LIRI *	10.1	Μ	Di	L	Solid	136	26.9	0=5>10 & 15	L	0	5	-3	20	0	60	73	0
				R	Hinged				R	0	5	-5	25	0	45	55	0
MAHO	13.1	Μ	Di	В	Solid	154	43.5	0>5>10 & 15	L	0	2	-7	10	8	56	55	0
									R	0	2	-4	12	5	50	56	0
ROHI	14.5	Μ	Hemi	R	Hinged	163.2	56.6	0=5>10>15	L								
									R	0	5	2	12	5	40	45	0
TACA	13.3	F	Hemi	R	Hinged	148	42.5	0 and 5	L								
									R	0	6	0	25	12	30	40	0
TIIR	11.9	F	Hemi	R	Hinged	139.8	26.5	10>0, 5 & 15	L								
									R	0	10	-4	21	9	52	55	0
Summary	10.9 (3.7)	12M:8F	12H:	11R:1L:	13H:7S:	143.57	37.13										
	2010 (017)	12.000	8D	8B	1both	(17.46)	(14.47)										

Gastroc = maximum dorsiflexion with the knee extended and foot in most neutral alignment; Soleus = maximum dorsiflexion with the knee flexed and foot in most neutral alignment;

Hamstrings = popliteal angle; Dynamic = R1, Passive = R2; negative values = PF or knee hyperextension, positive values = dorsiflexion or knee flexion, KF = knee flexion

<sup>%</sup> HAHA excluded from alignment study due to insufficient kinetic trials, but included in ankle kinematics study

\* LIRI has one solid AFO and one hinged AFO with each AFO included in the respective group

<sup>#</sup>Greater than (>) used to denote favourite or order of favourites

<sup>\$</sup> AFO ankle angle at 10° plantarflexion, wedged to plantigrade

^ clinical measures not taken due to behavioural issues

Table 5.1 Details of all participants

### 5.3 Apparatus

### 5.3.1 Footwear

Participants wore their own AFOs throughout testing along with modified footwear supplied for this project. Six pairs of Dunlop Volley (sport) shoes of a range of sizes were modified by reducing the heel height to obtain a zero degree pitch. A tri-square (Polysteel; Empire) incorporating a spirit level was used to ensure a zero degree pitch. The tri-square was positioned within each shoe with the corner approximating the centre of the heel, in line with the centre of the shoe as illustrated below in Figure 5.1. Downward pressure was applied, and material removed from the heel of the shoe until a zero degree pitch was produced, as indicated by the spirit level.



Heel height reduced

Figure 5.1 Footwear was modified to a zero pitch by using a spirit level incorporated into a set square.

#### 5.3.2 Wedges

For each pair of shoes a set of sole attachments were fabricated by the candidate out of 250kg/m3 Polyethylene Foam (Metro Foam Products, Silverwater, NSW). There were four pairs of attachments for each pair of shoes which were fabricated to the shape of each shoe. This included one pair of flat attachments (10mm thick) and three pairs of wedges at 5°, 10° and 15°. Hereafter a sole attachment is referred to as a wedge despite the flat attachments having a 0° pitch.

To produce the correct wedge angle ( $\theta$ ) the heel height (h) was calculated with reference to the length of the shoe (s), such that:

h = sinϑ x s

**Equation 5-1** 

Shoe length and heel height were used to calculate wedge length (*w*) (illustrated in Figure 5.2), such that:



Figure 5.2 Definition of wedge dimensions.

Dimensions of the wedges are presented in Table 5.2. An electronic calliper with increments to the micro millimetre was used to guide fabrication of each wedge. All wedges were modified to include a heel rocker that extended 10mm vertically and 10mm anteriorly (see Figure 5.3). The flat wedges were also modified to include a toe rocker. During testing, all wedges were secured to the footwear using 5.5cm adhesive elasticised bandaged (Elastoplast). The same size footwear with bilateral wedges were used on both limbs regardless of whether AFOs were worn uni- or bilaterally. In the interests of clarity wedge size will hereafter be referred to as flat, small, medium and large, rather than by the size in degrees.

Size	Shoe length (cm)	Angle (degrees)	Heel height (cm)	Wedge length (cm)			
		5	1.87	20.91			
12	21.5	10	3.73	19.03			
		15	5.56	15.40			
		5	2.02	22.65			
1	23.2	10	4.03	20.93			
		15	6.00	17.70			
		5	2.18	24.49			
3	25.0	10	4.34	22.91			
		15	6.47	20.00			
5		5	2.31	26.02			
	26.5	10	4.60	24.54			
		15	6.86	21.85			
		5	2.40	27.04			
7	27.5	10	4.78	25.62			
		15	7.12	23.05			
		5	2.57	29.07			
9	29.5	10	5.12	27.75			
		15	7.64	25.40			

Table 5.2 Dimensions of sole attachments; 0°=flat, 5°=small, 10°=medium and 15°=large.

Chapter 5 – Methods



Figure 5.3 Diagram of wedges showing the heel and toe rockers; 0°=flat, 5°=small, 10°=medium and 15°=large.

### 5.3.3 3-Dimensional Gait Analysis

Data were collected using 3-dimensional gait analysis (3DGA) at the movement laboratory at La Trobe University (Bundoora, Victoria) and at the Hugh Williamson Gait Laboratory at the Royal Children's Hospital (Parkville, Victoria). Details of these two laboratories are presented in Table 5.3.

In both laboratories data collection was carried out along a straight walkway through the centre of the lab. Data was collected using Vicon Mx3 Motion Analysis Systems (Vicon, Oxford Metrics, Oxford, UK). Infrared cameras were used to capture kinematic data. Force platforms embedded in the floor of both laboratories, all of which were 400mm x 600mm in size, were used to capture kinetic data. The cameras and force plates were linked to Vicon computer software, Nexus (Vicon, Oxford Metrics, Oxford, UK) via a networked video processor that sampled video data at a rate of 100Hz and analogue data at a rate of 100Hz. The video and analogue data were merged and reconstructed in Nexus. The capture volume was calibrated prior to data collection using standard protocols recommended by Oxford Metrics.

	La Trobe University	Hugh Williamson Gait Lab
Walkway length	12m	12m
Infrared cameras	10	10
Force platforms	2 (Kistler 9281B; Kistler	6 (AMTI OR6 series, AMTI,
	Instruments AF, Winterthur,	Watertown, MA, USA)
	Switzerland; AMTI Accugait,	
	AMTI, Watertown, MA, USA)	
Force platform		
orientation		
Nexus version	1.5	1.5
Calibration wand	5 marker T frame	5 marker T frame
Calibration frame	5 marker T frame	RCH frame
Marker size	14mm	14mm
Wand marker size	25mm on 70mm wands	25mm on 60mm wands

Table 5.3 Details of the laboratories at La Trobe University and the Hugh Williamson Gait Laboratory.

#### 5.3.4 Marker set

A modified marker set was used for the 3DGA. This marker set was based on the marker set described by Davids and colleagues (Davids, Ounpuu, Tyburski, & Gage, 1991) incorporating markers over the anterior superior iliac spines, posterior superior iliac spines, lateral femoral epicondyles, malleoli, calcanei and second metatarsal, along with thigh and tibial wands, as required by the PiG model. Two additional tibial markers placed on the anterior tibia and posterior calf were included for the study described in Chapter 8. Additional markers on the anterior and lateral thigh were included as per standard protocol for 3DGA at the Royal Children's Hospital. The full marker set is illustrated in Figure 5.4 and Table 5.4. Hypo-allergenic double sided adhesive tape was used to attach markers to the skin, AFO or footwear as required. These were taped over to ensure they were secure throughout all testing.

The following measurements were collected from all participants to input into the PiG model as recommended in Vicon Nexus:

- Height (mm)
- Mass (kg)
- Distance between right and left ASIS (mm)
- Perpendicular distance between greater trochanter and anterior superior iliac spine (when hip extended and neutrally rotated with the participant in supine) (mm)
- Knee width (mm)
- Ankle width (mm)
- Leg length (mm)



Figure 5.4 Diagram of full marker set.

Marker	Location
L/R PSIS	Posterior Superior Iliac Spine
L/R ASIS	Anterior Superior Iliac Spine
L/R THI	Lateral thigh (wand)
L/R THAP	Thigh, anterior proximal
L/R THAD	Thigh, anterior distal
L/R PAT	Thigh, patella (just proximal)
R THLP	Thigh, lateral proximal
L/R THLD	Thigh, lateral distal
L/R KNEE	Medial and lateral femoral epicondyles
L/R TIB	Lateral tibia (wand)
L/R TibPost	Posterior tibia
L/R TibAnt	Anterior tibia
L/R ANK	Lateral malleoli
L/R HEE	Calcaneus
L/R MED	Medial malleoli
L/R TOE	Forefoot, in line with 2nd metatarsal

Table 5.4 Location of all markers used in the 3DGA.

#### 5.4 Protocol

Each participant attended a single testing session at one facility. This session involved a clinical assessment and 3DGA.

#### 5.4.1 Clinical Assessment

Written informed consent was provided by all parents/guardians. A clinical assessment of lower limb ROM was performed by the candidate. This included passive and dynamic length of gastrocnemius and soleus, passive and dynamic hamstrings length according to the popliteal angle, measurement of any fixed contracture at the knee, according to maximum knee extension angle. No tools were used in the measurement of muscle length to standardised the applied toruqe. A standard long arm goniometer, metal callipers and a tape measure were used to perform these measurements, as well as the anthropometric measurements required for 3DGA. Details describing the construction and design of the AFOs were recorded and are listed in Appendix D.

5.4.2 3-Dimensional Gait Analysis

### 5.4.2.1 Order of testing

Five conditions were tested:

- Barefoot
- AFO and footwear with flat soles (0°)
- AFO and footwear with the small wedges (5°)
- AFO and footwear with medium wedges (10°)
- AFO and footwear with large wedges (15°)

Because all markers below the level of the knee had to be removed in order to don the AFO and footwear, and then replaced by attaching onto the AFO and footwear, data were captured in barefoot first to ensure that there were no changes to marker placement between the subsequent AFO conditions. Data were captured for the four AFO conditions in a counterbalanced order according to a Balanced Latin Square design to control for practice, fatigue, order and sequence effects.

A barefoot condition was collected as it was anticipated this data may be useful in classifying children according to their response to AFO-FC alignment change. This data was not however used in the subsequent analyses.

### 5.4.2.1.1 Balanced Latin Square design

The balanced Latin Square design is one method of incomplete counterbalancing that attempts to overcome the limitations of true counterbalancing – specifically that 24 combinations are required to ensure each of four conditions appears in every possible order. It was considered unlikely that exactly 24 participants would be recruited for this project. The Balanced Latin Square produces a choice of four orders of testing whereby each condition follows and precedes another an equal number of times, despite every order combination not being present (see Table 5.5).

To randomly allocate the counterbalanced order to participants, the first of every four participants selected an order from an envelope. This choice was then removed and the second and third participants chose accordingly. Every fourth participant did not choose an order as there was only one remaining. This process was repeated every four participants.

Order of conditions											
1	flat	small	large	medium							
2	small	medium	flat	large							
3	medium	large	small	flat							
4	large	flat	medium	small							

Table 5.5 Balanced Latin Square providing four possible testing orders for the four conditions.

### 5.4.2.2 Data collection

#### 5.4.2.2.1 Barefoot

For the barefoot condition, a standing static calibration was performed using Knee Alignment Devices (KADs) (Motion Lab Systems Inc, Louisiana, USA) to define the knee joint axis. Knee markers (KNEE) placed over the lateral femoral epicondyles replaced the KADs for all remaining static and dynamic trials. The heel (HEE) and toe (TOE) markers were aligned parallel to the floor (in the sagittal plane) and to the long axis of the foot (second ray, in the transverse plane). All subject measurements were entered into the Nexus software and were designated as the 'barefoot' subject for each participant.

### 5.4.2.2.2 AFO conditions

Before selecting the order of conditions, all markers on the calf and foot were removed, and the AFO(s) and footwear donned. All removed markers were replaced with the participant in a seated position with even weight distributed between the heel and forefoot of the shoe, ensuring the heel and toe markers were aligned parallel to the floor and to the long axis of the foot. The same investigator applied all markers. A new subject was created in Nexus by copying the 'barefoot' subject. Ankle width in the AFO was measured and entered into the 'AFO' subject.

The participant selected their order of testing and the wedges for the first condition were donned. Footwear was not removed; the wedges were placed in line with the sole of the shoe and secured by wrapping with elastic adhesive bandage. A static capture was performed in standing with the thigh rotation offsets from the 'barefoot' subject applied. Prior to dynamic capture the participant performed several practice laps of the walkway.

All dynamic trials were captured at a comfortable walking pace selected by the participant, with sufficient repetitions to achieve five clean force plate strikes for each affected limb. The participant was also asked to consider whether they had a preference for any of the different wedges.

### 5.4.2.2.3 Subjective preference

During the dynamic trials of each condition participants were asked to think about which wedge size they preferred. At the end of data collection they were asked to nominate their favourite wedge size. These results are presented in Chapter 7.

#### 5.4.3 Data Processing

Five trials with clean force plate strikes were selected for each condition for each participant. All data were processed using the *PlugInGait* model (Vicon, Oxford Metrics, Oxford UK) to calculate joint kinematics and kinetics. A specially developed model was used to calculate kinematics of the individual limbs segments relative to the orientation of the laboratory (*Projections model*, Appendix C). These data were imported into Polygon for a preliminary assessment of data quality. Data were then exported to Microsoft EXCEL for averaging within condition and limb, and for calculation of relevant variables. Subsequent analyses are described in Chapters 6-8.

# 6 The effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait

This chapter describes a study to address the third and fourth research questions of this thesis, which were 'Are all children responsive to AFO-FC alignment change?' and 'What is the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait in children wearing solid and hinged AFOs?' The concept of responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change is first described and subsequently defined according to changes in knee moment over three portions of the gait cycle. Differences in results according to these three analyses were investigated before describing the effect of AFO-FC alignment on a suite of gait parameters in children with CP wearing two types of AFO designs. The following chapter builds on these results by considering the concept of an optimal AFO-FC alignment.

# 6.1 Introduction

Responsiveness to a change in AFO-FC alignment was first introduced in Chapter 2, where it was broadly defined as a change in knee moment over mid-stance as a result of increasing the HSD. The direction of the desired change was not specified, thus distinguishing the concept of responsiveness from the terms successful and unsuccessful tuning. On the basis of theoretical work describing the tuning process (Owen, 2005a) this definition focuses on the period of mid-stance (10-30% gait cycle) as defined by Perry (1992). Changing AFO-FC alignment may however also affect features of terminal stance such as peak knee extension angle and peak knee extension moment (Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). Adding further complexity is that the technique as described by Owen (2004b) involves making measurements at a particular instant in the gait cycle. This instant has more recently been defined as the point when the GRF is vertical, which occurs at the transition from mid- to terminal stance, at 30% gait cycle (Owen, 2010). There is therefore, disagreement between the theory, evidence and technique of AFO-FC tuning regarding the period or instant in the gait cycle that is the focus of this process.

The principal aim of tuning is to affect the position and direction of the ground reaction force (GRF) with respect to the knee joint centre. Because knee moment is essentially a measure of this, if tuning is effective we would expect to see systematic changes to knee moment with systematic changes to the heel-sole-differential (HSD). Therefore, in order to address the third research question of this thesis 'Are all children responsive to AFO-FC alignment change?' responsiveness was defined as a significant systematic change in knee moment as a result of systematic change to HSD. This definition was applied over three portions of the gait cycle: mid-stance (10-30% gait cycle), all of stance phase and at a single point in the gait cycle (30%).

The results of these three analyses were compared to determine whether the period of the gait cycle used in the analyses affected the outcome. On the basis of the systematic patterns of change demonstrated in the pilot data as well as evidence within the literature, it was hypothesised that changes occurring over all of stance phase would be more consistent than those seen over mid-stance; whereas using only a single point in the gait cycle might produce more inconsistent changes.

The aim of AFO-FC tuning is to normalise gait, which is commonly assumed to result in improved mobility and reduced energy expenditure. This assumption is largely unfounded with little scientific evidence describing the effect of AFO-FC tuning and the subsequent benefits. Therefore, the second research question examined in this investigation was 'What is the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait?' Subsidiary research questions also examined whether there were differences according to type of gait pattern and type of AFO. The systematic review described in Chapter 3 highlighted the importance of addressing sample heterogeneity in children with CP, particularly with regard to gait patterns. Several gait classification systems exist for children with CP which in general, divide children into groups based primarily on a combination of barefoot ankle and knee kinematic patterns. Barefoot gait classification was not used in this thesis as the investigation focused on the effect of variations to the AFO intervention rather than the effect of the intervention itself. Participants also had ankle movements constrained by AFOs and as a result, assessment of baseline gait patterns focused on common patterns of knee kinematics in the baseline (flat wedge) condition. If limbs demonstrated knee kinematic patterns with natural groupings these data could be averaged and considered a homogenous sub-group.

Based on the pilot data and the limited evidence in the literature, it was hypothesised that systematic changes to knee moment would be evident in all limbs, regardless of baseline gait pattern. Specifically, peak knee flexion moment would increase and peak knee extension moment would decrease systematically as wedge size increased. With regard to the remaining parameters, it was hypothesised that the type of changes seen would vary according to type of gait pattern.

In gait patterns demonstrating relatively good knee extension throughout stance phase, it was anticipated that as a result of increased HSD, peak knee flexion angle during early stance would increase, peak knee extension angle would decrease and tibial projection angle would increase. These changes are in line with Mechanism 1 as described in Chapter 2. In gait patterns that demonstrated less knee extension there would also be reduced first dorsiflexion peak (Mixed Mechanism); and in gait patterns demonstrating increased knee flexion throughout stance phase, there would be no kinematic changes while the same changes would occur to knee kinetics and ankle kinetics (Mechanism 2).

Throughout the investigation reported in this chapter and subsequently in Chapter 7, the results were analysed separately according to the type of AFO. The majority of research examining the effect of AFO-FC alignment, or AFO-FC tuning has examined solid AFOs. While this literature originates from facilities where solid AFOs are prescribed more commonly than other AFO designs (Owen, 2005a, 2005b), the solid AFO is also the only design that allows control over the shank due to the restrictions on both dorsiflexion and plantarflexion.

At the Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, Australia, a hinged AFO is often preferred to a solid AFO provided there is adequate gastrocnemius muscle length, low spasticity, a stable foot and no excessive dorsiflexion during stance phase (Rodda & Graham, 2001). The hinged AFO prevents plantarflexion beyond plantigrade, and therefore the inclination of the shank will reflect the SVA from heel contact until the point in the gait cycle at which dorsiflexion begins. After this point the tibia is unrestrained by the AFO and can rotate freely. Therefore, the SVA of a hinged AFO may influence the kinematics and kinetics of the lower limb in the earlier part of stance phase in a similar manner to solid AFOs, but may differ from the point the tibia begins to rotate around the foot. It is also possible that due to spasticity and contracture in the gastrocnemius muscle which is so often seen in children with CP, the range of dorsiflexion utilised in the hinged AFO may be limited, which may result in similar effects of SVA on both orthosis designs. No studies have yet examined the effect of AFO-FC alignment on the gait of children with CP wearing hinged AFOs. The final aim of this investigation was therefore to determine whether changing AFO-FC alignment in both solid and hinged AFOs produces similar results.

### 6.1.1 Aims and hypotheses

The aims of this investigation were to determine:

- Whether all children are responsive to AFO-FC alignment change as determined by change in knee moment over mid-stance, and to determine the sensitivity of different indices of responsiveness by comparing the assessment of knee moment over midstance to all of stance phase and at a single point in the gait cycle
- 2. What the effect of AFO-FC alignment was on gait parameters
- 3. Whether any changes observed relate to underlying gait patterns
- 4. Whether hinged and solid AFOs produced similar results

The hypotheses for each of these aims were that:

- All limbs would show a systematic effect on knee moment with systematic changes in SVA across mid-stance.
- 2. Using the stance phase analysis would result in a similar outcome to the mid-stance analysis, but using a single point in this calculation would result in less systematic results.
- 3. Increasing SVA would result in reduced peak knee extension moment and increased peak knee flexion moment in all limbs.
- 4. In fully extended gait patterns, peak knee flexion angle and tibial projection angle would increase and peak knee extension angle would reduce systematically, with increased SVA. In more flexed gait patterns, these same changes would occur along with a reduction in first peak dorsiflexion moment. In severely flexed gait patterns no changes to kinematic variables would be evident, but changes would occur in the first peak dorsiflexion moment.

# 6.2 Methods

# 6.2.1 Participants, apparatus and procedures

Participants, apparatus and procedures for this investigation are described in Chapter 5.

# 6.2.2 Data analysis

# 6.2.2.1 Sub-groups according to knee kinematic pattern

It was hypothesised that the effect of AFO-FC alignment on a range of gait parameters would depend on the baseline gait pattern, specifically, the pattern of knee kinematics. Sub-groups of limbs with similar knee kinematic patterns were determined based on natural groupings observed within the sample in the flat wedge condition. Limbs demonstrating this pattern of knee kinematics were considered part of the 'common' sub-group, and a group average was calculated. Limbs not demonstrating this common pattern were considered 'variant' limbs, but no group average was calculated because of the variability of the data. Sagittal plane joint kinematics and joint kinetics for the hip, knee and ankle; and segment kinematics (projection angles) for the femur, tibia and foot, were also examined to determine the variability within each group across these parameters.

# 6.2.2.2 Responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change

To determine whether all children are responsive to AFO-FC alignment change, the effect of AFO-FC alignment on knee moment over the period of mid-stance was examined. The root mean square (RMS) difference between the average knee moment in the baseline (flat) condition and each of the small, medium and large wedge conditions was calculated for each limb, over the

period 10-30% gait cycle which is the period defined as mid-stance by Perry (1992). The RMS difference yields a single positive value which represents the average difference between curves. It was anticipated that increasing wedge size would cause systematic changes to the underlying knee kinetics which would be represented by increasing RMS difference between the small, medium and large wedges compared to the flat wedge. To determine whether the number of limbs considered to be responsive was affected by the period or instant of stance phase used in the RMS difference calculation, the RMS difference was also calculated across a larger period of the gait cycle (all of stance phase), and the absolute difference in knee moment was calculated at a single point, 30% gait cycle.

The length of stance phase may vary between trials within and between different conditions, for every participant. In order to perform an RMS difference calculation on these data, an average stance phase length must be generated for each condition within each participant. The 'condition' average was calculated by averaging the stance phase length across trials within each condition, for each participant. Because the RMS difference compares two conditions, the average stance phase length of each of these conditions were then averaged to calculate the 'total' stance phase length for each RMS difference calculation.

### 6.2.2.2.1 Statistical analysis

The following statistical calculations were performed in Excel to describe the relationship and significance of the RMS values to the corresponding change in wedge size, for each limb. The LINEST function was used to calculate the gradient (Nm/kg/degree) of a line of best fit for these data as well as calculation of the standard error of the gradient (spread of data points around the regression), the Fischer F-statistic and the coefficient of determination ( $r^2$ ). The LINEST function is a complete linear least squares curve fitting routine that produces uncertainty estimates for the fit values. The F-distribution function (FDIST) was used to calculate the level of significance (p) for the gradient of the line of best fit based on the F-statistic. Limbs which demonstrated a gradient with a probability value p<0.05 were considered to be responsive to AFO-FC alignment change. The coefficient of determination ( $r^2$ ) describes the proportion of variance in common between the two variables. An  $r^2$  value closer to 1.00 indicates a stronger relationship between RMS difference (representing change in knee moment) and wedge size.

The same statistical calculations were performed for each limb across these three analyses (midstance, all of stance phase and single point). The number of limbs considered to be responsive using each of these methods was calculated and summary statistics (average and standard deviation) generated for the RMS difference values, gradient and standard error according to each group (type of AFO) and sub-group (type of gait pattern). Both limbs from the diplegic children were included in the analysis.

In order to test whether these three analyses produced similar results in terms of responsiveness, the LINEST function was again used to calculate a line of best fit and coefficient of determination on the individual gradients calculated using the mid-stance and stance phase analyses, and the mid-stance and single point analyses. From the coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) the correlation coefficient (r) was calculated. Because gradient is essentially a measure of sensitivity to AFO-FC alignment change a larger correlation coefficient (r) (indicating strength of relationship) and thus also a larger coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) (indicating variability explained by the relationship) provides an indication of whether the different analysis techniques provide essentially the same or different outcomes.

### 6.2.2.3 The effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait

### 6.2.2.3.1 Parameter selection

It was hypothesised that knee kinetics would demonstrate systematic change across all limbs as a result of increased wedge size, whereby peak knee flexion moment would increase and peak knee extension moment would decrease. It was also hypothesised that peak knee flexion and knee extension angle, the first and second peak dorsiflexion moment and tibial projection angle would change systematically in particular subsets of limbs, based on the pattern of knee kinematics. This group of variables were called the 'probable response variables'. Changes to hip kinematics, kinetics and femur projections, peak knee flexion angle in swing and temporospatial variables were also examined though a systematic effect of AFO alignment on these variables' was not hypothesized. This group of variables were called the 'possible response variables'.

Therefore, variables included in this analysis were peak knee flexion moment in early stance, peak knee extension moment, peak knee flexion angle in early stance, peak knee extension angle, tibial incline in early stance, peak tibial incline, first dorsiflexion moment, second dorsiflexion moment (Figure 6.1); as well as hip flexion at initial contact, peak hip extension angle, peak hip flexion moment, peak hip extension moment, recline of femur at initial contact and peak femur incline (Figure 6.2Figure 6.1). All variables were in the sagittal plane. All kinetic data refers to external joint moments. Average walking velocity, cadence and stride length were also calculated for each patient.

All variables with one exception (tibial projection angles) were either peak values or a measure obtained at a specific point in the cycle, e.g. initial contact. The following definitions were used to calculate the probable response variables according to one normalised gait cycle: peak knee flexion moment (maximum 0-40%); peak knee extension moment (minimum 10-60%); peak knee flexion angle (maximum 0-40%); peak knee extension angle (minimum 10-60%); 1<sup>st</sup> peak dorsiflexion moment (maximum 0-30%); 2<sup>nd</sup> peak dorsiflexion moment (maximum 0-100%); peak knee is not characterised by a peak value

nor do consistent patterns of change occur at a single point of the gait cycle. Therefore, changes in this variable were illustrated by calculating the average difference between the flat (baseline) condition and the small, medium and large wedges across 10-30% gait cycle, as this is the period where these changes were observed to occur most consistently. This calculation provides a single positive or negative value representing average difference but does not account for the variety of patterns of changes seen across individuals. The following definitions were used to calculate each possible response variable according to one normalised gait cycle: hip flexion at initial contact (angle at 0%); peak hip extension angle (minimum 0-100%); peak hip flexion moment (maximum 0-100%); peak hip extension moment (minimum 0-100%); recline of femur at initial contact (angle at 0%); peak femur incline (maximum 0-100%) and peak knee flexion in swing (maximum 50-100%). Data depicting the changes in each individual limb are listed in Appendix E.



Figure 6.1 Probable response variables (hypothesised to demonstrate systematic changes across all limbs or a subset of limbs).



Figure 6.2 Possible response variables (hypothesised to demonstrate non-systematic changes with wedge size). All kinetic variables refer to external joint moments.

### 6.2.2.3.2 Statistical analysis

To determine whether increasing wedge size produced systematic change across all of the variables of interest, the change ( $\Delta$ ) in each variable from the baseline (flat) condition was calculated for each limb. Positive change indicate a positive value such as peak knee flexion moment getting larger with increased wedge size, or a negative value such as peak knee extension moment getting smaller; whereas a negative change indicate a positive value getting smaller or a negative value getting larger. Systematic change was defined as a sequence whereby each difference was either consistently larger or smaller than the one preceding it, thus resulting in a trend away from baseline.

The common sub-groups of both the hinged and solid AFO group showed consistent systematic changes and therefore these data were combined to calculate a group average. Statistical analyses were performed on this data for the hinged and solid AFO group separately. Tests of normality were conducted on all data using the Shapiro – Wilks test of normality, which is appropriate for samples of n<50 where a result of p<0.05 indicates significantly non-normal data. As 25/28 data sets relating to the probable response variables were found not to have significantly non-normal distribution, parametric tests were used to analyse the data. The results of the normality tests are listed in Appendix F.
A one way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed on the group of seven probable response variables, separately for the solid and hinged AFO group. Bonferroni corrections for multiple comparisons were applied resulting in a significance level of  $\alpha$ =(0.05/7) = 0.0071. If a significant main effect of wedge size was found, post hoc tests (least significant difference) were conducted to determine significance of pairwise comparisons. Bonferroni corrections were applied according to six pairwise comparisons resulting in a significance level of  $\alpha$ = (0.05/6) = 0.0083. A one way repeated measures ANOVA with the same Bonferroni corrections was also performed on the possible response variables.

Finally, a two way repeated measures ANOVA (effect of wedge size and group) was performed on all variables for the combined group to determine whether the hinged and solid AFO groups had significantly differently responses to the change in AFO alignment. The same Bonferroni corrections were applied according to the previous analysis. Results were presented for the main effect of group and wedge size, as well as the wedge\*group interaction. Post-hoc testing on significant interaction effects were conducted using independent samples t-tests, p<0.05 (no Bonferroni correction).

## 6.3 Results

### 6.3.1 Participants

While 20 children were included in this study, data from only 19 were used in this analysis and the analysis described in Chapter 7. Data from one participant (HAHA) was excluded due to an insufficient number of trials across all four AFO-FC conditions. This resulted in the solid AFO group comprising 11 limbs belonging to six children, and the hinged AFO group comprising 15 limbs belonging to 14 children, with one child (LIRI) contributing one limb to each group. Participant details are listed in Table 5.1 of Chapter 5.

### 6.3.2 Sub-groups according to knee kinematic pattern

### 6.3.2.1 a) Solid AFOs

Figure 6.3 presents the average traces for joint kinematics, joint kinetics and segment kinematic patterns for the ankle, knee and hip for the limbs in the solid AFO group for the baseline (flat) condition. Based on patterns distinguishable in knee kinematics, seven limbs were classified as 'common' (grey) as they all demonstrated similar knee kinematics. Four limbs were distinctly different (black). Two of these demonstrated a flexed pattern throughout the entire gait cycle (JABU-L-R; solid black) while two (DEHA-L-R; black dots) demonstrated excessive knee flexion in early stance, full knee extension and limited knee flexion in swing. Because of the differences in patterns demonstrated in these limbs, for the remainder of this analysis they were considered as individuals that were part of the 'variant' group.

The common group demonstrated relatively consistent patterns across all other variables, however two limbs (MAHO-L-R) demonstrated a lack of hip extension moment throughout late stance and increased knee flexion moments in early stance. The variant limbs (JABU and DEHA) both demonstrated increased peak knee flexion moment in early stance, minimal or no external knee extension moments in mid-late stance and increased tibial angle in early stance. Hip flexion angle and peak femur recline angle at initial contact was increased in DEHA but not JABU. All limbs demonstrated a double bump ankle kinetic pattern though in the variant limbs these were more severe. The variant limbs also produced the most dorsiflexion in the solid AFOs.

## 6.3.2.2 b) Hinged AFOs

Figure 6.4 presents the average traces for joint kinematic, kinetic and segment kinematic patterns for the baseline (flat) condition for all limbs in the hinged AFO group. The majority of limbs (13) demonstrated full or near full knee extension in late stance and were classified as 'common', with the remaining two limbs considered to be 'variants' as one demonstrated considerably more extension than the others (JOBA; black dash) and one limb (JANI; solid black) demonstrated a distinctly flexed pattern.

The common group demonstrated reasonable consistency across other variables although some limbs demonstrated increased knee flexion moment and some larger knee extension moments. One limb had limited knee flexion in swing (TIIR) and one limb demonstrated increased hip extension angle (HAGO). The flexed limb in the variant group (JANI) demonstrated increased hip flexion, increased hip flexion moment and decreased hip extension moment, a diminished second dorsiflexion moment peak, a more inclined femur and tibia but a less inclined foot position. The extended limb in the variant group (JOBA) demonstrated reduced peak knee flexion moment, increased peak knee extension moment, reduced femur recline at initial contact and increased peak incline, decreased tibial projection angle, no first dorsiflexion peak and reduced ankle dorsiflexion. The majority of limbs demonstrated excessive dorsiflexion.



Figure 6.3 Average joint kinematics, kinetics and segment kinematics across the gait cycle for the baseline (flat) condition for each limb in the solid AFO group. Grey = common group; black = variant limbs; yellow = average ± 1SD for able bodied children (normal data provided by the Hugh Williamson Gait Laboratory, The Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, Australia).



Figure 6.4 Average joint kinematics, kinetics and segment kinematics across the gait cycle for the baseline (flat) condition for each limb in the hinged AFO group. Grey =common group; black = variant limbs; yellow = average ±1SD for able bodied children (normal data provided by the Hugh Williamson Gait Laboratory, The Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, Australia).

# 6.3.3 Responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change

Figure 6.5 presents the RMS difference in knee moment over mid-stance and over all of stance phase, and difference in knee moment at 30% gait cycle for all limbs in the solid and hinged AFO groups. The RMS values, coefficients of determination ( $r^2$ ), gradient and significance level are presented in Table 6.1 and Table 6.2.

# 6.3.3.1 RMS difference over mid-stance

Using the RMS difference calculation over mid-stance, all limbs but one in each group demonstrated systematic increases in RMS difference in knee kinetics, whereby each increase in wedge size resulted in corresponding increase in RMS difference. In the solid AFO group, DEHA-L demonstrated small changes overall with the medium wedge producing smaller change than the small wedge. In the hinged AFO group, LIKE demonstrated systematic change in the small and medium wedges, but not in the large wedge. Coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) values were close to 1.00 for the majority of limbs, with smaller values for the two limbs which did not demonstrate systematic change. All limbs that demonstrated a systematic increase in RMS difference with wedge size also had statistically significant correlations (p<0.05), and therefore 10/11 limbs in the solid AFO group and 14/15 in the hinged AFO group were classified as responsive by this criteria.

The size of change in knee moment varied across limbs within and between these two groups. The solid AFO group showed larger differences and greater variability than the hinged AFO group. This was reflected in the larger average and range of gradients in the solid AFO group (average 0.60, range 0.15-0.91 Nm/kg/degree), compared to the hinged group (average 0.41, range 0.31-0.61 Nm/kg/degree). In the solid AFO group, the common sub-group (average gradient 0.73 Nm/kg/degree) were more responsive than the variants (0.38 Nm/kg/degree). In the hinged AFO group the variant limb with a more extended pattern (JOBA; gradient 0.53 Nm/kg/degree) and the common sub-group (average gradient of 0.41 Nm/kg/degree) were slightly more responsive than the variant limb with a more flexed pattern (JANI; gradient of 0.31Nm/kg/degree).



Figure 6.5 RMS difference between the baseline (flat) condition and the small (5°), medium (10°), and large wedge (15°) across 10-30% GC and all of stance phase, and difference at 30% GC for the solid and hinged AFO groups. A point 'zero' is included for comparative purposes. Grey = common group; black = variant limbs.

RMS difference in knee moments – solid AFOs

dno	Limb	RMS	dif. Mid-	stance					RMS d	if. Stance	phase					Differe	ence at 30	% GC				
Sub-gr	Limb	Flat- small	Flat- med	Flat- Large	r²	G	SE	p	Flat- small	Flat- med	Flat- Large	r²	G	SE	p	Flat- small	Flat- med	Flat- Large	r²	G	SE	Ρ
	JODA-L	5.20	6.81	8.91	0.93	0.57	0.11	0.038	3.19	4.20	5.80	0.94	0.37	0.06	0.029	2.90	4.15	8.25	0.96	0.52	0.07	0.020
	JODA-R	2.40	6.46	10.14	0.99	0.69	0.05	0.005	1.62	3.87	6.31	0.90	0.42	0.03	0.004	0.18	2.75	5.06	0.91	0.36	0.08	0.044
u	JOTH-L	5.93	10.5	13.59	0.98	0.91	0.09	0.010	3.62	6.43	8.22	0.98	0.55	0.06	0.011	1.94	3.81	7.08	0.98	0.46	0.05	0.010
mmo	JOTH-R	7.95	11.7	13.98	0.92	0.91	0.18	0.038	5.03	7.11	8.52	0.91	0.55	0.12	0.041	1.87	2.41	6.57	0.89	0.41	0.10	0.057
ပိ	LIRI-L	2.88	7.11	9.44	0.99	0.65	0.05	0.006	2.01	4.54	6.21	0.99	0.42	0.02	0.003	0.92	3.70	6.53	0.96	0.45	0.07	0.021
	MAHO-L	4.35	7.72	10.01	0.98	0.67	0.07	0.009	2.90	5.20	6.56	0.98	0.44	0.05	0.012	0.12	1.80	4.26	0.88	0.29	0.07	0.061
	MAHO-R	5.48	9.72	10.42	0.91	0.71	0.15	0.044	3.65	6.04	6.96	0.94	0.47	0.09	0.033	0.11	4.69	7.40	0.91	0.54	0.12	0.048
Si ave	ub-group erage (SD)	4.88 (1.89)	8.58 (2.07)	10.93 (2.02)	0.96 (0.03)	0.73 (0.1)	0.1 (0.05)	0.02 (0.02)	3.15 (1.1)	5.34 (1.22)	6.94 (1.0)	0.95 (0.04)	0.46 (0.07)	0.06 (0.03)	0.02 (0.02)	1.15 (1.1)	3.33 (1.0)	6.45 (1.4)	0.93 (0.04)	0.43 (0.1)	0.08 (0.02)	0.04 (0.02)
	DEHA-L	2.23	2.21	2.57	0.71	0.15	0.07	0.159	1.63	2.08	3.34	0.96	0.21	0.03	0.021	1.63	2.56	3.76	0.99	0.24	0.02	0.006
ant	DEHA-R	4.28	4.97	6.81	0.90	0.42	0.10	0.054	2.71	3.55	4.84	0.94	0.31	0.06	0.031	1.84	4.30	5.54	0.99	0.38	0.03	0.007
Vari	JABU-L	2.33	4.75	7.72	1.00	0.51	0.02	0.002	2.37	3.26	5.73	0.97	0.36	0.04	0.014	0.48	3.21	5.64	0.94	0.39	0.07	0.031
	JABU-R	0.81	3.16	6.79	0.93	0.45	0.09	0.036	0.62	2.34	4.93	0.93	0.33	0.06	0.034	0.78	2.08	5.69	0.89	0.37	0.09	0.059
Si ave	ub-group erage (SD)	2.41 (1.43)	3.77 (1.32)	5.97 (2.31)	0.88 (0.12)	0.38 (0.16)	0.07 (0.04)	0.06 (0.07)	1.83 (0.9)	2.81 (0.71)	4.71 (1.0)	0.95 (0.02)	0.30 (0.07)	0.05 (0.02)	0.03 (0.01)	1.18 (0.66)	3.04 (0.96)	5.16 (0.93)	0.95 (0.05)	0.35 (0.07)	0.05 (0.03)	0.03 (0.02)
Av	erage (SD)	3.99 (2.08)	6.83 (3.00)	9.13 (3.21)	0.93	0.60	0.09	0.04	2.67	4.42	6.13 (1.5)	0.95	0.40	0.06	0.02	1.16	3.22 (0.97)	5.98 (1.35)	0.94	0.40	0.07	0.03

Table 6.1 RMS difference in knee kinetics across mid-stance and all of stance phase and difference at 30% gait cycle, along with coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>), G=gradient (Nm/kg/degree), standard error (SE) of gradient, and significance (p) values for all limbs in the solid AFO group. Data significant at a p<0.05 is highlighted in bold.

RMS difference in knee moments - hinged AFOs

							L															
dn		RM	S dif. mids	tance					RMS	dif. stance	phase					Diffe	rence at 30	0% GC				
Subgro	Limb	Flat- small	Flat- med	Flat- large	r²	G	SE	p	Flat- small	Flat- med	Flat- large	r²	G	SE	p	Flat- small	Flat- med	Flat- large	r²	G	SE	p
	ACBE	2.16	5.90	8.97	0.99	0.61	0.04	0.005	1.43	3.69	5.70	0.99	0.39	0.02	0.004	0.06	3.08	5.14	0.91	0.37	0.08	0.048
	ALBR	1.78	3.10	5.36	0.99	0.35	0.02	0.005	1.14	2.31	3.82	1.00	0.25	0.01	0.002	0.50	3.52	5.86	0.94	0.41	0.07	0.031
	CHJE	2.87	3.80	5.08	0.94	0.32	0.06	0.033	1.79	2.59	3.97	0.98	0.25	0.03	0.010	1.38	1.61	5.89	0.82	0.36	0.12	0.093
	DEFO	2.12	3.58	7.44	0.96	0.48	0.07	0.021	1.92	3.38	4.92	1.00	0.32	0.01	0.002	0.68	3.44	3.98	0.92	0.06	0.04	0.040
	HAGO	1.59	4.67	5.57	0.96	0.40	0.06	0.020	1.35	2.93	4.00	0.99	0.27	0.01	0.003	0.79	1.48	4.50	0.87	0.28	0.08	0.069
Ę	JORI - L	4.01	6.71	8.66	0.97	0.47	0.04	0.013	2.66	4.28	5.53	0.97	0.36	0.05	0.015	1.60	4.24	6.26	0.99	0.43	0.03	0.004
mmc	JORI - R	0.88	3.71	5.30	0.97	0.37	0.05	0.018	1.45	2.62	3.54	0.99	0.24	0.02	0.005	0.96	3.53	5.60	0.97	0.39	0.05	0.014
ပိ	LIEM	2.94	3.76	8.07	0.94	0.50	0.09	0.031	2.30	2.59	5.92	0.91	0.36	0.08	0.044	2.92	3.78	8.88	0.92	0.55	0.11	0.040
	LIKE	3.46	6.11	5.17	0.76	0.36	0.14	0.129	2.23	4.05	3.51	0.78	0.25	0.09	0.116	1.69	4.94	5.41	0.94	0.39	0.07	0.033
	LIRI-R	2.80	4.22	4.92	0.92	0.31	0.07	0.040	1.69	2.47	3.02	0.93	0.20	0.04	0.034	0.64	1.58	2.88	0.98	0.19	0.02	0.012
	ROHI	2.76	3.99	5.46	0.96	0.35	0.05	0.018	2.18	2.95	4.58	0.97	0.29	0.04	0.015	1.73	3.39	5.84	0.99	0.38	0.03	0.005
	TACA	1.92	4.00	5.92	1.00	0.40	0.00	0.000	1.20	2.49	4.08	1.00	0.27	0.01	0.002	0.54	1.83	4.69	0.90	0.31	0.07	0.054
	TIIR	1.42	4.00	6.75	0.98	0.46	0.04	0.009	1.24	2.81	4.56	0.99	0.31	0.02	0.003	0.25	1.17	3.47	0.86	0.23	0.07	0.075
Su	b-group	2.36	4.43	6.36	0.95	0.41	0.06	0.03	1.74	3.01	4.40	0.96	0.29	0.03	0.02	1.06	2.89	5.26	0.92	0.35	0.06	0.04
ave	rage (SD)	(0.87)	(1.11)	(1.45)	(0.06)	(0.09)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(2.33)	(3.66)	(4.3)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.8)	(1.2)	(1.5)	(0.05)	(0.12)	(0.03)	(0.03)
iani	JANI	1.67	3.40	4.64	1.00	0.31	0.02	0.002	2.01	2.96	3.34	0.90	0.22	0.05	0.052	2.06	3.03	4.18	0.97	0.27	0.03	0.015
Vai	JOBA	4.32	6.84	8.07	0.94	0.53	0.10	0.032	2.65	4.35	5.25	0.95	0.35	0.06	0.024	2.31	4.42	6.16	1.00	0.41	0.02	0.002
Su	b-group	3.00	5.12	6.36	0.97	0.42	0.06	0.02	2.33	3.66	4.30	0.93	0.29	0.06	0.04	2.19	3.73	5.17	0.98	0.34	0.03	0.03
ave (	Group verage	2.45 (0.98)	4.52 (1.24)	6.36 (1.49)	0.95	0.41 (0.09)	0.06 (0.03)	0.03 (0.03)	(0.43) 1.82 (0.51)	3.10 (0.69)	4.38 (0.91)	0.96	0.29	0.04 (0.03)	0.02 (0.03)	1.21 (0.83)	3.00 (1.1)	5.25 (1.43)	0.93 (0.05)	0.33 (0.1)	0.06 (0.03)	0.04 (0.03)

Table 6.2 RMS difference in knee kinetics across mid-stance and all of stance phase, and difference at 30% gait cycle, along with coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>), gradient (Nm/kg/degree), standard error (SE) of gradient, and significance (p) values for all limbs in the solid AFO group. Data significant at a p<0.05 is highlighted in bold.

## 6.3.3.2 RMS difference over stance phase

When the RMS difference was calculated over all of stance phase, there were similar systematic increases in both the solid and hinged AFO groups, although the values were smaller and more consistent across conditions and limbs compared to the mid-stance analysis (refer to Figure 6.5). In the solid AFO group the average gradient was reduced to 0.40Nm/kg/degree, with a smaller range of 0.21-0.55 Nm/kg/degree, and in the hinged group the average was reduced to 0.29Nm/kg/degree, also with a smaller range 0.20-0.39 Nm/kg/degree (refer to Table 6.1 and Table 6.2). In the solid AFO group the common sub-group was still more responsive than the variant limbs, and in the hinged AFO group the extended variant limb (JOBA) was more responsive than the majority of the common subgroup, which were more responsive than the flexed variant limb (JANI). All limbs in the solid AFO group and 13/15 limbs in the hinged AFO group demonstrated significant results and were thus classified as responsive by this criteria. The two non-responsive limbs were LIKE, which did not demonstrate systematic change, and JANI, the flexed variant limb. LIKE was also classified as non-responsive according to the mid-stance analysis, whereas JANI was classified as responsive.

### 6.3.3.3 Difference at 30% gait cycle

When difference in knee moment was calculated at a single point at 30% of the gait cycle, there was a loss of sensitivity to change between the flat and small wedge in many limbs. In the solid AFO group the overall effect was to produce more consistent changes of smaller value whereas in the hinged group the effect was the opposite with more variable changes of large values, compared to the stance phase calculation. In both AFO groups there was little difference in responsiveness based on gait pattern. Only 9/11 limbs in the solid AFO group and 11/15 limbs in the hinged AFO group were statistically significant and therefore classified as responsive by this criteria.

### 6.3.3.4 Relationship between analyses

Scatterplots of the gradients produced by the mid-stance analysis compared to the stance phase and single point analyses are presented in Figure 6.6, along with the gradient and coefficient of determination of the regression. The correlation coefficient (r) and coefficient of determination ( $r^2$ ) of these relationships are presented in Table 6.3.

The results revealed a strong positive relationship and therefore good agreement between data calculated using the mid-stance and stance phase analyses for both the solid and hinged AFO groups. High coefficient of determination ( $r^2$ ) values suggest that 98% and 78% of variability within the data set is explained by this relationship, for the solid and hinged groups respectively. However when the mid-stance analysis is compared to the single point analysis, there is only a

weak (r=0.58) to no relationship (r=0.18) between the data for the solid and hinged AFO groups respectively, suggesting poor agreement between these two methods of calculating responsiveness.

	Mid-sta	ance vs	Mid-stance vs						
	stance	phase	30% gait cycle						
	r	r²	R	r <sup>2</sup>					
solid	0.99	0.98	0.53	0.28					
hinged	0.88	0.78	0.18	0.03					

Table 6.3 Correlation coefficient (r) and coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) for the solid and hinged AFO groups for the comparisons of the mid-stance analysis with the stance phase and single point analysis.



Figure 6.6 Scatterplot and line of best fit for gradient according to the mid-stance and stance phase analysis, and the mid-stance and 30% gait cycle analysis, including the coefficient of determination ( $r^2$ ) and gradient.

## 6.3.4 Effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait

The following section summarises the effect of increasing wedge size on a range of gait parameters within the solid and the hinged AFO groups. Within each AFO group the analysis is divided into 'individual' results and 'sub-group' results. The individual results comprise the change in each of the probable response variables and possible response variables, which represent gait characteristics occurring over the entire gait cycle, between the flat and small, medium and large wedges for all limbs as well as the temporospatial results presented as absolute values. A summary table presenting the overall effect of wedge size on inducing systematic alignment changes concludes each individual section. This is followed by the average traces and parameters for the common sub-groups. The individual gait traces demonstrating the change due to each wedge size across all parameters are listed in Appendix E.

### 6.3.4.1 Solid AFOs

The change in each gait parameter between the flat, small, medium and large wedges for all limbs in the solid AFO group is presented in Figure 6.7, with the temporospatial results presented in Figure 6.8. In these figures, a value of zero indicates that the wedges induced no change in this parameter when compared to the baseline (zero degree SVA) condition. For a positive variable, for example peak (external) knee flexion moment, an increase in the difference between each condition and baseline indicates a larger knee flexion moment. For a negative value, for example peak (external) knee extension moment, an increase in the difference between each condition indicates a reduction in knee extension moment. The systematic changes observed in all parameters are summarised in Table 6.4.

Increasing wedge size tended to increase peak knee flexion moment and decrease peak knee extension moment across the majority of limbs. However, a plateau effect was seen in peak knee flexion moment in several limbs, all of which demonstrated substantially greater peak knee flexion moment compared to normal values, in early stance in the baseline condition. Increased wedge size resulted in increased peak knee flexion angle and decreased peak knee extension angle in stance across most limbs. However in one of the variant limbs, peak knee flexion reduced with increased wedge size. Tibial projection angle tended to increase in limbs in the common sub-group, but tended to decrease in the variant limbs, but these results, as measured by the average difference over 10-30% gait cycle, were not systematic. Peak tibial projection angle decreased across most limbs but systematically in only a handful. The first peak dorsiflexion moment was reduced in all limbs in the variant sub-group and some limbs in the common group. The second dorsiflexion moment peak was reduced systematically across all limbs, but by a smaller amount. The effect of wedge size on hip kinematics and kinetics and femur projection angles was variable, as was the effect on temporospatial variables (Figure 6.8).



Figure 6.7 Change (Δ) in variables between the flat wedge and the small, medium and large wedges for all limbs in the solid AFO group. Grey = common sub-group; black = variant limbs.



Figure 6.8 Individual average walking velocity, cadence and stride length across conditions for the solid AFO group.

		SUMN	IARY TABLE	– SOLID AFOs
	Variable	Number de systemat	monstrating c changes	Additional information
		Common n=7 limbs	Variant n=4 limbs	
	Peak knee flexion moment	个6*	个3#	<ul> <li>*# In 3 (*) and 1(#) of these limbs there was a plateau effect with no further increase after the small or medium wedges</li> <li>* In the remaining limb there were systematic changes only in the medium and large wedges</li> </ul>
	Peak knee extension moment	↓7	√4#	#The changes were systematic only after the small wedge
se variables	Peak knee flexion angle (stance)	个6*	个2#	*In the remaining limb the large wedge produced slightly smaller angles than the medium wedge. #The remaining limbs produced reduced angles but were not systematic
espon	Peak knee extension angle	√5*	↓1#	*#In the two (*) and three (#) remaining limbs the changes were systematic after the small wedge
Probable r	Tibial projection angle RMS difference 10- 30% GC	个2*	√0#	*In the remaining limbs there were non-systematic increases #In the four remaining limbs there were non- systematic reductions
	Peak tibial projection angle	↓2	↓4	
-	first peak dorsiflexion moment	↓2*	√4	*In one of these limbs this first peak was completely eliminated by the medium wedge
	second peak dorsiflexion moment	↓7	√3#	# In the one remaining limb the small wedge caused an increase before systematically reducing
	Peak knee flexion angle (swing)	√3	$\downarrow$ 1	
	Hip flexion angle at initial contact	个2	↓0#	#Three other limbs demonstrated non-systematic reductions
5	Peak hip extension angle	↓1*	↓1#	*#Other limbs demonstrated non-systematic increases
riable	Peak hip flexion moment	↓1	$\downarrow$ 1	
nse va	Peak hip extension moment	Variable	Variable	
respoi	Femur recline at initial contact	个5	0	
ole	Peak femur incline	↓4	↓1	
Possił		n=4 children	n=2 children	
	Walking velocity	Variable	Variable	The variant limbs demonstrate less change than the common limbs
	Cadence	Variable	Variable	
	Stride length	Variable*	Variable#	The variant limbs demonstrate less change than the common limbs, with a trend toward increasing stride length with increased wedge size

Table 6.4 Summary of systematic changes seen across the common and variant sub-groups of the solid AFO group.

# 6.3.4.2 Average 'common' solid AFO sub-group

Figure 6.9 presents the average traces for each condition across all parameters for the common solid AFO sub-group. The average peak values are reported in Table 6.5 and presented in Figure **6.10**. On average, increasing wedge size by 5° resulted in increased peak knee flexion moment by approximately 2Nm/kg, and resulted in decreased peak knee extension moment by approximately the same amount. Every 5° increase in wedge size increased peak knee flexion in stance by approximately 4-5°, whereas peak knee extension angle was increased by an average of 3° in small wedges, and 7° in large wedges. The total reduction in knee flexion angle in swing was approximately 8°, in peak tibial incline was approximately 5°, in first dorsiflexion moment by approximately 4-5 Nm/kg and in second dorsiflexion moment by 2-3 Nm/kg. Peak hip flexion moment reduced by approximately 3Nm/kg whereas peak hip extension moment was largely unaffected. Both femur recline at initial contact and peak recline were increased and decreased respectively, by approximately 7° over the total range of wedge sizes, whereas hip flexion angle at initial contact and peak hip extension angle were increased respectively by approximately 4° in total.

Shapiro-Wilks tests of normality revealed all parameters with one exception were normally distributed (listed in Appendix F). The one-way repeated measure ANOVA revealed a significant effect of condition (wedge size) in all of the probable response variables; peak knee flexion moment [F(3, 18)=21.015,p=0.000], peak knee extension moment [F(3, 18)=66.080, p=0.000], peak knee flexion angle [F(3, 18)=21.382, p=0.000], peak knee extension angle [F(3, 180=21.533, p=0.000], peak tibial projection angle [F(3, 18)=12.713, p=0.000], first peak dorsiflexion moment [F(3, 18)=6.985, p=0.003] and second peak dorsiflexion moment F(3, 18=15.192, p=0.000], at an adjusted  $\alpha$  level of 0.0071. Post hoc tests identified significant differences between a number of wedges across these variables at the adjusted post-hoc  $\alpha$  level of 0.0083. Five of these were significant for 5° changes in wedge size with the remainder significant for 10° and 15° level wedge size changes.

A one-way repeated measures ANOVA was also conducted on the possible response variables, using the same Bonferroni corrections for multiple comparisons. Significant main effects were found in two of seven gait parameters; femur recline at initial contact [F(3, 18)=28.004, p=0.000] and peak femur incline [F(3, 18)=12.597, p=0.000]. Post hoc tests revealed significant pairwise comparisons for changes in wedge size of 5°, 10° and 15° for femur recline at initial contact, and for changes in wedge size of 10° and 15° for peak femur incline. No significant main effects were found in the temporospatial parameters. Any data that violated Mauchly's test of sphericity were analysed using the Greenhouse-Geisser correction. These data are presented in Table 6.5 and Figure 6.10.



Figure 6.9 Average gait traces for each condition for the common solid AFO sub-group. Grey band indicates average ±1SD normal values for able bodied children.



Figure 6.10 Average values ± 1SD for each condition for the common solid AFO sub-group. Moments are measured in Nmm/kg with positive values reflecting external flexion moments; joint kinematics are measured in degrees with positive values reflecting flexion and negative values reflecting extension; projection angles are measured in degrees with positive values reflecting flexion at a p<0.0083 level are indicated in brackets.

# STATISTICAL RESULTS FOR THE AVERAGE 'COMMON' SUB-GROUP - SOLID AFOS

								One way repeated measures			Post hoc tests (Bonferroni correction, p<0.0083)							
'Common' solid AFO sub-group		Aver	age			Standard	Deviatio	n	ANOV correct	A (Bonferr ion, p<0.0	oni 071)	flat- small	flat- med	flat- large	small- med	small- large	med- large	
0 1	flat	small	med	large	flat	small	med	large	DF	F	sig	(5)	(10)	(15)	(5)	(10)	(5)	
peak knee flexion moment	6.33	8.16	10.74	11.97	3.48	3.29	2.78	1.44	3, 18	21.01 5	0.000	0.017	0.000	0.001	0.003	0.014	0.177	
peak knee extension	-5.9	-3.69	-1.71	-0.09	1.41	0.91	1.03	1.12	3, 18	66.08 0	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.001	
peak knee flexion angle (stance)	26.47	30.88	35.13	41.1	4.41	5.85	6.92	3.95	3, 18	21.38 2	0.000	0.028	0.002	0.000	0.016	0.002	0.065	
peak knee extension angle	1.67	3.68	8.69	15.09	4.2	6.23	5.95	9.34	3, 18	21.53 3	0.000	0.105	0.009	0.001	0.038	0.000	0.032	
peak tibial incline	60.2	56.17	55.06	54.65	3.1	4.13	3.57	2.59	3, 18	12.71 3	0.000	0.032	0.000	0.001	0.282	0.195	0.600	
first peak dorsiflexion moment	11.01	7.32	5.89	6.91	1.83	2.12	2.79	3.97	3, 18	6.985	0.003	0.001	0.010	0.017	0.287	0.758	0.455	
second peak dorsiflexion moment	12.98	12.58	11.56	10.71	1.11	0.95	0.81	1.33	3, 18	15.19 2	0.000	0.202	0.000	0. <b>002</b>	0.023	0.018	0.030	
peak knee flexion angle (swing)	61.26	55.90	53.04	53.09	5.07	5.70	5.51	5.93	10.490, 1.748	6.528	0.017							
peak hip flexion moment	10.51	8.16	8.90	7.36	5.06	2.77	3.11	2.45	6.718, 1.12	3.580	0.100							
peak hip extension	-6.56	-6.15	-6.55	-6.15	4.24	3.98	3.84	4.14	3, 18	1.730	0.197							
femur recline at initial contact	25.51	29.06	31.51	32.44	6.09	6.23	6.56	6.52	3, 18	28.00 4	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.003	0.022	0.211	
peak femur incline	-22.30	-21.50	-17.60	-15.50	3.32	4.00	5.76	6.14	3, 18	12.59 7	0.000	0.298	0.011	0.001	0.070	0.006	0.095	
hip flexion angle at initial contact	38.87	40.62	42.77	42.01	5.80	5.78	7.26	7.96	3, 18	3.556	0.035							
peak hip extension angle	-7.80	-8.49	-6.54	-5.99	3.37	4.09	4.54	4.67	3, 18	3.789	0.029							
Walking velocity (m/s)	1.22	1.19	1.29	1.18	0.20	0.16	0.19	0.18	3, 18	0.422	0.742							
Cadence (steps/min)	128	125	131	131	9.84	8.98	13.03	1.41	3, 18	0.438	0.732							
Stride length (cm)	1.15	1.15	1.17	1.07	0.13	0.15	0.08	0.16	3, 18	0.775	0.537							

Table 6.5 Average and standard deviations of values for parameters of interest for the common solid AFO sub-group. Moments are expressed in Nm/kg, angles in degrees. Significant main effects at p<0.0071 indicated in bold (and post-hoc tests only conducted on these), significant pairwise comparisons at p<0.0083 indicated in bold.

# 6.3.4.3 Hinged AFOs

The change in each gait parameter between the flat, small, medium and large wedges for all limbs in the hinged AFO group is presented in Figure 6.11 with the temporospatial results presented in Figure 6.12. The systematic changes observed in gait variables are summarised in Table 6.6.

Increasing wedge size tended to increase peak knee flexion moment and angle and decrease peak knee extension moment and angle, although the systematic effects were more consistent on peak knee extension moment and angle. The effect on tibial projection angles was variable. The first and second peak dorsiflexion moments were reduced in approximately half of the limbs. The effect of wedge size on hip kinematics and kinetics was variable, however more than half of the limbs demonstrated changes to femur recline at initial contact and peak femur incline. Peak knee flexion during swing was also reduced in many limbs.

The effect of wedge size on cadence, walking velocity and stride length (Figure 6.12) in the hinged AFO group showed a variety of responses across the group.



Figure 6.11 Change (Δ) in variables between the flat wedge and the small, medium and large wedges for all limbs in the hinged AFO group; and RMS difference over stance phase for tibial projection angles. Grey = common sub-group; black = variant limbs.



Figure 6.12 Individual average cadence, walking velocity and stride length across conditions for the hinged AFO group. NOTE – LIRI is included in both the solid and hinged AFO group as one limb had a solid AFO and one limb had a hinged AFO. Results belonging to the two variant limbs are indicated.

		SUMMARY	TABLE – HI	NGED AFOS
		Number de	monstrating	
	Variable	systemati	ic changes	Additional information
	Valiable	Common	Variant	Additional information
	ſ	n=13 limbs	n=2 limbs	
	Peak knee flexion moment	个5	个1#	#JOBA. JANI demonstrated systematic changes in the medium and large wedges
es	Peak knee extension moment	↓10*	↓1#	*Two other limbs demonstrated systematic changes in the medium and large wedges #JOBA
ariabl	Peak knee flexion angle (stance)	↑8	个1#	#JOBA.
onse v	Peak knee extension angle	↓10	↓1#	#JOBA.
able resp	Tibial projection angle RMS difference 10- 30% GC	<b>↑</b> 2, ↓2	↓1	#JOBA.
Prob	Peak tibial projection angle	√3	0	In many other limbs there were reductions but these were not systematic
	first peak dorsiflexion moment	↓7	↓1	
	second peak dorsiflexion moment	↓7	0	
	Peak knee flexion angle (swing)	√9	0	
	Hip flexion angle at initial contact	个3*	0	*Several other limbs demonstrated partial systematic changes
	Peak hip extension angle	↓1*	↓1#	*#Other limbs demonstrated non- systematic increases
ables	Peak hip flexion moment	√3	↓2	
ie vari	Peak hip extension moment	1,↓4	↓1	
suodsa	Femur recline at initial contact	个8	1↑2	
e re	Peak femur incline	√7	↓2	
Idiss		n=12 children	n=2 children	
Ро	Walking velocity	Variable	Variable	The variant limbs demonstrate less change than the common limbs
	Cadence	Variable	Variable	
	Stride length	Variable*	Variable#	The variant limbs demonstrate less change than the common limbs, with a trend toward increasing stride length with increased wedge size

Table 6.6 Summary of systematic changes seen across the common and variant sub-groups of the hinged AFO group.

## 6.3.4.4 Average 'common' hinged AFO sub-group

Figure 6.13 presents the average traces in each condition across these variables for the common hinged AFO subgroup. Average gait parameters are presented in Table 6.7 and in Figure 6.14. On average, increasing wedge size by 5° increased peak knee flexion moment by approximately 2Nm/kg which was similar to the solid AFO group, but the reductions in peak knee extension moment were smaller, with approximately 1Nm/kg per 5° increase in wedge size. The changes to knee kinematics were smaller than the solid AFO group with every 5° increase in wedge size increasing peak knee flexion in stance by approximately 1-2° and reducing peak knee extension angle by between 1-3°. Similar to the solid AFO group, the total reduction in knee flexion angle in swing was approximately 8° with peak tibial incline reduced by approximately 5°. The first and second dorsiflexion moment were reduced by approximately 3Nm/kg. Changes to hip moments, hip angles and femur projection angles were smaller than the solid AFO group with peak hip flexion moment reduced by approximately 3Nm/kg whereas peak hip extension moment was largely unaffected. Both femur recline at initial contact and peak recline were increased and decreased respectively, by approximately 4-5° whereas hip flexion angle at initial contact and peak hip extension angle were increased and decreased respectively by approximately 3°.

The one-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed a significant effect of condition (wedge size) in all probable response variables: peak knee flexion moment [F(3,36)=17.477, p=0.000)], peak knee extension moment [F(3, 16)=13.266, p=0.000], peak knee flexion angle in swing [F(3,36)=7.896, p=0.000], peak knee extension angle [F(2.296,27.551)=39.126, p=0.000], peak tibial incline [F(3, 36)=20.313, p=0.000], first peak dorsiflexion moment [F(1.86, 22.32)=15.845,p=0.000) and second peak dorsiflexion moment [F(3,36)=21.376), p=0.000], at an adjusted  $\alpha$  level of 0.0071. Mauchly's test of sphericity was violated in two variables (reported in Appendix F) and so data were analysed using the Greenhouse-Geiser correction and are indicated above by fractional degrees of freedom. Post hoc tests identified significant differences between nine pairs at wedge sizes of 5° as well as several at wedge sizes of 10° and 15°, at an adjusted  $\alpha$  level of p<0.0083.

The one-way repeated measures ANOVA on the possible response variables revealed four significant main effects: peak knee flexion angle in swing [F(1.777, 21.326)=18.252, p=0.000], femur recline at initial contact [F(3,36)=24.675, p=000], peak femur incline [F(1.847, 22.159)=9.832, p=0.001] and hip flexion angle at initial contact [F(2.181, 26.178)=5.875, p=0.007]. Again, where Mauchly's test of sphericity was violated a Greenhouse-Geiser correction was used and these particular tests are indicated by fractional degrees of freedom. Post hoc tests revealed significant pairwise comparisons across 5°, 10° and 15° wedge sizes. Temporospatial results revealed no significant main effects.



Figure 6.13 Average gait traces for each condition for the common hinged AFO sub-group. Grey band indicates average ±1SD normal values for able bodied children.



Figure 6.14 Average values ± 1SD for each condition for the common hinged AFO sub-group. Moments are measured in Nmm/kg with positive values reflecting external flexion moments and negative values external extension moments; joint kinematics are measured in degrees with positive values reflecting flexion and negative values reflecting extension; projection angles are measured in degrees with positive values reflecting recline. Differences significant at a p<0.0083 level are indicated in brackets.

									One way	y repeated n	Post hoc tests (Bonferroni correction, p<0.0083)							
'Common' hinged AFO sub-group		Aver	rage			Standard	Deviation	I	ANOVA (I	Bonferroni c p<0.0071)	orrection,	flat- small	flat- med	flat- large	small- med	small- large	med- large	
	flat	small	med	large	flat	small	med	large	DF	F	sig	(5)	(10)	(15)	(5)	(10)	(5)	
peak knee flexion moment	5.73	7.35	8.17	9.10	2.89	2.60	3.27	2.79	3, 36	17.477	0.000	.000	.000	.000	.089	.009	.237	
peak knee extension	-4.30	-3.78	-2.95	-2.57	1.87	1.33	1.31	1.13	3, 36	13.266	0.000	.104	.001	.002	.001	.001	.237	
peak knee flexion	27.16	28.45	30.91	32.81	11.25	9.67	11.04	8.06	3, 36	7.896	0.000	.207	.004	.005	.015	.004	.379	
peak knee extension	4.67	5.80	8.43	12.82	10.12	9.77	10.81	9.97	2.23,	39.126	0.000	.001	.000	.000	.000	.000	.001	
peak tibial incline	60.11	58.80	56.82	54.41	5.87	7.05	7.12	5.67	3, 36	20.313	0.000	.204	.001	.000	.000	.000	.026	
first peak dorsiflexion	7.47	6.29	4.93	4.43	2.49	2.63	2.42	2.74	1.86,	15.845	0.000	.002	.000	.000	.001	.007	.247	
moment second peak dorsiflexion moment	11.98	11.65	10.69	9.93	1.90	1.96	2.05	2.01	22.32 3, 36	21.376	0.000	.349	.000	.000	.000	.000	.065	
peak knee flexion	66.10	62.41	61.03	58.25	8.31	9.97	10.18	10.63	1.777, 21,326	18.252	0.000	0.151	0.002	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.006	
peak hip flexion	11.52	10.07	9.59	9.00	3.92	3.39	2.95	3.03	2.012,	5.649	0.010							
peak hip extension	-8.60	-9.00	-8.40	-7.63	2.35	2.12	1.99	1.61	1.959,	3.898	0.035							
femur recline at	26.76	28.12	29.93	31.11	5.62	5.36	5.78	4.58	3, 36	24.675	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.195	
peak femur incline	-20.78	-20.21	-18.58	-16.26	6.35	6.85	6.94	6.58	1.847, 22.159	9.832	0.001	0.726	0.035	0.005	0.001	0.001	0.035	
hip flexion angle at	41.62	42.52	44.25	44.55	6.74	5.92	7.28	7.14	2.181,	5.857	0.007	0.005	0.007	0.015	0.054	0.098	0.802	
initial contact peak hip extension angle	-3.27	-3.34	-2.11	-0.57	9.84	8.84	9.26	9.55	1.938, 23.258	3.707	0.041							
Walking velocity (m/s)	1.15	1.25	1.22	1.15	0.15	0.15	0.14	0.13	1.870, 20.565	6.386	0.008							
Cadence (steps/min)	116	121	121	119	11.58	13.29	12.99	9.53	2.018, 22.194	4.597	0.021							
Stride length (cm)	1.19	1.24	1.20	1.14	0.17	0.12	0.12	0.11	1.541, 16.952	3.546	0.062							

# STATISTICAL RESULTS FOR THE AVERAGE 'COMMON' SUB-GROUP - HINGED AFOS

Table 6.7 Average and standard deviations of values for parameters of interest for the common hinged AFO subgroup. Moments are expressed in Nm/kg, angles in degrees. Significant main effects at p<0.0071 indicated in bold, significant pairwise comparisons at p<0.0083 indicated in bold.

# 6.3.4.5 Between group differences

The two-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed a significant effect of condition (wedge size) for the combined group for all variables with one exception; peak hip extension moment (refer to Table 6.8) at an adjusted  $\alpha$  level of 0.0071. No variables had a significant effect of group. Mauchly's test of sphericity was violated in seven variables (data reported in Appendix F) and so data were analysed using the Greenhouse-Geiser correction or Huynh-Feldt adjustment and are indicated in Table 6.8 by fractional degrees of freedom.

A significant Wedge\*Group interaction was found in only two variables; peak knee extension moment [F(3,54)=29.299, p=0.000] and peak knee flexion angle during stance phase [F=(3,54)=7.573, p=0.000]. Independent samples t-test were conducted to determine whether the groups were significantly different at each wedge size. There was a significant difference between groups for peak knee extension moment in the flat [t(18)=3.50, p=0.003], medium [t(18)=-2.496, p=0.023] and large wedges [t(18)=-5.489, p=0.000], and peak knee flexion angle in the large wedge size only [t(18) =-3.13, p=0.001]. Average data for these two variables is presented in Figure 6.15.

		٨٠٠٥			Standard Deviation				Two-way repeated measures ANOVA (p<0.0071)									
Variable		Ave	lage			Stanuaru	Deviation		Eff	ect of Wedg	e	E	ffect of Grou	p	Wedge *	' Group inter	raction	
	flat	Small	Med	large	flat	small	med	large	DF	F	Sig	DF	F	Sig	DF	F	Sig	
Peak knee flexion moment	5.97	7.83	9.25	10.24	2.92	2.65	3.10	2.58	3, 54	39.952	0.000	1, 18	1.658	0.214	3, 54	3.167	0.032	
Peak knee extension moment	-4.55	-3.51	-2.30	-1.56	1.60	0.83	0.88	1.39	3, 54	87.728	0.000	1, 18	0.342	0.566	3, 54	29.299	0.000	
Peak knee flexion angle	26.67	28.92	32.04	34.98	5.91	5.81	7.64	6.80	3, 54	33.133	0.000	1, 18	2.647	0.121	3, 54	7.573	0.000	
Peak knee extension angle	2.84	4.42	7.91	13.16	4.12	5.71	6.20	8.37	1.415, 37.165	40.445	0.000	1,18	0.130	0.910	1.415, 37.165	2.028	0.145	
Peak tibial angle	59.75	57.64	55.75	53.98	5.08	6.26	6.10	4.22	3, 54	26.772	0.000	1, 18	0.026	0.874	3, 54	2.663	0.057	
1st dorsiflexion moment	8.35	6.36	5.08	5.03	2.82	2.43	2.55	3.41	2.734, 49.203	20.419	0.000	1, 18	5.717	0.028	2.734, 49.203	3.094	0.039	
2nd dorsiflexion moment	12.40	12.11	10.97	10.13	1.75	1.64	1.66	1.47	2.03, 36.543	31.962	0.000	1, 18	1.527	0.232	2.03, 36.543	0.049	0.954	
Peak knee flexion swing	64.05	59.84	57.54	55.65	7.71	9.08	9.08	8.97	3, 54	29.762	0.000	1, 18	1.921	0.183	3, 54	1.123	0.336	
Peak hip flexion moment	10.79	9.23	9.28	8.24	3.93	3.17	3.00	2.88	2.025, 36.444	9.092	0.001	1, 18	0.504	0.487	2.025, 36.444	0.633	0.539	
Peak hip extension moment	-7.86	-8.00	-7.75	-7.14	3.13	3.13	2.81	2.80	2.535 <i>,</i> 45.636	2.405	0.089	1, 18	2.512	0.130	2.535 <i>,</i> 45.636	1.941	0.145	
Femur recline at initial contact	26.10	28.26	30.28	31.12	4.81	4.88	5.30	4.59	2.02 <i>,</i> 36.366	56.09	0.000	1, 18	0.221	0.644	2.02 <i>,</i> 36.366	4.418	0.019	
Peak femur incline	-21.25	-20.77	-18.25	-15.97	3.93	4.47	5.30	5.27	3, 54	22.192	0.000	1, 18	0.016	0.900	3, 54	1.405	0.251	
Hip flexion at initial contact	40.16	41.63	43.43	43.02	5.45	5.66	6.94	7.08	2.168, 39.032	9.177	0.000	1, 18	0.278	0.605	2.168, 39.032	0.152	0.875	
Peak hip extension	-5.50	-5.67	-4.27	-3.11	6.42	6.42	6.51	7.53	3, 54	5.578	0.002	1, 18	1.754	0.202	3, 54	0.254	0.858	

Table 6.8 Results of the two-way repeated measures ANOVA for the combined solid and hinged AFO groups. Significant effects are highlighted in bold (p<0.0071).

			Post-hoc a	analysis on	signifi	cant intera	action effects			
		Levene for Equ Varia	e's Test ality of ances			t-te	st for Equality	of Means		
Variable	wedge size	F	Sig	т	df	Sig. (2- tailed)	Mean Difference	Std. Error Difference	95% Con Interva Differ	nfidence I of the rence
									Lower	Upper
	flat	0.771	0.392	3.500	18	0.003	2.08	0.60	0.83	3.33
Peak knee	small	0.036	0.851	0.722	18	0.480	0.29	0.40	-0.55	1.12
moment	med	2.659	0.120	-2.496	18	0.023	-0.91	0.37	-1.68	-0.14
moment	large	0.833	0.374	-5.489	18	0.000	-2.26	0.41	-3.12	-1.39
Peak knee	flat	0.813	0.379	0.103	18	0.919	0.29	2.84	-5.68	6.27
flexion	small	0.011	0.919	-1.117	18	0.279	-3.02	2.70	-8.70	2.66
angle	med	0.044	0.836	-1.359	18	0.191	-4.76	3.50	-12.12	2.60
(stance)	large	1,283	0.272	-3.913	18	0.001	-9.41	2.41	-14.47	-4.36

Table 6.9 Results of independent samples t-tests (post hoc analysis on significant interaction effects). Significant results are highlighted in bold text.



Figure 6.15 Average and standard deviations for peak knee extension moment and peak knee flexion angle during stance for all limbs in the solid AFO group and the hinged AFO group. Significant differences at p<0.05 are indicated with an asterix.

### 6.4 Discussion

6.4.1 Are all children responsive to AFO-FC alignment change?

The first aim of this analysis was to determine whether all children were responsive to AFO-FC alignment change according to changes occurring in knee moments over mid-stance. It was hypothesised that all limbs across both groups would be responsive when considering changes over mid-stance. This study found that when responsiveness was assessed using the mid-stance analysis, all limbs in both groups showed evidence of sensitivity to AFO-FC alignment change. In 24 out of 26 limbs (11 solid AFOs, 15 hinged AFOs) there was statistically significant correlation between wedge angle and knee moment.

While all limbs were sensitive to AFO-FC alignment change, some limbs were more sensitive than others, as measured by larger RMS differences and regression gradients. On the whole, knee moments in the solid AFO wearers were more sensitive than hinged AFO wearers, with larger average gradient of 0.6Nm/kg/degree compared with 0.41Nm/kg/degree. No other investigations have examined responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change in these two AFO designs. Only one study has investigated the effect of AFO alignment (by changing the AFO ankle angle) on hinged AFOs which investigated adults with post-stroke hemiplegia (Fatone, *et al.*, 2009). While the question of responsiveness was not addressed in that study, the lack of significant changes to knee moments was attributed to the smaller range (0-7°) of AFO-FC alignments examined.

Across the mid-stance and stance phase analyses there were also some differences in sensitivity to AFO-FC alignment according to type of gait pattern. The most sensitive limbs were the common sub-groups and the variant limb of the hinged AFO group that demonstrated knee hyperextension. The least sensitive limbs were those with increased knee flexion during stance phase. This is in line with the findings of Butler and colleagues (2007) who suggested that children who could be successfully tuned, though not well defined, had limbs demonstrating less than 20° knee flexion followed by knee extension of less than 10°. Similarly Owen (2004c) suggested that tuning is more successful in those with more extended gait patterns.

According to these authors (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c) the four variant limbs in the solid AFO group would not be classified as successful tuners. However, these four limbs were all found to be responsive according to the stance phase analysis, with three of the four also responsive over the mid-stance analysis. Because the changes observed were an increase in peak knee flexion moment and a reduction in peak knee extension moment, changes for these limbs were largely away from normal values. The difference in classification of these limbs according to these methods reflects the differences between use of the term successful, which implies an

improvement, and the term responsive which implies some change, either improvement or deterioration.

A subsidiary aim of this investigation was to determine whether the portion of the gait cycle included in the RMS analysis affected the number of limbs that were responsive. It was hypothesised that the results for mid-stance would be similar to all of stance phase, but that using a single point in the gait cycle would result in less systematic changes. The high correlation between the gradients of the mid-stance and stance phase analyses suggests that the two measures are closely related. In both instances, 25/27 limbs demonstrated statistically significant changes. When the difference calculation was performed on knee moment data from a single point in the gait cycle, there was reduced sensitivity to change across the majority of limbs. Importantly, there was also a loss of sensitivity to change induced by the small wedge. Fewer limbs were observed to change in a statistically significant manner, which supported the hypothesis. When the gradients of the regression between mid-stance and the single point analysis were compared, they drop to  $r^2=0.22$  and  $r^2=0.11$  for the solid and hinged AFO groups respectively, suggesting the two measures are not closely related. This probably indicates that error variability in the single point analysis is high because it is based on a single point whereas the mid-stance and stance phase analyses based on averages over a longer time are more stable.

Data was examined at 30% gait cycle because Owen (2010) suggested that this is the exact point in the gait cycle that children are tuned to using two dimensional video vector generators. Assuming stance phase length is 60%, this is equivalent to 50% of stance phase and thus is the 'middle' of stance phase. It is also the instant that the period of mid-stance according to Perry (1992) meets the period of terminal stance. The lack of agreement between the single point analysis and the mid-stance analysis suggests that there may be other changes occurring during mid-stance (and possibly also over all of stance phase) that change more consistently across limbs than the changes seen at 30% gait cycle. Alternatively, these differences may be because the single point measurement is more susceptible to error.

### 6.4.2 The effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait

The second aim of this analysis was to determine the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait. It was hypothesised that peak knee flexion moment would increase systematically in all limbs and peak knee extension moment would decrease systematically in all limbs, but that the changes to knee kinematics, tibial projection angles and ankle moments would vary according to type of gait pattern. It was also hypothesised that hinged AFOs would behave similarly to solid AFOs for all variables during the early-mid stance phase.

# 6.4.2.1 Probable response variables

### 6.4.2.1.1 Knee moment

The results indicate that across all limbs the general effect of increasing wedge size was to systematically increase peak knee flexion moment and decrease peak knee extension moment (make less negative or became a knee flexion moment). The common sub-groups of both the solid and hinged AFO groups were also significantly affected by wedge size. This pattern was evident in all limbs in the solid AFO group, with some minor variations to the systematic effect. In several limbs, all of which demonstrated large knee flexion moments in early stance in their baseline knee kinematic pattern, a plateau effect in the peak knee flexion moment was observed where no further changes were induced after peak knee flexion moment reached approximately 12.5Nm/kg, This suggests an upper limit or tolerance to increases in peak knee flexion moment.

Because all limbs did not change systematically, the hypothesis was not supported. While this may be due to the narrow definition of systematic changes adopted for this analysis, the overall findings and significant effects demonstrated in the common sub-groups do support findings from previous literature, that changing an AFO-FC to increase the SVA will reduce peak knee extension moment in both adults and children (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1997; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007) as well as increase peak knee flexion moment in early stance (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010).

## 6.4.2.1.2 Type of gait pattern

While it was hypothesised that all limbs (across both AFO groups) would demonstrate systematic changes to knee kinetics, it was anticipated that the effect on other gait variables relating to the knee and ankle would be different according to type of gait pattern. For example, it was thought that the common sub-groups and the variant limb demonstrating knee hyperextension in the hinged AFO group would demonstrate kinematic changes to the knee and tibia but would have smaller, if any changes to ankle kinetic patterns (Mechanism 1, refer to Chapter 4); whereas, the variant limbs that demonstrate more knee flexion throughout stance phase would demonstrate smaller kinematic changes but larger ankle kinetic changes (Mixed response); and any very flexed limbs would demonstrate no kinematic changes but only changes to ankle kinetics (Mechanism 1).

Results of this study suggest that all limbs demonstrated some degree of change across all of these variables, which varied in terms of the size of change and how systematic these changes were. Therefore the hypothesis was not supported. However, within the solid AFO group there was some evidence of different patterns of change according to type of gait pattern. For example, the common sub-group demonstrated larger systematic increases in knee flexion angle

whereas the variant limbs demonstrated smaller increases in knee flexion angle (JABU) or even reductions (DEHA). In terms of tibial incline the common sub-group showed increased incline but the variants demonstrated small reductions in tibial incline. In terms of ankle kinetics, the common sub-group had a variable response while the variant limbs had very clear, systematic reductions in the first dorsiflexion peak moment. Thus on this basis the majority of limbs in the solid AFO group could be considered to demonstrate a Mixed response that involves both Mechanism 1 and 2 changes, but to varying degrees.

The lack of a pure Mechanism 2 response may be because the degree of knee flexion demonstrated throughout stance phase in these limbs was too small. For a Mechanism 2 response to occur, knee flexion and the resulting foot incline must be large enough such that adding a heel wedge improves contact of the foot with the floor but does not result in total contact, thus having no effect on tibial or knee kinematics. In the pilot data presented in Chapter 4, the two limbs that demonstrated evidence of pure Mechanism 2 also demonstrated persistent knee flexion of greater than 30° throughout stance phase. In the present study, both limbs (JABU-L-R) in the solid AFO group with persistent knee flexion throughout the gait cycle were flexed less than 30°. In the hinged AFO group the one limb (JANI) with persistent knee flexion was greater than 30°, but the effect on knee kinetics was not systematic, which is in line with the results of the hinged group on the whole. This is likely to be a reflection of the inclusion criteria limiting participants to GMFCS levels I and II.

The sub-groups considered in this analysis were formed on the basis of similar patterns of knee kinematics in the baseline (flat wedge) condition. Therefore when considering whether limbs conform to Mechanisms 1, 2 or a Mixed mechanism, the variable of interest is the minimum knee flexion angle achieved during stance phase. An alternate measurement could be to assess the angle of the foot to the ground (foot projection angle) at the point of initial contact. If initial contact occurs at the heel, the foot projection angle will be positive (inclined), and at some point thereafter the foot must achieve foot flat and kinematic changes can be induced.

All children in both groups had positive foot projection angles at initial contact in the baseline AFO condition (Figure 6.3) although two of the limbs with more flexed gait patterns (DEHA-L-R) were borderline, within approximately 2°. If the group included limbs with more severely flexed gait patterns, negative foot projection angles would be seen at initial contact which would indicate initial contact made with the forefoot. Assessing foot projection angles at initial contact is potentially a useful measure which could be employed in any 3DGA study where these events are of interest.

### 6.4.2.1.3 Knee kinematics

Peak knee flexion angle was increased and peak knee extension angle was decreased in all limbs in the solid AFO common sub-group, with a handful of limbs demonstrating a small increase in peak knee extension angle with the first 5° change, before systematic reductions in the medium and large wedges. This suggests that an alignment change of more than 5° might be required to produce discernible changes to these variables in some limbs. This is in line with suggestions by Fatone and colleagues (2009) who induced an alignment change of approximately 5-7° in a group of post-stroke adults and suggested it may have been too small a change to effect any systematic results.

The average data for both common sub-groups also demonstrated a significant main effect of wedge size on both peak knee flexion and knee extension angle. Only a handful of other studies have reported changes in knee kinematics as a result of AFO-FC alignment change. These found reductions in peak knee extension angle in tuned AFO-FCs in children with CP as well as adults with post-stroke hemiplegia (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010; Reinthal & Hoy, 2005). In addition, increased SVA has also been found to increase peak knee flexion angle in early stance (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007). This variable was quantified in only one case, and although increased by an average 6°, was found not to be significantly different from the un-tuned condition (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). The opinion of one author was however that the increase in early stance knee flexion was outweighed by the advantages of the tuning (Butler, *et al.*, 2007).

### 6.4.2.1.4 Tibial angle

Despite the measure of tibial kinematics essentially being a measure of SVA in a dynamic context, this was the first study to measure the effect of AFO-FC alignment on this variable. The results suggest that increasing wedge size causes tibial angle to increase in limbs demonstrating greater knee extension and to reduce in limbs demonstrating less knee extension, though the exact patterns of change vary between limbs. This is in line with suggestions that one of the aims of tuning is to correct abnormal shank kinematics throughout stance phase (Owen, 2004c; Owen, *et al.*, 2004). However, the increases in tibial projection angle did not tend to have a normalising effect, which is discussed further in Chapter 7.

The reduction in tibial projection angle in all variant limbs in the solid AFO group, and the reduction in peak knee flexion angle in two of these limbs, were not anticipated. These changes occurred simultaneously with a plateau effect in peak knee flexion moment on one limb and a non-systematic reduction in peak knee flexion moment on the contralateral limb. This patient demonstrated a knee kinematic pattern with increased knee flexion angle in early stance (Figure 6.3). Therefore, these reductions in peak knee flexion angle and in tibial projection angles could

be a result of increased stability resulting from the wedges producing a posterior shift in the origin of the GRF.

# 6.4.2.1.5 Ankle moments

A large first dorsiflexion moment peak was seen in limbs across both groups, though more consistently in the solid AFO group (refer to Figure 6.3 and Figure 6.4). This is an abnormal gait characteristic that has been well described as a barefoot gait pattern in children with CP (Gage, 1994; Lin, *et al.*, 2000; Õunpuu, Davis, & DeLuca, 1996). Increasing wedge size systematically reduced this peak in all four variant limbs of the solid AFO group, and in three of the limbs in the common sub-group (JOTH-L-R, LIRI). Thus in combination with the changes to knee and tibial kinematics, these three limbs demonstrated a Mixed Response as described in the pilot data (Chapter 4), where it was proposed that even though the foot may be flat, the centre of pressure is shifted posteriorly due to the addition of material under the heel. Four limbs however did not demonstrate these changes (MAHO-L-R, JODA-L-R) despite having an increased first dorsiflexion moment.

Across both groups the second peak dorsiflexion moment also tended to be reduced with increased wedge size. While these changes were smaller than the reductions seen in the first dorsiflexion peak, this is probably also a consequence of a posterior shift in centre of pressure. This reduction was often a change away from normal values. When considering tuning as a three stage process, modifications to the sole profile are suggested to affect gait characteristics at terminal stance. The reduced second peak dorsiflexion moment could be one factor addressed with the use of rocker soles as these focus primarily on controlling the progression of the point of application of the GRF along the sole of the foot. No other studies have examined the effect of AFO-FC alignment change on ankle moments.

### 6.4.2.2 Possible response variables

It was hypothesised that increasing wedge size would not have a systematic effect on hip kinematics or kinetics, femur projection angles or knee flexion angles in swing. The results support this hypothesis as the individual results reveal a lack of consistent, systematic changes across all limbs. This can be attributed to the knee having a modulating effect on any changes induced by modifying the AFO-FC alignment. It has been suggested that AFO-FC tuning should address hip kinetics as well as knee kinetics (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Meadows, *et al.*, 2008) and that femur kinematics should be considered as well as tibial kinematics (Owen, 2010). However, prior to this study there has been no attempt to measure the effect of AFO-FC alignment on these variables in children with CP.
There was however, a trend in many of the limbs in both groups toward increased hip flexion and increased femur recline angle at initial contact with increased wedge size. This resulted in a significant main effect in some of these variables for the common sub-group in both the solid and hinged AFO groups. Increased wedge size may provide improved stability of the stance limb throughout stance phase which gives time for increased hip flexion and femur recline before initial contact occurs.

No systematic changes were seen in the temporospatial parameters which also supported the hypothesis. These results are in line with the only study to measure the effect of a tuned solid AFO-FC (which resulted in an increased SVA of approximately 5.6°) on walking velocity, cadence and stride length in five children with CP, where no significant effects were found (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). Results for the hinged AFO were less variable than the solid AFO group. If the solid AFO group (n=6 children) had a greater number of data points, as compared to the hinged AFO group (n=14 children), similar consistency may have been evident. In addition, most of the children in the hinged group were affected unilaterally, which may allow them to either compensate or have more freedom to react to the biomechanical changes induced on the affected side. Finally, while the effect of increasing wedge size included increasing peak knee flexion during early stance, in some limbs this also acted to increase knee flexion at initial contact (refer to individual data in Appendix E). This may have shortened stride length as much as the small increases in hip flexion at initial contact increased stride length.

## 6.4.2.3 Summary

Knee moments changed approximately linearly with increased wedge size in 25 out of 27 patients. Within the common sub-groups the probable response parameters all showed statistically significant evidence of response but detailed analysis suggested quite variable responses within groups. Possible response variables showed less evidence of statistically significant change and were even more variable.

## 6.4.2.4 Type of AFO design

A secondary research question addressed in this study was whether the effect of AFO-FC alignment on these gait parameters was the same between the hinged and solid AFO groups. The hinged AFO group demonstrated similar patterns of change as the solid AFO group across the probable response variables, but these changes were less consistent and less systematic. Despite this, both groups demonstrated significant main effects across all probable response variables and most possible response variables. The increased sensitivity of the solid AFO group is demonstrated in the between-group analysis. There were significant differences between the groups in peak knee extension moment and peak knee flexion angle that arise largely from

differences in the slope of change in these variables. Children wearing solid AFOs demonstrate a greater slope than those wearing hinged AFOs, which suggest increased responsiveness, and also "tunability" of solid AFOs than hinged AFOs. Therefore if "tunability" is a prerequisite of AFO design, solid AFOs may be the preferred design.

As a result of the analysis to determine whether all children were responsive to AFO-FC alignment change it was found that the hinged AFO group were on the whole, less sensitive to AFO-FC alignment change but also were less consistent in the changes observed. The individual analysis lends support to this conclusion as the changes in knee moments demonstrated by the hinged AFO group were smaller than the solid AFO group, and were much less consistent. However in contrast to this, the analysis examining responsiveness in terms of RMS difference in knee moment concluded that almost all limbs were significantly responsive, according to the mid-stance and stance phase calculations, respectively.

These contradictory findings are due to the nature of the RMS difference calculation. The RMS difference will show an increase in value regardless of whether systematic changes were seen in *both* peak knee flexion and knee extension moment, *either* peak knee flexion or knee extension moment, or whether there were *partial* systematic changes, such as increased peak knee flexion moment between the two smallest wedges and increased peak knee extension moment between the two largest wedges. Seven limbs in the hinged AFO group demonstrated systematic changes in *either* peak knee flexion or peak knee extension, and four demonstrated *partial* changes (see Appendix E for individual results). This is one limitation of using the RMS difference between curves to demonstrate systematic change, and therefore to measure responsiveness.

It was anticipated that the results for the solid and hinged AFO groups may be similar during early to mid stance on the basis that from initial contact until the point that dorsiflexion begins, a hinged AFO would behave similarly to a solid AFO. Similarly during terminal stance the AFO is likely to be in a plantigrade position due to the push-off phase. It was also anticipated that any dorsiflexion range of movement would be small due to limitations such as spasticity and contracture of the gastrocnemius muscle which are commonly seen in children with CP. This was found not to be the case, with excessive and early dorsiflexion demonstrated in all but three limbs (refer to Figure 6.4). Thus the child is able to use the ankle to modulate any alignment changes and as a consequence the biomechanical changes do not demonstrate the same systematic kinematic and kinetic changes as the solid AFO group. No other studies have investigated the effect of AFO-FC alignment on a group of solid and hinged AFO wearers. Neither has any other study investigated the effect of AFO-FC alignment on a full range of gait parameters.

## 6.4.3 Limitations

Responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change was considered in terms of systematic changes in RMS difference between knee moments for the flat wedge condition and the small, medium and large wedges. As previously noted, use of the RMS difference in this context is limited in that it cannot distinguish between full or partial systematic changes across peak variables. Therefore an analysis of change in peak variables of interest, as performed in the subsequent analysis in this study, is required to supplement this first assessment.

While use of statistical measures including the gradient, standard error and p value according to the line of best fit provide an objective measure to consider the degree of responsiveness, it has some limitations. Use of a threshold  $\alpha$  level of 0.05 results in some limbs being considered responsive while others which may have a p value only fractionally larger are considered non-responsive. These limbs also appear to be sensitive to AFO-FC alignment change, and therefore the p value should be considered in light of the gradient and standard error when considering a classification of responsiveness.

In this analysis an attempt was made to capture the changes in tibial projection angle in early stance using two variables; average difference over 10-30% of the gait cycle and peak tibial angle. These measurements are however limited in their ability to demonstrate and describe the variety and complexity of changes occurring to tibial kinematics. For example, within the solid AFO group there was a great deal of variety in the baseline patterns of tibial movement and the changes induced in tibial projection angle. Some limbs demonstrated an isolated period of increased tibial incline in early stance; other limbs demonstrated periods where the tibia demonstrated an unusual period of recline which tended to be reduced with increased wedge size; and still other limbs demonstrated change in tibial incline over most of stance phase (refer to Appendix E). In addition, within the hinged group the average difference in tibial angle between 10-30% gait cycle increased sequentially but this did not reflect the exact changes seen within individuals. These changes could only be described rather than objectively measured. Because the process of tuning involves changing the SVA, which is essentially a static measure of tibial projection angle, alternative methods of measuring change in tibial kinematics could be investigated. Tibial velocity, that is change in angle per unit time, could also be investigated.

The distribution of hemiplegic and diplegic children across the two AFO groups was not even. The solid AFO group comprised entirely of diplegic children whereas the majority of children in the hinged AFO group were hemiplegic. This distribution is indicative of the gait patterns demonstrated by each diagnosis group, for example orthotic management for diplegic children often requires restriction to dorsiflexion and therefore a solid AFO, whereas hemiplegic children often require restriction of plantarflexion only and hence a hinged AFO. The intact limb of the

hemiplegic children may be able to compensate for some of the biomechanical changes induced on the affected side. Therefore the less systematic results demonstrated by the hinged AFO group may reflect the unilateral nature of the impairment rather than the type of AFO. If the solid AFO group included hemiplegic children the results may have been less systematic.

The sample sizes in both the solid and hinged AFO groups in this study were small. For this reason, data from both limbs of bilaterally affected participants were included. Because withinsubject variability is likely to be smaller than between-subject variability this may have increased the likelihood of finding significant results.

The knee kinematic pattern used for gait classification was the gait pattern in the AFO with the flat wedge. Because the aim of the investigation was to investigate the effect of variations in AFO design rather than the effect of the AFO intervention this approach was considered to provide the most relevant information. Using a barefoot gait classification may have provided additional information but is not likely to affect the overall conclusions.

However, if any participants wore an AFO with an ankle angle that had not taken into account gastrocemius contracture, the baseline pattern of knee kinematics may have been affected due to a reduction in peak knee extension angle. It is evident from the measurements of AFO ankle angle and participant dorsiflexion ROM (recorded in Table 5.1) that two participants had AFOs that may not have accommodated for contractures of the gastrocnemius muscle. In these participants the AFO ankle angle was 3° and 2° (DEHA–L and JODA-R respectively) more dorsiflexed than the available passive dorsiflexion range. These discrepancies are however very small and may be attributed to measurement error.

One participant (JANI-R) had a plantarflexion contracture of 10° but wore a hinged AFO. While the AFO ankle angle accommodated for this contracture, a hinged AFO with free dorsiflexion range of motion is arguably an inappropriate prescription because ankle dorsiflexion can only occur at the expense of either or both knee extension or pronation. This highlights another limitation of the current study, that appropriate AFO prescription and AFO ankle angle were not considered either as part of the eligibility criteria, or by supplying participants with new AFOs at the study outset. This decision was due to the predicted difficulties in recruiting sufficient numbers of participants, which might be hampered due to the additional commitments required to provide a new AFO. The advantage of this decision is however that the AFOs in this study are a fair representation of those supplied clinically.

Despite these limitations, analysing the results according to sub-group of similar types of gait patterns provides greater confidence that the results seen in the common sub-group of the solid AFO group can be more widely generalised. For example, the average traces for this group

demonstrated the same patterns of change seen across the individual limbs. The type of gait pattern in this sub-group is similar to those examined in several other studies on AFO-FC tuning. The study by Jagadamma and colleagues (2009) included only children who demonstrated hyperextension (<0° flexion) of the knee during mid to late stance; Butler and colleagues (1992) examined participants all who demonstrated excessive knee extension moments during mid to late stance; and in Butler and colleagues other work (Butler, *et al.*, 2007) the group of children found to tune successfully all demonstrated knee extension of <10° flexion during mid to late stance. It can therefore be concluded with confidence that in children demonstrating this type of gait pattern, systematic changes to these particular biomechanical variables can be induced by altering the AFO-FC alignment.

# 6.5 Conclusion

When responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change is measured using the RMS difference in knee moment across mid-stance and all of stance phase, all limbs were found to be sensitive to AFO-FC alignment change. However, the number of limbs demonstrating statistically significant changes did change slightly, depending on the portion of stance phase used in the analysis. Solid AFOs were more sensitive to AFO-FC alignment change than hinged AFOs, as were limbs conforming to the common knee kinematic pattern. Using a single point of stance phase at 30% of the gait cycle to measure responsiveness resulted in a loss of sensitivity to change to the first 5° wedge in many limbs. Changing AFO-FC alignment tended to have a systematic effect on gait variables relating to the knee and ankle which were more consistent in the solid AFO group than the hinged AFO group. Within the solid AFO group there was some evidence suggesting that the strength of changes across these variables varied according to different types of gait patterns. In limbs that were relatively extended, peak knee flexion moment and angle tended to increase and peak knee extension moment and angle tended to decrease, with increased tibial projection angle and reduced ankle moments. In more flexed limbs the same changes occurred in knee and ankle kinetics but changes to knee kinematics and tibia projection angles were more varied. Hip kinematics, kinetics, femur projection angles, peak knee flexion in swing, walking velocity, cadence and stride length did not change systematically across either group.

# 7 Is there an optimum AFO-FC alignment?

The results of Chapter 6 provide evidence that changing AFO-FC alignment induces systematic changes in a range of gait parameters, particularly at the knee level and below. While these changes have now been quantified and described, it is not known which of these changes, if any, produce the best gait pattern overall. This chapter addresses the fifth research question of this thesis which was 'Is there an optimal AFO-FC alignment?' This was examined by first attempting to define an optimal wedge size or range of wedge sizes that produce the most normal result for each variable in each limb. Subsequent to this an analysis was conducted to determine whether there was agreement between parameters in terms of the best wedge size.

## 7.1 Introduction

Chapter 6 addressed the third and fourth research questions which were 'Are all children responsive to AFO-FC alignment change?' and 'What is the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait?' Separate common patterns of knee kinematics were observed for the majority of children wearing either solid or hinged AFOs. There was strong evidence of changes in knee moment which were proportional to increased wedge angle for all children across both groups. There was also strong evidence for systematic changes in a range of other variables particularly amongst children wearing solid AFOs who demonstrated the common gait pattern.

The most consistent changes were seen in the effect of wedge size on knee kinetics. Peak knee flexion moment tended to increase and peak knee extension moment tended to decrease with increased wedge size. Therefore, depending on the baseline pattern of knee kinetics there was one wedge condition that produced the most normal peak knee flexion moment, which may or may not have been the same wedge size that produced the most normal peak knee extension moment. This apparent conflict in optimum wedge size may occur within one parameter (for example, peak knee flexion moment and peak knee extension moment) but also across parameters (knee kinetics and knee kinematics). Therefore, while Chapter 6 demonstrated that increasing wedge size resulted in systematic and predictable changes to certain gait parameters, it is not known which of these changes, if any, produce the best gait pattern overall.

Tuning is a process that focuses on the optimisation of gait. To enable comparison of these results to the tuning process it is therefore necessary to identify the wedge angle that gives the 'best' gait pattern for an individual child. While not explicitly defined in the wider body of literature, 'optimisation' is thought to be synonymous with 'normalisation' - that is, achieving a gait pattern closest to normal values for able bodied children. This is thought to lead to functional benefits such as improved mobility and reduced energy expenditure. In order to

determine which gait pattern is the most normal, a sub-set of gait parameters must be defined on which to focus the analysis.

Chapter 6 examined the effect of systematic changes to AFO-FC alignment on a suite of sagittal plane gait parameters at the level of the hip, knee and ankle. The results suggest that the parameters distal to and including the knee joint are those producing the most consistent patterns of change. More specifically, knee kinematics, knee kinetics, tibial kinematics and ankle kinetics were the four parameters seen to produce the most consistent change.

Three of these four variables also feature as the focus of the tuning process within the wider body of literature. The focus of tuning has largely been on knee kinetics (Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Owen, 2002) but some authors have also focussed on normalising knee kinematics (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010; Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, *et al.*, 2004; Stallard & Woollam, 2003). One author in particular emphasises the importance of improving abnormal shank kinematics via the tuning process (Owen, 2004c; Owen, 2010; Owen, *et al.*, 2004). Ankle moments have not previously been considered, but were identified as possible indicators of one of two theoretical responses by which increasing wedge size may affect the biomechanics of gait (refer to Chapter 2).

The investigation reported in this chapter will focus on the sub-set of four biomechanical variables that were seen to change most consistently as a result of changing AFO-FC alignment. The pattern, magnitude and direction (increase or decrease) of change has been described but it remains unknown how or whether these changes produce a more normal, or abnormal gait pattern. Because knee kinetics have been the focus of the literature, the wedge size normalising this variable will be prioritised, and as such used as the comparison for the optimal wedge size according to the remaining three variables.

Throughout the body of literature the period of the gait cycle that is addressed by tuning has not been clearly described. As a result, the analysis presented in Chapter 6 examined whether the period of the gait cycle in which changes to knee kinetics were examined, affected the results. Three analyses were conducted: responsiveness over Perry's (1992) definition of mid-stance, over the entire stance phase, and at a single point of the gait cycle (30% gait cycle). The classification of responsiveness was similar for the mid-stance and stance phase analyses (but more consistent for the mid-stance analysis) whereas the results for the single point analysis were variable.

Although tuning using a video vector generator requires a single point during the gait cycle to be assessed, it is clear that the tuning process involves modifying the SVA, the heel profile and sole profile, to affect three periods of stance phase: mid-stance, early and terminal stance

respectively (eg. Owen, 2004b, 2004c; Owen, *et al.*, 2004). In order to generalise the findings of the present study to the tuning literature, and in light of the inconsistent results found in the single point analysis conducted in Chapter 6, this investigation will focus on the changes occurring over Perry's (1992) definition of mid-stance, that is 10-30% gait cycle. Therefore, for the purpose of this investigation the best or optimum wedge size is defined as one producing the most normal knee kinetics, knee kinematics, tibial kinematics and ankle moment, as compared to normal values for able bodied children, across the period of 10-30% gait cycle.

# 7.1.1 Aims and hypotheses

The aim of this study was to determine whether there was an optimum AFO-FC alignment. More specifically the aims were to determine:

- Whether an optimum wedge size could be identified for each limb within each parameter, and whether there was agreement in the optimum wedge size across the biomechanical parameters that produce systematic change;
- Whether this agreement between biomechanical parameters concurred with an optimum wedge size in terms of temporospatial variables and subjective preference;
- Whether these findings related to the underlying gait pattern or type of AFO.

Based on the systematic patterns of change demonstrated in Chapter 6, it was hypothesised that:

- An optimum wedge size would be identifiable for each of these four biomechanical parameters for each limb. Optimum wedge size would be less clear for the temporospatial parameters.
- In the majority of limbs there would not be complete agreement of optimum wedge size across the four biomechanical parameters, the temporospatial parameters and subjective preference
- The solid AFO group would have better agreement than the hinged AFO group, and within the solid AFO group, and limbs within this group demonstrating the common gait pattern would have better agreement across variables.

# 7.2 Data analysis

In the context of this thesis, the optimum AFO-FC alignment was considered to be the wedge size which produced the most normal pattern of knee kinetics, knee kinematics, tibial projection angles and ankle kinetics across the period of mid-stance as defined by Perry (1992). To determine which wedge size produced the most optimum outcome, the RMS difference between the average knee moment, knee angle, tibial projection angle and ankle moment for each condition in each limb was compared to normal values for able bodied children. Normal data was obtained from the database maintained by the Hugh Williamson Gait Laboratory at the Royal Children's Hospital (Melbourne, Australia). The smallest RMS difference represented the condition producing the closest to normal results over mid-stance, and therefore the optimum wedge size for that parameter.

## 7.2.1 Identification of optimum

The effect of wedge size with regard to normal vales was considered for the four biomechanical parameters seen to change consistently in Chapter 6. The aim of this analysis was to determine whether an optimum alignment could be identified for each the limbs within each of these parameters, as well as in cadence, walking velocity and stride length. To determine whether an optimum alignment existed, three possible trends were defined. These trends were considered to be 1) a clear optimum, 2) an ambiguous optimum and 3) no optimum.

The presence of a clear optimum was considered on three levels:

- U-shaped curve (U) where the small or medium wedge clearly produced the lowest or the highest value.
- Increasing trend (IT) where the flat wedge clearly produced lowest value. This would suggest that the flat wedge was optimum within the range tested but that a negative wedge might produce even better results.
- Decreasing trend (DT) where the large wedge clearly produced the lowest value. This
  would suggest that the large wedge was optimum within the range tested but that an
  larger wedge might produce better results.

The presence of an *ambiguous optimum was* considered to be where two paired values were clearly lower than the others but were similar to each other. This included patterns similar to the U, IT or DT described above, but where the minimum value was too close to its neighbour to meet the minimum difference (described below).

The presence of *no clear optimum* was considered to be where the minimum value is one of three or more values that are similar and therefore do not meet the minimum difference; or when there is no clear pattern.



Figure 7.1 presents example data for each of these trends.

Figure 7.1 Example data demonstrating a a) clear optimum in a U shape (U), an increasing trend (IT) and a decreasing trend (DT); b) an ambiguous optimum (A); and c) no optimum (NO).

#### 7.2.1.1 Minimum difference

A minimum difference was defined that provided an objective measure to distinguish between a clear and an ambiguous optimum. When two values were considered sufficiently different, that is, had a difference greater than the minimum difference, this would result in classification of a clear trend with a single wedge size identified as optimum. If two values were not sufficiently different (i.e. the difference between values was smaller than the minimum difference) this would result in classification of an ambiguous optimum (A) where optimum spanned two wedge sizes, or no optimum (NO) where the optimum spanned three or more wedges.

The minimum difference was based on an error range of 10% of the total range in RMS difference across conditions in each parameter for each individual limb (refer to Equation 7-1). This error range was applied to each value and if the two values were within this error range no true differences were considered to exist and the trend could be considered as an ambiguous optimum (A)(refer to Equation 7-2).

For example in JOTH-L (refer to Table 7.1, page 196) the knee angle RMS difference for the small and medium wedges suggested that the optimum knee angle occurred in the medium wedge (6.18), which was similar to, but smaller than, the value for the small wedge (6.43).

The error margin for these values was determined by calculating 10% of the total RMS range for this variable in this limb:

 $10\% \ total \ RMS \ range = 0.1 \times (Max \ RMS - Min \ RMS)$  $10\% \ total \ RMS \ range \ (JOTH - L) = 0.1 \times (14.77 - 6.18) = 0.86$ 

**Equation 7-1** 

This error margin was used to determine whether the difference in RMS values was significant. In the following example, the difference between the two RMS values was smaller than the 10% error range and therefore considered not truly different. The resulting trend was described as an ambiguous optimum rather than an unambiguous optimum with a U-shaped trend.

RMS difference small (6.43) - RMS difference medium (6.18) < 10% error (0.86)

Equation 7-2

#### 7.2.2 Agreement between parameters

The second section of this analysis focused on identifying an individual optimum wedge size for each variable and determining the extent of agreement between the four biomechanical parameters, as well as with temporospatial parameters and subjective preference.

To determine the level of agreement between biomechanical variables the relationship between pairs of variables was investigated for each individual limb by calculating the Pearson's Product Moment Correlation using the CORREL funtion in Excel. The average of the correlation coefficient (r) were calculated using a Fisher-z transform for each group and sub-group and for each individual limb. A correlation of 0.00 - 0.25 indicates little to no relationship; those from 0.25 - 0.50 suggest a fair degree of relationship; values of 0.50 – 0.75 are moderate to good; and values above 0.75 are considered good to excellent (Portney & Watkins, 2000).

The optimum wedge size determined for each parameter within each limb in the first part of this analysis was then compared across parameters. Because the primary focus of the tuning procedure has been optimisation of knee kinetics, the optimum wedge size for knee kinetics was identified and recorded first. The optimum wedge size for each of the remaining variables was subsequently identified and a score calculated to represent the number of variables in agreement with the choice according to knee kinetics.

'Perfect' agreement was considered to be a score of 3/3 whereby the optimum wedge size according to knee kinematics, tibial kinematics and ankle moment was the same as the optimum wedge size for knee kinetics. 'Good' agreement was defined as a range of optimum wedge size spanning only two wedge sizes (i.e. 5°), for example between flat and small, small and medium, or medium and large. When either perfect or good agreement was achieved, both the optimum wedge size and the optimum SVA could be calculated within a 5° range.

The fastest cadence, fastest walking velocity and longest stride length were also presented in this table, according to the results described in Chapter 6. These data are presented as absolute values rather than RMS difference to normal where the optimum wedge size was considered to be the wedge size producing the fastest cadence, fastest walking velocity and longest stride length. Because the largest value was considered the optimum rather than the smallest value, an an inverted U-shaped curve (n) was used to describe these data. The patient's preferred wedge size was also presented and a comparison drawn across the four biomechanical parameters, the temporospatial results and subjective preference.

#### 7.3 Results

## 7.3.1 Participants

As in Chapter 6, data from only 19 of the 20 children included in this study were used in this analysis. Data from one participant (HAHA) was excluded due to an insufficient number of trials across all four AFO-FC conditions. The solid AFO group comprised 11 limbs belonging to six children, the hinged AFO group comprised 15 limbs belonging to 14 children, and one child (LIRI) contributed one limb to each group. Participant details are listed in Chapter 5.

#### 7.3.2 Is there an optimum AFO-FC alignment?

## 7.3.2.1 Solid AFOs

#### 7.3.2.1.1 Biomechanical variables

Figure 7.2 illustrates the changes induced in four biomechanical variables as a result of increasing the wedge size in 5° intervals, according to RMS difference calculated over midstance. A value closer to zero represents the change that most closely represents normal values for able bodied children. Across three variables (knee kinetics, knee kinematics and ankle kinetics), the changes were either increasing or U-shaped trends, whereas for tibial projection angles a range of trends were evident including increasing, decreasing or U-shaped.

Table 7.1 presents the RMS values, the trend that best describes the presence or absence of an optimum wedge size, and if identified also highlights the optimum wedge size for each variable within each limb. The majority of limbs (8/13 limbs) had a clear optimum for knee kinetics and ankle kinetics while less than half (5/11 limbs) had a clear optimum for tibial projection angles and only 2/11 limbs had a clear optimum for knee kinematics. The remaining limbs had an ambiguous optimum except for a select few limbs that demonstrated no optimum.

Different patterns were evident when limbs were considered according to sub-group. In the common sub-group, the trend for knee kinetics were almost all a clear U-shape (refer to Table 7.1), knee kinematics had a tendency toward an increasing trend and most of the changes in ankle kinetics and tibial projection angles were a variety of U-shaped and linear trends. In contrast, the limbs in the variant sub-group demonstrated increasing trends in knee kinetics, increasing trends or no patterns in knee kinematics, U-shaped trends in ankle kinetics and decreasing trends in tibial projection angles.

The optimum wedge size occurred most commonly in the flat and small wedges for knee kinetics and knee kinematics, whereas in tibial projections and ankle moments the optimum wedge size tended to vary according to sub-group. The common sub-group had optimum wedge size in the smaller wedges for both variables whereas the variant group tended to have optimum wedge size in the larger variables.



Figure 7.2 RMS difference to normal values for able bodied children for a) knee kinetics, b) knee kinematics, c) ankle kinetics and d) tibial projection angles for the solid AFO group.

	Parameter	Sub-	Limb		Limb RMS difference to						
	Faranieter	group	LIIID	flat	small	medium	large	Trenu			
			JODA-L	3.81	1.87	3.31	5.48	U			
	Ś		JODA-R	5.31	3.27	2.01	5.03	U			
		u	JOTH-L	7.37	2.22	3.95	6.28	U			
		шш	JOTH-R	7.25	2.28	5.01	6.83	U			
	etic	Ö	LIRI-L	2.29	1.73	5.06	7.29	А			
	kin		MAHO-L	4.86	3.6	5.22	6.61	U			
	nee		MAHO-R	4.13	5.05	6.66	7.24	IT			
	×		JABU-L	5.25	7.45	9.65	12.61	IT			
		iant	JABU-R	1.53	2.2	4.24	7.74	А			
		Vari	DEHA-L	5.49	7.29	5.43	7.1	NO			
			DEHA-R	3.6	5.27	5.16	6.5	IT			
			JODA-L	4.32	13.02	14.7	28.51	IT			
		Common	JODA-R	1.68	2.06	5.92	21.93	А			
			JOTH-L	14.39	6.43	6.18	14.77	А			
	Ś		JOTH-R	9.27	10.88	15.91	25.43	А			
	gle		LIRI-L	6.95	9.6	14.59	20.03	IT			
	(nee an		MAHO-L	6.51	6.1	17.8	21.29	А			
			MAHO-R	7.9	10.29	21.32	21.37	А			
d	-		JABU-L	22.97	23.75	26.92	29.14	А			
rou		iant	JABU-R	15.7	16.33	19.71	24.22	А			
0 0		Var	DEHA-L	30.72	32.63	24.1	26.27	NO			
AF			DEHA-R	20.68	27.85	19.66	23.95	NO			
olid			JODA-L	4.12	2.71	3.92	4.86	U			
S			JODA-R	6.22	2.93	4.67	4.75	U			
		Common	JOTH-L	2.37	3.66	7.15	7.66	IT			
	S		JOTH-R	2.3	2.33	3.84	4.38	А			
	Jeti		LIRI-L	3.81	2.65	5.29	6.64	U			
	e ki		MAHO-L	2.79	4.06	2.86	3.1	NO			
	nkle		MAHO-R	2.27	2.46	3.8	4.19	А			
	A		JABU-L	7.36	4.91	2.9	4.71	U			
		iant	JABU-R	5.5	2.92	1.98	5.44	U			
		Var	DEHA-L	7.48	5.69	4.57	6.46	U			
			DEHA-R	7.41	7.11	4.76	6.2	U			
			JODA-L	5.33	6.48	5.52	14.63	NO			
			JODA-R	7.38	4.64	1.79	13.83	U			
	gles	uou	JOTH-L	4.16	3.69	2.36	2.96	U			
	Ang	шш	JOTH-R	2.34	4.36	6.38	9.25	IT			
	io	S	LIRI-L	6.31	5.36	7.3	7.3	U			
	ject		MAHO-L	4.49	6.01	14.97	12.52	А			
	Proj		MAHO-R	3.7	2.73	7	10.08	А			
	lal		JABU-L	16.15	16.64	12.67	12.13	А			
	diT	iant	JABU-R	11.62	8.44	8.78	7.99	DT			
		Vari	DEHA-L	16.72	16.82	7.73	6.9	А			
		1	DEHA-R	11.89	13.34	6.46	6.98	NO			

Table 7.1 RMS difference to normal, optimum wedge size and trend for all limbs and conditions across the four biomechanical parameters in the solid AFO group. Data not reaching the minimum difference is highlighted in grey. A = ambiguous, IT = clear increasing trend, DT = clear decreasing trend, U = clear U-shaped trend, NO = no optimum. If an optimum wedge size was identified, these cells are highlighted.

# 7.3.2.1.2 Temporospatial parameters

Table 7.2 presents the absolute values for cadence, walking velocity and stride length across the four conditions, along with the identified trend, and if applicable, the optimal wedge size. Only two children demonstrated clear trends in terms of cadence, and only three each in terms of walking velocity and stride length. All of the remaining children, with one exception, demonstrated no clear optima (refer to Table 7.5). When an optimum wedge was identified, it occurred across the small, medium and large wedges, but never the flat wedge (refer to Table 7.2). These data are summarised in Table 7.5.

	Deveneter	Cub group	Linah		Abs	solute Value		Tuond
	Parameter	Sup-group	LIMD	Flat	Small	Medium	Large	Trena
	n)	_	JODA	128	130	127	129	NO
		a u	JOTH	141	116	144	132	NO
	:/mi	Log Log	LIRI	127	135	137	131	U
	ade		МАНО	117	119	114	132	NO
	(st C	Mariant	DEHA	113	119	104	106	U
		variant	JABU	113	112	111	116	NO
s	ing Velocity (m/s)		JODA	1.04	1.06	1.15	0.93	U
ΔFO		Lom	JOTH	1.5	1.05	1.51	1.29	NO
lid /		Lon Con	LIRI	1.16	1.31	1.38	1.33	U
So			МАНО	1.18	1.34	1.11	1.17	NO
	valk	Mariant	DEHA	1.32	1.38	1.33	1.34	U
	>	variant	JABU	1.08	1.14	1.09	1.2	NO
			JODA	0.98	0.98	1.09	0.87	U
	ţţ	mor	JOTH	1.28	1.1	1.25	1.17	NO
	n) (n	Com	LIRI	1.11	1.16	1.22	1.22	А
	ide (n		МАНО	1.22	1.35	1.12	1.02	U
	Str	Variant	DEHA	1.41	1.38	1.42	1.48	NO
		Variant	JABU	1.15	1.2	1.19	1.26	IT

Table 7.2 Average cadence, walking velocity and stride length (absolute values) for all limbs and conditions, and classification of optimum for the solid AFO group. Data not reaching the minimum difference is highlighted in grey. A = ambiguous, IT = clear increasing trend, DT = clear decreasing trend, U = clear U-shape trend, NO = no optimum. If an optimum wedge size was identified, these cells are highlighted.

## 7.3.2.2 Hinged AFOs

#### 7.3.2.2.1 Biomechanical variables

Figure 7.2 illustrates the changes induced in four biomechanical variables as a result of increasing the wedge size in 5° intervals, according to RMS difference calculated over mid-stance. A value closer to zero represents the change that most closely represents normal values for able bodied children. In terms of knee kinetics and knee kinematics, the trends were either increasing or U-shaped with the exception of one variant limb demonstrating a decreasing trend. The trends observed in ankle kinetics and tibial projection angle were varied.

Table 7.3 presents the RMS values, the trend that best describes the presence or absence of an optimum wedge size, and if identifiable, highlights the optimum wedge size for each variable within each limb. In the hinged AFO group the trends observed across knee kinetics, knee kinematics and ankle kinetics were clear in approximately half of the limbs whereas only five limbs had a clear optima in terms of tibial projection angles. For knee kinetics and knee kinematics between two and three limbs had no clear optima, whereas for ankle kinetics and tibial projection angles six and eight limbs respectively had no clear optima.

When limbs were considered according to sub-group, different patterns were evident though these were less clear than in the solid AFO group. Most notably, the two variant limbs demonstrated opposing patterns of normalisation in knee kinetics and kinematics, whereby large wedge size improved knee kinetics and kinematics in one limb (JOBA) but worsened knee kinetics and kinematics in the other limb (JANI). However, in terms of ankle kinetics and tibial kinematics, these two limbs behaved similarly, with more normal ankle kinetics and tibial projection angles in larger wedge sizes.

Limbs across both sub-groups demonstrated optimum values across all wedge sizes, with the exception of one of the variant limbs for whom an optimal wedge size was identified in only one of the four variables.



Figure 7.3 RMS difference to normal values for able bodied children for a) knee kinetics, b) knee kinematics, c) ankle kinetics and d) tibial projections, for the hinged AFO group.

	Deveneter	Sub-	Linch	RMS difference to normal				Tuonal
	Parameter	group	Limb	Flat	Small	Medium	Large	Trend
			ACBE	4.25	2.93	2.31	4.87	U
			ALBR	2.61	1.53	1.18	3.02	А
			CHJE	1.70	1.36	2.41	3.43	А
			DEFO	3.29	2.45	0.75	4.33	U
			HAGO	2.25	3.72	5.94	5.30	IT
	Ŋ	u	JORI - L	5.14	1.82	1.88	3.62	А
	etic	лис	JORI - R	1.41	1.59	2.52	4.01	А
	Ę	Con	LIEM	1.47	1.62	2.32	6.61	NO
	ee		LIKE	3.00	0.89	3.48	2.91	NO
	Ř		LIRI	3.48	5.62	7.30	7.85	IT
			ROHI	2.99	4.96	5.63	7.19	IT
			TACA	1.79	3.52	5.31	7.02	IT
			TIIR	2.42	1.82	1.93	4.35	А
			JANI	3.27	3.73	5.70	6.85	А
		Variant	JOBA	8.98	5.03	2.43	1.18	А
			ACBE	2.94	3.99	9.89	14.97	А
			ALBR	9.14	6.41	3.72	5.84	U
			СНЈЕ	3.51	6.94	12.41	12.22	IT
			DEFO	2.35	4.39	8.84	14.50	А
			HAGO	13.44	12.68	21.40	13.62	NO
	C	E	JORI - L	7.06	2.28	4.83	7.56	U
	Jati	Commo	IORI - R	3.04	5 37	11 42	11 42	IT
	Jen		LIFM	1 52	2.82	6.21	10.76	Δ
	ķi	0	LIKE	4 99	5.58	14 30	16.55	Δ
	nee			14.55	16 73	19.81	20.81	іт
	×			11.09	16.69	16.72	24.82	 IT
đ			таса	11.48	5.61	17.14	17.14	NO
groi				4.42	3.01	17.14	12.21	NU
ö				4.50	2.09	9.00	27.40	A NO
IAF		Variant		34.20	33.67	39.05	57.49	NU
gec			JUBA	21.09	15.61	9.57	0.07	
Hi			ALDD	4.45	4.57	5.94	2.54	
			ALBR	3.03	2.62	4.80	3.12	A
				0.72	2.03	1.32	0.12	DT
		Common	DEFO	5.39	5.75	4.38	2.81	
			HAGU	1.91	1.75	2.18	5.05	NU
	tic		JORI - L	4.33	3.13	2.41	3.67	0
	ine		JURI - K	2.27	6.36	4.26	4.26	NO
	ie T			2.42	1.50	3.51	6.01	0
	An A		LIKE	3.17	1.99	2.38	1.80	NO
	`		LIRI	0.94	2.01	4.00	6.27	11
			ROHI	1.24	1.05	3.15	1.66	NO
				2.55	1.92	5.50	1 00	
				6.21	1.15	2.59	1.66	DT
		Variant		0.21	4.59	3.30	2.20	
			JUBA	4.00	1.98	2.55	2.29	
			ALBE	3.07	5.82	7.53	8.80	
			CHIE	10.73	9.03	6.45	9.10	NO
			DEEO	4.00	6.05	7.64	9.81	IT
				4.00	6.03	7.04	2.61	NO
	su	L.	JORI - L	3.18	1.23	0.89	1.03	NO
	ctio	Jmc	JORI - R	3.25	4.78	4.91	2.28	NO
	oje	om	LIEM	1.48	0.42	1.26	0.84	NO
	Ā	0	LIKE	3.34	2.52	2.41	4.92	А
	bia		LIRI	3.54	2.79	2.50	2.61	А
	F		ROHI	3.78	4.76	2.29	8.22	U
			TACA	1.79	1.13	1.59	6.50	NO
			TIIR	4.07	1.82	4.94	9.79	U
			JANI	15.54	15.28	14.58	9.75	NO
		Variant	IOBA	6.99	5 44	4 04	1 25	DT

Table 7.3 RMS difference to normal values for all limbs, conditions and parameters and classification of optimum for the hinged AFO group. Data not reaching the minimum significant difference highlighted in grey. A = ambiguous, IT = unambiguous increasing trend, DT = unambiguous decreasing trend, U = unambiguous U-shaped trend, NO = no optimum. If an optimum wedge size was identified, these cells are highlighted.

# 7.3.2.2.2 Temporospatial variables

Table 7.4 presents the absolute values for the three temporospatial variables, along with the identified trend and if applicable, the optimal wedge size. More than half of the children demonstrated clear trends in terms of cadence and walking velocity with an optima ranging between the small to large wedges. Almost half of the children demonstrated no clear trends in terms of stride length but when an optimum was identified it also included the flat wedge.

	Deremeter	Sub-	Limph		Absolu	te Value		Trond
	Parameter	group	LIMD	Flat	Small	Medium	Large	Trena
			ACBE	116	122	122	129	IT
			ALBR	128	134	136	127	U
			CHJE	124	125	133	124	U
		uom	DEFO	122	137	120	129	NO
	(iii		HAGO	133	140	138	124	А
	s/m		JORI	105	113	109	110	U
	itep	E C	LIEM	100	102	103	101	U
	ce (s	0	LIKE	119	123	123	121	А
	deno		LIRI	127	135	137	131	U
	Cac		ROHI	101	106	104	112	IT
			TACA	112	115	115	112	А
			TIIR	102	105	109	113	IT
		Mariant	JANI	133	123	136	133	NO
		variant	JOBA	125	127	129	128	U
			ACBE	1.28	1.36	1.22	1.34	NO
			ALBR	1.23	1.34	1.40	1.26	U
			CHJE	1.11	1.22	1.23	1.19	А
			DEFO	1.37	1.50	1.38	1.30	U
	s/u	-	HAGO	1.19	1.37	1.29	1.06	U
õ	ıy (r	ē	JORI	1.12	1.20	1.09	1.18	NO
AF	locit	E C	LIEM	1.10	1.17	1.16	1.13	А
	s ve		LIKE	0.88	1.08	1.04	1.04	U
	king		LIRI	1.16	1.31	1.38	1.33	U
	wall		ROHI	1.24	1.27	1.23	1.04	U
			TACA	1.22	1.29	1.26	1.01	U
			TIIR	0.84	0.91	0.95	0.95	А
		Variant	JANI	1.27	1.21	1.38	1.30	NO
		vanant	JOBA	1.42	1.45	1.47	1.46	U
			ACBE	1.32	1.32	1.20	1.25	NO
			ALBR	1.16	1.21	1.22	1.19	A
			CHJE	1.08	1.17	1.09	1.04	U
			DEFO	1.33	1.32	1.23	1.10	A
	ē	c	HAGO	1.08	1.16	1.11	1.03	U
	r) h	e e	JORI	1.27	1.27	1.20	1.29	NO
	ungt	Lo Lo	LIEM	1.32	1.37	1.35	1.35	U
	de le	-	LIKE	0.87	1.06	1.03	1.05	NO
	Stric		LIRI	1.11	1.16	1.22	1.22	А
	0,		ROHI	1.46	1.43	1.41	1.13	NO
			TACA	1.30	1.34	1.31	1.08	NO
			TIIR	0.98	1.04	1.05	1.00	A
		Variant	JANI	1.14	1.18	1.23	1.18	U
		variant	JOBA	1.36	1.37	1.34	1.37	NO

Table 7.4 Average cadence, walking velocity and stride length (absolute values) for all limbs and conditions, and classification of optimum for the hinged AFO group. Data not reaching the minimum significant difference highlighted in grey. A = ambiguous, IT = clear increasing trend, DT = clear decreasing trend, U = clear U-shaped trend, NO = no optimum. If an optimum wedge size was identified, these cells are highlighted.

# 7.3.2.3 Summary of trend type

Overall, a clear optimum was identified across the biomechanical variables more often in the solid AFO group than the hinged AFO group. The solid AFO group was less ambiguous in terms of knee kinetics but more ambiguous in terms of knee kinematics, when compared to the hinged AFO group. The effect of wedge size on ankle kinematics was more consistent in the solid AFO group, as was the effect on tibial projection angles. The hinged AFO group had a greater number of limbs demonstrating no clear optimal across all biomechanical variables. Limbs within the hinged AFO group did however demonstrate an optimum wedge size (either clear or ambiguous) in terms of temporospatial parameters, more often than the solid AFO group. Table 7.5 presents summary data describing the number of limbs within each group demonstrating each type of trend according to each variable.

Group	Paramotor	Unamb	oiguous o	ptimum	Δ	NO	
Group	Falameter	U	IT	DT	A A	NO	
	Knee kinetics	5	3	0	2	1	
	Knee kinematics	0	2	0	7	2	
Solid AFOs	Ankle kinetics	7	1	0	2	1	
(n=11 limbs;	Tibial projection angles	3	1	1	4	2	
6 participants)	Cadence	2	0	0	0	4	
	Walking velocity	3	0	0	0	3	
	Stride length	2	1	0	1	2	
	Knee kinetics	2	4	0	7	2	
	Knee kinematics	2	4	1	5	3	
Hinged AFOs	Ankle kinetics	3	2	3	1	6	
(n=15 limbs;	Tibial projection angles	2	2	1	2	8	
14 participants)	Cadence	6	3	0	3	2	
	Walking velocity	8	0	0	3	3	
	Stride length	4	0	0	4	6	

Table 7.5 Summary data describing the number of limbs conforming to each type of trend for the solid and hinged AFO groups. A = ambiguous, IT = clear increasing trend, DT = clear decreasing trend, U = clear U-shaped trend (biomechanical parameters); NO = no optimum.

#### 7.3.3 Is there agreement between parameters?

#### 7.3.3.1 Solid AFOs

### 7.3.3.1.1 Correlation between biomechanical variables

To determine how the four biomechanical variables change with respect to each other, and thus establish the relationship between variables, the Pearson's Product Moment Correlation was performed between pairs of variables within each participant. Table 7.6 and Figure 7.4 present the correlation coefficient (r) for each pair of biomechanical variables for each participant within the solid AFO group, according to the common or variant sub-groups.

These results suggest that on average there is good agreement between the changes observed in knee kinetics with those observed in knee kinematics with a group average correlation coefficient of r=0.82. Limbs within both sub-groups demonstrated fair to strong positive relationships between variables.

Across the entire group the average correlation coefficient of r=0.33 indicates a lack of association between the changes seen in knee kinetics and tibial projection angle. However there were marked differences in the strength and direction of the relationship according to subgroup. The common sub-group demonstrated a moderate to good positive relationship (average r=0.66) whereas the variant sub-group demonstrated a moderate to good negative relationship (r=-0.60), thus resulting in a weak group average.

On average there was a fair to moderate positive relationship between changes in knee kinematics and changes in tibial projection angle (average r=0.67). However, two limbs in the variant sub-group demonstrated moderate to strong negative relationship (r=-0.66 and -0.95).

The direction and strength of relationship of ankle moment with both knee moment and knee kinematics varied across limbs within each sub-group. All limbs except two (in the common sub-group) demonstrated fair to strong positive relationships between ankle moment and tibial projection angle.

Two limbs in particular (MAHO-R and LIRI-L) had very strong agreement across all variables, with an average r=0.97 and r=0.92 respectively. Five other limbs (MAHO-L, JOTH-L, DEHA-R, JABU-L-R) had inconsistent agreement across parameters with some strong and some weak positive relationships, and some strong and some weak negative relationships.



Figure 7.4 Correlation between pairs of biomechanical variables within each participant in the solid AFO group. Variant limbs in grey.

#### Chapter 7 – Is there an optimal AFO-FC alignment?

	knee moment / knee kinematics	knee moment / tibial projection angle	knee kinematics / tibial projection angle	knee moment / ankle moment	knee kinematics / ankle moment	ankle moment / tibial projection angle	Ave.
JODA-L	0.60	0.77	0.91	0.98	0.48	0.63	0.81
JODA-R	0.33	0.82	0.80	0.54	0.04	0.25	0.52
JOTH-L	0.92	0.28	0.38	-0.07	-0.07	-0.92	-0.17
JOTH-R	0.34	0.14	0.97	0.34	0.93	0.94	0.78
LIRI-L	0.96	0.88	0.74	0.98	0.89	0.94	0.92
MAHO-L	0.87	0.62	0.92	-0.64	-0.42	-0.35	0.33
MAHO-R	0.98	0.90	0.90	0.98	0.99	0.96	0.97
Ave.	0.68	0.66	0.86	0.66	0.48	0.40	0.74
DEHA-L	0.37	0.03	0.94	0.03	0.50	0.46	0.49
DEHA-R	0.41	-0.54	0.54	-0.42	0.48	0.86	0.29
JABU-L	0.98	-0.88	-0.95	-0.65	-0.62	0.64	-0.27
JABU-R	1.00	-0.67	-0.66	0.21	0.19	0.40	0.30
Ave.	0.89	-0.60	-0.07	-0.24	0.13	0.63	0.22
Group Ave.	0.82	0.33	0.67	0.51	0.51	0.57	0.59

Table 7.6 Correlation coefficient (r) values for pairs of biomechanical variables within each participant in the solid AFO group. Variant limbs in dark grey.

#### 7.3.3.1.2 Agreement across all parameters

Table 7.7 presents the optimum wedge size across all variables; the score of agreement for biomechanical variables; the range of optimum wedge size, and for the sub-set of limbs where the range is 5° or less, the corresponding range of SVAs are reported. The optimum wedge size as nominated by knee kinetics occurred in the flat and small wedges in the majority of limbs, with only one limb having optimum in medium wedge and no limbs in the large wedge. Appendix G presents individual participant data depicting the RMS values for the four biomechanical parameters, and indicates the optimal wedge size according to knee kinetics, for both groups.

Only one limb achieved a perfect score of 3/3 for agreement across the four biomechanical variables, with four limbs each achieving 2/3 and 1/3, and one limb each achieving complete disagreement (a score of 0/3) and no clearly defined optimum. Six limbs had good agreement where the optimum wedge size was defined within a 5° range. The corresponding optimum SVA ranged from 0° to 10°.

An optimum wedge size for temporospatial variables was identified in only half of the possible conditions. When identified these were either the small, medium or large wedges and never the flat wedge. Patient preference varied between the flat, medium and small wedges but was never the large wedge. There was little agreement within temporospatial parameters, or between these and subjective preference, and the biomechanical parameters.

Sub-group	Participant and limb	Knee kinetics	Knee kinematics	Ankle kinetics	Tibial kinematics	Score <sup>#</sup>	Range of optimum <sup>%</sup> (°)	Optimum wedge size (°)	Fastest cadence	Fastest walking velocity	Longest stride length	Preferred wedge size
nom	JODA-L	Small	Flat	Small	NO	1/3	5	0-5	NO	Medium	Medium	Small
	JODA-R	Medium	Flat/small	Small	Medium	1/3	5	5-10	NO	Mediain	Weddurff	Sman
	JOTH-L	Small	Small/medium	Small	Medium	2/3	5	5-10	NO	NO	NO	Medium
	JOTH-R	Small	Flat/small	Flat/small	Flat	2/3	5	0-5		No		Wiedlam
Com	LIRI-L^	Flat/small	Large	Small	Small	2/3	10		Medium	Medium	Medium/ large	Flat
	MAHO-L	Small	Flat/small	NO	Flat/small	2/3	5	0-5	NO	NO	Small	Flat
	MAHO-R	Flat	Flat/small	Flat/small	Flat/small	3/3	0	0	NO	No	Sman	That
	DEHA-L*	NO	NO	Medium	Medium/large	N/A	N/A		Small	Small	NO	Modium
ant	DEHA-R	Flat	NO	Medium	NO	0/3	10		Sman	Sman	NO	Wealum
Vari	JABU-L	Flat	Flat/small	Medium	Medium/large	1/3	10		NO	NO	Large	Small
-	JABU-R	Flat/small	Flat/small	Medium	Large	1/3	10					

Table 7.7 Optimum wedge size according to each variable for the solid AFO group. Score indicates the number of variables in agreement with knee kinetics. Limbs with agreement outside of 5° and therefore where optimum wedge size cannot be approximated are in grey. \*DEHA-L AFO ankle angle is 3° DF. ^ Temporospatial results and favourite wedge size for LIRI also presented in the hinged AFO group. # N/A indicates no score because no clear optimum in terms of knee kinetics. % N/A indicates no range of optimum because no optimum wedge size was identified for knee kinetics. NO = no clear optimum.

# 7.3.3.2 Hinged AFOs

#### 7.3.3.2.1 Correlation between biomechanical variables

Table 7.6 and Figure 7.4 present the correlation coefficient (r) for each pair of biomechanical variables for each participant within the hinged AFO group, according to the common and variant sub-groups. All limbs had a positive correlation between knee kinematics and knee kinetics, with an average of r=0.85. For all remaining variable pairs the direction and strength of the relationship varied substantially across limbs.

The best agreement across all pairs of variables (JOBA, r= 0.91) was demonstrated in the relatively extended limb within the variant sub-group. Two additional limbs had, on average, very good agreement (TACA, r=0.88; and JORI-L, r=0.77) with the remainder demonstrating a range of association across variable pairs in terms of both strength and direction of agreement.



Figure 7.5 Correlation between pairs of biomechanical variables within each participant in the hinged AFO group. Variant limbs in grey.

Jori - L

LIKE

TACA

0.0

-0.5

-1.0

DEFO

HAGO JANI JOBA

TIIR

H

ALBR

CHJE

JORI - R

LIEM

Ĭ

LIRI ROHI TACA

J-INOI

0.0

-0.5

-1.0

ALBR

ACBE TIIR CHJE DEFO HAGO JANI JOBA

#### Chapter 7 – Is there an optimal AFO-FC alignment?

	knee moment / knee kinematics	knee moment / tibial projection angle	knee kinematics / tibial projection angle	knee moment / ankle moment	knee kinematics / ankle moment	ankle moment / tibial projection angle	Ave.
ACBE	0.29	-0.02	0.91	-0.58	-0.95	-0.78	-0.28
TIIR	0.74	0.93	0.93	0.15	0.10	0.23	0.66
ALBR	0.57	-0.35	-0.10	-0.51	-0.72	0.75	-0.05
CHJE	0.77	0.12	0.51	0.82	0.58	-0.38	0.48
DEFO	0.27	0.16	0.98	-0.39	-0.96	-0.89	-0.17
HAGO	0.67	-0.46	0.34	0.47	-0.17	-0.90	-0.08
JORI - L	0.80	0.83	0.38	0.93	0.60	0.81	0.77
JORI - R	0.85	-0.57	-0.08	0.05	0.20	0.50	0.22
LIEM	0.94	-0.20	-0.17	0.95	0.94	0.09	0.68
LIKE	0.56	0.27	0.49	0.38	-0.55	-0.29	0.15
LIRI	0.99	-0.94	-0.89	0.93	0.96	-0.76	0.34
ROHI	0.96	0.61	0.79	0.35	0.12	-0.45	0.55
TACA	0.92	0.75	0.59	0.93	1.00	0.57	0.88
Ave.	0.82	0.12	0.51	0.54	0.20	-0.19	0.39
JANI	0.81	-0.86	-0.41	-0.96	-0.73	0.90	-0.32
JOBA	1.00	0.93	0.94	0.82	0.83	0.63	0.91
Ave	0.99	0.93	0.94	0.82	0.83	0.63	0.53
Ave.	0.85	0.13	0.52	0.44	0.19	-0.02	0.41

Table 7.8 Correlation coefficient (r) values for pairs of biomechanical variables within each participant in the hinged AFO group. Variant limbs in dark grey.

#### 7.3.3.2.2 Agreement across all parameters

Table 7.9 presents the optimum wedge size across all variables; the score of agreement across biomechanical variables; the range of optimum wedge size, and for the sub-set of limbs where the range is 5° or less, the corresponding range of SVAs are reported. The optimum wedge size as nominated by knee kinetics was most commonly the flat wedge (7/15 limbs) and was only the large wedge in one limb, but this was not a clear optimum.

Only one limb achieved a perfect score of 3/3 for agreement across the four biomechanical variables, with seven limbs achieving 2/3, one limb achieving 1/3 and five limbs achieving complte disagreement (score of 0/3). In eight limbs there was 'good' agreement where the optimum wedge range could be defined within 5°. The corresponding optimum SVA ranged between 0° and 15°.

The optimum wedge size in terms of temporospatial variables varied across wedges although was never the flat wedge. Subjective preference varied across all wedge sizes. There was little apparent agreement within temporospatial parameters, or between these and subjective preference, and the biomechanical parameters.

dn			Knee	Ankle	Tibial	Score	Range	Optimu	Fastest	Fastest	Longest	Preferred
-gro	Limb	Knee kinetics	kinematic	kinetics	kinematics	#	of	m SVA	cadence	walking	stride length	wedge size
Sub			S				optima	(°)		velocity		
	ACBE	Medium	Flat	Large	Flat	0/3	15		Large	NO	NO	Flat
	ALBR	Small/mediu	Medium	Small	NO	2/3	5	5-10	Medium	Medium	Small/mediu	Couldn't tell
	CHJE	Flat/small	Flat	Flat	NO	2/3	5	0-5	Medium	Small/mediu	Small	Flat
	DEFO	Medium	Flat	Large	Flat	0/3	15		NO	Small	Flat/small	Medium
	HAGO	Flat	NO	NO	NO	0/3	N/A		Small/mediu	Small	Small	Medium/larg
	JORI-L	Small/mediu	Small	Medium	NO	2/3	5	5-10	Small	NO	Flat/small	Medium
non	JORI -	Flat/small	Flat	Flat	NO	2/3	5	0-5				
Imo	LIEM	None	Flat/small	Small	NO	N/A	5	0-5	Medium	Small/mediu	Medium/larg	Small
0	LIKE	Small	Flat/small	NO	Small/mediu	2/3	5	0-5	Small/mediu	Small	NO	Large
	LIRI-	Flat	Flat	Flat	Medium/larg	2/3	15		Medium	Medium	Medium/larg	Flat
	D∧ ROHI	Flat	Flat	NO	Medium	1/3	10	0	Large	Small	ÑO	Flat
	TACA	Flat	NO	NO	NO	0/3	N/A		Small/mediu	Small	NO	Flat/small
	TIIR	Small/mediu	Small	Small	Small	3/3	0	5	Large	Medium/larg	Small/mediu	Medium
t	JANI	Flat/small	NO	Large	NO	0/3	10		NO	NO	Medium	Medium
arian	ΙΟΒΑ	Medium/larg	Large	NO	large	2/3	5	10-15	Medium	Medium	NO	Flat
Š	JOBY		Laige	NO	Laige	2/5	5	10-13	Weduill	wiculuit		Παι

Table 7.9 Optimum wedge size according to each variable in the hinged AFO group. Score indicates the number of variables in agreement with knee kinetics. Limbs with agreement outside of 5° and where SVA cannot be approximated are in grey. \* DEFO AFO ankle angle is -3° PF. ^ Results for LIRI also presented in solid AFO group. # N/A indicates no score because no clear optimum in terms of knee kinetics. % N/A indicates no range of optimum because only one optimum wedge size was identified. NO = no clear optimum.

#### 7.4 Discussion

This investigation addressed two research questions: 'Is there an optimum AFO-FC alignment?' and 'Is there agreement on optimum wedge size across biomechanical parameters, temporospatial variables and subjective preference?' The following discussion addresses these in turn before commenting on limitations of the work and future directions.

#### 7.4.1 Is there an optimum AFO-FC alignment?

The first research question addressed in this investigation was 'Is there an optimum AFO-FC alignment?' For the purpose of this analysis the optimum AFO-FC alignment was indicated by the wedge size that produced the most normal pattern of knee kinetics, knee kinematics, tibial projection angle and ankle kinetics over mid-stance. It was hypothesised that an optimum wedge size would be identified across the biomechanical parameters in most limbs and that the solid AFO group would have an optimum wedge size identified more often than the hinged AFO group, particularly in the limbs demonstrating the common pattern of knee kinematics.

The results suggest that an optimum alignment could in fact be identified for individual biomechanical parameters in the majority of limbs. While this supported the hypothesis there were several instances across a range of the parameters where there was no clear optimum. These occurred over a range of parameters and limbs within both AFO groups and sub-groups. Broadly speaking however, the solid AFO group had more clear optima in the biomechanical variables than the hinged AFO group, and within both groups the limbs with fewer clear optima were the variant limbs in the solid AFO group and the flexed variant limb in the hinged AFO group.

The focus of the tuning procedure has largely been directed toward optimisation of gait. Despite this, no studies have explicitly reported the normalising effect of modifying AFO-FC alignment on the gait patterns of children with cerebral palsy. Given previous suggestions that children who will tune successfully are those with more extended gait patterns (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c; Owen, *et al.*, 2004), it is not surprising to find that it is these children who more often than not, have one particular wedge size that produces the most normal biomechanical pattern. Given the results of Chapter 6, it is also not surprising that the normalising effect of solid AFOs is considerably more consistent than hinged AFOs, in light of the differences in AFO design.

The tuning procedure is described as a trial and error process whereby small changes are made to the design of the AFO-FC in order to optimise its performance (Owen, 2004c; Owen, 2010; Owen, *et al.*, 2004). This description assumes that each subsequent change in design (eg a change in SVA) produces a discernable change in the outcome (most commonly knee kinetics but also often knee kinematics), such that an AFO-FC alignment producing the best gait pattern can

be identified. The present study is the first to quantify the normalisation effect of AFO-FC alignment across a range of biomechanical variables in an attempt to provide substantiative evidence either in support of, or against these assumptions. The results suggest that certainly for the solid AFO group, discernable and systematic changes are produced in these four biomechanical variables which, when compared to normal values result in most cases, in a clear optimum.

Optimum wedge size can be translated into optimum SVA simply by adding or subtracting any dorsiflexion or plantarflexion inherent in the AFO ankle angle. Of the limbs which had agreement on optimum wedge size across biomechanical variables within a range of 5°, the wedge size produces the equivalent SVA because all AFOs had a plantigrade ankle angle. Results of the present study suggest that the optimum SVA in the solid AFO group was most frequently the 5° SVA (common sub-group) or 0° (variant limbs). These results do not agree with the only other studies that have reported the final SVA of AFO-FCs after having undergone a tuning procedure. These studies are in general agreement with each other with an average SVA of 11.86° (SD 2.05°) (Owen, 2002) and 10.8° (SD 1.8°) (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009), but report markedly larger SVAs than the present study.

This disagreement is likely to be a reflection of the gait patterns of the children included in each study. The study by Jagadamma and colleagues (2009) examined five children who demonstrated knee hyperextension (<0° knee flexion during stance phase). These children would have all demonstrated more knee hyperextension and greater peak knee extension moments than the children in the solid AFO common sub-group. The results of the present study suggest that greater degrees of knee extension result in larger optimum SVAs and as such these differences in gait pattern are likely to account for the larger SVA.

The average SVA values reported by Owen (2002) are the result of tuning the AFO-FC using a combination of modifications to the SVA, heel and sole profiles of the footwear. After selection of an appropriate AFO ankle angle, modifying the SVA is said to be the first stage of tuning, which is followed by changes to the heel and then sole. Verbal communication with this author suggests however that after modifying the heel and sole properties of the footwear, the final stage of tuning is to make a final assessment and adjustment of the SVA as necessary (personal communication with E. Owen, 2010). This process suggests that changing the heel and sole profile may also affect mid-stance biomechanics and may explain why the final SVAs identified by the present study differ from the study by Owen (2002). In addition, in the study by Owen (2002), knee kinetics were assessed at a specific point of the gait cycle (30% gait cycle) which, based on the results of Chapter 6, would result in a different outcome compared to measurements based on the mid-stance phase or all of stance phase.

Four biomechanical variables were examined in this investigation. Optimising knee kinetics over mid-stance is one of the primary aims of AFO-FC tuning (Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Owen, 2002). This study found that within the solid AFO group, knee kinetics was one of the two variables (the other being ankle moment) with the most consistent identification of an optimum wedge size. This lends support to the idea that children who wear solid AFOs will have a particular AFO-FC alignment that produces the most normal knee kinetic pattern during this period of the gait cycle. The optimal wedge size will however vary according to AFO type and sub-group.

While tuning has primarily focussed on the effect on knee moment, there are numerous other references regarding tuning to normalise knee kinematics (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010; Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, *et al.*, 2004; Stallard & Woollam, 2003). This study found that all limbs in the solid AFO group (except for two of the limbs in the variant sub-group) had a specific wedge size or small range of wedge sizes that produced the most normal knee kinematics. In the majority of cases these were the flat and small wedges which suggests that the best knee kinematics over mid-stance can, in general, be achieved with a SVA of 0-5°

Another variable suggested to be at the heart of the tuning process is normalisation of shank kinematics (Owen, 2004c; Owen, 2010; Owen, *et al.*, 2004). The present study found that an optimum wedge size for tibial projection angle, which is essentially a dynamic measurement of SVA, could also be identified in the majority of limbs. When identified, this optimum wedge varied across the entire 15° range tested. This means that in any limb where the optimum was either the flat or large wedge, the true optimum may remain outside the tested range and as such is unknown. The reference to optimisation of knee kinetics, knee kinematics and tibial projection angle in the wider body of literature lend importance to the issue of whether these variables all normalise at the same wedge size. This is discussed further in the subsequent section.

Ankle kinetics were included in this analysis because of the systematic changes demonstrated in Chapter 6. They have not featured either as an outcome variable or as part of the tuning procedure in any other literature. Ankle kinetics were first examined on the basis of hypothesised mechanisms by which different patterns of response may occur as a result of differences in baseline gait pattern (refer to Chapter 2). In particular it was thought that limbs with more flexed gait patterns would demonstrate systematic reductions in ankle moment. The results of the present study support this suggestion as all limbs demonstrating a more flexed pattern (four limbs in the variant solid AFO sub-group and one variant limb in the hinged AFO group) demonstrated a clear optimum wedge size in the medium wedge and large wedge, respectively. Several other limbs with the common gait pattern also demonstrated an optimum

wedge size in terms of ankle moment that were most clear in the solid AFO group. Therefore, these limbs could be considered as demonstrating a "mixed response" as seen in the pilot data presented in Chapter 4.

#### 7.4.2 Is there agreement between parameters?

The second question addressed in this investigation was whether there was agreement on optimum wedge size across biomechanical parameters, as well as temporospatial variables and subjective preference. It was hypothesised that there would not be complete agreement across these parameters in the majority of limbs but that the solid AFO group would demonstrate better agreement than the hinged AFO group, and within the solid AFO group, the limbs demonstrating the common gait pattern would have better agreement than the variant limbs.

The results of the present study support these hypotheses as there were only two limbs across the entire sample for which perfect agreement on the optimum wedge size was obtained for the four biomechanical variables. However, if good agreement is considered to be a 5° range in optimum wedge size, more than half of the limbs in both the solid AFO group (6/11) and hinged AFO group (8/15) had good agreement. In the solid AFO group, all of these limbs were part of the common sub-group. In the hinged AFO group, these limbs were either in the common subgroup or was the variant limb demonstrating an extended gait pattern. This suggests that in the solid AFO group, limbs with good knee extension in mid- to late stance have better agreement in normalisation of these four biomechanical parameters than those with increased knee flexion.

The variant limbs in the solid AFO group demonstrated the worst agreement across variables with no clear optimum in knee kinetics in one limb, and scores of 0/3 or 1/3 for the remaining three limbs. The optimum SVA spanned 10° in these three limbs which resulted from disagreement in optimum wedge size for knee kinetics (flat wedge), compared to ankle kinetics and tibial kinematics (medium and large wedges). It is therefore difficult to select a wedge size that produces the best gait pattern overall in this sub-group without first prioritising one variable and in doing so accepting detrimental effects in other variables. It is also possible that changes to the heel and sole profiles could counter these effects.

Many of the proponents of the AFO-FC tuning process emphasise the importance of optimising both the kinetics and kinematics of gait (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010; Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, *et al.*, 2004; Stallard & Woollam, 2003). Both tibial kinematics and knee kinematics have been identified as relevant kinematic variables that should be optimised as part of this process. This assumes that by changing AFO-FC alignment, normalisation will occur simultaneously across variables.

The results of this study do not support this contention, with only two limbs within each group having perfect agreement across the four biomechanical variables. The correlations between pairs of variables provide further insight into this disagreement. These data suggest that only a handful of limbs will have good agreement across all four biomechanical parameters. For children wearing either solid or hinged AFOs, knee kinetics and knee kinematics tend to normalise at similar wedge sizes and if considered together will, in most, but not all cases produce relatively good agreement, regardless of type of gait pattern. This is encouraging given the focus on these two variables throughout the literature.

However, if tibial projection angles are considered with regard to knee kinetics and kinematics, a distinction was seen within the solid AFO group with regard to the type of gait pattern. Limbs demonstrating the common pattern of knee kinematics will have good agreement, whereas in limbs demonstrating increased knee flexion (followed by either persistent knee flexion or knee extension) will have disagreement in terms of the normalising effect. If tibial projection angles are considered with knee kinematics, all limbs had good agreement except for the two variant limbs with persistent knee flexion. There was no consistent relationship within the hinged AFO group. Thus consideration of tibial angles adds complexity specifically to the optimisation of limbs who demonstrate increased knee flexion during early stance.

These variant limbs demonstrating increased knee flexion in early stance, either persisting or demonstrating good knee extension, demonstrate a gait pattern considered by some to be less likely to tune successfully (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c; Owen, *et al.*, 2004). Given the lack of agreement between knee kinetics and kinematics with tibial projection angles, it is probable that these authors considered tibial kinematics in their definition of unsuccessful tuning. Owen (2010) suggests that normalisation of shank kinematics is the precursor to normalised joint kinetics, which in light of the results of the present study may not be possible for these children.

Agreement across temporospatial parameters was variable in the solid AFO group with approximately half of these limbs demonstrating no clear optimum. When an optimum wedge size was identified there was however reasonable consistency within each individual participant. This is to be expected as changes in one of these variables, such as increased walking velocity must result from changes in at least one of the other variables, that is faster or longer steps. While the hinged AFO group had more limbs demonstrating clear trends, there was less agreement across variables within each participant.

Some limitations apply to the temporospatial results on the basis of the method used to determine optimum wedge size. Optimum was considered to be the largest value for all three variables, however some children with CP tend to decrease stride length when cadence

increases (Brunner, *et al.*, 1998; Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Buckon, *et al.*, 2004; Hayek, *et al.*, 2007; Radtka, *et al.*, 1997; Romkes, *et al.*, 2006). If this was the case we would expect to see opposing trends in these variables and ultimately disagreement in optimum wedge size.

The only study to report changes in temporospatial variables from a tuned to a non-tuned AFO-FC in children with CP examined five children demonstrating knee hyperextension and found no significant effect on walking velocity, cadence or stride length (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). When children were considered on the basis of hemi- or diplegia, tuning the AFO-FC resulted in decreased walking velocity, cadence and stride length in two diplegic children but increased walking velocity and cadence in the three hemiplegic children (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009). All of the children in the solid AFO group of the present study had diplegic CP, which may account for the lack of consistent trends in response to wedge size.

This analysis also recorded the participant's subjective preference during data collection. Participants were asked to consider which, if any of the four wedges was their favourite. While the majority of children did identify a preferred wedge, several found it difficult because the wedges were administered in a randomised order. Two participants, one from each group, couldn't identify an optimum. There was variable agreement with preferred wedge size across the temporospatial and biomechanical variables. Thus subjective opinion of the patient as taken during the laboratory setting where systematic changes are made in a randomised order may not be a reliable indication of their preferred wedge size.

#### 7.4.3 Limitations

This investigation employed a methodology whereby systematic alignment changes were made to the AFO-FC, and therefore cannot be likened to the trial and error tuning process. Because of this, these results must be considered in light of the potential changes that could be made to the gait pattern with the use of modifications to the heel and sole profiles of the footwear. Theoretically these components of the tuning process could affect these variables and thus lead to further improvements or deterioration in different parameters. A lack of solid evidence demonstrating the effect of heel and sole modifications on gait means that the potential effect of these components of the tuning process on the results of this study cannot be hypothesised.

In addition, using the RMS difference between curves across mid-stance does not allow one variable, such as peak knee extension moment, to be prioritised and also cannot distinguish between changes occurring across the duration of stance phase. In this analysis knee kinetics were prioritised and knee kinematics, tibial projection angles and ankle kinetics were given equal weighting on the basis of systematic changes seen in Chapter 6. Variables above knee level were
not included because they did not present the same consistent changes, and the added complexity was not considered warranted.

Both groups in this study were of small sample size with n=6 participants (with 11 limbs) in the solid AFO group, and n=14 participants (with 15 limbs) in the hinged AFO group, with one participant included in both groups. Within each group the majority of limbs demonstrated a common knee kinematic pattern with good knee extension in mid-late stance in the baseline condition. In the solid AFO group this sub-group of limbs responded consistently to AFO-FC alignment change and showed good agreement across optimisation of biomechanical variables within 5°. As such these results can be generalised well with the wider population.

The sub-group analysis in this study and in Chapter 6 was based on recognisable patterns of knee kinematics occurring naturally within the data. Published gait classifications could not be applied in this situation as sub-groups were considered based on the baseline condition in the AFO and not a barefoot condition. In addition, ankle movement was constrained which eliminates the defining feature of jump knee gait, crouch gait and apparent equinus (Rodda & Graham, 2001). To use the descriptive terms of previous authors, the flexed limb in the hinged group (JANI) and JABU in the solid group could instead be described as exhibiting stiff knee gait (Rodda & Graham, 2001; Sutherland & Davids, 1993; Winters, *et al.*, 1987), while DEHA demonstrates a variation of true equinus (Rodda, *et al.*, 2004). Regardless of this, only three limbs demonstrated variations on the mild pattern and as such any differences relating to this are readily distinguished throughout the analysis despite being grouped together.

Ankle moment was included in this analysis on the basis of theoretical work presented in Chapter 2, pilot work of Chapter 4 and the results of Chapter 6. This variable was given equal weighting in calculating scores of agreement across variables. If this variable was removed from the analysis this will most likely change the degree of agreement across biomechanical variables. Thus the scores calculated in the present investigation should be considered in light of the relative importance placed on each of these four parameters.

#### 7.4.4 Future directions

Further analysis could be conducted using gait summary measures to consider change over a range of parameters, levels and planes. For example, the Movement Analysis Profile which generates a Gait Profile Score (Baker *et al.*, 2009), and the Gait Deviation Index (Schwartz & Rozumalski, 2008) are two summary measures of overall gait pathology that have been used in children with CP. However both of these measures use only kinematic data and have not been validated for kinetic data. Alternatively, particular gait parameters considered important in the

management of particular gait patterns could be prioritised, and a sub-set of parameters of primary concern could be included.

## 7.5 Conclusion

This study found that an optimum AFO-FC alignment could be identified according to the wedge size that best normalised knee kinematics, knee kinetics, tibial kinematics and ankle kinetics over mid-stance, for the majority of limbs. An optimum wedge size was however less apparent in terms of temporospatial parameters and subjective preference. Only one limb each from the solid and hinged AFO groups had perfect agreement in optimum wedge size across the four biomechanical variables, with approximately half from each group having good agreement. From these data an optimal SVA could be estimated and was found to vary according to gait pattern within the solid AFO group, but in the hinged AFO group was quite variable. Across both groups changes in knee kinematics tended to agree with changes in knee kinetics regardless of gait pattern. In the solid AFO group considering changes to tibial projection angle resulted in poor agreement particularly in limbs demonstrating increased knee flexion in early stance. Overall this suggests that changing the AFO-FC alignment does not permit normalisation across a range of variables, and that there must be a prioritisation of the most important variable to normalise.

# 8 A new model to measure movement of the ankle, AFO and footwear in solid AFOs using 3DGA

This chapter describes the development and testing of a new model to measure AFO, tibial and footwear movement in solid AFOs using 3-dimensional gait analysis (3DGA). This study addresses the sixth and final research question of this thesis which was, 'When ankle movement in a solid AFO is measured using 3DGA, does this accurately reflect anatomical ankle movement?' The first aim of this investigation was to compare ankle kinematics provided by the PluginGait (PiG) model (Vicon, Oxford, UK) to anatomical ankle kinematics that were calculated as the angle between the tibia relative to the foot. The second aim of this investigation was to determine the extent of AFO deformation, tibial movement within the AFO and movement of the footwear on the AFO. The outcomes of this study provide a novel approach for measuring AFO performance in both clinical and research settings and in doing so improve our understanding of how solid AFOs behave under dynamic conditions. This model also allows a more accurate measurement of ankle kinematics which will help clinicians and researcher make better informed decisions regarding the success of interventions.

## 8.1 Introduction

Solid AFOs are prescribed for adults and children with neurological conditions for the purpose of eliminating all motion at the ankle joint. The effect of this device on gait has been assessed in both the clinical and research setting using 3DGA. Despite the purported rigidity of the solid AFO, several studies investigating the effect of solid AFOs on children with cerebral palsy (CP) have reported a considerable range of ankle movement between 8-16° of dorsi- and plantarflexion (Abel, *et al.*, 1998; Brunner, *et al.*, 1998; Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Buckon, *et al.*, 2004; Carlson, *et al.*, 1997; Lam, *et al.*, 2005; Thompson, *et al.*, 2002). This movement has often been attributed to insufficient rigidity of the AFO which deforms under loading and buckles at the ankle (Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Buckon, *et al.*, 2004; Carlson, *et al.*, 1997; Thompson, *et al.*, 2002).

There are however other factors that may contribute to an output of significant ankle movement  $(\theta_{PiG})$  when using a lower limb kinematic model (see Figure 8.1). First, this ankle movement will include errors caused by soft tissue artefact (STA) of the knee marker which influences calculation of ankle kinematics. Second, while the real component of this movement is often thought to reflect AFO deformation  $(\theta_{AFO \ def})$ , it is actually a true measurement of anatomical ankle movement ( $\theta_{ankle \ anat}$ ) (see Figure 8.2). In some cases AFO deformation will be the same as the anatomical ankle movement, but in others, some movement will occur between the tibia and AFO ( $\theta_{tib \ mov}$ ). Because of the marker configuration used in most lower limb biomechanical

models, the model is unable to distinguish between AFO deformation and anatomical ankle movement.

While there is likely to be some movement between the tibia and AFO, there is also likely to be some movement between the footwear and AFO( $\theta_{shoe\ mov}$ ). While this is not going to affect the PiG output of ankle kinematics (described in detail below), the ability to measure the movement between the footwear and limb and thereby quantify the intimacy of the fit of the footwear, has both research and clinical utility.

The following discussion first addresses how the PiG modelling software may be affected by STA of the knee marker movement, movement of the tibia within the AFO and movement of the shoe on the AFO/foot. Secondly, the relationship between the individual segments, namely the tibia, AFO and footwear is examined. Finally, a new model based on the PiG marker set and static calibration is proposed that allows calculation of the effect of STA of the knee marker on ankle kinematics, as well as measurement of anatomical ankle movement, AFO kinematics and movement of the footwear.



Figure 8.1 Concept diagram showing the long axis of the two limb segments used in the PiG calculation of ankle kinematics.



Figure 8.2 Concept diagram of movement of the AFO ( $\theta_{AFO \ def}$ ), the tibia within the AFO ( $\theta_{tib \ mov}$ ), the anatomical ankle ( $\theta_{ankle \ anat}$ ) and the AFO foot piece within the footwear ( $\theta_{shoe \ mov}$ ).

## 8.1.1 Plug-In-Gait

3DGA or instrumented gait analysis is considered the gold standard assessme nt method for measuring complex movements such as human walking. 3DGA involves measuring the movement of retroflective markers (indicated in text using uppercase) that have been attached to the skin over specific anatomical landmarks. As the subject moves within the laboratory, the system records the position of these markers within this laboratory based global co-ordinate system.

For the movement of these markers to provide useful information, they must also be 'mapped' to represent the underlying bones and joints. To map these markers a model is applied which uses the markers to define each body segment with an origin and three orthogonal axes, which are often based on how the model defines joint centres. This creates a local co-ordinate system for each segment. Segments are indicated in text using [square brackets].

The model also describes how segments are linked together and allows calculation of kinematic angles, moments and power quantities. PlugInGait (PiG) is a commonly used model provided by VICON (Vicon, Oxford, UK) modelling software. The PiG lower limb kinematic model uses the kinematic model described by Davis and colleagues (Davids, *et al.*, 1991) which has been one of the most commonly used models in gait analysis. Although the code for this is not published, several people have created very similar models in programming languages such as BodyLanguage (which forms the basis for VICON's BodyBuilder software), as well as programming languages for other 3DGA systems. While modelling in this investigation uses either PiG or BodyLanguage models written specifically for this project, the conclusions are not restricted to this specific model and analysis system.

#### 8.1.2 Definition of a rigid-body segment

In 3DGA the body is defined as a series of linked rigid body segments. To define a rigid body segment a minimum of three points, or markers are required. Each point is expressed as coordinates relative to a particular frame of reference. Points can be global, in the co-ordinate system of the laboratory, or local, in the co-ordinate system of a segment.

To define a segment, one point is nominated as the segment origin, and two lines are defined that together uniquely describe the segment rotation according to three orthogonal axes (see Figure 8.3). One of these directions is taken as a principal direction and is used to directly define the direction of the first segment axis. The second direction is subordinate to the first, and is used with the first direction to define a plane. The third axis of the segment is taken to be perpendicular to this plane, with the second axis perpendicular to both the first and third axes. Thus rotation of a segment is represented by the orientation of its three axes, pointing in mutually perpendicular directions from the segment origin.

 $3^{rd}$  axis perpendicular to plane between  $1^{st}$  and  $2^{nd}$  directions



Figure 8.3 Definition of orthogonal axes for a rigid body segment.

#### 8.1.3 Definition of the joint centre

Joint kinematics describe rotations of one segment relative to another, around a single point defined as the joint centre. A joint centre is most commonly designated as the origin of one of the segments. In PiG the knee and ankle joint centre are defined analogously with reference to three points. One of these points is a previously calculated joint centre from a proximal segment, a second is a real marker located at some known perpendicular distance (joint centre offset) from the required joint centre, and the third marker defines the plane. For example, PiG defines the knee joint centre (KJC) such that the KJC is at the offset distance (half width of knee) from the knee marker (KNEE), in a direction perpendicular to the line from the hip joint centre to the KJC, with the plane defined by the offset to the thigh marker (Figure 8.4).



Figure 8.4 Definition of joint centre in PiG.

8.1.4 Soft Tissue Artefact of the knee marker

An inherent limitation in 3DGA is that rigid body segments are defined using markers attached to the skin. There will, therefore, be some degree of soft tissue movement that displaces the marker relative to the underlying bone thus leading to error in calculation of virtual points such as the joint centre. Soft tissue artefact (STA) refers to error in estimation of anatomical joint centres due to movement of the skin on which the marker is placed. While in some cases this can be minimized by choice of marker location, this is not possible in all cases.

In PiG, STA of the KNEE marker may lead to error in the output of ankle kinematics. As previously described, PiG uses the KNEE marker to define the knee joint centre (KJC), such that the KJC is at the offset distance (half width of knee) from the KNEE, in a direction perpendicular to the line from the hip joint centre to the KJC, with the plane defined by the offset to the thigh marker. The KNEE marker is known to move anteriorly with knee extension and posteriorly with knee flexion which will thus translate the KJC anteriorly and posteriorly (Akbarshahi *et al.*, 2010; Cappozzo, Catani, Leardini, Benedetti, & Della Croce, 1996). If the foot is fixed, STA of the KNEE marker will result in measured incline and recline of the [tibia] and of relative dorsiflexion and plantarflexion of the ankle.

STA of the KNEE marker is therefore likely to exaggerate plantarflexion during periods of increased knee flexion such as swing phase, and also stance phase in the case of crouch gait. Because PiG is a hierarchical model whereby proximal joint centres are defined first and then used to define distal joint centres, the knee joint centre will also be affected by STA associated with more proximal markers, particularly the thigh wand. These however will have a less predictable and generally smaller effect on the measured plantarflexion angle.

#### 8.1.5 Calculation of the ankle joint centre

Using the PiG model to measure ankle kinematics in patients who wear an AFO may also result in error in the calculation of the modelled ankle joint centre (AJC). If, for example, there is any movement of the anatomical ankle within the AFO on which the ankle marker is mounted then the real AJC will move with respect to the markers and therefore the modelled AJC. This can be described as a direct source of error. There are also indirect sources of error. If the ankle remains securely within the AFO but the tibia moves within the AFO ( $\theta_{tib mov}$ ) (Figure 8.2), this will also affect calculation of the modelled AJC, in a manner similar to STA of the knee marker. Of course this will only occur if the tibial wand is placed on the AFO and not on the skin.

PiG calculates the AJC using half the width in from the ankle (ANK) marker (ankle offset) in the plane of the ANK, tibial marker (TIB) and KJC (see Figure 8.5). If the tibial segment, defined as [tibia], moves anteriorly within the AFO, the KJC will also move anteriorly with respect to the TIB marker which is on the AFO, resulting in apparent external rotation ( $\theta$ ) of the modelled [tibia]. Given the AJC lies in the plane of the ANK, TIB and KJC, the modelled AJC will be displaced anteriorly due to the rotational effect. In the case of STA of the knee marker, where the marker moves posteriorly with increased knee flexion, the opposite effect would occur.

Because PiG calculates ankle kinematics using the angle between the [tibia] and line between the toe marker (TOE) and AJC (minus the static plantarflexion offset calculated as the angle between the TOE-AJC line and heel (HEE) marker-TOE line), any anterior displacement of the AJC would lead to exaggerated plantarflexion or dorsiflexion, and any posterior displacement would lead to reduced plantarflexion and dorsiflexion. This assumes however, that while the tibia moves within the AFO the ankle and foot are held securely within the AFO.

While slight anterior and posterior displacement of the AJC is likely to occur due to these two factors, the size of this change is likely to be so small it is considered negligible. The implications of this however are that any modelling involving the tibial segment should avoid the use of the AJC as the PiG tibial origin (TIO).



Figure 8.5 PiG segment definitions. This figure illustrates how STA of the KNEE marker and anterior tibial movement within the AFO can affect ankle kinematics.

## 8.1.6 Movement of the AFO and shoe

In both the clinical and research settings, the AFO and the footwear are considered to move as a single unit. While it is likely that the AFO will move with respect to the shoe, specifically at the heel count( $(\theta_{shoe\ mov})$ , this will not affect PiG output of ankle kinematics. PiG calculates a plantarflexion offset during the static trial which is the angle between the TOE-AJC line and the HEE-TOE line. This offset is applied to every calculation of the TOE-AJC line in the dynamic trial. Because PiG uses the TOE-AJC line to calculate ankle kinematics, and not the HEE-TOE line, any movement of the AFO relative to the footwear will not influence the output of ankle kinematics.

Despite this, the ability to assess t he integrity of the foot and shoe complex remains important. The footwear worn with an AFO is considered integral in achieving the desired effects of the orthosis. Not only does an ill-fitting shoe pose a safety risk, but it also limits accurate observation of gait cycle events such as true heel contact and foot flat. It is also difficult to examine the effectiveness of shoe modifications if the intimacy of the foot and footwear cannot first be confirmed.

## 8.1.7 Calculation of AFO kinematics

Therefore, we would expect PiG's estimates of ankle angle to be a reasonable estimate of the anatomical ankle angle with a tendency to overestimate plantarflexion during periods of increased knee flexion due to STA of the knee marker (Equation 8-1). This should be affected very little by anterior displacement of the AJC due to excessive tibial movement or posterior displacement due to STA of the KNEE marker, and not at all by movement of the AFO within the shoe. If there is no tibial movement, anatomical ankle movement will also represent AFO kinematics ( $\theta_{AFO \ def}$ )(see Figure 8.2 and Equation 8-2). If however there is some tibial movement, the PiG output will not allow for separation of AFO deformation from anatomical ankle kinematics. This is because the KNEE marker defines the long axis of the tibia which pivots with respect to the ANK marker (see Figure 8.1). Thus while clinicians and researchers are able to reasonably assess anatomical ankle kinematics within an AFO, they are unable to assess AFO performance; that is, whether the AFO is rigid enough to prevent deformation under load and whether the tibia is well restrained within the AFO.

#### Therefore if;

$ heta_{PiG}$	is the angle between the PiG [tibia] and [foot];
$ heta_{ankle\ anat}$	is the angle between the [shank] and [AFOfoot], reflecting anatomical ankle movement;
$ heta_{AFO\ def}$	is the angle between the [AFO] and [AFOfoot], reflecting deformation of the AFO;
$ heta_{tibmov}$	is the angle between the [shank] and [AFO], reflecting movement of the tibia within the AFO;
$ heta_{shoe\ mov}$	is the angle between the [shoe] and [AFOfoot]; reflecting movement of the AFO within the shoe;
$\theta_{STA}$	is an estimate of the angular error introduced by movement of the KNEE marker over the bone;

Therefore we could expect that:

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_{PiG} &= \theta_{ankle\ anat} + \theta_{STA} \\ \theta_{ankle\ anat} &= \theta_{AFO\ def} + \theta_{tib\ mov} \end{aligned}$$
 Equation 8-1

Equation 8-2

#### And therefore, that:

 $\theta_{PiG} = \theta_{AFO \ def} + \theta_{tib \ mov} + \theta_{STA}$ 

Measurement of  $\theta_{shoe\ mov}$  is considered to be independent of the above variables.

Equation 8-3

## 8.1.8 Summary of problem & solution

PiG is used in clinical and research settings to measure gait kinetics and kinematics of patients wearing an AFO footwear combination. In these settings ankle kinematics is often of interest as it is thought to allow an assessment of AFO performance. The PiG calculation of ankle kinematics is however subject to error from STA of the KNEE marker and does not allow assessment of the performance of the AFO, specifically whether there is tibial movement within the AFO, AFO deformation or movement of the AFO within the footwear. A new model based on PiG marker set and static calibration was developed to calculate anatomical ankle movement ( $\theta_{ankle\ anat}$ ) and compare this with PiG ( $\theta_{PiG}$ ) to obtain a measure of how STA of the knee marker affects ankle kinematics. This model also allows calculation of the AFO kinematics ( $\theta_{AFO\ def}$ ) separately from movement of the tibia ( $\theta_{tib\ mov}$ ), and movement of the AFO within the footwear ( $\theta_{shoe\ mov}$ ). This model has utility in both the clinical and research settings to provide more accurate kinematics of both the anatomical ankle and the AFO.

#### 8.1.9 Aims and hypotheses

The aims of this study were:

- 1. To determine how much anatomical ankle movement occurs within the AFO, and to compare this with PiG;
- 2. To determine what is happening in the AFO footwear combination, specifically:
  - a. Kinematics of the AFO compared with movement of the tibia within the AFO;
  - b. and movement of the AFOfoot within the shoe;

Based on these aims it was hypothesised that:

- 1. There will be some degree of anatomical ankle movement in all AFOs, which will reflect a combination of tibial movement and AFO flexion;
- 2. The PiG output will overestimate total ankle ROM compared to the output for anatomical ankle movement;
- 3. There will be some degree of movement of the footwear on the AFO/foot piece;

## 8.2 Method

#### 8.2.1 Participants

This data was collected as part of the investigation described in Chapter 5. The participants included in this study were all those wearing solid AFOs. The participants are described in Table 5.1. A total of 13 limbs belonging to seven children were examined in this study.

#### 8.2.2 Data collection

Participants underwent a 3DGA in barefoot and in four AFO conditions where four wedges were attached to the sole of the footwear thus inducing four shank-to-vertical (SVA) angles. The data reported here was that from the baseline (flat) condition. Thus the final SVA of the AFO and footwear combination reflects the AFO ankle angles that are recorded in Table 5.1.

#### 8.2.3 Markers

A modified marker set was used for the 3DGA which is described in full in Table 5.4 and Figure 5.4 of Chapter 5. For the purposes of this study two additional tibial markers (TibANT; TibPOST) were added to the standard marker set. Figure 8.6 shows the placement of these markers on the limb, AFO and footwear. The KNEE and TibANT markers were on the skin, the TibPOST, TIB and ANK and MED markers were on the AFO and the HEE and TOE markers were on the shoe. The HEE-TOE line was parallel to the ground with the foot flat on the ground.



Figure 8.6 Location of the lower limb markers on the skin, AFO and shoe.

#### 8.2.4 Data processing

All data was processed using Vicon Nexus software as described previously in Chapter 5, with the addition of the static and dynamic models described below on all static and dynamic trials respectively. Additional dynamic trials containing kinematic data but no kinetic data were included in this analysis. The new models described below were developed in collaboration with Dr Morgan Sangeux and Professor Richard Baker. The BodyBuilder code for the model is listed in Appendix G.

#### 8.2.4.1 Definition of [AFO] and [shank] segments

In order to separate movement of the anatomical tibia and the AFO, two independent segments needed to be defined. The anatomical tibia [shank] is based on ANK, MED and TibAnt markers and the AFO [AFO] segment on the ANK, MED and TibPost markers. Both segments used the AJC as the origin, where AJC = mid-point between ANK and MED markers. Both segments were also defined with the same second defining line (ANK-MED). The first defining line and the primary axis of the [shank] was the AJC-TibAnt line, whereas the [AFO] used the AJC-TibPost line. From each of these segments the local co-ordinate position of the knee joint centre (FEO), relative to each segment, was calculated for each frame of the static trial, averaged across all frames and stored as an offset parameter (FEOAfo, FEOShank) for use in the dynamic model (refer to Figure 8.7). In the dynamic model the respective new knee joint centres (FEOAFO, FEOShank) were applied to the definition of each segment such that the first defining line and therefore the primary axis was from AJC-FEOAfo or AJC-FEOShank, respectively. Thus the two segments [AFO] and [Shank] had the same origin and second direction, but had a primary axes that moved independently of each other (see Figure 8.11).

#### 8.2.4.2 Definition of [AFOfoot] and [shoe] segments

In order to calculate  $\theta_{shoe\ mov}$ , the [shoe] and the [AFO foot] segments also needed to be defined independently. For the purposes of this investigation, the anatomical foot was considered to be held securely within the AFO foot piece, which was therefore considered as a single segment, referred to as [AFOfoot]. The TOE marker was considered to represent the TOE of both the [shoe] and [AFOfoot] segments. Both segments were defined with the same origin (AJC) and the same second defining line (ANK-MED) as both the tibial segments. The [shoe] was defined with a primary axis of the HEE-TOE, but the [AFOfoot] was defined with a primary axis of TOE-AJC (see Figure 8.7). The local position of the HEE marker relative to the [AFOfoot] segment was calculated, and averaged across all frames. The new heel marker (HeeAFO) was stored as a parameter for use in the dynamic model. Here it was applied to the definition of the [AFOfoot] segment in the primary axis, thus [AFOfoot] and [shoe] have unique primary axes but have the same origin and second direction line (see Figure 8.8 & Figure 8.11).

#### Chapter 8 - A new model to measure AFO kinematics in 3DGA



Figure 8.7 Static model segment definitions, used to calculate the local position of FEO relative to the [Shank] and [AFO] and the local position of the HEE marker relative to the [AFOfoot].



Figure 8.8. Definition and axes of the [AFO] and [Shank] segments.



Figure 8.9 Definition of [AFOfoot] and [Shoe] segments

## 8.2.4.3 Angle decomposition

The dynamic model also calculated the four sagittal plane rotations of interest;  $\theta_{ankle\ anat}$ ,  $\theta_{AFO\ def}$ ,  $\theta_{tib\ mov}$  and  $\theta_{shoe\ mov}$  (refer to Figure 8.10 and Figure 8.11). The following segment pairs were used in these calculations. The first segment was nominated as the parent segment, and as such the rotations are expressed as movement of the child segment relative to the parent segment:

Angle	Parent Segments	Child Segment
$ heta_{ankle\ anat}$	Shank	AFOfoot
$ heta_{AFO\ def}$	AFO	AFOfoot
$ heta_{tibmov}$	AFO	Shank
$ heta_{shoemov}$	Shoe	AFOfoot

Figure 8.10 Segments used to calculate the four angles of interest.





Figure 8.11 Diagrammatic representation of the four calculated rotations. The new HeeAFOfoot, FEOAfo and FEOShank are incorporated into the segment definitions.

All trials were exported to the software Polygon Authoring Tool (Vicon, Oxford Metrics, Oxford UK) for assessment of data quality. All data were normalized to 100% of the gait cycle. All data were then exported to Microsoft Office Excel (Microsoft Corporation, USA) and the relevant parameters extracted for analysis.

#### 8.2.5 Analysis

#### 8.2.5.1 Parameters

The following parameters were extracted directly from the processed data:

- $\theta_{ankle\ anat}$
- $\theta_{AFO \ def}$
- $\theta_{tib mov}$
- $\theta_{shoe\ mov}$
- $\theta_{PiG}$  (ankle kinematics)
- Knee kinematics
- Ankle moments

The average of each parameter was calculated by averaging the individual trials across the gait cycle. For three of these parameter ( $\theta_{ankle\ anat}$ ,  $\theta_{AFO\ def}$  and  $\theta_{tib\ mov}$ ) a 'corrected' value was also calculated which expressed this data with reference to the unloaded position of swing phase. For these variables the average angle between 74-84% gait cycle was calculated, then subtracted from every frame. These data were considered as change ( $\Delta$ ) in the variable with reference to the unloaded position, thus giving three additional parameters:

- $\Delta \theta_{ankle anat}$
- $\Delta \theta_{AFO \ def}$
- $\Delta \theta_{tib mov}$

#### 8.2.5.2 Comparison of ankle kinematics according to $\theta$ ankle anat and $\theta$ PiG

The first aim of the study was to determine how much anatomical ankle movement occurred within the AFO and to compare this to the PiG calculation. The total range of movement (ROM) at the ankle of  $\theta_{ankle\ anat}$  and  $\theta_{PiG}$  across the gait cycle was calculated by identifying the maximum and minimum values across the averaged trial. The resulting differences between these two methods of measuring ankle kinematics were referred to as STA Error. The average STA Error over the gait cycle was calculated by averaging the absolute STA Error across all frames. To investigate the relationship between STA Error and knee kinematics, these parameters were compared on a scatter plot and a line of best fit plotted for the dataset of each limb. Pearson's Product Moment Correlation Coefficient (r) was calculated using the CORREL function in EXCEL. The correlation coefficient (r) provides a measure of strength of relationship between the two variables. The square of r provides the coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) which represents the percent of variation of one variable explained by the second variable. The average of the correlation coefficient (r) were calculated using a Fisher-z transform.

## 8.2.5.3 Comparison of AFO, tibial and footwear movements

Before examining the AFO and tibial movement, accuracy of the model in defining the appropriate segments and angles was confirmed by correlating the sum of  $\theta_{AFO \ def}$  and  $\theta_{tib \ mov}$  with  $\theta_{ankle \ anat}$ . The correlation coefficient (r) was calculated to determine the strength and direction of the relationship between these variables, and the coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) was calculated to determine the variability within the data explained by this relationship. A strong positive correlation was anticipated along with a coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) close to 1.00, thus representing accurate modelling. The average of the correlation coefficient (r) were calculated using a Fisher-z transform.

To examine the kinematics of the AFO compared with the tibia, and to examine the extent of shoe movement, the total range of movement (ROM) for each of these variables was calculated by subtracting minimum values from maximum values. For each limb, three variables ( $\theta_{AFO \ def}$ ,  $\theta_{ankle \ anat}$  and ankle moment) were plotted over the gait cycle. The difference between  $\theta_{AFO \ def}$  and  $\theta_{ankle \ anat}$  is representative of  $\theta_{tib \ mov}$  (refer to Equation 8-2).

## 8.2.5.3.1 Relationship between AFO and tibial movement with ankle moment and body mass

Finally, scatter plots were examined to investigate the strength of relationships between both  $\theta_{AFO\ def}$  and  $\theta_{tib\ mov}$  with absolute ankle moment, and with patient body mass (kg). For each dataset, a line of best fit was plotted and the LINEST function used to calculate the coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) and the F-statistic. The F-Dist function was used to determine the level of significance of the F-statistic, where p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## 8.3 Results

## 8.3.1 Total ankle ROM

The average total ROM at the ankle according to PiG ( $\theta_{PiG}$ ) was 9.7° (SD 4.3°, range 5.1-20.8°), compared with  $\theta_{ankle\ anat}$  of 8.2° (SD 4.2°, range 3.8-15.0°). The total ankle ROM for each limb, according to  $\theta_{PiG}$  and  $\theta_{ankle\ anat}$  are illustrated below in Figure 8.12. For the majority of limbs ( $\theta_{PiG}$ ) provided a large estimate of ankle ROM and for three limbs, the differences were quite large (JABU-L; HAHA-L, -R). For three limbs (DEHA-L, -R; MAHO-R)  $\theta_{ankle\ anat}$  was larger. Refer to Table 8.2 for a summary of total ankle ROM.



Figure 8.12 Total ROM at the ankle according to  $\theta_{PiG}$  and  $\theta_{ankle anal}$ .

#### 8.3.2 STA Error

## 8.3.2.1 STA Error across the gait cycle

Figure 8.13 presents STA Error across the gait cycle for all limbs. The average error across all limbs was 1.3° (SD 1.5°, range 0.2-6.7°). One limb had very large positive STA Error (JABU-L), and one limb had a very large negative STA Error (HAHA-R).



Figure 8.13 STA error across the gait cycle for all limbs.

## 8.3.2.2 Correlation of STA Error with knee kinematics

A scatter plot of STA Error and knee kinematics with a line of best fit revealed a strong positive trend across the majority of limbs, with an average correlation of r=0.75. One limb (JABU-R) demonstrated only a weak correlation (r=0.14) (Table 8.2). The average coefficient of determination ( $r^2$ ) values was 0.61, indicating that on average, 61% of the variability in STA Error was accounted for by knee kinematics. There was however, a wide range of  $r^2$  values, from 0.02 (JABU-R) to 0.88.

Figure 8.14 presents example data of a scatterplot of STA Error with knee kinematics and line of best fit from four participants. These data comprise the four limbs identified in Figure 8.13: the strongest correlation associated with positive STA Error (JABU-L; r = 0.94), the weakest correlation (JABU-R; r = 0.14), the strongest correlation associated with the largest negative STA Error (HAHA-R; r = 0.84) and data representative of the average correlation (JOTH-L; r = 0.79).



Figure 8.14 Example scatter plot and line of best fit of STA Error against knee kinematics for four limbs (JABU-L, JABU-R, HAHA-R and MAHO-R).

## 8.3.3 Kinematics of the AFO, tibia and footwear

## 8.3.3.1 Modelling correlation

Scatter plots (Figure 8.15) for  $\theta_{ankle\ anat}$  and the sum of  $\theta_{AFO\ def}$  and  $\theta_{tib\ mov}$  revealed a strong positive relationship across all limbs. As anticipated, the coefficient of determination ( $r^2$ ) and slope of the regression lines were close to 1.00 for all limbs, with the intercept close to 0, which confirmed correct mathematical modelling (refer to Table 8.1).



Figure 8.15 Scatter plot of  $\theta_{ankle\ anat}$  against the sum of  $\theta_{AFO\ def}$  and  $\theta_{tib\ mov}$  for all limbs.

Participant	Side	Correlation coefficient (r)	Coefficient of determination (r <sup>2</sup> )	Slope	Y-intercept
МАНО	L	1.00	1.00	1.04	-0.07
	R	1.00	1.00	1.01	-0.06
JODA	L	0.98	0.96	0.86	0.12
	R	0.99	0.99	1.08	0.05
JOTH	L	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.01
	R	1.00	1.00	1.11	-0.04
DEHA	L	1.00	1.00	0.95	-0.13
	R	1.00	1.00	1.01	-0.13
LIRI	L	1.00	1.00	0.95	-0.04
JABU	L	1.00	1.00	0.99	0.02
	R	1.00	1.00	0.99	0.02
НАНА	L	0.99	0.99	0.92	0.09
	R	1.00	1.00	1.01	0.00
Average		1.00	0.99	0.99	-0.01
Max		1.00	1.00	1.11	0.12
Min		0.98	0.96	0.86	-0.13

Table 8.1 Correlation coefficient, coefficient of determination, slope and intercept of the regression line representing the accuracy of the new model, for each participant.

## 8.3.3.2 Total ROM of the AFO, tibia and footwear

The group average total ROM of the tibia within the AFO ( $\theta_{tib\ mov}$ ) was 2.8° (SD 0.9°, range 1.5-4.1°). The group average total ROM of the AFO ( $\theta_{AFO\ def}$ ) was 6.0° (SD 4.3°, range 1.2-12.7°). The group average total ROM of the shoe on the AFOfoot ( $\theta_{shoe\ mov}$ ) was 1.8° (SD 0.8°, range 0.7-3.3°). In 8/13 limbs the degree of AFO deformation was larger than the degree of tibial movement, in one limb the degree of AFO deformation and tibial movement were similar (LIRI-L) and in the remaining 4/13 limbs the degree of tibial movement exceeded that of AFO deformation. Figure 8.16 illustrates the total ROM of the tibia, AFO and shoe movement for each limb. These values are also listed in Table 8.2.





Figure 8.16 Total ROM of  $\theta_{show mov}$ ,  $\theta_{tib mov}$  and  $\theta_{AFO def}$ .

Total ROM								STA Error & Knee Kinematics		
Participant	Side	θ <sub>PiG</sub> (ankle angles)	$ heta_{ankle} \ anat$	STA Error = Difference in total ROM	Ave. STA Error across gait cycle	$ heta_{AFO}$ def	$ heta_{tib}_{mov}$	$ heta_{shoe}{mov}$	Correlation (r)	Coefficient of determination (r <sup>2</sup> )
DEHA	L	12.7	15.0	-2.3	2.0	12.7	3.0	3.1	0.86	0.74
	R	12.7	14.9	-2.2	2.3	11.7	3.0	3.3	0.89	0.79
НАНА	L	9.8	5.7	4.1	0.2	2.4	3.8	0.7	0.93	0.86
	R	10.2	4.7	5.4	2.5	2.1	3.2	1.0	0.84	0.71
LIRI	L	9.5	7.5	2.0	0.3	4.2	4.1	2.2	0.62	0.38
JABU	L	20.8	14.3	6.5	5.7	12.4	2.2	2.9	0.94	0.88
	R	10.0	10.0	0.0	0.5	8.1	2.3	2.0	0.14	0.02
JODA	L	6.1	5.1	1.0	0.2	4.5	2.2	1.9	0.92	0.85
	R	5.1	4.6	0.5	0.7	2.7	2.0	0.8	0.93	0.86
JOTH	L	5.6	4.8	0.8	0.7	1.2	3.8	1.1	0.79	0.62
	R	5.4	3.8	1.5	1.2	1.7	4.0	1.3	0.50	0.25
МАНО	L	11.6	9.6	2.0	0.3	8.4	1.5	1.8	0.64	0.41
	R	6.5	6.9	-0.5	0.9	5.7	1.7	1.7	0.77	0.59
Ave.		9.7	8.2	1.5	1.3	6.0	2.8	1.8	0.75	0.61
SD	)	4.3	4.1	2.6	1.5	4.2	0.9	0.8	n/a	n/a
Min	1	5.1	3.8	-2.3	0.2	1.2	1.5	0.7	0.14	0.02
Max	(	20.8	15.0	6.5	5.7	12.7	4.1	3.3	0.94	0.88

Table 8.2 Total ROM of  $\theta_{PiG}$ ,  $\theta_{ankle anat}$ ,  $\theta_{AFO def}$ ,  $\theta_{tib mov}$  and  $\theta_{shoe mov}$  for all limbs, along with STA Error, average STA Error, the correlation coefficient (r) and coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) between STA Error and knee kinematics.

## 8.3.3.3 AFO deformation and tibial movement across the gait cycle

All limbs demonstrated some AFO deformation and some tibial movement (the difference between anatomical ankle movement and AFO deformation). Before examining the relationship between these variables and ankle moment and body weight, the pattern of movement across the gait cycle was examined for each individual limb. Figure 8.17-Figure 8.18 below present  $\Delta \theta_{ankle\ anat}$  and  $\Delta \theta_{AFO\ def}$  for the limbs according to whether total ROM of AFO deformation was > or < tibial movement, with normalised ankle moment plotted on the secondary vertical axis. In the limbs demonstrating AFO deformation>tibial movement the pattern of ankle moment tended to coincide with the pattern of AFO deformation.



Figure 8.17  $\Delta \theta_{ankle\ anat}$ ,  $\Delta \theta_{AFO\ def}$  and ankle moment for the four limbs demonstrating tibial movement > AFO deformation



Figure 8.18  $\Delta \theta_{ankle\ anat}$ ,  $\Delta \theta_{AFO\ def}$  and ankle moment for the nine limbs demonstrating AFO deformation > tibial movement.

## 8.3.3.4 Correlation between AFO deformation and ankle moment

A scatter plot of  $\Delta\theta_{AFO\ def}$  and ankle moment with a line of best fit plotted for each of the 13 data sets (Figure 8.19). This revealed moderate to strong positive trends in most limbs with an average correlation coefficient of r=0.85. The weakest correlations were seen in limbs demonstrating little AFO deformation (JOTH-L, -R; HAHA-L, -R). This is probably due to a range attenuation effect resulting in clustering at the bottom of the scale. Table 8.3 presents the correlation coefficients (r) values for each limb.



Figure 8.19 Scatter plot of ankle moment and degrees of  $\Delta \theta_{AFO\ def}$  for all limbs.

## 8.3.3.5 Correlation between tibial movement and ankle moment

A scatter plot of  $\Delta \theta_{tib\ mov}$  and ankle moment revealed strong positive trends in the majority of limbs (Figure 8.20) with an average correlation coefficient of r=0.81. There were three exceptions: two limbs demonstrated a negative trend (JOTH-L, -R, r=-0.57 bilaterally), most likely due to the excessive and prolonged knee extension demonstrated throughout stance phase, and one limb demonstrated a weak positive trend (HAHA-R, r=0.26). Table 8.3 presents the correlation coefficient (r) values for each limb.



Figure 8.20 Scatter plot and line of best fit between ankle moment and  $\Delta \theta_{tib\,mov}$  for all limbs.

	Side	Body mass <i>(kg)</i>	Correlat	ion (r)	Coefficient of determination (r <sup>2</sup> )		
Participant			θ <sub>ΔAFO def</sub> & ankle moment	θ <sub>Δtib mov</sub> & ankle moment	$ heta_{\Delta AFO\ def}$ & ankle moment	θ <sub>Δtib mov</sub> & ankle moment	
DEHA	L	68.7	0.89	0.87	0.79	0.76	
	R		0.83	0.76	0.69	0.58	
HAHA	L	19.2	0.45	0.88	0.20	0.77	
	R		0.17	0.26	0.03	0.07	
LIRI	L	26.9	0.98	0.92	0.96	0.85	
JABU	L	59.0	0.99	0.91	0.98	0.83	
	R		0.98	0.94	0.96	0.88	
JODA	L	27.3	0.77	0.94	0.59	0.88	
	R		0.82	0.97	0.67	0.94	
JOTH	L	34.8	0.33	-0.57	0.11	0.32	
	R		0.50	-0.57	0.25	0.32	
MAHO	L	43.5	0.91	0.88	0.83	0.77	
	R		0.79	0.96	0.62	0.92	
	Ave.	39.9	0.85	0.85	0.59	0.68	
	SD	18.2	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	
	Min	19.2	0.19	0.19	0.03	0.07	
	Max	68.7	0.99	0.99	0.98	0.94	

Table 8.3 Patient mass (kg), correlation coefficient (r) and coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) of  $\theta_{\Delta AFO \ def}$  and  $\theta_{\Delta tib \ mov}$  with ankle moment.

## 8.3.3.6 Correlation of AFO deformation & tibial movement against body weight

A scatter plot of body mass (kg) and  $\theta_{AFO\ def}$  revealed a very strong positive trend which was confirmed with a correlation coefficient of r= 0.90 (Figure 8.21). The coefficient of determination (r<sup>2</sup>) revealed that 81% of variation in AFO deformation could be explained by body mass (kg). This correlation was statistically significant (F=47.59, p=0.00003). A scatter plot for patient weight and  $\theta_{tib\ mov}$  did not reveal any trends with a correlation of r=0.16 (Figure 8.22), which was not statistically significant (F=1.27, p=0.33).



Figure 8.21 Scatter plot and line of best fit between  $\theta_{AFO\ def}$  and body mass (kg)



Figure 8.22 Scatter plot and line of best fit between  $\theta_{tib\ mov}$  and body mass (kg).

#### 8.4 Discussion

#### 8.4.1 Accuracy of the PiG model

The first aim of this investigation was to determine how much anatomical ankle movement was occurring at the ankle and to compare this to the PiG output of ankle kinematics. The average ROM at the ankle according to PiG was 9.68°, which is in line with other studies reporting an average ROM at the ankle in solid AFOs of between 8 and 16° (Abel, *et al.*, 1998; Brunner, *et al.*, 1998; Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Buckon, *et al.*, 2004; Lam, *et al.*, 2005; Thompson, *et al.*, 2002). These studies examined a mixture of hemiplegic and diplegic patients and all used Vicon Clinical Manager which used the same lower limb kinematic model as PiG.

The total ROM as measured by  $\theta_{PiG}$  overestimated the total ROM as measured by  $\theta_{ankle\,anat}$  by an average of 1.45° (SD 2.64) with an average STA Error across the gait cycle of 1.3°. These values were smaller than expected as it was anticipated that the PiG model would produce a larger total ankle ROM by artificially increasing plantarflexion during periods of knee flexion while leaving all other parts of the gait cycle unaffected. However, as all AFOs in this study deformed to some degree, PiG also acted to reduce this peak dorsiflexion, which reduced the net effect on total ROM. Figure 8.23 demonstrates the reduced peak dorsiflexion calculated by PiG during periods of increased knee flexion where the AFOs were under load, and the reduced dorsiflexion during periods of increased knee flexion where the AFO was not under load, resulting in minimal overall change to total ROM.



Figure 8.23 Example data (DEHA-L) where PiG reduces peak dorsiflexion during early stance phase and increases plantarflexion during swing phase, resulting in little change in overall total ROM.

There was however some variability within the sample. Three limbs (HAHA-L, -R; JABU-L) all exhibited larger differences in total ROM between  $\theta_{PiG}$  and  $\theta_{ankle\,anat}$  (that is, STA Error) of between 4.1-6.5°. In two of these limbs (HAHA-L, -R) the STA error was seen in the form of exaggerated dorsiflexion during periods of full knee extension as well as reduced dorsiflexion during times of knee flexion (see example in Figure 8.24). This was thought to be related to a static trial captured with the knee in relative flexion so that when the knee is further extended, STA of the knee marker results in overestimated dorsiflexion, which would result in a small negative average STA Error (refer to Table 8.3). This was found however, not to be the case and as such these results are unexpected.



Figure 8.24 Example data (HAHA-R) where STA error has lead to overestimated dorsiflexion at times of increased knee extension in addition to reduced dorsiflexion at times of increased knee flexion during swing phase.

Thus while there was generally a strong correlation between STA Error and knee flexion angle the main effect was that as knee flexion increased there were positive STA Errors whereby the ankle angle was reduced (made more plantarflexed) and in some cases there may also have been negative STA Error whereby the ankle angle was increased during periods of knee extension (see notation on Figure 8.13 and Figure 8.14). Overall, PiG gave a reasonable estimate of total anatomical ankle ROM in solid AFOs.

#### 8.4.2 Movement of the tibia

The second aim of this analysis was to quantify the movement of the AFO, tibia and footwear. Across the group, tibial movement was minimal (average of 2.8°) and was relatively consistent across limbs, never exceeding 4.1°. All but three limbs demonstrated a strong positive relationship between tibial movement and ankle moment where approximately 82% of variability in tibial movement could be explained by ankle moment. In the remaining three limbs, two demonstrated a negative relationship (JOTH-L-R) and one demonstrated a weak positive relationship (HAHA-R). The negative relationship is probably due to a period of excessive and prolonged knee extension throughout stance phase, thrusting the tibia posteriorly into the AFO. The limb demonstrating a weak correlation may reflect the individual pattern of ankle moment where increased dorsiflexion moment in early stance had little effect on tibial movement (refer to Figure 8.17).

While in general, tibial movement correlated strongly with ankle moment, there was no strong relationship between tibial movement and participant body mass (kg). This suggests that while the pattern of tibial movement generally follows the pattern of ankle kinetics, the calf strap will limit movement to approximately 4° regardless of patient weight. Thus in interpreting ankle kinematics in 3DGA clinicians can have confidence that less than 4° of the reported total ankle ROM can be attributed to tibial movement within the orthosis. Orthotists and researchers interested in further pursing causes of increased ankle ROM could therefore focus on other causes such as AFO deformation.

#### 8.4.3 Movement of the AFO

On average, deformation of the AFO provided the largest contribution to anatomical ankle movement (average 6.0°). The extent to which the AFO deformed was highly variable, ranging from an approximately rigid AFO (1.2° total ROM) to an AFO flexing 12.7°. All limbs except those with the smallest AFO deformation (HAHA-L-R, JOTH-L-R) demonstrated a moderate to strong positive relationship between normalised ankle moment (Nm/kg) and AFO deformation. Within this sub-set of limbs 79% of variability in AFO deformation can be explained by normalised ankle moment. The four limbs demonstrating weak correlations are probably due to a range attenuation effect causing clustering of data at the low end of AFO deformation.

The limbs with the greatest amount of AFO flexion were also those participants with the greatest body mass (kg). Because body weight is proportional to ankle moment, a very strong relationship between body mass (kg) and AFO deformation is not surprising. This relationship may explain the apparent pair-wise relationship between the limbs of each child (refer to Figure 8.16) which suggests that the main cause of variability between limbs may be related to characteristics of the individual, such as their body weight, or may be the result of similar design and manufacture of the orthoses.

In a clinical setting, orthotists alter specific features of the AFO to suit each individual patient. This includes changing the material type, material thickness, including reinforcements around the ankle region and modifying the trimline position around the ankle, all of which have been shown to increase AFO stiffness (Bregman, *et al.*, 2009; Major, *et al.*, 2004). All AFOs in this study were prescribed and supplied by clinical facilities. While no AFOs included reinforcements

around the ankle region, it is probable that clinicians did alter other design features of the AFO to ensure the AFO was appropriately rigid for each patient.

The strong positive relationship between body mass and AFO deformation found in this study suggests however, that any attempts to alter AFO design and thereby provide an AFO that would withstand the forces applied by body weight, were largely unsuccessful. Variations in body mass explains 81% of variation in AFO deformation, and therefore the remaining 19% can be attributed to other factors such as changes in AFO design. Given the heaviest patient (70kg) is more than three times the weight of the lightest patient (20kg), but design features of the AFO such as thickness of the plastic or radius of curvature of the trimlines around the ankle were not increased in the same proportion, these findings seem logical. Some changes in trim lines and material thickness are impractical, and manufacture must depend on the use of alternative materials (such as carbon fibre) or reinforcements around the ankle.

#### 8.4.4 Movement of the footwear

This study found the degree of movement of the shoe on the AFO foot piece to be very small, across a range of 0.7-3.3°. These values may be smaller than those seen clinically as the footwear worn for this study were secured by wrapping with elastic adhesive bandages to keep the sole attachment in place. Footwear was supplied for this study (Dunlop Volleys) which had a flexible rubber sole likely to flex with the AFO and thus reduce the degree of footwear movement. While this limits the generalisability of these specific results, the findings demonstrate the ability to measure the movement of footwear in any 3DGA application and therefore confirm the integrity of the AFO and footwear combination.

#### 8.4.5 Limitations

One limitation of this study was the small number of participants (n=7) contributing a total of 13 limbs. While it is suggested that attempts to match AFO design to participant weight in order to prevent AFO flexion were largely unsuccessful, it is important to note that the four limbs demonstrating the greatest AFO flexion belong to only two children and thus only two instances where the AFO failed to withstand body weight. Although small, this number is sufficient to demonstrate the utility of this model in providing more detailed information about the accuracy of PiG in calculating ankle kinematics, and the performance of the solid AFO and footwear in a 3DGA context.

It is important to take into account measurement accuracy in 3DGA when considering the implications of small movement quantities. Intra-assessor and intra-session reliability are two significant sources of error in 3DGA (McGinley, Baker, Wolfe, & Morris, 2009), but in this context will have little bearing on these findings given data was collected by a single assessor on one

occasion. Equipment error, namely marker-location accuracy, is another potential error source. One method for measuring marker-location accuracy within a 3DGA system is the Standard Assessment of Motion System Accuracy (SAMSA) device (Piazza *et al.*, 2007). Recent tests with the SAMSA device at the Laboratory at the Royal Children's Hospital (Melbourne) indicate that marker-location accuracy is within 1mm. While these tests have not been conducted at the laboratory at La Trobe University, large differences in marker location error are unlikely. A measurement error of 1mm at the ANK marker would translate into only 0.2° angular error, given a 30cm tibial length. Thus measurement error makes a negligible contribution to the movement errors that have been described in this study.

It could be argued that a solid AFO that is 100% rigid is in fact undesirable, and that some movement of the ankle within the AFO, from either AFO deformation or tibial movement is acceptable, and in some cases, necessary. Any deliberate variation on the solid AFO design is of course acceptable, but should always be accompanied by a specific prescription goal against which to assess its performance (Ridgewell, *et al.*, 2010). A more appropriate name for such a device could be a semi-rigid AFO, which is really a relative of the posterior leaf spring AFO. Regardless of the specific purpose of the device, the ability to measure device performance accurately and interpret the findings correctly is paramount.

#### 8.4.6 Future directions

The results of this study suggest that in this sample of 13 solid AFOs, any attempt by clinicians to match AFO design to body weight to prevent AFO deformation were largely unsuccessful. This has important implications for both clinicians and researchers. For researchers interested in determining the efficacy of a device or comparing two orthoses it is important to be able to assess that the device in question is meeting its design goals. Similarly, for clinicians it is important to confirm that the AFO that has been supplied is one that meets its prescription goal. The new model developed and tested in this study provides a useful tool to confirm the performance of the device in both research and clinical settings.

One pressing area of further research to be identified from this study is to determine how variations of design features of the AFO affect performance of the solid AFO in a dynamic context, that is, AFO deformation. Findings from such a study have the potential to lead to the development of AFO design protocols to help clinicians prescribe and supply AFOs that will resist flexion, appropriate to body weight. In addition, this new approach could be used to complement the data obtained from static AFO stiffness testing by providing a functional assessment of AFO stiffnes (Kobayashi, Leung, & Hutchins, 2011).

This model has utility in any 3DGA setting in any population wearing solid AFOs. It allows improved interpretation of the output of ankle kinematics with regard to potential errors that may affect ankle kinematic output, and sheds light on how much of this movement reflects AFO deformation and how much reflects tibial movement within the AFO. Given that 3DGA is so often used to evaluate a range of clinical interventions including surgery, physiotherapy, medical management (eg botox) and orthoses, this model provides a tool that will help clinicians to make better informed decisions regarding their treatment regimes.

This model provides the first tool to measure movement of the footwear on the limb in a 3DGA context. This model could also be applied in patients not wearing AFOs to examine factors such as footwear movement in relation to type of footwear and the relationship of footwear fit and falling in at-risk populations.

## 8.5 Conclusion

This study has described a new model based on PiG and static calibration designed to overcome inaccuracies in the PiG model due to STA of the knee marker as well as measure the individual kinematics of the AFO, the tibia within the AFO, and the footwear. It was found that overall PiG provided a good estimation of ankle kinematics though across the gait cycle discrepancies up to 7° were observed. In this sample of children, the main cause of increased ankle ROM was flexion of the AFO (up to 13°) which increased with bodyweight. Tibial movement was limited to approximately 4° and shoe movement to 3°. Researchers and clinicians using 3DGA to measure ankle kinematics in patients wearing solid AFOs would benefit from using this model to obtain a more accurate measurement of ankle kinematics in solid AFOs, and a measure of the degree of AFO flexion, tibia movement and footwear movement. This will assist in clinical decision making in order to improve management, fit and function of orthoses and footwear.
# 9 Grand Discussion

The aim of this thesis was to determine the effect of sagittal plane AFO-FC alignment on the gait of children with CP, in two types of AFO designs. The current chapter integrates the series of studies that were designed to achieve this goal. These studies involved a review of literature and of the theoretical rationale for AFO-FC tuning, a systematic review of reporting transparency in the wider body of AFO literature in this population, exploratory pilot work and a prospective experimental study involving two groups of children wearing either hinged or solid AFOs. The final investigation of this thesis tested the utility of a new model for calculating movement of the AFO, tibia and footwear in solid AFOs in three dimensional gait analysis (3DGA). This final chapter provides an overview of answers to each of the research questions before discussing the limitations of this research and the scientific, clinical and research implications of these findings. Future avenues of research will be presented, followed by the overall conclusions of the thesis.

#### 9.1 Overview of findings

**9.1.1** How well is AFO-FC alignment reported in the wider body of literature? The first research question was to determine how well AFO-FC alignment was reported in the wider body of literature. This was addressed in the systematic review described in Chapter 3. Subsidiary research questions were to determine how well details describing the participant sample, AFO-FC intervention and testing protocol were reported. The review revealed that very few studies that investigated the effectiveness of AFOs on children with CP provided full details of the alignment of the AFO-FC. Many studies did not ensure a homogenous sample in terms of underlying gait pattern and did not describe the AFO-FC intervention in sufficient detail to allow replication. This review identified several avenues of research that warrant focussed attention and lead to the publication of guidelines for the reporting of details in AFO intervention studies on children with CP. These guidelines have formed the basis for the design of the experimental studies in this thesis.

#### 9.1.2 How does AFO-FC alignment affect gait?

The second research question was to determine how AFO-FC alignment affects gait. Based on a review of the literature outlined in Chapter 2, two mechanisms were hypothesised by which increasing the heel-sole-differential (HSD) of the footwear and thus increasing the shank-to-vertical angle (SVA), were thought to induce biomechanical changes in the lower limbs. Mechanism 1 was thought to occur in limbs that achieve a clear foot flat during stance phase, whereby increasing the HSD results in increased tibial incline, increased peak knee flexion and decreased peak knee extension, thus leading to reduced peak knee extension moment. Mechanism 2 was thought to occur in limbs not achieving foot flat where increasing the HSD

increases the area of contact of the foot with the ground, shifting the centre of pressure posteriorly thus reducing peak knee extension moment. Exploratory analysis of pilot data in Chapter 4 provided preliminary evidence that these different mechanisms may occur either in isolation or as part of a mixed response. However, results of the prospective experimental study described in Chapters 6-7, suggested that all limbs demonstrated a mixed response although the strength of the different mechanisms within each response varied.

The results of this pilot study highlighted several methodological limitations which were addressed in the design of the subsequent investigation of this thesis. These included inaccuracies in using a hand-held goniometer to measure changes in SVA as well as the limitations of using internal heel wedges to induce SVA changes due to compromised fit and function of the footwear. In addition, a sixth research question was identified that related to large sagittal plane ankle movement measured in the solid AFOs. As a result an investigation into the measurement of ankle and AFO kinematics in 3DGA was conducted and is reported in Chapter 8. All data relating to the subsequent investigations were captured using the method described in Chapter 5.

#### 9.1.3 Are all children responsive to AFO-FC alignment change?

The third research question was to determine whether all children were responsive to AFO-FC alignment change. The first stage of the analysis included an assessment of homogeneity with regard to gait pattern, a recommendation arising from the systematic review. Separate common patterns of knee kinematics were observed for the majority of children wearing either solid or hinged AFOs. The results suggest that all limbs were sensitive to AFO-FC alignment when measured in terms of effect on knee moment over mid-stance, as well as over all of stance phase. Formal tests confirmed statistically significant linear correlations between the change in knee moment as a result of each wedge size, in 25 of the 27 limbs. On the whole, children wearing solid AFOs were more responsive to alignment changes than children wearing hinged AFOs. Furthermore, limbs demonstrating the common knee kinematic pattern were more responsive than those with variant gait patterns.

A subsidiary research question asked whether the method of determining differences from the baseline response affected the measured responsiveness. Three methods were compared: one which measured differences over the mid-stance period as defined by Perry (1992) of 10% to 30% stance phase (referred to as the mid-stance analysis), one which measured differences over the whole of stance phase (referred to as the stance phase analysis), and one which measured differences at 30% of the gait cycle (referred to as the single point analysis). The results suggested that the mid-stance analysis was twice as sensitive to change in knee moments to the stance phase analysis, and several times more sensitive than the single point analysis. In

addition, using only a single point of the gait cycle in this analysis resulted in a loss of sensitivity to change between the baseline and the smallest wedge.

**9.1.4** What is the effect of systematic AFO-FC alignment change on gait? The fourth research question focussed on the effect of systematic AFO-FC alignment change on a range of gait parameters in children wearing two types of AFO designs. There was strong evidence for systematic changes in a range of variables relating to the knee, tibia and ankle, particularly amongst children wearing solid AFOs who demonstrated the common gait pattern. While similar patterns were seen in the hinged AFO group these were not as consistent or systematic. Variables related to the hip and femur, and temporospatial variables did not demonstrate systematic changes across the different limbs.

#### 9.1.5 Is there an optimum AFO-FC alignment?

The fifth research question focussed on whether it was possible to determine an optimal wedge size that produced the best results over a range of variables. An optimum wedge size was identified in the majority of parameters across the majority of limbs but was more clearly defined in the solid AFO group, particularly in limbs demonstrating the common knee kinematic pattern. If knee kinetics were considered in isolation, the optimum wedge size was most commonly 5° in the common sub-group and 0° in the variant limbs of the solid AFO group, compared with between 0-10° for the hinged AFO group.

Agreement in optimal wedge size across variables was poor, with only one limb in each group in complete agreement across the biomechanical parameters, with only half of each group having good agreement. Within the solid AFO group these limbs were all part of the common sub-group. There was no clear optimal across temporospatial variables or subjective preference. The optimum SVA for the limbs with good agreement ranged between 0-10° in the solid AFO group and 0-15° in the hinged AFO group.

9.1.6 How does the Plug-in-Gait output of ankle kinematics compare to anatomical ankle kinematics? Can movement of the anatomical ankle, the AFO, tibia and footwear be measured?

The final research question was to determine how much anatomical ankle movement occurs within the AFO and to compare this with the Plug-In-Gait (PiG) calculation of ankle kinematics. Movement of the AFO, tibia and footwear were measured to determine their contribution to the output of ankle kinematics. The results suggested that overall, PiG provides a reasonable estimate of anatomical ankle kinematics despite the effects of soft tissue artefact (STA) of the knee marker. Ankle movement in the solid AFO was primarily a reflection of AFO flexion rather than tibial movement within the AFO. Movement of the footwear on the AFO/foot in this study

was very small. AFO flexion correlated very strongly with ankle moment and patient weight, suggesting that the variability in AFO flexion is related more to the patient than to variability between AFOs.

#### 9.2 Limitations of research

The limitations of the individual studies were discussed in detail within the relevant chapters. The main themes to emerge regarding the limitations as a whole relate to sample size and bias, variety in AFO design and manufacture, and generalising the findings to the wider body of literature on AFO-FC tuning.

#### 9.2.1 Sample size and bias

The sample size recruited for the prospective experimental study of this thesis was small, with n= 7 children in the solid AFO group and n=13 children in the hinged AFO group (with one child with a limb in each group). This sample is therefore unlikely to be representative of the wider population of children with CP as the heterogeneity in baseline gait patterns did not cover the spectrum of gait disorders seen in this population (Rodda, et al., 2004; Sutherland & Davids, 1993; Winters, et al., 1987). However, because inclusion in the study was limited to children with spastic hemiplegia or diplegia who were GMFCS level I or II, the types of gait patterns that would be expected within the hemiplegic group are Winters, Gage and Hicks (Winters, et al., 1987) Group II (ankle equinus throughout stance) and Group IV (involvement of hip and knee) (Dobson, et al., 2007). These types of gait patterns concur with the common and variant sub-groups found in the current study. The majority of limbs demonstrated similar patterns of knee kinematics with only six limbs across the two groups demonstrating significant variations. Within this common sub-group the results were found to be consistent which means these results can be well generalised. There were comparatively few limbs in the variant sub-groups, which demonstrated a wide variety of patterns of baseline knee kinematics. This limits the extent that the results specific to this group can be generalised.

The recruitment method was from a sample of convenience, either through invitation from a clinician or from advertisements posted on waiting room walls. The recruitment process was year-long and conducted through both a private and a public paediatric orthotic facility, from which the majority of children in the state of Victoria received their orthotic management. Despite this strategy, the sample size was small. The major factor limiting involvement in the project was likely related to the three hour time commitment to complete the testing session. Participation in this project required time off school and for most families, significant travel time. As such the sample was probably biased toward more motivated families and potentially higher functioning children.

Many of the children in this study had medical histories including a range of surgical interventions such as muscle and tendon transfers, tendon lengthenings and rotation osteotomies (listed in Appendix D). These interventions are known to affect the kinematics and kinetics of gait (eg. Bell, Ounpuu, DeLuca, & Romness, 2002; Wren, Rethlefsen, & Kay, 2005) and thus affect the types of gait patterns demonstrated within this sample. If this study were repeated in an area with different protocols for managing spasticity as well as musculoskeletal disorders associated with CP it is likely that the types of gait patterns found within the sample would vary, as would the results.

The participants in this study demonstrated variable degrees of spasticity in their lower limb muscle groups, as indicated by a difference in joint ROM according to passive and dynamic measures. Heterogeneity in spasticity, along with other factors such as bony deviations and muscle contracture, are characteristics of this population and may account for some of the between subject variability in the results. Of the biomechanical changes observed in this thesis, the least systematic were in variables distal to the knee joint. While this may be attributed to the modulating effect of the knee joint, it might also be due to spastic hamstrings or gastrocnemius muscles limiting knee movement. Had the sample contained children with less spasticity the biomechanical effect of changing SVA might have been more systematic at the hip and femur.

#### 9.2.2 Variety in AFO design and manufacture

For involvement in this study participants wore their own AFOs, and as such there was variety in terms of the details of AFO design. All AFOs used in this study were similar in terms of general type of design; they were all made of polypropylene homopolymer which extended proximally up the calf to just below the fibular head and had a full length toe plate with a calf strap and ankle strap of either a wrap-around or turnback design. The most notable variation was seen in the medio-lateral trimlines at the forefoot, which were positioned at a variety of locations from the metatarsal heads to the distal toe plate. While the thickness of plastic was measured, it was clear that there were inconsistencies in the thickness of the plastic if measured at different locations on the AFO, and when measured at the same location. Therefore rigidity at the ankle in solid AFOs and rigidity at the forefoot in both types of AFOs was not controlled. The results of Chapter 8 demonstrated that some of the solid AFOs deformed considerably, particularly in those children who were heavier and demonstrated more flexed gait patterns. Similar effects may occur at the forefoot which has the potential to contribute to inconsistent patterns of change in terminal stance.

Examining the effect of AFO-FC alignment on the participants' own AFOs has however, some advantages. These AFOs represent those supplied clinically and therefore accurately depict the changes that could be induced in real clinical settings, where there will be a variety of ankle and

forefoot rigidity in the AFO. If AFOs had been supplied for each limb for the purpose of this study, it could not be guaranteed that these would also have been entirely rigid at the ankle. In addition, a choice of standard forefoot trimline would have been required which may not have been the most appropriate option for each individual. Supplying new AFOs would also require two additional visits for participants, which likely would have made recruitment more difficult.

#### 9.2.3 Generalisation to the tuning process

One limitation of these investigations into AFO-FC alignment is the difficulty in generalising these findings to the majority of tuning literature. In this thesis the effect of AFO-FC alignment was considered as the sole independent variable and was implemented by using systematic alignment changes rather than a trial and error approach to optimisation. The results of these studies must therefore be considered in light of the potential effect of heel and sole modifications on these same variables. If future investigations find that modifying heel and sole profiles of footwear can address some of the negative changes seen in early and terminal stance, the results of this study can be reinterpreted in light of these subsequent changes.

For example, the EVA wedges used in this study had a rounded heel profile similar to runners/sneakers which are commonly worn by children who wear AFOs. This type of heel profile might allow for a smoother transition from heel contact to foot flat by maintaining the point of application of the GRF vector at the heel before allowing it to progress along the foot. Had a square heel profile been used a faster transition from heel contact to foot flat might result which would increase tibial velocity and peak knee flexion in early stance. It is possible that there may also be flow-on effects to the rest of the gait cycle. Further work should be conducted to investigate how changing sole profile affects gait biomechanics.

Difficulties also arise in translating the systematic patterns of change reported in Chapter 6, to the question of optimal alignment addressed in Chapter 7. While the published literature is not clear with regard to how optimal alignment was determined during the tuning process, focus has primarily been on optimising knee kinetics. This analysis assessed knee kinetics over the period of mid-stance rather than addressing a specific parameter, such as peak knee extension moment, or a specific instant in the gait cycle, such as at 30% gait cycle. This method averages the knee moment over the period of mid-stance (10%-30%) in contrast to the method described by others which takes the knee moment at a single point in time.

#### 9.3 Implications of research

The following section discusses the scientific, clinical and research implications of this research in terms of the contribution of this work to the current body of literature, and how these findings affect clinical and research practice. This focuses on a sub-set of the most important findings of

the research which relate to the reporting guidelines published as part of the systematic review, results of the experimental study investigating the effect of AFO-FC alignment and implications of the new model to measure ankle, AFO and footwear movement in 3DGA.

# 9.3.1 AFO-FC alignment is under reported and potentially underappreciated within the wider body of literature

The body of literature supporting the efficacy of AFO use in children with CP has been described as having poor quality (Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, 1995; Morris, 2002). Many reviewers have recommended that studies of stronger methodological designs, such as RCTs, are needed to improve the evidence base for AFO use in children with CP (Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; Morris, 2002). However equally important is improving the reporting transparency in these studies, which is essential to allow an assessment of intervention quality (Herbert & Bø, 2005).

The systematic review described in Chapter 3 highlighted many of the issues noted by other authors such as heterogeneity in participants and AFO designs, as well as poor reporting transparency (Bowers, 2007; Bowers & Ross, 2009; Figueiredo, *et al.*, 2008; International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, 2004; Morris, 2002), but did so using a systematic and repeatable methodology. The review found that very few studies reported sufficient information about the AFO intervention to allow the device to be replicated. Only one study (Romkes, *et al.*, 2006) reported the final SVA of the AFO-FC used in their study, which was a standardised alignment for all participants. Five papers reported fine tuning the AFOs to an individual's requirements (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Desloovere, *et al.*, 2006; Rosenthal, *et al.*, 1975; Van Gestel, *et al.*, 2008) however the descriptions of the tuning process were not sufficient to allow reproduction, and the final AFO-FC alignment was not reported. These results support the findings of Owen (Owen, 2004b) who conducted a review in 2004 and found that only handful of papers investigating AFOs and casts in children and adults reported the AFO-FC alignment.

In response to this, the remaining studies in this thesis have provided a comprehensive assessment of how AFO-FC alignment affects the biomechanics of gait. It is now evident that all limbs are sensitive to AFO-FC alignment change, with 25/27 demonstrating statistically significant changes, and that changing AFO-FC alignment results in systematic changes to gait. In light of this new understanding, the results of the studies that have reported AFO-FC alignment can be reinterpreted to gain improved understanding of the effect of the AFO-FC. For example, a study using a standard SVA of 0° is likely to produce reduced peak knee flexion moment and angle and increased peak knee extension moment and angle in comparison to a study that has used a SVA of 10°. In the latter example, if the barefoot gait was a typical equinus pattern with good knee extension, we would also expect to see larger changes from a barefoot comparison.

In studies that investigate the ability of an AFO to normalise gait, use of a standard alignment across all AFOs is likely to produce inconsistent results because of the variety in baseline gait patterns.

The systematic review resulted in the formation of guidelines for the reporting of details in AFO intervention studies in children with CP. These guidelines encourage both consumers and producers of this literature to consider pertinent issues in the design, execution, reporting and interpretation of AFO intervention studies in this and other populations. These guidelines have utility in the design of new research projects and in the critical review of previously published work. The findings of this thesis provide additional insight into the effect of AFO-FCs on gait in children with CP which makes a considerable contribution to the evidence base for orthosis use in this population.

# 9.3.2 When examining the effect of AFO-FC alignment the type of gait pattern matters

A second major theme to emerge from the systematic review was the importance of ensuring participant homogeneity with regard to gait pattern. Children with CP form an inherently heterogeneous population, particularly in terms of gait pattern. It is therefore essential that a homogenous group or sub-group of children are examined within each sample, and also that the resulting orthotic goal is consistent across all limbs. This is essential in AFO intervention studies because the type of AFO affects different gait patterns in different ways (Abel, *et al.*, 1998; Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Thompson, *et al.*, 2002). If a study is comparing the efficacy of different AFO designs, each AFO must also be appropriate to the participant's particular requirements, which must be similar for all participants.

The systematic review described in Chapter 3 found that the majority of studies did not report a consistent orthotic goal and only a handful of studies attempted to assess and describe sample heterogeneity or ensure that samples were homogenous with regard to their need for an AFO (Abel, *et al.*, 1998; Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Romkes, *et al.*, 2006; Simon, *et al.*, 1978; Smith, *et al.*, 2009; Thompson, *et al.*, 2002; Van Gestel, *et al.*, 2008). This lead to the issue of sample heterogeneity featuring in the reporting guidelines arising from the systematic review.

On the basis of these recommendations, the experimental work of this thesis focussed on assessing the effect of AFO-FC alignment on sub-groups with homogenous gait patterns. The results suggested that differences in underlying gait pattern resulted in different patterns of response to AFO-FC alignment, and influenced how well a range of parameters optimise with regard to the optimal wedge size, particularly within the solid AFO group. These results lend

support to the importance of addressing sample heterogeneity and describing the features of the AFO design.

#### 9.3.3 All limbs are sensitive to changes in AFO-FC alignment

Previous literature has suggested that not all children are able to tune successfully (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c). The terms 'successful' and 'unsuccessful' tuners have been used but have not been clearly defined regarding the variables measured and the direction of change. There is therefore some ambiguity surrounding which children these are. If this research is relevant to only a small body of children then it is important to define this population.

According to some authors, successful tuners are those with less than 20° knee flexion in early stance followed by 10° or less of knee flexion in mid-to-late stance (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c) or those with more severely flexed postures (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c). This type of gait pattern is similar to the gait pattern described for the theoretical response 'Mechanism 1' which was described in Chapter 2 and explored in the pilot data of Chapter 4. This type of gait pattern can also be likened to the common pattern of knee kinematics demonstrated by the majority of limbs in this study.

All limbs in this study appeared to be sensitive to AFO-FC alignment change and 25 out of 27 demonstrated a statistically significant correlation between wedge angle and knee moment. This suggests that response to wedge angle is more common than suggested by Butler and colleagues (Butler, *et al.*, 2007) or Owen (Owen, 2004c). This thesis adopted the terminology of responsive and non-responsive instead of using the terms successful and unsuccessful tuners. These terms imply that a change occurred but do not specify whether the change resulted in an improvement or were detrimental. Therefore, while all limbs in this study demonstrated sensitivity to AFO-FC alignment change, and the majority demonstrated a significant response, the direction of the change was not identified. It is possible that many of the "unsuccessful" tuners described by Butler and colleagues (2007) and by Owen (2004b) started with an optimal alignment and changed with tuning to a less satisfactory gait pattern.

The degree of sensitivity of knee moments to AFO-FC alignment varied according to type of gait pattern. Type of gait pattern also affected the patterns of response seen across other variables and the agreement of optimal wedge size across these parameters. The common sub-group was more sensitive, demonstrated the most consistent changes across variables and had the best agreement across parameters in terms of optimal wedge size. The variant limbs were less sensitive, demonstrated more varied patterns of change across parameters but in terms of agreement in optimal wedge size were poorest.

These results suggest that previous authors (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c) considered successful tuners to be those who demonstrated improvements in the parameter of interest, but others may have been sensitive to tuning without improving from the starting alignment and therefore labelled as "unsuccessful". This judgment may have been based primarily on knee moments but may also have included changes in knee kinematics. The present work therefore provides an important distinction between the concepts of successful tuning and responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change. It has clarified the findings of previous work and provided valuable insight into how AFO-FC alignment affects children with different gait patterns, and the type of children who might benefit from an AFO-FC tuning procedure.

#### 9.3.4 AFO-FC alignment has a significant effect on gait

Despite anecdotal evidence suggesting benefits as a result of the AFO-FC tuning process (Anderson & Meadows, 1978; Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Meadows, *et al.*, 1980; Owen, 2002), there is little scientific evidence in the published literature that different AFO-FC alignments do affect gait in children with CP. This study is the first to provide a thorough examination of the effect of AFO-FC alignment on a suite of gait parameters in children with CP who wear solid or hinged AFOs.

Overall, similar patterns of change in gait parameters distal to and including the knee were seen in all limbs, although these were more consistent and systematic in the solid AFO group. The exact patterns of change did vary somewhat according to gait pattern. In limbs demonstrating the common knee kinematic pattern the types of changes observed support those described in the related literature: reduced peak knee extension moment (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1997; Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Butler, *et al.*, 1992; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007) and peak knee extension angle (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010; Reinthal & Hoy, 2005); and increased peak knee flexion moment (Fatone, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2007). By and large these studies examined children demonstrating knee hyperextension or excessive knee extension moment which are similar to patterns of knee kinematics and kinetics demonstrated in the common sub-group.

This sub-group of limbs also demonstrated increases to tibial projection angles with increased wedge size. No other studies have measured the effect of AFO-FC alignment on tibial angle despite much of the theoretical work focussing on the importance of optimising tibial kinematics on the presumption that this would cause other biomechanical parameters to optimise (Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, 2004c; Owen, 2010; Owen, *et al.*, 2004). While tibial angle increased, the exact changes were highly variable in terms of pattern and size of change across

individual limbs. There is much scope for future work to consider the effect of AFO-FC alignment on tibial projection angles as well as other measures such as tibial angular velocity.

This investigation was also the first study to measure the effect of AFO-FC alignment on ankle moments. It was hypothesised that ankle moments would reduce with increased wedge size particularly in gait patterns where the foot is inclined on the floor resulting in uneven weight bearing between the heel and toe. Reductions in ankle moment with increased wedge size were seen across the majority of limbs, but were strongest in the solid AFO variant sub-group. This is thought to relate to a posterior shift in centre of pressure due to increased contact of the foot with the ground. This may lend support to the suggestion that tuning should still be attempted in children who have previously been considered to be unsuccessful tuners, because increasing the HSD of AFO-FC such that the sole of the shoe is brought to the floor may improve stability (Owen, 2004c).

This was also the first study to measure the effect of AFO-FC alignment on variables such as hip moments, angles and femur projection angles. While there have been suggestions that AFO-FC tuning should also focus on modifying hip moments (Bowers & Meadows, 2007; Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, 2004b), this study did not find systematic effects of AFO-FC alignment on these variables. This is thought to be due to the modulating effect of the knee joint. There were however a number of significant main effects in these variables in the hinged AFO sub-group with the common gait pattern.

Limbs in the solid AFO variant sub-group demonstrated similar patterns of changes to knee kinetics as the common sub-group, but these changes were often smaller in magnitude. These limbs would be considered by previous authors (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Owen, 2004c) to be unsuccessful tuners. Only one case study has examined the effect of AFO-FC alignment on a child with a flexed gait pattern. This study changed the AFO ankle angle on a child with crouch gait and only limited biomechanical data was presented (Reinthal & Hoy, 2005). One study (Wesdock & Edge, 2003) has examined the effect of wedges on standing balance in a group of children all demonstrating a flexed or crouch posture in standing. Increases in balance time with the wedges were seen only in the sub-group who could stand for more than 15 seconds unaided (Wesdock & Edge, 2003). These improvements in standing time may be due to the same changes described as part of Mechanism 2: an anterior shift in the centre of pressure as a result of improved base of support.

**9.3.5 AFO-FC alignment affects terminal stance as well as mid-stance** Modifying AFO-FC alignment is the first stage of the tuning process. It is said to address midstance, whereas modifying heel and sole profiles address early stance and terminal stance

respectively. These results suggest however that modifying AFO-FC alignment induces changes in terminal stance as well as mid-stance. For instance, peak knee extension angle and moment occur in terminal stance, and were systematically reduced with increased wedge size.

This finding was also evident in the results examining responsiveness to AFO-FC alignment change. Change in knee moment was considered over the period of mid-stance (10-30% gait cycle), over all of stance phase and at a single point in the gait cycle (30% gait cycle). While the mid-stance analysis was more sensitive to change than the stance phase analysis, the stance phase analysis was more consistent across conditions and limbs, that is, had less variability. The RMS values were also smaller on average. This suggests that either there may have been some consistent changes occurring in either early or terminal stance that were otherwise missed by the mid-stance analysis, or that there were fewer changes occurring during this time, thus reducing the average value.

It is therefore likely that peak knee variables such as knee extension moment and angle, as well as other gait features occurring in terminal stance, can be further modified by changing sole profiles. One case study has demonstrated that while increasing the SVA can reduce knee hyperextension, modifying the sole profile of the footwear resulted in further reductions (Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010). Further research is required to verify this.

**9.3.6** All biomechanical parameters do not optimise simultaneously The focus of the tuning procedure is often described as to optimise or normalise gait (Butler, *et al.*, 2007; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2009; Jagadamma, *et al.*, 2010; Owen, 2010). Unfortunately the definition of optimal or normal gait has been somewhat ambiguous, and a lack of data demonstrating the changes to gait after tuning an AFO-FC make it difficult to assess this retrospectively. In this thesis the most normal or optimised gait pattern was considered to be the one demonstrating closest to normal values. The four biomechanical parameters that were found to change systematically with increased wedge size were used in this analysis.

Optimising knee kinetics is at the heart of the tuning procedure. If knee kinetics is considered in isolation, the wedge size that best normalises knee kinetics varies according to gait pattern and AFO type. In the solid AFO common sub-group, the knee kinetic pattern was optimal most commonly in the 0° wedge, whereas in the variant limbs it was 5°. In the hinged group the optimum wedge size for knee kinetics was more variable. However, if the optimum wedge angle for knee kinetics is compared to the optimum wedge size for knee kinetics, ankle kinetics and tibial projection angles, only two limbs of a total 27 had complete agreement for a particular wedge size and only half had good agreement, defined as agreement spanning 5°.

These results suggest that variables will not all optimise for the same wedge size to give a better gait pattern overall. In fact it appears that one particular variable needs to be prioritised, and sub-optimal patterns for other variables accepted. This has important ramifications for much of the theoretical work on tuning that suggests that the optimising one variable, for example tibial kinematics, results in optimisation of a range of other variables (Meadows, *et al.*, 2008; Owen, 2010). It is also possible that these results may be altered by changing the heel or sole profile of the footwear, or may be affected by forefoot AFO variability.

In summary, this work represents the first investigation of the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait in children with CP. Many of the findings support previous literature but further understanding is gained for how changing AFO-FC alignment affects children with different gait patterns and in different types of AFOs. In particular this work highlights some limitations of previous theoretical and experimental work in this area. These results have a range of implications for clinicians, researchers, policy makers and families of children with CP which are discussed in more detail in the subsequent section.

# 9.3.7 AFO flexion is the most significant contributor to excessive ankle ROM in solid AFOs

The utility of the new model for measuring anatomical ankle kinematics, AFO kinematics, tibial and shoe movement was demonstrated on the solid AFO group in the final investigation of this thesis. This is the first study to measure and quantify movement of the AFO, tibia and footwear during 3DGA and as a result provides the scientific community with a valuable tool for measuring the performance of solid AFOs and footwear in 3DGA.

The large degree of AFO flexion demonstrated in the pilot study was of concern because solid AFOs are designed and prescribed with the aim of eliminating all movement at the ankle. This degree of ankle movement in a solid AFO was however found to be common within the wider literature with 8-16° of ankle ROM reported in the solid AFOs of several studies on children with CP (Abel, *et al.*, 1998; Brunner, *et al.*, 1998; Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Buckon, *et al.*, 2004; Carlson, *et al.*, 1997; Lam, *et al.*, 2005; Thompson, *et al.*, 2002). This study found an average of 10° total ankle movement which is similar to previous studies.

This research found that the primary contributor to this excessive ankle ROM was in fact AFO flexion, with much smaller contributions from STA of the knee marker and from tibial movement within the AFO. This provides support to anecdotal suggestions in the literature that the large degree of ankle movement was due to flexion of the AFO itself (Buckon, *et al.*, 2001; Buckon, *et al.*, 2004; Carlson, *et al.*, 1997; Thompson, *et al.*, 2002). This is likened to the description to 'frogmouth' (Clarke & Lunsford, 1978; Lehmann, DeLateur, & Price, 1992), which is when the

plastic anterior to the ankle, both medially and laterally, bulges outwards, allowing the AFO to dorsiflex. AFO flexion was found to have a very strong correlation with ankle moment and with patient weight. There was also a strong pairwise relationship between limbs belonging to the same patients which suggests that the main factor contributing to the degree of AFO flexion is individual patient factors including weight or gait pattern, or a similar manufacture AFO design.

The findings from this study may help clinicians and researchers to better interpret the results of previous research. In light of these results we can expect that in any investigation of solid AFOs there will be increased ankle range of movement in the heavier patients which may also reduce the effectiveness of the device in controlling more proximal lower limb joints. For instance, in the study described in Chapters 6-7, the solid AFO variant limbs belonged to the heaviest patients. In these limbs, increasing wedge size resulted in some reductions in tibial projection angle and in peak knee flexion angle which were unexpected results. This was originally attributed to increased stability due to increased base of support, however in light of these findings it is possible that these results are due to reduced AFO flexion. Indeed, ankle moment, which is correlated strongly with AFO flexion, was also reduced.

#### 9.3.8 Implications for clinical researchers

The reporting guidelines generated from the systematic review guide are a useful tool for clinical researchers as they provide a framework for the design and execution of AFO intervention studies that better consider important issues specific to this area. These guidelines encourage clear reporting and thoughtful assessment of orthotic goal and sample homogeneity, which, if followed, have the potential to improve the quality of the evidence base in this area.

The studies in this thesis have clearly described the effect of AFO-FC alignment on a range of gait parameters in two groups of children with CP, wearing two types of AFO designs. In light of these findings, researchers can now fully appreciate the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait when designing and executing AFO intervention studies. For example, if a study uses AFO-FCs with a standard SVA, the normalising effect of the device on different biomechanical parameters will vary according to baseline patterns of kinetics and kinematics. If the SVA is chosen by a process of optimisation, this must be done in accordance with a specific, clearly defined and clinically relevant variable and with the effect of such optimisation reported. Improvements in variables of interest may be made at the cost of detrimental effects on some other variables.

The new model for measuring ankle, AFO, tibia and footwear kinematics in 3DGA provides information about the behaviour of the AFO-FC that was previously not available using the standard PiG model in 3DGA. This model provides a method of measuring ankle kinematics that is not influenced by tibial movement within the AFO or by STA of the knee marker. Only two

additional markers are required to be able to assess the integrity of the fit of the footwear, the rigidity of the AFO and how well the tibia is restrained in the AFO. As such this model has utility in any research project investigating the effect of an AFO or a variant of AFO design.

#### 9.3.9 Implications for clinicians

These studies tell us that AFO-FC alignment is important for all children wearing solid and hinged AFOs. It is now apparent that a certain subset of systematic biomechanical changes can be induced by altering AFO-FC alignment. Depending on the type of gait pattern, the exact changes will vary, but all of these systematic changes will occur at the knee level and below. While the focus of changing AFO-FC alignment in the context of AFO-FC tuning is to affect mid-stance, changes will also be seen in early and terminal stance. It is however unlikely that modifying the SVA alone can lead to optimisation over a range of biomechanical gait parameters.

This information has direct clinical relevance to those involved in the orthotic management of children with CP at a clinical level. Orthotists can now appreciate that the combined effect of the footwear and AFO on AFO-FC alignment is an important consideration because it does have a significant effect on gait. If changes are made to the AFO-FC alignment, changes will occur across stance phase, across anatomical joints, and across variables. Many of these changes are subtle and cannot be assessed using observational gait analysis.

In a clinical 3DGA setting, changes to AFO-FC alignment can be made based on the results of a baseline gait analysis. The findings from this study describe how gait will change, and by approximately how much when 5° incremental changes are made to the SVA. The choice of AFO-FC alignment can be modified based on this information, and a quantitative assessment of these changes performed to confirm the results. This information therefore provides clinicians with a valuable tool to alter and potentially improve gait in children with CP.

The model to measure AFO, tibial and footwear kinematics in solid AFOs in a 3DGA context has direct implications for orthotists. In clinical settings that routinely use 3DGA, a gait analysis has the potential to provide information about the patients gait in barefoot and with any assistive devices or orthoses, as well as how well the AFO is providing rigidity at the ankle. Direct feedback can be provided to orthotists about the rigidity of the device that allows them take action to increase the rigidity of the device if necessary.

This model also provides an alternative measurement of ankle kinematics from that offered by Plug-In-Gait. This measurement is not affected by STA of the knee marker. While the total ankle ROM reported in this study according to these two measurements was similar, there were more substantial variations at different points of the gait cycle. Use of this model in a routine clinical 3DGA setting would provide clinicians with a more accurate measure of anatomical ankle

kinematics which should permit a more accurate assessment of the effectiveness of health related interventions related to the ankle.

9.3.10 Implications for children, families and policy makers

Further investigation is required to determine the effect of heel and sole profiles on gait, and to combine this with the findings of this study to more fully understand the complex three stage process of AFO-FC tuning. If, after further investigations the tuning process is proven to lead to better outcomes in children with CP, introducing these practices to routine clinical management will have implications for both patients and families, as well as for policy makers.

In facilities that already use this process routinely, all children are supplied with two pairs of leather boots incorporating an EVA sole. This permits permanent changes to be made to the heel and sole profile of the footwear which are worn on a full-time basis with their orthoses. In Australia, shoes are not provided as part of orthotic treatment, rather footwear is chosen by the family, often in conjunction with advice from their orthotist.

If families retain the ability to choose and provide footwear for their child, providing consistent and appropriate footwear modifications is likely to lead to logistical difficulties in ensuring the sole is suitable for modification, as well as providing the same modifications to all pairs of shoes simultaneously. If specific footwear was provided for the purpose of ensuring appropriate footwear for these modifications, this would add significant cost to the process and by imposing restrictions on the choice of footwear may exacerbate some of the issues surrounding concerns with cosmesis that are already demonstrated by children with foot and ankle problems (Morris, Liabo, Wright, & Fitzpatrick, 2007). One avenue of future research could therefore focus on the design of a range of footwear that meets certain cosmetic requirements but also provides facility to alter the properties of the footwear as required.

Another consideration relates to the time and resources required to implement a tuning procedure. An AFO-FC tuning process will require 2D or 3DGA system which raises issues such as initial cost and physical space requirements. The cost of these motion capture systems have reduced significantly and are now less dependent on technical support. For example, a 6 camera system can now be purchased for US\$6000

(http://www.naturalpoint.com/optitrack/products/motion-capture/). There are ongoing costs associated with the time required to tune each child that must also be considered. While it is relatively feasible for even small orthotic facilities to purchase and use these motion capture systems, substantial evidence demonstrating the benefit from AFO-FC tuning remains essential. In the interim, investigations into each component of the process are essential not only in

working toward such a goal but also to provide insight for clinicians into the effect of their interventions.

## 9.4 Future avenues of research

#### 9.4.1 What is the effect of heel and sole modifications on gait?

There are many avenues of research in this area that have been identified throughout this thesis. First and foremost there is a clear need to determine the effect of heel and sole modifications on gait in children with CP. Similar protocols to those used in this thesis could be employed to investigate the effect of different types of heel profiles and different types of sole designs to provide the full complement of information required to understand the AFO-FC tuning process. Once the effects of these interventions are known, the effect of the combined three stage tuning process can be investigated.

**9.4.2 What is the effect of AFO-FC alignment on other domains of the ICF?** The experimental study in this thesis focussed on the effect of AFO-FC alignment on biomechanical variables during straight line level walking in a laboratory setting. Measurement of gait can be considered part of the 'body functions' domain of the framework outlined by the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) (World Health Organisation, 2001). Future work should consider other domains of the ICF, which include body structures, activities and participation. There are suggestions that tuning might provide active stretching to muscles (Owen, *et al.*, 2004) or permanent motor learning (Butler, *et al.*, 1997; Butler, *et al.*, 1992) which both relate to changes in body structures, however neither of these suggestions are supported by scientific evidence. No studies have yet examined whether AFO-FC alignment or the AFO-FC tuning process have any effect on other activities such as balance, or on outcomes related to participation and quality of life.

**9.4.3** What is the effect of AFO-FC alignment on other populations? While this thesis focussed on children with CP, similar protocols could be applied to other populations, such as adults with post stroke hemiplegia or children with spina bifida to determine the effect of AFO-FC alignment on gait. It is likely that the systematic changes observed in children with CP will be similar to other populations who also wear solid AFOs but this should be verified by additional investigations.

9.4.4 How does AFO rigidity vary across different clinical settings?
The model for measuring kinematics of the AFO, tibia and footwear in 3DGA could be applied to any population wearing solid AFOs to assess how well these devices are performing.
Comparisons could be made across different pathological populations, across different AFO designs, across different clinicians, facilities or geographical locations. The results of this thesis

suggest that a significant factor in the degree of AFO flexion is simply the weight of the patient, rather than inherent variation across different AFOs. Various design and material changes can be used to stiffen the device. These include use of different materials (carbon fibre instead of plastic), more anterior trimlines at the ankle, reinforcements around the ankle and use of an ankle strap to provide tension in the mediolateral direction. Studies utilising mechanical testing provide some evidence that modifying these design features affects the stiffness of the device (eg. Bregman, *et al.*, 2009; Major, *et al.*, 2004; Sumiya, *et al.*, 1996). These variables have not been investigated in a dynamic setting which may produce different results due to factors such as rotational and translational forces occurring in other planes. Future research could examine the effect of these variables on the rigidity of the AFO, or could focus on the type of strap design that best restrains the tibia. Based on these findings new protocols for the choice of material and/or thickness of solid AFOs could be implemented that would help orthotists provide AFOs which are sufficiently rigid to withstand body weight.

# 9.4.5 What is the effect of poor fitting footwear?

Similar avenues of research could be pursued with regard to the movement of footwear on the AFO footpiece. While the results of this thesis suggest that footwear movement was limited to an average of 2° (SD 1°, range 1-3°) this is probably an underestimation of total ROM because the footwear was wrapped with elastic adhesive bandage to secure the external wedges to the shoe. Footwear is arguably more likely to move on an AFO than on a bare limb because of the limitations of ankle movement and the smooth plastic around the heel. If movement of footwear can be quantified, for example in the stroke population, there is potential for larger scope projects to examine the relationship between the fit of footwear and falling in at-risk populations.

#### 9.5 Overall conclusions

The aim of the thesis was to investigate the effect of AFO-FC sagittal plane alignment on the gait of children with CP. This aim has been fulfilled with the main conclusions from the investigations in this thesis listed below:

- The degree to which AFO-FC alignment was reported and thus appreciated in the wider body of literature was found to be poor. Sample homogeneity and reporting AFO detail were also not well addressed. Best practice reporting guidelines were generated which if used, will enable more consistent reporting and permit a transparent assessment of study quality thereby improving the potential to combine results of several smaller studies using meta-analyses.
- All limbs were found to be responsive to AFO-FC alignment change according to change in knee moment over mid-stance. Solid AFOs were more sensitive to a change in AFO-FC alignment than hinged AFOs, as were limbs conforming to the common knee kinematic pattern.
- Changing AFO-FC alignment was found to produce systematic changes in a range of gait variables distal to and including the knee joint. Within the solid AFO group there was evidence suggesting that the strength of changes across these variables varied according to different types of gait patterns. In limbs that were relatively extended (the common knee kinematic pattern), peak knee flexion moment and angle tended to increase and peak knee extension moment and angle tended to decrease, with increased tibial projection angle and reduced ankle moments. In more flexed limbs the same changes occurred in knee and ankle kinetics but changes to knee kinematics and tibia projection angles were more varied. These same patterns of change were observed in the hinged AFO group but were less consistent than the solid AFO group. Hip kinematics, kinetics, femur projection angles, peak knee flexion in swing, walking velocity, cadence and stride length did not change systematically across either group.
- An optimum AFO-FC alignment could be identified according to the wedge size that best normalised knee kinematics, knee kinetics, tibial kinematics and ankle kinetics over midstance, for the majority of limbs. However, only two of the 27 limbs had perfect agreement across these variables on optimal wedge size while half had good agreement. An optimum wedge size was less apparent in terms of temporospatial parameters and subjective preference.

- When the optimal SVA could be estimated it was found to vary according to gait pattern within the solid AFO group, but in the hinged AFO group was variable. Across both groups changes in knee kinematics tended to agree with changes in knee kinetics regardless of gait pattern. This suggests that changing the AFO-FC alignment does not permit normalisation across a range of variables, and that there must be a prioritisation of the most important variable to address.
- A new model based on *PlugInGait* (PiG) and static calibration was designed to overcome inaccuracies in the PiG model due to STA of the knee marker as well as measure the individual kinematics of the AFO, the tibia within the AFO, and the footwear. While discrepancies in the measurement of ankle kinematics was strongly related to knee kinematics and thus can be attributed to STA of the knee marker, the net effect on total ankle ROM was small (1.5°). At specific instances during the gait cycle there were larger discrepancies of up to 7°. The main cause of increased ankle ROM was flexion of the AFO (up to 13°) which increased with bodyweight but tibial movement was limited to approximately 4° and shoe movement to 3°.

This thesis presents the first investigation into the effect of systematic AFO-FC alignment change on gait in children with CP. The biomechanical changes that can be induced by variations in AFO-FC sagittal plane alignment have been described across two types of AFO designs and according to gait pattern. This work addresses a significant gap in the body of literature as it provides evidence that AFO-FC alignment can be manipulated to produce specific biomechanical effects but that some of these may be improvements to gait and others may be detrimental.

The new approach for measuring AFO kinematics in 3DGA can be used in research and clinical settings to obtain a more accurate measurement of ankle kinematics as well as measure AFO flexion, tibial and footwear movement. This approach improves our understanding of the accuracy of 3DGA and of how solid AFOs behave in a dynamic context. It may be applied in a variety of clinical and research settings to guide decision making regarding the efficacy of interventions. It is hoped that the knowledge gained from this work can be used to improve gait and ultimately functional outcomes and quality of life in this, and in other populations.

# Appendices

Appendix A: Systematic review publication

Prosthetics and Orthotics International June 2010; 34(2): 129–145

informa healthcare

# A systematic review to determine best practice reporting guidelines for AFO interventions in studies involving children with cerebral palsy

# EMILY RIDGEWELL<sup>1</sup>, FIONA DOBSON<sup>2</sup>, TIMOTHY BACH<sup>3</sup>, & RICHARD BAKER<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>National Centre for Prosthetics and Orthotics, La Trobe University, Bundoora, <sup>2</sup>Orthopaedics and Gait Analysis, Murdoch Children's Research Institute, Royal Children's Hospital, Parkville, Australia, and <sup>3</sup>School of Human Biosciences and Musculoskeletal Research Centre, La Trobe University, Bundoora, Australia

#### Abstract

Studies which have examined the effects of ankle-foot orthoses (AFOs) on children with cerebral palsy (CP) often report insufficient detail about the participants, devices and testing protocols. The aim of this systematic review was to evaluate the level and quality of detail reported about these factors in order to generate best practice guidelines for reporting of future studies. A systematic search of the literature was conducted to identify studies which examined any outcome measure relating to AFO use in children with CP. A customized checklist was developed for data extraction and quality assessment. There was substantial variability in the level and quality of detail reported across the 41-paper yield. Many papers reported insufficient detail to allow synthesis of outcomes across studies. The findings of this review have been used to generate guidelines for best practice of reporting for AFO intervention studies. It is important to ensure homogeneity of gait pattern in a subject sample or to subdivide a sample to investigate the possibility that heterogeneity affected results. It is also important to describe the orthosis in sufficient detail that the device can be accurately replicated because differences in designs have been shown to affect outcomes. These guidelines will help researchers provide more systematic and detailed reports and thereby permit future reviewers to more accurately assess both the reporting and quality of orthotic interventions, and will facilitate synthesis of literature to enhance the evidence base.

Keywords: Ankle-foot orthosis; cerebral palsy; systematic review; reporting guidelines

## Introduction

Cerebral palsy (CP) describes a group of permanent disorders of the development of movement and posture, causing activity limitation.<sup>1</sup> The resulting lower limb muscle imbalances, deformities and gait abnormalities are often managed by ankle-foot orthoses (AFOs). The evidence-base for the use of AFOs in children with CP has been repeatedly described as low quality.<sup>2–4</sup> These conclusions and recommendations for improvement are

ISSN 0309-3646 print/ISSN 1746-1553 online © 2010 ISPO DOI: 10.3109/03093641003674288

Correspondence: Ms Emily Ridgewell, BPO, National Centre for Prosthetics and Orthotics, La Trobe University, Kingsbury Drive, Bundoora, 3086 Australia. E-mail: eeridgewell@students.latrobe.edu.au

# 130 E. Ridgewell et al.

largely based on general methodological construct and minimising study bias, which were assessed using tools such as Sackett's Level of Evidence<sup>5</sup> or the PEDro scale.<sup>6</sup>

Writing recently in the *British Medical Journal*, however, Herbert and Bo have argued that equally important in ensuring high quality research is the quality of the intervention itself.<sup>7</sup> This conclusion is also implicit in the recent publication in the *Annals of Internal Medicine* of an extension of the CONSORT statement to trials of non-pharmocologic treatment,<sup>8</sup> and is evident in the work done by the Equator Network (http://www.equatornetwork.org).

Whether or not the AFO intervention has been administered in a way which is reliable, valid and clinically relevant, will affect the confidence that can be had in the study's findings and the degree to which the results are considered generalizable. Assessment of intervention quality relies on sufficient detail and transparency in trial reports.<sup>7</sup> Several authors have noted variable depth and breadth of detail provided by studies within the body of orthotic literature.<sup>2,3,9</sup> While there are general guidelines for reporting of intervention detail in randomized and non-randomized trials (e.g., the CONSORT statement,<sup>8,10,11</sup> and the TREND statement<sup>12</sup>), there are currently no guidelines recommending the specific detail that should be reported in AFO intervention studies.

This is thus the first review to focus specifically on the level and quality of detail reported by AFO intervention studies on children with CP, about the participant samples, AFO interventions and testing protocol. It was anticipated that by focussing on examples of good practice within the literature, it would be possible to derive best practice guidelines for reporting of research in this area. These guidelines will improve the detail reported by future work and thereby the quality of this evidence-base.

### Methods

#### Search strategy

An electronic search of the literature was conducted by one reviewer (ER) in April 2009 using the following databases: MEDLINE (1966–April 2009), CINAHL (1982– April 2009), RECAL legacy database (1991–2009), EMBASE (1988–2009 week 17), AMED (1985–April 2009), INSPEC (1987–April 2009), ISI Web of Knowledge (sci-expanded, SSCI, A&HCI), Informit Databases (with the sub-selection of health, technology, science, engineering; 1998–2009), the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (1991–April 2009) and the Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro). Medline was also accessed using the internet (PubMed). Databases were searched from database inception with no *a priori* exclusions, restrictions or limits. Reference lists from the relevant identified papers were also searched manually.

A search using MESH terms and free text words was performed using the search terms related to "cerebral palsy", "child", "adolescent", "orthosis", "brace" and "AFO". Relevant truncation or wildcard symbols were used to retrieve all possible suffix variations of a root word. An example of the search strategy: (1) "cerebral pals\$"; (2) "child\$" or "adolescen\$"; (3) "orthos\$" or "brace" or "AFO"; (4) Combine 1 AND 2 AND 3.

#### Inclusion criteria

Studies were included if they evaluated any outcome measure relating to AFO use in children or adolescents (aged 6–18 years) who had a primary diagnosis of CP. Only full

# Best practice reporting guidelines for AFO intervention studies 131

papers from peer reviewed journals which were published in English were eligible for inclusion. As only experimental work was of interest, systematic reviews were excluded as were Level IV and V studies (case studies or opinion pieces).<sup>5</sup>

An AFO is defined as an external supportive device which encompasses the ankle joint and the whole or part of the foot.<sup>13</sup> This review limited inclusion to AFOs designed to control unwanted ankle movement by use of physical application of force through a three point pressure system. Therefore, studies of non-rigid AFOs such as elastic wrap or lace up ankle braces, Lycra garments and supramalleolar orthoses were excluded. Studies which examined any of these devices in addition to other AFOs which matched the inclusion criteria were included. Because the term "dynamic ankle foot orthosis (DAFO)" is used ambiguously, devices so named were initially included and later excluded if further examination indicated that the devices were supramalleolar orthoses.

# Data extraction and quality assessment

The title and abstract of each study identified from the search was assessed by one reviewer (E. Ridgewell) for inclusion or exclusion from the review. All papers that were initially discarded were checked by the second reviewer (F. Dobson) to ensure no papers had been accidentally excluded. Any paper initially included which upon full reading did not meet the inclusion criteria, was later excluded.

A customized quality checklist was used to conduct a systematic assessment of evidence quality. As no standardized or validated quality checklists were available for this type of review, a new checklist was designed which combined data extraction and quality assessment (Table I). Past literature reviews and studies in this area<sup>2,3,9,14</sup> and in other areas of orthotic management,<sup>15–17</sup> ISPO consensus conference documents,<sup>4,18</sup> systematic review and checklist guidelines<sup>6,19–24</sup> as well as examples of customized quality checklists previously used in other systematic reviews,<sup>25–27</sup> were used to guide design. There were three major themes to the checklist:

- (1) Participant details. This included reporting of topographical diagnosis, age, ankle, hip and knee passive joint range of motion (ROM) and the description of a common abnormality/indication within the group regarding a pattern of ankle, knee and hip movement.
- (2) AFO details. This included reporting of the orthotic aim, descriptions of movements permitted, prevented and assisted, AFO ankle angle, toe plate length, material type and thickness, AFO tuning, final AFO shank-to-vertical angle and whether the AFOs were described as custom made or prefabricated. The AFO shank-to-vertical angle is the angle between the lower leg and vertical while standing in the AFO. It is measured as the angle between the vertical and a line joining the knee joint centre and lateral malleolus in the sagittal plane.<sup>28</sup>
- (3) Testing protocol. This included reporting of the control and test conditions, and details regarding randomization and acclimatization.

Both reviewers (E. Ridgewell; F. Dobson) piloted the data extraction and quality assessment form independently on a sub-group of papers to check the form content and reliability. Interrater agreement on full consensus items was 81%. The draft checklist was altered accordingly to provide improved clarity and instruction. Following independent review of all papers by both reviewers all non-consensus items were discussed until a consensus was reached. Any discrepancies were investigated using the original article to ascertain the

# 132 E. Ridgewell et al.

Table I. Customized data extraction and quality checklist.

(Item)	(Choose response)	(Record details)
Participant details		
Age	Complete/incomplete	Mean, SD, range
Diagnosis	Complete/incomplete	Topographic
Common deviation at ankle?	Clear/ambiguous/not stated/na	
Common deviation at knee?	Clear/ambiguous/not stated/na	
Common deviation at hip?	Clear/ambiguous/not stated/na	
Passive ankle (gastroc) ROM	Individual/group/inclusion criteria/not stated	
Passive knee ROM	Individual/group/inclusion criteria/not stated	
Passive hip ROM	Individual/group/inclusion criteria/not stated	
AFO detail		
Orthotic aim	Clear/ambiguous/not stated/other	
Movements	Complete (all clear)/incomplete (some or all unclear)	Assisted, prevented and permitted
AFO ankle angle	Specified for individual/group/ambiguous/ not stated/other	Ankle angle in AFO
Toe plate length	All clear/some clear/all ambiguous	Full length or <sup>3</sup> / <sub>4</sub>
Materials	Complete/partial/not stated/na	Material and thickness
Manufacture	Custom made/prefabricated/not stated	
If prefab, is device name & supplier listed?	Yes/no	
Tuning	Complete/partial/not stated/na	Tuned? Details?
Shank-to-vertical angle	Complete/partial/not stated/na	Final value
Testing protocol		
Order of testing	Randomized/non-randomized/not stated/na	
Acclimatization	<1 day, 1–6 days, 1–4 weeks, >4 weeks/not stated/na	
Control condition	Barefoot/shoes/not stated	
Test condition	Clear/ambiguous/not stated	

Note: Each quality item had detailed pre-determined qualifiers to allow objective categorization for each response.

correct response based on the objective a priori decision rules. Full consensus was reached on all items.

# Results

The electronic search of selected databases identified 374 articles as having possible relevance to the use of AFOs in children with CP. Targeted searching of relevant on-line journals revealed 55 articles which were all later discarded as duplicates. After applying the inclusion criteria, 41 full papers were included in the review.

# Demographics

Table II outlines the study details and demographics including participant diagnosis, number of participants, intervention, control, study design and primary activity/outcome examined. The total yield was published across 17 journals. A total of 1201 children with CP were examined over a period of 38 years with the majority of articles published after 1995. Eleven different devices or device designs were examined. The majority of studies examined gait while walking on a level surface. More studies examined diplegic children than hemiplegic children.

Authors	Diagnosis	= <i>u</i>	Intervention	Control		Study design		Activity/outcome	
Rosenthal et al. 1975 <sup>55</sup>	Not stated	12	GRAFO	BF	retrospective	longitudinal	case control	Genu recurvatum	
Simon et al. 1978 <sup>38</sup>	Hemiplegia & diplegia	15	SAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Genu recurvatum	Be
Sankey et al. 198963	Hemiplegia	29	SAFO	n/a	retrospective	cross sect	cohort/population	Surgery rates	est
Mossberg et al. 199064	Diplegia	18	AFOs on vs. AFOs off	unknown	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	t p
Butler et al. 1992 <sup>36</sup>	Hemiplegia & diplegia	21	SAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Genu recurvatum	ra
Ounpuu et al. 1996 <sup>65</sup>	Hemiplegia & diplegia	31	PLS	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	ct
Carlson et al. 199766	Diplegia	7	SAFO	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	ic
Hainsworth et al. 199767	Hemiplegia & diplegia	12	AFOs on vs. AFOs off	BF	prospective	longitudinal	case control	AFO withdrawal	e I
Radkta et al. 1997 <sup>68</sup>	Hemiplegia & diplegia	9	SAFO, short leg AFO+TRF	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	rej
Wilson et al. 199757	Diplegia	15	SAFO, HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Sit-stand	00
Abel et al. 1998 <sup>30</sup>	Diplegia	35	SAFO	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	rti
Brunner et al. 1998 <sup>40</sup>	Hemiplegia	4	SAFO, spring type AFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking (	ng
Burtner et al. 1999 <sup>69</sup>	Diplegia	4	SAFO, carbon spiral AFO	unknown	prospective	cross sect	case control	Standing balance	19
Rethlefsen et al. 1999 <sup>42</sup>	Diplegia	5	SAFO, HAO	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	ui
Crenshaw et al. 2000 <sup>70</sup>	Diplegia	8	HAFO, HAFO + TRF	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	de
Suzuki et al. 200071	Diplegia	9	HAFO	unknown	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	lir
Beals 200172	Not stated	4	SAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Trunk posture	ne
Buckon et al. 2001 <sup>31</sup>	Hemiplegia	30	SAFO, HAFO, PLS	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	s i
Maltais et al. 200173	Diplegia	9	HAFO	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	foi
Dursun et al. 200274	Hemiplegia & diplegia	24	Unknown	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	r A
Kott & Held 200275	Mixed	28	orthoses on vs. orthoses off	unknown	prospective	cross sect	case control	Obstacle course	١F
Romkes & Brunner 2002 <sup>50</sup>	Hemiplegia	12	HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	0
Sienko-Thomas et al. 2002 <sup>45</sup>	Hemiplegia	19	SAFO, HAFO, PLS	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Stair climbing	in
Smiley et al. 2002 <sup>44</sup>	Diplegia	4	SAFO, HAFO, PLS	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	te
Thompson et al. 2002 <sup>32</sup>	Hemiplegia	18	SAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	rv
White et al. 2002 <sup>76</sup>	Hemiplegia & diplegia	115	SAFO or HAFO*	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	er
Wesdock & Edge 2003 <sup>49</sup>	Mixed	7	SAFO, wedged AFO	shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Standing balance	ntio
Buckon et al. 2004 <sup>41</sup>	Diplegia	16	SAFO, HAFO, PLS	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking	on
Park et al. 2004 <sup>77</sup>	Diplegia	19	HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Sit-stand	st
								(continued)	udies

Table II. Demographic and descriptive aspects of all studies.

Appendix A

Authors	Diagnosis	=u	Intervention	Control		Study desig		Activity/outcome
am et al. 2005 <sup>56</sup>	Diplegia	5	SAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Radtka et al. 2005 <sup>43</sup>	Diplegia	12	SAFO, HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Desloovere et al. 2006 <sup>9</sup>	Hemiplegia	15	PLS, CFO	BF & shoes	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Romkes et al. 2006 <sup>37</sup>	Hemiplegia	10	HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
3alaban et al. 200778	Hemiplegia	11	HAFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Jutier et al. 200754	Mixed	9	SAFO	n/a	retrospective	cross sect	cohort	Group analysis
Hayek et al. 200779	Hemiplegia & diplegia	56	community prescribed AFOs	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
ucareli & Lima 2007 <sup>35</sup>	Diplegia	11	hinged GRAFO	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Vestberry et al. 200780	Mixed	102	Unknown	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Bony alignment
Brehm et al. 2008 <sup>81</sup>	Mixed	172	SAFO or PLS	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
Smith et al. 2009 <sup>29</sup>	Diplegia	15	HAFO, dynamic AFO	BF	prospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking
/an Gestel et al. 200839	Hemiplegia	36	PLS, CFO, orteams	BF	retrospective	cross sect	case control	Level walking

Appendix A

134 E. Ridgewell et al.

## Participant details

Table III provides a summary of the data extraction and quality outcomes across all studies. Table IV provides an overview of the responses of all studies to each item on the data extraction and quality assessment checklist.

Topographical diagnosis and participant age were well reported. More studies provided information on passive ankle ROM (23/41) than knee (11/41) and hip ROM (10/41). Nineteen of the 41 studies made a clear attempt at describing a common pattern of abnormality or indication that was demonstrated by all participants. One study<sup>29</sup> clearly described a homogenous gait characteristic demonstrated by all participants. A homogenous mode of ankle movement was described most frequently (14/41), followed by knee movement (10/41) and three papers described a common pattern of hip movement.

# AFO detail

Seventeen studies clearly stated the aim of the AFO intervention. A clear description of the type of AFO intervention was provided by most studies (35/41), as were clear descriptions of the movements prevented, assisted or permitted by the AFO. Sixteen studies clearly stated the AFO ankle angle. Nineteen studies gave clear descriptions of toe plate length for all devices tested. In some cases it was necessary to infer this information from photographs or diagrams. A full-length toe plate was used more often (18/41) than  $\frac{3}{4}$ -length toe plate (4/41). Ten papers provided complete detail on both material type and thickness, and eight more papers provided partial information.

Five studies reported that the AFOs were tuned prior to testing. One study provided the final shank-to-vertical angle of the AFOs tested and two provided partial information. Custom made devices were most commonly tested (18/41). Three studies tested prefabricated devices with the name of the device and supplier provided by one study. The remaining 20 studies did not state whether the device was custom made or prefabricated.

# Testing protocol

More studies used a randomized order of testing (16/41) than non-random (12/41). The remaining studies either did not report this information or the item was not applicable. Twenty studies tested unfamiliar devices. Across these studies the acclimatization times ranged from less than one day (2/20), 1–4 weeks (4/20) or greater than four weeks (8/20). Most studies clearly stated the control condition with barefoot being the most common (28/41), followed by shoes (6/41) and both barefoot and shoes (1/41). The test condition was clearly stated in most studies.

#### Discussion

This review identified 41 full papers which examined the effect of AFO use on a diverse range of outcome measures in children with CP. In line with the conclusions of previous reviewers,<sup>2,3</sup> there was considerable variety in the level and quality of detail reported. In many cases this limits any assessment of intervention quality and the impact this may have on confidence in the findings. This variability also reduces the potential for meta-analyses to summarize results across studies to provide more substantial evidence of treatment practices. Incomplete reporting of data further reduces the potential to combine results across studies.

	0	$\sim$
-		b
- 1	0	υ.
	_	

Table III. Results of data extraction and quality outcomes for all studies.

E. Ridgewell et al.

Participant details							AFO d	etails				Testing proto	8
Authors	Age	Diagnosis	Common attribute	Passive ROMs	Orthotic aim	AFO movement	AFO ankle angle	Toe plate length	Materials	Alignment	Prefab or custom?	Randomized testing order?	Acclimatization time
Rosenthal et al. 197555	ı.	i.	×	ı	clear	complete	ambiguous	T	ambiguous	T?SVA?	custom	n/a	n/a
Simon et al. 1978 <sup>38</sup>	complete	complete	× ×	т	clear	complete	ambiguous	ī	I	ī	?custom	8	n/a
Sankey et al. 1989 <sup>63</sup>	ī	complete	I	ī	ī	complete	ambiguous	FL & 3	I	ī	?custom	I	n/a
Mossberg et al. 1990 <sup>64</sup>	complete	complete	I	i	I	i	I	ı	ī	i	ī	yes	n/a
Butler et al. 1992 <sup>36</sup>	complete	complete	× ×	A, K, H	clear	complete	I	I	I	4	I	n/a	1-4 wks
Ounpuu et al. 1996 <sup>65</sup>	complete	complete	I	i	clear	complete	ī	full length	ī	I	custom	8	n/a
Carlson et al. 199766	complete	complete	ambiguous	ī	clear	complete	I	1	I	ī	ī	yes	>4 wks
Hainsworth et al. 199767	complete	complete	I	۷	ī	complete	complete	I	ī	I	I	n/a	1-4wks
Radkta et al. 1997 <sup>68</sup>	complete	complete	۲	A, K, H	clear	1	1	full length	complete	I	custom	6	> 4wks
Wilson et al. 1997 <sup>57</sup>	complete	complete	۷	А, К, Н	clear	complete	complete	full length	complete	I	custom	yes	<1 day
Abel et al. 1998 <sup>30</sup>	complete	complete	۲	۷	clear	complete	ambiguous	1	ambiguous	ī	I	2	n/a
Brunner et al. 1998 <sup>40</sup>	complete	complete	A, K?	ī	clear	complete	1	ī	ambiguous	ī	custom	8	1
Burtner et al. 199969	1	complete	I	A, K, H	ambiguous	complete	ī	I	ambiguous	I	X prefab	I	ī
Rethiefsen et al. 1999 <sup>42</sup>	complete	complete	I	A, K, H	ambiguous	complete	¢	ī	1	ī	custom	yes	I
Crenshaw et al. 2000 <sup>70</sup>	complete	complete	I	۷	1	complete	complete	full length	ambiguous	ī	custom	I	> 4wks
Suzuki et al. 2000 <sup>71</sup>	complete	complete	ī	۷	clear	complete	complete	full length	ambiguous	I	prefab	I	ī
Beals 200172	I	I	ambiguous	ī	clear	complete	complete	I	I	I	I	8	n/a
Buckon et al. 2001 <sup>31</sup>	complete	complete	¥	۷	I	complete	complete	full length	complete	i	custom	yes	> 4wks
Maltais et al. 200173	complete	complete	ī	ī	I	complete	complete	I	ī	I	I	yes	n/a
Dursun et al. 200274	complete	complete	۲	۷	clear	I	I	ī	I	i	I	I	n/a
Kott & Held 2002 <sup>75</sup>	complete	complete	I	i	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	yes	n/a
Romkes &	complete	complete	۷	× ∛	I	complete	I	full length	I.	I.	I.	I	1-4wks
Sienoko-Thomas et al. 2002 <sup>45</sup>	complete	complete	ı.	I	I	complete	complete	I	ı.	ı	custom	yes	> 4wks
Smiley et al. 2002 <sup>44</sup>	complete	complete	ambiguous	۲	I	complete	I	<u>3</u> & 7	complete	ī	custom	ı	<1day
Thompson et al. 2002 <sup>32</sup>	complete	complete	À, K	ī	other	complete	ambiguous	e H	complete	ī	custom	8	n/a
White et al. 2002 <sup>76</sup>	complete	complete	I	۷	ī	complete	I	FL & 3	complete	ī	?custom	8	n/a
Wesdock & Edge 2003 <sup>49</sup>	complete	complete	¥	А, К, Н	clear	complete	complete		I	1	ī	yes	1-4 wks
Buckon et al. 2004 <sup>41</sup>	complete	complete	I	۷	I	complete	complete	full length	complete	I	custom	yes	> 4wks
Park et al. 200477	complete	complete	I	A, K, H	I	complete	complete	full length	ambiguous	I	I	yes	n/a
Lam et al. 2005 <sup>56</sup>	complete	complete	ambiguous	i	ambiguous	complete	complete	full length	complete	SVA?	custom	yes	¢
Radtka et al. 2005 <sup>43</sup>	complete	complete	۲	A, K, H	clear	complete	complete	full length	complete	i	custom	yes	> 4wks
Desloovere et al. 2006 <sup>9</sup>	complete	complete	ī	ī	clear	complete	ī	full length	ī	T?SVA?	custom	yes	I
													(continued)

# Appendix A

Participant details							AFO 0	letais				Testing proto	18
Authors	Age	Diagnosis	Common attribute	Passive ROMs	Orthotic aim	AFO movement	AFO ankle angle	Toe plate length	Materials	Alignment	Prefab or custom?	Randomized testing order?	Acclimatization
Balaban et al. 200778	complete	complete	A	A	ambiguous	complete	complete	full length	ī	1	custom	yes	n/a
Butler et al. 200754	complete	complete	¥	A, K, H	other	complete	•		ì	4	1	.1	n/a
Hayek et al. 200779	complete	complete	1	1	1	1	i	1	1	I	1	ou	n/a
Romkes et al. 2006 <sup>37</sup>	complete	complete	A, K	V	1	complete	complete	full length	1	SVA	4	probably not	n/a
Lucareli & Lima 2007 <sup>35</sup>	complete	complete	¥	A, K, H	clear	complete			1	1	2custom	probably not	n/a
Westberry et al. 200780	complete	complete	i	1	1	i	1	I	ļ	1	1	Q	n/a
Brehm et al. 2008 <sup>31</sup>	complete	complete	I	I	1	complete	ł	•	ī	1	custom	DO	n/a
Van Gestel et al. 2008 <sup>39</sup>	complete	complete	A, K	ī	clear	complete.	i	full length	ambiguous	T?SVA?	X prefab	ou	n/a
Smith et al. 2009 <sup>29</sup>	complete	complete	A, K, H	×	other	complete	complete	full length	complete	1	custom	yes	>4wks

Best practice reporting guidelines for AFO intervention studies

Appendix A

# 138 E. Ridgewell et al.

Table IV. Summary	of resp	onses to	each qu	uality item.
-------------------	---------	----------	---------	--------------

Item	Response	Nur	mber of studies
Participant details			
Age	Complete	36	9,29-32,35-45,49,50,54,56,64-68,70,71,73-81
Diagnosis	Complete	39	1,9,29-32,35-41,43-45,49,50,54,56,57,63-71,73-81
Common indication at ankle	Clear	14	29,30,32,36-40,43,50,57,68,74,78
Common indication at knee	Clear	10	29,31,32,35,36,38-40,49,54
Common indication at hip	Clear/ambiguous	3	36,56,64
Passive ankle ROM (gastroc)	Complete	23	29-31,35-37,41-44,49,50,54,57,67-71,74,76-78
Knee ROM	Complete	11	35, 36, 42, 43, 49, 50, 54, 57, 68, 69, 77
Hip ROM	Complete	10	35, 36, 42, 43, 49, 54, 57, 68, 69, 77
AFO detail			
Orthotic aim	Clear	17	9,30,35,36,38-40,43,49,55,57,65,66,68,71,72,74
	Other	3	29,32,54
Movements	Complete	35	9,29-32,35-45,49,50,54-57,63,65-67,69-73,76-78,81
AFO ankle angle	Clear	16	29,31,37,41,43,45,49,56,57,67,70-73,77,78
Toe plate length	Full length	16	9,29,31,37,39,41,43,50,56,57,65,68,70,71,77
	Different lengths	4	32,44,63,76
	(clear or ambiguous)		
Material & thickness	Complete	10	29,31,32,41,43,44,56,57,68,76
	Partial	8	30,39,40,55,69-71,77
Manufacture	Custom	18	9,29,31,32,40-45,55-57,65,68,70,78,81
	Prefab. without detail	2	39,69
	Prefab. with detail	1	71
Tuning	Tuned	5	9,36,39,54,55
Shank-to-vertical angle	Clear/ambiguous	5	9,37,39,55,56
Testing protocol			
Order of testing	Randomized	16	9,29,31,41–43,45,49,56,57,64,66,73,75,77,78
	Non randomized	12	30,32,38-40,65,68,72,76,79-81
	Not applicable	3	54,55,67
Acclimatization	<1 day	2	44,57
	1-4 weeks	4	36,49,50,67
	> 4 weeks	8	29,31,41,43,45,66,68,70
	Not applicable	21	30,32,35,37-39,54,55,63-65,72-81
Control condition	Barefoot	28	29,30,32,35-40,43,45,50,55-57,65,67,68,72,74,76-81
	Shoes	6	42,44,49,66,70,73
	Barefoot & shoes	1	9
-	Not applicable	2	54,63
Test condition	Clear	35	5,9,29-32,35-45,49,50,54-57,63-66,68-73,77,78,81

All unlisted papers were categorized as either ambiguous or not stated.

There were, however, sufficient examples of good quality interventions to enable best practice guidelines for future studies to be derived. These are discussed in full below and the recommendations for reporting of detail for AFO intervention studies are summarized in Table V.

# Participant details

In a number of studies in which participants were subdivided according to gait pattern, differences in outcomes between the sub-divisions were observed. Abel and Best practice reporting guidelines for AFO intervention studies

139

Sample homogeneity	
Orthotic aim	Report sample homogeneity with regard to indication for orthotic treatment.
Age	State range (years).
Diagnosis	Specify movement disorder, topographical distribution and GMFCS level.
Gait pattern	Focus on one particular gait pattern or sub-divide into different gait patterns. Describe using published gait classification systems or specify ankle, knee and hip posture in relevant planes.
AFO details	
Suitability	State orthotic aim and suitability of orthoses for the physical characteristics of the participants.
Movements	Describe the movements assisted, prevented, permitted by the AFO.
AFO ankle angle	Report the angle of the ankle in the AFO.
Materials	Report material type and thickness.
Trimlines	Report trimlines (including toe plate length and flexibility).
Tuning	Report whether AFOs were tuned, and the tuning procedure (what was done, the decision parameters used).
Shank-to-vertical angle	Report final shank-to-vertical angle of AFO and footwear combination.
Mechanical properties	If possible, quantify the mechanical properties of the AFO (stiffness and neutral position at the ankle and metatarsophalangeal joints)
Manufacture	Describe the manufacture as custom (same or different moulds?) or prefab (device name, supplier).
Testing protocol (specific	to studies investigating AFOs)
Control	Clearly state the control condition. Note that comparisons with barefoot may over estimate the effect of the orthosis by including a contribution from the shoe.
Order of testing	State the order of testing. Use a randomized order or provide a return to baseline measurement wherever possible.
Acclimatization	State acclimatization time.

Table V. Best practice guidelines for reporting AFO intervention studies.

colleagues<sup>30</sup> found differences in the effect of a solid AFO on the gait of children with either equinus or plano-valgus feet.<sup>30</sup> Buckon and colleagues<sup>31</sup> found that normalization of knee motion was dependent upon the position of the knee during stance while barefoot, as well as the type of AFO. Thompson and colleagues<sup>32</sup> observed that responses varied in hemiplegic children with different Winters, Gage and Hicks (WGH)<sup>33</sup> gait classifications. Significant changes were found for the groups with Type I and Type II gait patterns, but not Type III.

Given these differences in outcomes according to the type of AFO tested and underlying gait pathology, it is clear that studies should focus on participant groups which exhibit some degree of homogeneity with regard to gait pattern, or should sub-divide groups to investigate the possibility that heterogeneity affected the results. At a minimum, this sub-division could include participant age, nature of the movement disorder, topographical distribution and GMFCS<sup>34</sup> level, but ideally would include a description according to a gait classification system. In a study of the effects of AFOs, it could be argued that homogeneity in the orthotic aim, the basis of which is largely dependent on gait pattern, is equally important.

There are good examples of studies which focused either on participants with a particular gait pattern<sup>29,30</sup> or sub-divided participants on the basis of gait pattern.<sup>31,32,35</sup> Several other studies ensured homogeneity by describing knee and ankle posture either with<sup>29,36,37,39</sup> or without<sup>38</sup> reference to published gait classification systems.

# 140 E. Ridgewell et al.

#### AFO details

Clearly reporting the design of the AFO is essential as differences between AFO designs have been shown to produce difference in outcomes in temporospatial parameters,<sup>40–42</sup> ankle kinematics<sup>9,31,41–44</sup> and knee kinematics<sup>31</sup> in straight line walking, as well as stair ascent and descent.<sup>45</sup> No studies have examined the effect of different AFO toe-plate lengths on children with CP, however one study of post-stroke adults<sup>46</sup> found differences in stance phase dorsiflexion as a result of toe-plate length. Variation in the material properties used in construction of the AFO may also influence the flexibility of so called "rigid" devices at the ankle and metatarsophalangeal joints.<sup>47</sup>

The alignment of the AFO alone is described by the AFO ankle angle, the choice of which is based on clinical measures such as passive and dynamic gastrocnemius muscle length and tri-planar stability of the foot. Severe spasticity or contracture of this bi-articular muscle must be accommodated in the AFO ankle angle to avoid limiting maximum knee extension or compromising the tri-planar stability of the foot.<sup>48</sup>

Reporting passive gastrocnemius length in addition to the AFO ankle angle permits the appropriate choice of ankle angle to be confirmed. It could be argued that reporting the evidence for the choice of AFO ankle angle (e.g., passive gastrocnemius length) is unnecessary. However, there were two studies<sup>37,49</sup> in which reported data suggested that the choice of AFO ankle angle did not consider passive gastrocnemius length. Similarly, three studies which evaluated the effects of free dorsiflexion AFOs on children who had or may have had limited gastrocnemius length.<sup>37,40,50</sup> In such cases, dorsiflexion of the ankle will only occur at the expense of knee extension or compromised foot position. Similar findings have been identified in the stroke literature,<sup>17</sup> which suggests that reporting this information may be a reasonable proposition.

When the AFO is combined with footwear, the AFO ankle angle may no longer describe the alignment of the device relative to vertical if there is a difference in height between the heel and forefoot of the footwear (heel-sole differential). In order to overcome this limitation, the alignment of the AFO and footwear is described by the shank-to-vertical angle. Differences in footwear heel-sole differential and therefore shank-to-vertical angle have been demonstrated to affect the alignment of the ground reaction force during quiet standing<sup>52</sup>, with suggestions that SVA can be modified to improve GRF orientation during walking.<sup>17,28,36,48,53,54</sup> One study<sup>37</sup> reported the final shank-to-vertical angle of the AFO and footwear used, which was a standardized alignment for all participants. There is however some evidence suggesting that AFOs require individual adjustment, or tuning of the shank-to-vertical angle in order to obtain optimal function.<sup>53</sup> While the concept of tuning is not new, it has only recently become more widely recognized which may explain why only five papers<sup>9,36,39,54,55</sup> reported tuning of the AFO interventions.

Most studies in this review clearly reported the movements controlled by the AFO. There are several good examples of studies which have provided excellent descriptions of the physical characteristics of the AFO interventions.<sup>29,31,41,43,56,57</sup> Such descriptions do not, however, account for the differences in mechanical properties arising from small variations in AFO design, such as trimline position and choice of materials e.g.<sup>58–60</sup> A new method of measuring the stiffness and neutral angle around the ankle and metatarsophalangeal joints has recently been described and demonstrated as reliable and clinically applicable.<sup>58</sup> Including such objective measurements in future clinical and research practice will improve our ability to compare AFO interventions.

To enable the quality of the AFO intervention to be more accurately assessed, future work should describe the movements prevented, assisted and permitted by the AFO, toe plate

# Best practice reporting guidelines for AFO intervention studies 141

length and flexibility, trim-line position, materials and method of manufacture, AFO ankle angle, shank-to-vertical angle of the combined AFO and footwear, type of footwear worn and details of any tuning process undertaken. Testing of mechanical stiffness of the AFO and the combined AFO and footwear would further enhance objectivity. Transparent reporting permits replication of the study, and makes it possible to understand the variables that may affect intervention outcomes.

# Testing protocol

All studies with the exception of one used either barefoot or shoes as the control comparison. This study<sup>9</sup> included both barefoot and shod conditions and found that shoes alone could have either a negative or positive effect on gait, thereby confirming findings from the stroke literature.<sup>61</sup> Future work should consider including both of these control conditions wherever possible to avoid attributing the effects of footwear to the AFO.

A randomized order of testing is desirable as it eliminates bias resulting from the order of testing.<sup>21</sup> This is particularly important in orthotic research as there are usually two or more conditions being compared over repeated trials of tasks such as walking. Use of a non-randomized order of testing introduces the risk of fatigue in the tasks performed last. Several studies used a non-randomized order of testing, which is often unavoidable in cases of retrospective analysis. Fifteen studies eliminated potential confounding series effects by randomising the testing order. A randomized order of testing should be used wherever possible, and in any event, the order of testing should be reported.

Acclimatization time to an unfamiliar device permits the novel nature of the device to be incorporated into the movement pattern thereby ensuring that the effects of the device accurately represent daily use. Many papers examined devices other than the device already worn by the participant. Most testing protocols permitted more than one week of acclimatization time. Only two studies permitted less than one day.<sup>44,57</sup>

# Future research

Previous reviewers have suggested that the quality of this body of literature could be improved by focussing on the execution of large scale RCTs<sup>2</sup> or on alternate study designs which overcome some of the difficulties of RCTs, for example cross-over and one-group interrupted time-series (single subject) designs.<sup>3</sup> However, equally important is a more systematic and detailed approach to reporting the participant sample, the AFO intervention and testing protocol. Use of the reporting guidelines presented in Table V will enable consistent reporting and will also permit a transparent assessment of study quality thereby improving the potential to combine results of several smaller studies using meta-analyses.

This review has identified several avenues of research which could benefit from focussed attention. For example, what is the most appropriate control condition for comparison with an AFO intervention? What is the minimum acclimatization required for an unfamiliar device? Do small differences in AFO design, stiffness and alignment have a significant effect on AFO effectiveness? Answering these questions might facilitate comparison across studies already published.

These reporting guidelines are in line with suggestions arising from the recent International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics (ISPO) consensus conferences on the orthotic management of on CP<sup>62</sup> and stroke.<sup>18</sup> The principles on which these guidelines are based may also be applied to AFO research on other populations. However, certain

# 142 E. Ridgewell et al.

elements may be more relevant in CP research due to the heterogeneity seen particularly in gait patterns.

#### Limitations

This review focused on an assessment of reporting detail and transparency regarding the participants, AFO intervention and testing protocol. An analysis of appropriate choice of outcome measures was not included as this requires decisions about which research questions are most important. Considering the type of outcome measures employed in each study is, without doubt, essential to future metanalyses as these are only possible between studies which have examined the same outcome measures.

This review did not rank or assign quality scores to studies; rather it focussed on examples of best practice with regard to different aspects of intervention quality specific to research into the effects of AFOs for children with CP. Issues relating to effect size, power or choice of statistical analysis are well described in general literature on research methodology.

#### Conclusion

Assessing the quality of individual studies and using studies in quantitative research synthesis requires transparent reporting.<sup>12</sup> While there was considerable variety in level and quality of detail provided by these studies, there were sufficient good examples of reporting detail and intervention quality. This enabled the generation of guidelines for reporting of detail in AFO intervention studies. These guidelines should also direct the design of future investigations in this area which will improve the synthesis of quantitative research and therefore the quality of this evidence-base.

Declaration of interest: The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

#### References

- Rosenbaum P, Paneth N, Leviton A, Goldstein H, Bax M, Damiano D, Dan B, Jacobsson B. A report: The definition and classification of cerebral palsy; April 2006. Dev Med Child Neurol 2007;49:8.
- Morris C. A review of the efficacy of lower-limb orthoses used for cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2002; 44(3):205–211.
- Figueiredo EM, Ferreira GB, Maia Moreira RC, Kirkwood RN, Fetters L. Efficacy of ankle-foot orthoses on gait of children with cerebral palsy: Systematic review of literature. Pediatr Phys Ther 2008;20(3):207–223.
- International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics. Recent developments in healthcare for cerebral palsy: Implications and opportunities for orthotics. Oxford; 2009; 8–11 September 2008.
- Sackett D, Straus S, Richardson WS, Rosenberg W, Haynes RB. Evidence-based medicine how to practice and teach EBM. 2nd ed. London: Churchill Livingston, Harcourt Publishers; 2000.
- PEDro. Physiotherapy Evidence Database; 2008 [updated 7 October 2008; accessed 31 October 2008]; Available from the website: http://www.pedro.fhs.usyd.edu.au/scale\_item.html.
- 7. Herbert RD, Bø K. Analysis of quality of interventions in systematic reviews. BM J 2005;3(331):507-509.
- Boutron I, Moher D, Altman DG, Schulz KF, Ravaud P. Extending the CONSORT statement to randomized trials of nonpharmacologic treatment: Explanation and elaboration. Ann Intern Med 2008;148:295–309.
- Desloovere K, Molenaers G, Van Gestel L, Huenaerts C, Van Campenhout A, Callewaert B, Van de Walle P, Seyler J. How can push-off be preserved during use of an ankle foot orthosis in children with hemiplegia? A prospective controlled study. Gait Posture 2006;24(2):142–151.

## Best practice reporting guidelines for AFO intervention studies 143

- Moher D, Schulz KF, Altman DG. The CONSORT statement: Revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel-group randomized trials. Ann Intern Med 2001;134:657–662.
- Mayo-Wilson E. Reporting implementation in randomized trials: Proposed additions to the consolidated standards of reporting trials statement. Am J Public Health 2007;1(97(4)):630–633.
- Des Jarlais DC, Lyles C, Crepaz N, Abbasi K. Improving the reporting quality of nonrandomized evaluations of behavioral and public health interventions: The TREND statement. Am J Public Health 2004;1(94[3]): 361–366.
- International Organisation for Standardisation. Prosthetics and orthotics Vocabulary Part 3: Terms relating to external orthoses. 1st ed. Geneva: International Organization for Standardization; 1989.
- Teplicky R, Law M, Russell D. The effectiveness of casts, orthoses, and splints for children with neurological disorders. Infants Young Child 2002;15(1):42–50.
- Fatone S, editor. Session 3: Orthotics 1 (Lower Limb). State-of-the-science Report: RERC in Prosthetics and Orthotics; 2006.
- Dillon M, Fatone S, Hodge M. Biomechanics of ambulation after partial foot amputation: A systematic literature review. J Prosthet Orthotics 2007;19(3s):2–61.
- Bowers R. Establishing evidence-based practice in the orthotic management of stroke. American Academy of Orthotists and Prosthetists: Journal of Proceedings 2007.
- International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics. Report of a consensus conference on the orthotic management of stroke patients. Copenhagen; 2004.
- Oxman A. A checklist for review articles. BMJ 1994;309:648–651.
- Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. Ottowa, Canada: Ottowa Health Research Institute; 2008 [updated 2008; accessed 31 October 2008]; Available from the website: http:// www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical\_epidemiology/oxford.htm.
- The Cochrane Library. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.0.0 The Cochrane Collaboration; Updated February 2008.
- Downs S, Black N. The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and non-randomised studies of health care interventions. J Epidemiol Community Health 1998;52:377–384.
- Treatment Outcomes Committee. AACPDM Methodology to Develop Systematic Reviews of Treatment Interventions (Revision 1.1). American Academy of Cerebral Palsy and Developmental Medicine; 2004.
- Khan KS, ter Riet G, Kleijnen J, Glanville J, Snowdon AJ. Stage 2: Conducting the review, Phase 6: Data extraction and monitoring process: NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. University of York; 2001.
- Dobson F, Morris ME, Baker R, Graham HK. Gait classification in children with cerebral palsy: A systematic review. Gait Posture 2007;25(1):140–152.
- Duckitt K, Harrington D. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia at antenatal booking: Systematic review of controlled studies. BMJ 2005;330(7491):565.
- Hijmans J, Geertzen J, Dijkstra P, Postema K. A systematic review of the effects of shoes and other ankle or foot appliances on balance in older people and people with peripheral nervous system disorders. Gait Posture 2007;25:316–323.
- Owen E. 'Shank angle to floor' measures and tuning of 'ankle-foot orthosis footwear combinations' for children with cerebral palsy, spina bifida and other conditions [Master of Science in Rehabilitation Studies]. Glasgow: University of Strathclyde; 2004.
- Smith PA, Hassani S, Graf A, Flanagan A, Reiners K, Kuo KN, Roh JY, Harris GF. Brace evaluation in children with diplegic cerebral palsy with a jump gait pattern. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2009;91(2):356–365.
- Abel MF, Juhl GA, Vaughan CL, Damiano DL. Gait assessment of fixed ankle-foot orthoses in children with spastic diplegia. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1998;79(2):126–133.
- Buckon CE, Sienko-Thomas S, Jakobson Huston S, Moor M, Sussman M, Aiona M. Comparison of three ankle-foot orthosis configurations for children with spastic hemiplegia. Dev Med Child Neurol 2001;43:371–378.
- Thompson NS, Taylor TC, McCarthy KR, Cosgrove AP, Baker RJ. Effect of a rigid ankle-foot orthosis on hamstring length in children with hemiplegia. Dev Med Child Neurol 2002; 44(1):51–57.
- Winters TF, Gage JR, Hicks R. Gait patterns in spastic hemiplegia in children and young adults. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1987;69:437–441.
- Palisano R, Rosenbaum P, Walter S, Russell D, Wood E, Galuppi B. Development and reliability of a system to classify gross motor function in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 1997;39(4):214–223.
- Lucareli PRG, Lima MD. Changes in joint kinematics in children with cerebral palsy while walking with and without a floor reaction ankle-foot orthosis. Clinics 2007;62(1):63–68.
#### 144 E. Ridgewell et al.

- Butler PB, Thompson N, Major RE. Improvement in walking performance of children with cerebral palsy: Preliminary results. Dev Med Child Neurol 1992;34(7):567–576.
- Romkes J, Hell AK, Brunner R. Changes in muscle activity in children with hemiplegic cerebral palsy while walking with and without ankle-foot orthoses. Gait Posture 2006;24(4):467–474.
- Simon SR, Deutsch SD, Nuzzo RM, Mansour MJ, Jackson JL, Koskinen M, Rosenthal RK. Genu recurvatum in spastic cerebral palsy. Report on findings by gait analysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1978;60(7):882–894.
- Van Gestel L, Molenaers G, Huenaerts C, Seyler J, Desloovere K. Effect of dynamic orthoses on gait: A retrospective control study in children with hemiplegia. Dev Med Child Neurol 2008;50(1):63–67.
- Brunner R, Meier G, Ruepp T. Comparison of a stiff and a spring-type ankle-foot orthosis to improve gait in spastic hemiplegic children. J Pediatr Orthop 1998;18:719–726.
- Buckon CE, Thomas SS, Jakobson-Huston S, Moor M, Sussman M, Aiona M. Comparison of three ankle-foot orthosis configurations for children with spastic diplegia. Dev Med Child Neurol 2004;46(9):590–598.
- Rethlefsen S, Kay R, Dennis S, Forstein M, Tolo V. The effects of fixed and articulated ankle-foot orthoses on gait patterns in subjects with cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Orthop 1999;19(4):470–474.
- Radtka SA, Skinner SR, Johanson ME. A comparison of gait with solid and hinged ankle-foot orthoses in children with spastic diplegic cerebral palsy. Gait Posture 2005;21(3):303–310.
- Smiley SJ, Johnston R, Jacobsen FS, Park C, Mielke C, Ovaska GJ. A comparison of the effects of solid, articulated, and posterior leaf-spring ankle-foot orthoses and shoes alone on gait and energy expenditure in children with spastic diplegic cerebral palsy. Orthopedics 2002;25(4):411–415.
- Sienko-Thomas S, Buckon CE, Jakobson-Huston S, Aiona M, Sussman M. Stair locomotion in children with spastic hemiplegia: The impact of three different ankle foot orthosis (AFOs) configurations. Gait Posture 2002;16(2):180–187.
- Fatone S, Gard S, Malas B. Effect of ankle-foot orthosis alignment and foot-plate length on the gait of adults with poststroke hemiplegia. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2009;90:810–818.
- Lunsford TR, Contoyannis B. Materials Science (Ch. 3). In: Hsu JD, Michael JW, Fisk JR, editors. Atlas of orthoses and assistive devices. 4th ed. Philadelphia: MOSBY Elsevier; 2008. pp 15–52.
- Meadows CB, Bowers RJ, Owen E. Biomechanics of the hip, knee, and ankle (Ch. 22). In: Hsu JD, Michael JW, Fisk JR, editors. Atlas of orthoses and assistive devices. 4th ed. Philadelphia: MOSBY Elsevier; 2008. pp 299– 310.
- Wesdock KA, Edge AM. Effects of wedged shoes and ankle-foot orthoses on standing balance and knee extension in children with cerebral palsy who crouch. Pediatr Phys Ther 2003;15(4):221–231.
- Romkes J, Brunner R. Comparison of a dynamic and a hinged ankle-foot orthosis by gait analysis in patients with hemiplegic cerebral palsy. Gait Posture 2002;15(1):18–24.
- Cook TM, Cozzens B. The effects of heel height and ankle-foot-orthosis configuration on weight line distribution: A demonstration of principles. Orthot Prosthet 1976;30(4):43–36.
- Stallard J. Assessment of the mechanical function of orthoses by force vector visualisation. Physiotherapy 1987;73(8):398–402.
- Owen E. Shank angle to floor measures of tuned 'ankle-foot orthosis footwear combinations' used with children with cerebral palsy, spina bifida and other conditions. Gait Posture 2002; 16(Suppl. 1):S132.
- Butler PB, Farmer SE, Stewart C, Jones PW, Forward M. The effect of fixed ankle foot orthoses in children with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2007;2(1):51–58.
- Rosenthal RK, Deutsch SD, Miller W, Schumann W, Hall JE. A fixed-ankle, below-the-knee orthosis for the management of genu recurvation in spastic cerebral palsy. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1975;57(4):545–547.
- Lam WK, Leong JCY, Li YH, Hu Y, Lu WW. Biomechanical and electromyographic evaluation of ankle foot orthosis and dynamic ankle foot orthosis in spastic cerebral palsy. Gait Posture 2005;22(3):189–197.
- Wilson H, Haideri N, Song K, Telford D. Ankle-foot orthoses for preambulatory children with spastic diplegia. J Pediatr Orthop 1997;17(3):370–376.
- Bregman DJJ, Rozumalski A, Koops D, Groot Vd, Schwartz M, Harlaar J. A new method for evaluating ankle foot orthosis characteristics: BRUCE. Gait Posture 2009;30:144–149.
- Sumiya T, Suzuki Y, Kasahara T. Stiffness control in posterior-type plastic ankle-foot orthoses: Effect of ankle trimline Part 1: A device for measuring ankle moment. Prosthet Orthot Int 1996;20(2):129–131.
- Major RE, Hewart PJ, Macdonald AM. A new structural concept in moulded fixed ankle foot orthoses and comparison of the bending stiffness of four constructions. Prosthet Orthot Int 2004;28(1):44–48.
- Churchill AJ, Halligan PW, Wade DT. Relative contribution of footwear to the efficacy of ankle-foot orthoses. Clin Rehabil 2003;17:553–557.
- Bowers R, Ross K. A review of the effectiveness of lower limb orthoses used in cerebral palsy. In: Morris C, Condie D, editors. Recent developments in healthcare for cerebral palsy: Implications and opportunities for orthotics. Report of a meeting held at Wolfson College, Oxford, 8–11 September 2008; 2009.

### Best practice reporting guidelines for AFO intervention studies 145

- Sankey RJ, Anderson DM, Young JA. Characteristics of ankle-foot orthoses for management of the spastic lower limb. Dev Med Child Neurol 1989;31(4):466–470.
- Mossberg KA, Linton KA, Friske K. Ankle-foot orthoses: Effect on energy expenditure of gait in spastic diplegic children. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1990;71(7):490–494.
- Ounpuu S, Bell KJ, Davis RB 3rd, DeLuca PA. An evaluation of the posterior leaf spring orthosis using joint kinematics and kinetics. J Pediatr Orthop 1996;16(3):378–384.
- Carlson WE, Vaughan CL, Damiano DL, Abel MF. Orthotic management of gait in spastic diplegia. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 1997;76(3):219–225.
- Hainsworth F, Harrison MJ, Sheldon TA, Roussounis SH. A preliminary evaluation of ankle orthoses in the management of children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 1997;39(4):243–247.
- Radtka SA, Skinner SR, Dixon DM, Johanson ME. A comparison of gait with solid, dynamic, and no ankle-foot orthoses in children with spastic cerebral palsy. (see comment) [erratum appears in Phys Ther 1998 Feb;78(2):222–224]. Phys Ther 1997;77(4):395–409.
- Burtner PA, Woollacott MH, Qualls C. Stance balance control with orthoses in a group of children with spastic cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 1999;41(11):748–757.
- Crenshaw S, Herzog R, Castagno P, Richards J, Miller F, Michaloski G, Moran E. The efficacy of tone-reducing features in orthotics on the gait of children with spastic diplegic cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Orthop 2000;20(2):210–216.
- Suzuki N, Shinohara T, Kimizuka M, Yamaguchi K, Mita K. Energy expenditure of diplegic ambulation using flexible plastic ankle foot orthoses. Bull Hosp Joint Dis 2000;59(2):76–80.
- Beals RB. Resident's forum. The possible effects of solid ankle-foot orthoses on trunk posture in the nonambulatory cerebral palsy population: A preliminary evaluation. J Prosthet Orthotics 2001;13(2):34–38.
- Maltais D, Bar-Or O, Galea V, Pierrynowski M. Use of orthoses lowers the O(2) cost of walking in children with spastic cerebral palsy. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001;33(2):320–325.
- Dursun E, Dursun N, Alican D. Ankle-foot orthoses: Effect on gait in children with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil 2002;24(7):345–347.
- Kott KM, Held SL. Effects of orthoses on upright functional skills of children and adolescents with cerebral palsy. Pediatr Phys Ther 2002;14(4):199–207.
- White H, Jenkins J, Neace WP, Tylkowski C, Walker J. Clinically prescribed orthoses demonstrate an increase in velocity of gait in children with cerebral palsy: A retrospective study. Dev Med Child Neurol 2002;44(4):227– 232.
- Park ES, Park CI, Chang HJ, Choi JE, Lee DS. The effect of hinged ankle-foot orthoses on sit-to-stand transfer in children with spastic cerebral palsy. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2004;85(12):2053–2057.
- Balaban B, Yasar E, Dal U, Yazicioglu K, Mohur H, Kalyon TA. The effect of hinged ankle-foot orthosis on gait and energy expenditure in spastic hemiplegic cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil 2007;29(2):139–144.
- Hayek S, Hemo Y, Chamis S, Bat R, Segev E, Wientroub S, Yzhar Z. The effect of community-prescribed ankle-foot orthoses on gait parameters in children with spastic cerebral palsy. J Child Orthop 2007;1(6):325– 332.
- Westberry DE, Davids JR, Shaver JC, Tanner SL, Blackhurst DW, Davis RB. Impact of ankle-foot orthoses on static foot alignment in children with cerebral palsy. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2007;89A(4):806–813.
- Brehm MA, Harlaar J, Schwartz M. Effect of ankle-foot orthoses on walking efficiency and gait in children with cerebral palsy. J Rehabil Med 2008;40(7):529–534.



# RCH HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE APPROVAL

HREC REF. No:	29106 D			
PROJECT TITLE:	Can AFO alignment be optimised to improve walking in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy?			
DOCUMENTS APPROVED:	Reply Slip v1 dated 23 July 2010 Cover Letter v2 dated 23 July 2010 P/GIS & Consent Form v6 dated 23 July 2010 PIS & Consent Form v6 dated 23 July 2010			
PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR:	Morgan Sangeux			
DATE OF MODIFICATION APPROVAL:	04 August 2010			
DURATION:	13 months			
DATE OF APPROVAL EXPIRY	29 September 2011			
SIGNED: 6,8,00 COMMITTEE REPRESENTATIVE				
COMMENTS:				
APPROVED SUBJECT TO	D THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:			
ALL PROJECTS				
<ol> <li>Must comply with the Investigator's Responsibilities in Research available at http://www.sch.com.gov/complications/completion</li></ol>				
<ol> <li>Any proposed change in the protocol or approved documents or the addition of documents (including flyers, brochures, advertising material etc) must be submitted to the Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) for</li> </ol>				
approval prior to implementation. 3. The Principal Investigator must notify Ethics & Research of:				
<ul> <li>Any serious adverse effects of the study on participants and steps taken to deal with them.</li> </ul>				
<ul> <li>Investigators withdrawing from or joining the project.</li> </ul>				
<ol> <li>A progress report must be submitted annually and at the conclusion of the project.</li> </ol>				
b. Rom EREC approval must remain current for the entire duration of the project. If the project is not completed in the allocated time a renewal request must be submitted to the Ethics & Research Department. Investigators undertaking projects without current HREC approval risk their indemnity, funding and publication rights.				
CLINICAL TRIALS				
<ol> <li>Must comply with Good Clinical Practice (GCP) available at http://www.tag.gov.gov/deca/adf/gov.gi/dc/iab/iab/iab/iab/iab/iab/iab/iab/iab/iab</li></ol>				
<ol> <li>Must report all internal (occurring in RCH participants) Serious Adverse Events (SAE) to the sponsor and</li> </ol>				
the RCH HREC within 72 hours of occurrence.	the RCH HREC within 72 hours of occurrence. Must report all Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reactions (SUSARS) to the Therepsystic Condo			
<ol> <li>Must report all suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reactions (SUSARS) to the Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) (for sponsored studies the sponsor may take this responsibility).</li> </ol>				

#### La Trobe University Faculty of Health Sciences MEMORANDUM

Assoc Prof Tim Bach Assoc Prof Richard Baker TO: Prof H Graham

Title:

National Centre for Prosthetics & Orthotics

#### SUBJECT: Reference: FHEC09/209

Student or Emily Ridgewell Other Investigator:

> Can AFO Alignment be optimised to improve walking in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy

DATE: 25 August, 2010

The Faculty Human Ethics Committee's (FHEC) reviewers have considered and approved the modification to the above project. You may now proceed.

Please note that the Informed Consent forms need to be retained for a minimum of 5 years. Please ensure that each participant retains a copy of the Informed Consent form. Researchers are also required to retain a copy of all Informed Consent forms separately from the data. The data must be retained until participants are 25 years old (as per external HEC requirements).

Please note that any modification to the project must be submitted in writing to FHEC for approval. You are required to provide an annual report (where applicable) and/or a final report on completion of the project. A copy of the progress/final report can be downloaded the following website: http://www.latrobe.edu.au/rgso/forms-resources/forms/ethic-prog-final.rtf

Please return the completed form to The Secretary, FHEC, Faculty of Health Sciences Office, La Trobe University, Victoria 3086.

If you have a student/s involved in this project, a copy of this memorandum is enclosed for you to forward to the student(s) concerned.

Neil McDonald Secretary Faculty Human Ethics Committee Faculty of Health Sciences

```
Appendix C: Projections model
```

This model was written by Professor Richard Baker

{\* This model is for quality assurance purposes and calculates the projections of the segment axes onto the principal planes of the lab axis system. The angles should thus be those recorded on the sagittal and coronal plane video if the effects of parallax are accounted for.\*}

```
OptionalPoints(PelO,PelL,PelA,LFeO,LFeP,LFeA,RFeO,RFeP,RFeA)
OptionalPoints(LTiO,LTiP,LTiA,RTiO,RTiP,RTiA,LFoO,LFoP,RFoO,RFoP)
```

```
{* Some angles depend on which way the subject is walking.*}
If PelA(1) > PelO(1)
Progress = 1
else
Progress = -1
endif
{* Pelvic angles *}
LPelvisLat = PelL-PelO
LPelvisAnt = PelA-PelO
LPelvisSagAngle = -Progress*atan(LPelvisAnt(3)/LPelvisAnt(1))
LPelvisCorAngle = Progress*atan(LPelvisLat(3)/LPelvisLat(2))
LPelvisTraAngle = atan(LPelvisLat(1)/LPelvisLat(2))
```

```
LPelvisProjections = <LPelvisSagAngle,LPelvisCorAngle,LPelvisTraAngle>
output(LPelvisProjections)
```

```
RPelvisLat = PelO-PelL

RPelvisAnt = PelA-PelO

RPelvisSagAngle = -Progress*atan(RPelvisAnt(3)/RPelvisAnt(1))

RPelvisCorAngle = -Progress*atan(RPelvisLat(3)/RPelvisLat(2))

RPelvisTraAngle = -atan(LPelvisLat(1)/LPelvisLat(2))
```

```
RPelvisProjections = <RPelvisSagAngle,RPelvisCorAngle,RPelvisTraAngle>
output(RPelvisProjections)
```

```
{* Femur angles*}
LFemurUp = LFeP-LFeO
LFemurAnt = LFeA-LFeO
LFemurSagAngle = -Progress*atan(LFemurUp(1)/LFemurUp(3))
LFemurCorAngle = Progress*atan(LFemurUp(2)/LFemurUp(3))
LFemurTraAngle = -atan(LFemurAnt(2)/LFemurAnt(1))
```

```
LFemurProjections = <LFemurSagAngle,LFemurCorAngle,LFemurTraAngle>
output(LFemurProjections)
```

```
RFemurUp = RFeP-RFeO

RFemurAnt = RFeA-RFeO

RFemurSagAngle = -Progress*atan(RFemurUp(1)/RFemurUp(3))

RFemurCorAngle = -Progress*atan(RFemurUp(2)/RFemurUp(3))

RFemurTraAngle = atan(RFemurAnt(2)/RFemurAnt(1))
```

RFemurProjections = <RFemurSagAngle,RFemurCorAngle,RFemurTraAngle>

#### Appendix C

output(RFemurProjections)

{\* Tibia angles\*}
LTibiaUp = LTiP-LTiO
LTibiaAnt = LTiA-LTiO
LTibiaSagAngle = Progress\*atan(LTibiaUp(1)/LTibiaUp(3))
LTibiaCorAngle = Progress\*atan(LTibiaUp(2)/LTibiaUp(3))
LTibiaTraAngle = -atan(LTibiaAnt(2)/LTibiaAnt(1))

LTibiaProjections = <LTibiaSagAngle,LTibiaCorAngle,LTibiaTraAngle> output(LTibiaProjections)

RTibiaUp= RTiP-RTiORTibiaAnt= RTiA-RTiORTibiaSagAngle= Progress\*atan(RTibiaUp(1)/RTibiaUp(3))RTibiaCorAngle= -Progress\*atan(RTibiaUp(2)/RTibiaUp(3))RTibiaTraAngle= atan(RFemurAnt(2)/RFemurAnt(1))

RTibiaProjections = <RTibiaSagAngle,RTibiaCorAngle,RTibiaTraAngle> output(RTibiaProjections)

{\* Foot angles\*}
LFootUp = LFoO-LFoP
LFootSagAngle = Progress\*atan(LFootUp(3)/LFootUp(1))
LFootTraAngle = -atan(LFootUp(2)/LFootUp(1))
LFootProjections = <LFootSagAngle,0,LFootTraAngle>
output(LFootProjections)

RFootUp = RFoO-RFoP RFootSagAngle = Progress\*atan(RFootUp(3)/RFootUp(1)) RFootTraAngle = atan(RFootUp(2)/RFootUp(1)) RFootProjections = <RFootSagAngle,0,RFootTraAngle> output(RFootProjections)

# Appendix D: Participant and AFO details

# Participant details

		Medical history as provided by parents/guardians
Solid	DEHA	past botox to calves and hamstrings, calf lengthenings
	HAHA	past botox to calves and hamstrings, no surgery
	JABU	past botox; numerous lengthenings/transfers to calves, adductors,
		hamstrings; no osteotomies
	JODA	past botox, no surgery
	JOTH	past botox, metal plates 2007-2009, calves lengthened, adductors released
	LIRI	past botox; L femoral osteotomy; L hamstrings lengthening, adductors and calf
	MAHO	past botox; bilateral femoral osteotomies, hamstring release, psoas, calves
Hinged	ACBE	past botox; R strayer (2004) and osteotomy
	ALBR	Nil
	CHJE	Nil
	DEFO	past botox to calves, no surgery
	HAGO	botox 1 week ago, VP shunt, epilepsy
	JANI	botox to calves and adductors several times; muscle lengtheninings
	JOBA	past botox to calves, no surgery
	JORI	surgery 1 yr ago - tendon releases, no femoral osteotomoies
	LIEM	past botox; femoral osteotomy; calf and adductor lengthenings
	LIKE	past botox, no surgery
	LIRI	past botox; femoral osteotomy; hamstrings, adductors and calf lengthenings
	ROHI	past botox, no surgery
	TACA	2ya SPLAT, 3ya tendon lengthening, nil botox
	TIIR	Possible botox; current 8 plates, adductors and hip plates, R hip remodelling

### Appendix D

			Thickness	Proximal calf strap	Ankle strap	Trimline position
		Material	(to nearest 0.5mm)			(relative to met heads#)
Solid	МАНО	PP	5	Turnback	Turnback	Distal
	JODA	РР	4	Wrap	Turnback	Distal
	JOTH	РР	4.5	Turnback	Turnback	Distal
	DEHA	РР	5	Turnback	Turnback	Distal
	LIRI	РР	4	Wrap	Turnback	Distal
	JABU	PP*	5	Turnback	Turnback	Distal
	НАНА	РР	4	Turnback	Turnback	Distal
Hinged	All hinged AFOs extended proximally on the calf between 2-4cm distal to the fibular head, extended beyond the toes (full length toe plate) and all had a calf and an ankle strap though of varying designs. All AFOs were manufactured either from copolymer or homopolymer polypropylene and utilised Tamarack joints of a variety of sizes. All had medial and lateral footpiece trimlines that extended to, or distal to the metatarsal heads. Details of material type and thickness, strap design and trimline position were not recorded for hinged AFOs as these variables would not affect AFO stiffness.					
*Reinforced around ankle using corrugations. #All distal trimlines on the footpiece extended past the metatarsal heads but to varying degrees. PP = polypropylene homopolymer						

## **AFO details**

# Appendix E: Individual participant results for Chapter 6











302



















311



312













318







321





# **Appendix F: Tests of normality and sphericity**

### **Test of normality**

Results of the tests of normality for variables considered in the average common subgroups for solid and hinged AFOs for the variables hypothesised to change, found four variables that had a significantly non-normal distribution (indicated in bold):

Test of normality (Shapiro-Wilks)						
(p<0.05=not normally distributed)						
	Solid n=7	Hinged n=13				
F_peakKFmoment	0.28	0.10				
F_peakKEmoment	0.79	0.92				
F_peakKFanglestance	0.36	0.96				
F_peakKEangle	0.89	0.29				
F_peaktibialincline	0.67	0.51				
F_1stpeakDFmoment	0.16	0.18				
F_2ndpeakDFmoment	0.73	0.20				
S_peakKFmoment	0.98	0.03				
S_peakKEmoment	0.16	0.45				
S_peakKFangleS_tance	0.98	0.57				
S_peakKEangle	0.61	0.29				
S_peaktibialincline	0.65	0.07				
S_1stpeakDFmoment	0.89	0.18				
S_2ndpeakDFmoment	0.67	0.38				
M_peakKFmoment	0.09	0.41				
M_peakKEmoment	0.78	0.89				
M_peakKFanglestance	0.33	0.96				
M_peakKEangle	0.96	0.23				
M_peaktibialincline	0.31	0.16				
M_1stpeakDFmoment	0.79	0.26				
M_2ndpeakDFmoment	0.62	0.45				
L_peakKFmoment	0.01	0.56				
L_peakKEmoment	0.83	0.31				
L_peakKFanglestance	0.40	0.82				
L_peakKEangle	0.42	0.01				
L_peaktibialincline	0.61	0.97				
L_1stpeakDFmoment	0.53	0.54				
L_2ndpeakDFmoment	0.86	0.03				

#### **Probable response variables**
#### Appendix F

Results of the tests of normality for variables considered in the average common subgroups for the variables hypothesised not to change, found three variables to have a significantly non-normal distribution (indicated in bold):

Possible response variables			
Test of normality (Shapiro-Wilks)			
(p<0.05=not normally distributed)			
	Solid n=7	Hinged n=13	
F_peakKFangleswing	0.82	0.12	
F_peakHFmoment	0.62	0.79	
F_peakHEmoment	0.18	0.03	
F_femurreclineatIC	0.85	0.73	
F_peakfemurrecline	0.42	0.89	
F_HFatIC	0.35	0.08	
F_peakHE	0.36	0.10	
S_peakKFangleS_wing	0.38	0.98	
S_peakHFmoment	0.70	0.92	
S_peakHEmoment	0.33	0.20	
S_femurreclineatIC	0.55	0.63	
S_peakfemurrecline	0.20	0.09	
S_HFatIC	0.66	0.52	
S_peakHE	0.40	0.00	
M_peakKFangleswing	0.12	0.90	
M_peakHFmoment	0.63	0.37	
M_peakHEmoment	0.46	0.39	
M_femurreclineatIC	0.64	0.97	
M_peakfemurrecline	0.31	0.30	
M_HFatIC	0.88	0.37	
M_peakHE	0.56	0.01	
L_peakKFangleswing	0.28	0.91	
L_peakHFmoment	0.84	0.45	
L_peakHEmoment	0.24	0.90	
L_femurreclineatIC	0.76	0.85	
L_peakfemurrecline	0.85	0.97	
L_HFatIC	0.71	0.80	
L_peakHE	0.08	0.55	
F_cadence	0.746	0.325	
S_cadence	0.514	0.394	
M_cadence	0.874	0.208	
L_cadence	0.161	0.242	
F_walkingvelocity	0.338	0.185	
S_walkingvelocity	0.086	0.698	
M_walkingvelocity	0.452	0.559	
L_walkingvelocity	0.404	0.402	
F_stridelength	0.804	0.684	
S_stridelength	0.885	0.698	
M_stridelength	0.433	0.708	
L_stridelength	0.653	0.461	

## Mauchly's test of sphericity

Mauchly's test of sphericity was performed on all data as part of the one-way and two-way ANOVAs. In the one-way ANOVAs, two variables in the solid AFO group and eight in the hinged AFO group failed this test (indicated in bold) and as such a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used according to the epsilon values ( $\epsilon$ ) values. In the two-way ANOVA, seven variables failed this test, of which two were corrected using the Huynh-Feldt correction (indicated by asterix).

Mauchly's test of Sphericity			
One-way ANOVA			
Probable response variables			
	Solid (n=7)	Hinged (n=13)	
peakKFmoment	0.227	0.254	
peakKEmoment	0.303	0.082	
peakKFanglestance	0.507	0.201	
peakKEangle	0.220	0.034	
peaktibialincline	0.350	0.995	
1stpeakDFmoment	0.556	0.039	
2ndpeakDFmoment	0.079	0.155	
Possible response variables			
	Solid (n=7)	Hinged (n=13)	
peakKFangleswing	0.020	0.032	
peakHFmoment	0.000	0.037	
peakHEmoment	0.223	0.039	
femurreclineatIC	0.058	0.126	
peakfemurincline	0.266	0.017	
HFangleIC	0.273	0.041	
peakHEangle	0.606	0.026	
cadence	0.677	0.016	
walkingvelocity	0.745	0.048	
stridelength	0.918	0.004	
Two-way ANOVA			
Peak KF moment	0.119		
Peak KE moment	0.088		
Peak KF angle	0.054		
Peak KE angle	0.110		
Peak tibial angle	0.069		
1st DF moment	0.024*		
2nd DF moment	0.045		
Peak KF swing	0.017		
Peak HF moment	0.000		
Peak HE moment	0.014*		
Femur recline at IC	0.012		
Peak femur incline	0.229		
Hip flexion at IC	0.046		
Peak hip extension	0.178		

# Appendix G: Individual participant results for Chapter 7

The following graphs present the RMS (root mean square) difference to normal for knee kinematics, tibial kinematics, knee kinetics and ankle kinematics across the four wedge sizes. The optimal wedge size according to knee kinetics is indicated by a vertical line. Where the optimal wedge size spans two conditions this is indicated by a rectangle. **Solid AFOs** 



wedge size

Appendix G



29





Appendix G



331



wedge size

Appendix H: A new model to measure AFO, tibial and footwear kinematics

## in 3DGA

This model was developed in collaboration with Dr Morgan Sangeux and Professor Richard Baker. Bodylanguage script is shown for the left side only.

#### Static Model

AJC = (LANK+LMED)/2LShank = [AJC, LTIBant-AJC, LANK-LMED, zxy] LFEOShank = LFEO / LShank %LFEOShank = average(LFEOShank) param(%LFEOShank)

LAFO = [AJC, LTIBpost-AJC, LANK-LMED, zxy] LFEOAfo = LFEO / LAFO %LFEOAfo = average(LFEOAfo) param(%LFEOAfo)

### **Dynamic Model**

AJC = (LANK+LMED)/2LShank = [LAJC, LTIBant-LAJC, LANK-LMED, zxy] LFEOShank = %LFEOShank \* LShank LShank= [LAJC, LFEOShank-LAJC, LANK-LMED, zxy]

LAFO = [LAJC, LTIBpost- LAJC, LANK-LMED, zxy] LFEOAfo = %LFEOAfo \* LAFO LAFO = [LAJC, LFEOAfo- LAJC, LANK-LMED, zxy]

LShoe = [LAJC, LTOE-LHEE, LANK-LMED, zxy] LAFOfoot = [LAJC, LTOE-LAJC, LANK-LMED, zxy] LHeeAFO = LHEE / LAFOfoot %LHeeAFO = average(LHeeAFO) param(%LHeeAFO)

LAFOfoot = [LAJC, LTOE-LAJC, LANK-LMED, zxy] LHeeAFO = %LHeeAFO \*LAFOfoot LAFOfoot = [LAJC, LTOE-LHeeAFO-LTOE, LANK-LMED, zxy]

LShoe = [LAJC, LTOE-LHEE, LANK-LMED, zxy]

### Angle decomposition

LAnkleAFO=-<LAFO,LAFOfoot,yxz> LAnkleAFO=<-1(LAnkleAFO)-90,-3(LAnkleAFO),-2(LAnkleAFO)>

AnkleAnat=-<LShank,LAFOfoot,yxz> LAnkleAnat=<-1(LAnkleAnat)-90,-3(LAnkleAnat),-2(LAnkleAnat)>

LFootMvt=-<LShoe,LAFOfoot,yxz> LFootMvt=<-1(LFootMvt),-3(LFootMvt),-2(LFootMvt)>

LTibialMvt=-<LAFO,LShank,yxz> LTibialMvt=<1(LTibialMvt),-3(LTibialMvt),-2(LTibialMvt)>

output(LFootMvt,LAnkleAFO,LTibialMvt,LAnkleAnat

## References

- Abel, M. F., Juhl, G. A., Vaughan, C. L., & Damiano, D. L. (1998). Gait assessment of fixed anklefoot orthoses in children with spastic diplegia. [Paper]. Archives of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, 79(2), 126-133.
- Akbarshahi, M., Schache, A. G., Fernandez, J. W., Baker, R., Banks, S., & Pandy, M. G. (2010).
  Non-invasive assessment of soft-tissue artifact and its effect on knee joint kinematics during functional activity. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 43(7), 1292-1301.
- Altman, D., Simera, I., Hoey, J., Moher, D., & Schulz, K. (2008). EQUATOR: reporting guidelines for health research. *The Lancet, , 371*(9619), 1149-1150.
- Anderson, D. M., & Meadows, C. B. (1978). Some influences on the design and production of polypropylene ankle-foot orthoses for the young cerebral palsied child. Paper presented at the Strathclyde Bioengineering Seminars, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow.
- Bache, C. E., Selber, P., & Graham, H. K. (2003). Mini-symposium: Cerebral Palsy (ii) The management of spastic diplegia. *Current Orthopaedics*, *17*(2), 88-104.
- Baker, R., McGinley, J. L., Schwartz, M. H., Beynon, S., Rozumalski, A., Graham, H. K., & Tirosh, O. (2009). The Gait Profile Score and Movement Analysis Profile. *Gait & Posture*, 30(3), 265-269.
- Balaban, B., Yasar, E., Dal, U., Yazicioglu, K., Mohur, H., & Kalyon, T. A. (2007). The effect of hinged ankle-foot orthosis on gait and energy expenditure in spastic hemiplegic cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Disability & Rehabilitation, 29*(2), 139-144.
- Bax, M., Goldstein, M., Rosenbaum, P., & Leviton, A. (2005). Proposed definition and classification of cerebral palsy, April 2005. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 47(8), 571.
- Beals, R. B. (2001). Resident's forum. The possible effects of solid ankle-foot orthoses on trunk posture in the nonambulatory cerebral palsy population: a preliminary evaluation. [Paper]. *Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics*, 13(2), 34-38.
- Bell, K. J., Ounpuu, S., DeLuca, P. A., & Romness, M. J. (2002). Natural Progression of Gait in Children With Cerebral Palsy. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics*, 22(5), 677-682.
- Boccardi, S., Pedotti, A., Rodano, R., & Santambrogio, G. C. (1981). Evaluation of muscular moments at the lower limb joints by an on-line processing of kinematic data and ground reaction. *Journal of Biomechanics, 14*(1), 35-45.
- Boutron, I., Moher, D., Altman, D. G., Schulz, K. F., Ravaud, P., & et al. (2008). Extending the CONSORT Statement to Randomized Trials of Nonpharmacologic Treatment: Explanation and Elaboration. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *148*, 295-309.
- Bowers, R. (2007). Establishing Evidence Based Practice in the Orthotic Management of Stroke. American Academy of Orthotists and Prosthetists: Journal of Proceedings.
- Bowers, R., & Meadows, C. B. (2007). Use of an ankle-foot orthosis to optimize hip and knee biomechanics following stroke. *The Academy Today, 3*(2). Retrieved from <u>http://www.oandp.org/AcademyTODAY/2007Apr/4.asp</u>
- Bowers, R., & Ross, K. (2009). A review of the effectiveness of lower limb orthoses used in cerebral palsy. In Morris, C. & Condie, D. (Eds.), *Recent Developments in Healthcare for Cerebral Palsy: Implications and Opportunities for Orthotics*. Report of a meeting held at Wolfson College, Oxford, 8-11 September 2008.
- Bowker, P. (1993). The biomechanics of orthoses. In Bowker, P., Condie, D. N., Bader, D. L. & Pratt, D. J. (Eds.), *Biomechanical basis of orthotic management* (pp. 27-37). Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Bregman, D. J. J., Rozumalski, A., Koops, D., Groot, V. d., Schwartz, M., & Harlaar, J. (2009). A new method for evaluating ankle foot orthosis characteristics: BRUCE. *Gait and Posture*, *30*, 144-149.

- Brehm, M. A., Harlaar, J., & Schwartz, M. (2008). Effect of ankle-foot orthoses on walking efficiency and gait in children with cerebral palsy. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 40(7), 529-534.
- Brunner, R., Meier, G., & Ruepp, T. (1998). Comparison of a stiff and a spring-type ankle-foot orthosis to improve gait in spastic hemiplegic children. [Paper]. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics*, *18*, 719-726.
- Buckon, C. E., Sienko-Thomas, S., Jakobson Huston, S., Moor, M., Sussman, M., & Aiona, M.
  (2001). Comparison of three ankle-foot orthosis configurations for children with spastic hemiplegia. [Paper]. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 43, 371-378.
- Buckon, C. E., Thomas, S. S., Jakobson-Huston, S., Moor, M., Sussman, M., & Aiona, M. (2004).
  Comparison of three ankle-foot orthosis configurations for children with spastic diplegia.
  [Paper]. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology, 46(9), 590-598.
- Burtner, P. A., Woollacott, M. H., & Qualls, C. (1999). Stance balance control with orthoses in a group of children with spastic cerebral palsy. [Paper ]. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 41(11), 748-757.
- Butler, P. B., Farmer, S. E., & Major, R. E. (1997). Improvement in gait parameters following late intervention in traumatic brain injury: a long-term follow-up report of a single case. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *11*(3), 220-226.
- Butler, P. B., Farmer, S. E., Stewart, C., Jones, P. W., & Forward, M. (2007). The effect of fixed ankle foot orthoses in children with cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology, 2*(1), 51-58.
- Butler, P. B., & Nene, A. V. (1991). The biomechanics of fixed ankle foot orthoses and their potential in the management of cerebral palsied children. [Paper ]. *Physiotherapy*, 77(2), 81-88.
- Butler, P. B., Thompson, N., & Major, R. E. (1992). Improvement in walking performance of children with cerebral palsy: preliminary results. [Paper]. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 34*(7), 567-576.
- Campbell, J., & Ball, J. (1978). Energetics of walking in cerebral palsy. Orthopedic Clinics of North America, 9(2), 374-377.
- Cappozzo, A., Catani, F., Leardini, A., Benedetti, M. G., & Della Croce, U. (1996). Position and orientation in space of bones during movement: experimental artefacts. *Clinical Biomechanics*, *11*(2), 90-100.
- Carlson, W. E., Vaughan, C. L., Damiano, D. L., & Abel, M. F. (1997). Orthotic management of gait in spastic diplegia. [Paper ]. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 76(3), 219-225.
- Churchill, A. J., Halligan, P. W., & Wade, D. T. (2003). Relative contribution of footwear to the efficacy of ankle-foot orthoses. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *17*, 553-557.
- Clarke, D. R., & Lunsford, T. R. (1978). Reinforced lower-limb orthosis design principles. Orthotics and Prosthetics, 32(2), 35-45.
- Condie, D. N., & Meadows, C. B. (1993). Ankle-foot orthoses. In Bowker, P., Condie, D. N., Bader, D. L. & Pratt, D. J. (Eds.), *Biomechanical basis of orthotic management* (pp. 99-123). Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Crenshaw, S., Herzog, R., Castagno, P., Richards, J., Miller, F., Michaloski, G., & Moran, E. (2000). The efficacy of tone-reducing features in orthotics on the gait of children with spastic diplegic cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics, 20*(2), 210-216.
- Cusick, B. (1994). An overview of components and concepts involved in orthotic prescription for children with cerebral palsy. In Condie, D. (Ed.), *Report of a consensus conference on the lower limb orthotic management of cerebral palsy* (pp. 94-122). Durnham, N. Carolina: ISPO.
- Davids, R. B., Ounpuu, S., Tyburski, D., & Gage, J. R. (1991). A gait analysis data collection and reduction technique. *Human Movement Science*, *10*, 575-587.
- Davis, R. B., Õunpuu, S., Tyburski, D., & Gage, J. R. (1991). A gait analysis data collection and reduction technique. *Human Movement Science*, *10*(5), 575-587.

- Des Jarlais, D. C., Lyles, C., Crepaz, N., Abbasi, K., & et al. (2004). Improving the Reporting Quality of Nonrandomized Evaluations of Behavioral and Public Health Interventions: The TREND Statement. *American Journal of Public Health*, 1(94 (3)), 361-366.
- Desloovere, K., Molenaers, G., Van Gestel, L., Huenaerts, C., Van Campenhout, A., Callewaert, B., Van de Walle, P., & Seyler, J. (2006). How can push-off be preserved during use of an ankle foot orthosis in children with hemiplegia? A prospective controlled study. [Paper]. *Gait & Posture, 24*(2), 142-151.
- Dillon, M., Fatone, S., & Hodge, M. (2007). Biomechanics of Ambulation After Partial Foot Amputation: A Systematic Literature Review. *Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics*, 19(3s), 2-61.
- Dobson, F., Morris, M., Baker, R., Wolfe, R., & Graham, H. (2006). Clinician agreement on gait pattern ratings in children with spastic hemiplegia. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 48*(6), 429-435.
- Dobson, F., Morris, M. E., Baker, R., & Graham, H. K. (2007). Gait classification in children with cerebral palsy: A systematic review. *Gait & Posture, 25*(1), 140-152.
- Downs, S., & Black, N. (1998). The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and non-randomised studies of health care interventions. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *52*, 377-384.
- Duffy, C. M., Hill, A. E., Cosgrove, A. P., Carry, I. S., & Graham, H. K. (1996). Energy consumption in children with spina bifida and cerebral palsy: a comparative study. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, *38*(3), 238-243.
- Dursun, E., Dursun, N., & Alican, D. (2002). Ankle-foot orthoses: effect on gait in children with cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Disability & Rehabilitation, 24*(7), 345-347.
- Elveru, R. A., Rothstein, J. M., & Lamb, R. L. (1988). Goniometric reliability in a clinical setting: subtalar and ankle joint measurements. *Physical Therapy*, *68*(5), 672-677.
- Evans, A. M., & Scutter, S. D. (2006). Sagittal plane range of motion of the pediatric ankle joint: a reliability study. *Journal of the American Podiatric Medical Association*, *96*(5), 418-422.
- Fatone, S. (2006). *Session 3: Orthotics 1 (Lower Limb).* Paper presented at the State-of-thescience Report: RERC in Prosthetics and Orthotics.
- Fatone, S., Gard, S., & Malas, B. (2009). Effect of Ankle-Foot Orthosis Alignment and Foot-Plate Length on the Gait of Adults With Poststroke Hemiplegia. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 90*, 810-818.
- Figueiredo, E. M., Ferreira, G. B., Maia Moreira, R. C., Kirkwood, R. N., & Fetters, L. (2008). Efficacy of Ankle-Foot Orthoses on Gait of Children with Cerebral Palsy: Systematic Review of Literature. *Pediatric Physical Therapy 20*(3), 207-223.
- Gage, J. R. (1993). Gait Analysis: An Essential Tool in the Treatment of Cerebral Palsy. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research, 288*, 126-134.
- Gage, J. R. (1994). The Clinical Use of Kinetics for Evaluation of Pathological Gait in Cerebral Palsy. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery Am, 76*, 622-631.
- Gage, J. R., & Novacheck, T. F. (2001). An update on the treatment of gait problems in cerebral palsy. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics Part B, 10,* 265-274.
- Gibson, S., Graham, E., & Walker, L. (2008). *The effect of AFO shank to vertical angle on functional outcomes in children with cerebral palsy*. Paper presented at the 31st Annual Scientific Meeting of the International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics Australian National Members Society.
- Gibson, T., Jeffery, R. S., & Bakheit, A. M. O. (2006). Comparison of three definitions of the midstance and mid-swing events of the gait cycle in children. *Disability & Rehabilitation*, 28(10), 625-628.
- Goldstein, M., & Harper, D. C. (2001). Management of cerebral palsy: equinus gait. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 43*(8), 563-569.
- Gorter, J. W., Rosenbaum, P. L., Hanna, S. E., Palisano, R. J., Bartlett, D. J., Russell, D. J., Walter, S. D., Raina, P., Galuppi, B. E., & Wood, E. (2004). Limb distribution, motor impairment, and functional classification of cerebral palsy. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 46(7), 461-467.

- Graham, E. (2008). The effect of solid ankle-foot orthosis shank vertical ankle on gait in cerebral palsied and able bodied children. Adelaide: Novita Children's Services.
- Graham, E., Nguyen, T. C., & Walker, L. (2008). *The effect of AFO shank vertical angle on gait in children with cerebral palsy*. Paper presented at the 31st Annual Scientific Meeting of the International Society of Prosthetics and Orthotics Australian National Members Society.
- Graham, H. K. (2002). Painful hip dislocation in cerebral palsy. *The Lancet, 359*(9310), 907-908.
- Graham, H. K., & Selber, P. (2003). Musculoskeletal aspects of cerebral palsy. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery*, *85*(2), 157-166.
- Hainsworth, F., Harrison, M. J., Sheldon, T. A., & Roussounis, S. H. (1997). A preliminary evaluation of ankle orthoses in the management of children with cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 39*(4), 243-247.
- Hayek, S., Hemo, Y., Chamis, S., Bat, R., Segev, E., Wientroub, S., & Yzhar, Z. (2007). The effect of community-prescribed ankle–foot orthoses on gait parameters in children with spastic cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Journal of Children's Orthopaedics*, 1(6), 325-332.
- Herbert, R. D., & Bø, K. (2005). Analysis of quality of interventions in systematic reviews. *British Medical Journal, 3*(331), 507-509.
- Hullin, M. G., & Robb, J. E. (1991). Biomechanical effects of rockers on walking in a plaster cast. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery*, 73-B(1), 92-95.
- Hullin, M. G., Robb, J. E., & Loudon, I. R. (1992). Ankle-Foot Orthosis Function in Low-Level Myelomeningocele. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics*, *12*, 518-521.
- Hullin, M. G., Robb, J. E., & Loudon, I. R. (1996). Gait patterns in children with hemiplegic spastic cerebral palsy. *J Pediatr Orthop B,*, 5(4), 247–251.
- Hutchins, S., Bowker, P., Geary, N., & Richards, J. (2009). The biomechanics and clinical efficacy of footwear adapted with rocker profiles--Evidence in the literature. *The Foot, 19*(3), 165-170.
- International Organisation for Standardisation. (1989). Prosthetics and orthotics Vocabulary *Part 3: Terms relating to external orthoses* (1st ed.). Geneve: International Organization for Standardization.
- International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics. (1995). *Report of a consensus conference on the lower limb orthotic management of cerebral palsy* (No. 87-89809-02-5). Duke University, Durham, N Carolina: International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics.
- International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics. (2004). *Report of a consensus conference on the orthotic management of stroke patients*. Copenhagen.
- International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics. (2009). *Recent Developments in Healthcare* for Cerebral Palsy: Implications and Opportunities for Orthotics. Oxford.
- Jagadamma, K., Coutts, F. J., Mercer, T. H., Herman, J., Yirrel, J., Forbes, L., & Van Der Linden, M.
  L. (2009). Effects of tuning of ankle foot orthoses-footwear combination using wedges on stance phase knee hyperextension in children with cerebral palsy: Preliminary results. *Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology, 4*(6), 406-413.
- Jagadamma, K., van der Linden, M. L., Coutts, F., Herman, J., & Yirrel, J. (2007). Effect of four different sizes of wedges on the kinematics and kinetics of the knee joint of children with cerebral palsy during gait - a case study. [Abstract]. *Gait & Posture, 26*(Supplement 1), S38-39.
- Jagadamma, K., van der Linden, M. L., Coutts, F., Mercer, T., Herman, J., Yirrel, J., & Hogg, L. (2008). Effects of tuning of the ankle foot orthoses footwear combination (AFO-FC) on the stance phase knee kinematics of children with cerebral palsy. *Gait & Posture, 28S*, S45-46.
- Jagadamma, K. C., Owen, E., Coutts, F. J., Herman, J., Yirrell, J., Mercer, T. H., & Van Der Linden, M. t. L. (2010). The effects of tuning an Ankle-Foot Orthosis Footwear Combination on kinematics and kinetics of the knee joint of an adult with hemiplegia. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International, 34*(3), 270-276.

- James, A. B. (2008). Activities of daily living and instrumental activities of daily living. In Crepeau,
  E. B., Cohn, E. S. & Schell, B. B. (Eds.), Willard and Spackman's Occupational Therapy (pp. 538-578). Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins.
- Johnston, T. E., Moore, S. E., Quinn, L. T., & Smith, B. T. (2004). Energy cost of walking in children with cerebral palsy: relation to the Gross Motor Function Classification System. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, *46*(1), 34-38.
- Khan, K. S., ter Riet, G., Kleijnen, J., Glanville, J., & Snowdon, A. J. (2001). *Stage 2: Conducting the Review, Phase 6: Data Extraction and Monitoring Process*: NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, University of York.
- Kobayashi, T., Leung, A. K. L., & Hutchins, S. (2011). Techniques to measure rigidity of ankle-footorthosis: A review. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development, 48*(5), 565-576.
- Kott, K. M., & Held, S. L. (2002). Effects of orthoses on upright functional skills of children and adolescents with cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Pediatric Physical Therapy*, *14*(4), 199-207.
- Lam, W. K., Leong, J. C. Y., Li, Y. H., Hu, Y., & Lu, W. W. (2005). Biomechanical and electromyographic evaluation of ankle foot orthosis and dynamic ankle foot orthosis in spastic cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Gait & Posture*, 22(3), 189-197.
- Lehmann, J. F., Condon, S. M., Price, R., & deLateur, B. J. (1987). Gait Abnormalities in Hemiplegia: Their correction by Ankle-Foot Orthoses. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 68*, 763-771
- Lehmann, J. F., DeLateur, B. J., & Price, R. (1992). Ankle-foot orthoses for paresis and paralysis *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America*, *3*(1), 139-159.
- Lin, C.-J., Guo, L.-Y., Su, F.-C., Chou, Y.-L., & Cherng, R.-J. (2000). Common abnormal kinetic patterns of the knee in gait in spastic diplegia of cerebral palsy. *Gait & Posture, 11*(3), 224-232.
- Lucareli, P. R. G., & Lima, M. D. (2007). Changes in joint kinematics in children with cerebral palsy while walking with and without a floor reaction ankle-foot orthosis. [Paper]. *Clinics*, 62(1), 63-68.
- Lundgren, P., Nester, C., Liu, A., Arndt, A., Jones, R., Stacoff, A., Wolf, P., & Lundberg, A. (2008). Invasive in vivo measurement of rear-, mid- and forefoot motion during walking. *Gait & Posture, 28*(1), 93-100.
- Major, R. E., Hewart, P. J., & Macdonald, A. M. (2004). A new structural concept in moulded fixed ankle foot orthoses and comparison of the bending stiffness of four constructions. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International, 28*(1), 44-48.
- Maltais, D., Bar-Or, O., Galea, V., & Pierrynowski, M. (2001). Use of orthoses lowers the O(2) cost of walking in children with spastic cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 33(2), 320-325.
- Martin, R. L., & McPoil, T. G. (2005). Reliability of ankle goniometric measurements: a literature review. *Journal of the American Podiatric Medical Association, 95*(6), 564-572.
- Mayer, N. H., & Esquenazi, A. (2003). Muscle overactivity and movement dysfunction in the upper motoneuron syndrome. *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America*, 14, 855-883.
- McDowell, B. C., Kerr, C., Kelly, C., Salazar, J., & Cosgrove, A. P. (2008). The validity of an existing gait classification system when applied to a representative population of children with hemiplegia. *Gait & Posture, 28*, 442-447.
- McGinley, J. L., Baker, R., Wolfe, R., & Morris, M. (2009). The reliability of three-dimensional kinematic gait measurements: A systematic review. *Gait & Posture, 29*, 360-369.
- Meadows, C. B., Anderson, D. M., Duncan, L. M., & Sturrock, M. B. T. (1980). *The use of polypropylene ankle-foot orthoses in the management of the young cerebral palsied child*. Broughty Ferry, Dundee: Tayside Rehabilitation Engineering Services, Dundee Limb Fitting Centre.
- Meadows, C. B., Bowers, R. J., & Owen, E. (2008). Biomechanics of the hip, knee, and ankle (Ch. 22). In Hsu, J. D., Michael, J. W. & Fisk, J. R. (Eds.), *Atlas of Orthoses and Assistive Devices* (4th ed., pp. 299-310). Philadelphia: MOSBY Elsevier.

- Morris, C. (2002). A review of the efficacy of lower-limb orthoses used for cerebral palsy. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 44*(3), 205-211.
- Morris, C. (2007). Lower-limb orthoses. In Morris, C. & Dias, L. S. (Eds.), *Paediatric Orthotics* (pp. 44-66). London: Mac Keith Press.
- Morris, C., Bowers, R., Ross, K., Stevens, P., & Phillips, D. (2011). Orthotic Management of Cerebral Palsy: Recommendations from a Consensus Conference. *NeuroRehabilitation*, *28*, 37-46.
- Morris, C., Liabo, K., Wright, P., & Fitzpatrick, R. (2007). Development of the Oxford ankle foot questionnaire: finding out how children are affected by foot and ankle problems. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 33*(5), 559-568.
- Morris, C., Newdick, H., & Johnson, A. (2002). Variations in the orthotic management of cerebral palsy. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 28*(2), 139-147.
- Mossberg, K. A., Linton, K. A., & Friske, K. (1990). Ankle-foot orthoses: effect on energy expenditure of gait in spastic diplegic children. [Paper]. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *71*(7), 490-494.
- Natural Point. OptiTrak Optical Motion Capture Solutions. Retrieved 8th April, 2011, from <u>http://www.naturalpoint.com/optitrack/products/motion-capture/</u>
- Nuzzo, R. M. (1983). High performance activity with below-knee cast treatment, Part 1: Mechanics and Demonstration. *Orthopedics, 6*(6), 263-273.
- Ounpuu, S., Bell, K. J., Davis, R. B., 3rd, & DeLuca, P. A. (1996). An evaluation of the posterior leaf spring orthosis using joint kinematics and kinetics. [Paper]. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics*, *16*(3), 378-384.
- Õunpuu, S., Davis, R. B., & DeLuca, P. A. (1996). Joint kinetics: methods, interpretation and treatment decision-making in children with cerebral palsy and myelomeningocele. *Gait & Posture*, *4*(1), 62-78.
- Owen, E. (2002). Shank angle to floor measures of tuned 'ankle-foot orthosis footwear combinations' used with children with cerebral palsy, spina bifida and other conditions. [Abstract]. *Gait and Posture, 16*(Supplement 1), S132.
- Owen, E. (2004a). The point of 'point-loading rockers' in ankle–foot orthosis footwear combinations used with children with cerebral palsy, spina bifida and other conditions. [Abstract]. *Gait and Posture, 20*(Supplement 1), s86.
- Owen, E. (2004b). 'Shank angle to floor' measures and tuning of 'ankle-foot orthosis footwear combinations' for children with cerebral palsy, spina bifida and other conditions. Unpublished Master of Science in Rehabilitation Studies, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow.
- Owen, E. (2004c). Three day course in paediatric gait analysis and orthotic management Part 2. Unpublished Handbook. Chelsea and Westminster Hospital.
- Owen, E. (2005a). A clinical algorithm for the design and tuning of ankle-foot orthosis footwear combinations (AFOFC) based on shank kinematics. [Abstract poster]. *Gait and Posture, 22*(Supplement 1), s36-s37.
- Owen, E. (2005b). Proposed clinical algorithm for deciding the sagittal angle of the ankle in an ankle-foot orthosis footwear combination. [Abstract]. *Gait and Posture, 22*(Supplement 1), s38-39.
- Owen, E. (2010). The importance of being earnest about shank and thigh kinematics especially when using ankle-foot orthoses. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International, 34*(3), 254-269.
- Owen, E., Bowers, R., & Meadows, C. B. (2004). *Symposium: Tuning of AFO-footwear combinations for neurological disorders.* Paper presented at the ISPO World Congress, Hong Kong.
- Oxman, A. (1994). A checklist for review articles. British Medical Journal, 309, 648-651.
- Palisano, R., Rosenbaum, P., Walter, S., Russell, D., Wood, E., & Galuppi, B. (1997). Development and reliability of a system to classify gross motor function in children with cerebral palsy. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 39*(4), 214-223.

- Palisano, R. J., Rosenbaum, P., Bartlett, D., & Livingston, M. H. (2008). Content validity of the expanded and revised Gross Motor Function Classification System. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 50*, 744-750.
- Park, E. S., Park, C. I., Chang, H. J., Choi, J. E., & Lee, D. S. (2004). The effect of hinged ankle-foot orthoses on sit-to-stand transfer in children with spastic cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *85*(12), 2053-2057.
- PEDro. (2008, October 7 2008). Retrieved October 31, 2008, from http://www.pedro.fhs.usyd.edu.au/scale\_item.html
- Perry, J. (1992). *Gait Analysis: Normal and Pathological Function*. Thorofare, New Jersey: Slack Incorporated.
- Pharoah, P., Cooke, T., Johnson, M., King, R., & Mutch, L. (1998). Epidemiology of cerebral palsy in England and Scotland, 1984-9 *Archives of Disease in Childhood. Fetal and Neonatal Edition 79*(1), F21-25.
- Piazza, S. J., Chou, L., Denniston, N. L., McMulkin, M. L., Quigley, E. J., Richards, J. G., & Schwartz, M. H. (2007). A proposed standard for assessing the marker-location accuracy of videobased motion analysis systems. Paper presented at the 12th Annual GCMAS, Springfield, MA.
- Portney, L. G., & Watkins, M. (2000). Correlation *Foundations of clinical research Applications to practice* (2nd ed.). New Jersey: Prentice Hall Health.
- Radtka, S. A., Skinner, S. R., Dixon, D. M., & Johanson, M. E. (1997). A comparison of gait with solid, dynamic, and no ankle-foot orthoses in children with spastic cerebral palsy.[see comment][erratum appears in Phys Ther 1998 Feb;78(2):222-4]. [Paper]. *Physical Therapy*, *77*(4), 395-409.
- Radtka, S. A., Skinner, S. R., & Johanson, M. E. (2005). A comparison of gait with solid and hinged ankle-foot orthoses in children with spastic diplegic cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Gait & Posture, 21*(3), 303-310.
- Reinthal, A. K., & Hoy, D. (2005). The effect of systematically varying AFO ankle joint angle on the crouch gait pattern in an individual with cerebral palsy. [Abstract]. *SO Pediatric Physical Therapy 17*(1), 96-97.
- Rethlefsen, S., Kay, R., Dennis, S., Forstein, M., & Tolo, V. (1999). The effects of fixed and articulated ankle-foot orthoses on gait patterns in subjects with cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics*, 19(4), 470-474.
- Ridgewell, E., Dobson, F., Bach, T., & Baker, R. (2010). A systematic review to determine best practice reporting guidelines for AFO interventions in studies involving children with cerebral palsy. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International, 34*(2), 129-145.
- Rodda, J., & Graham, H. K. (2001). Classification of gait patterns in spastic hemiplegia and spastic diplegia: a basis for a management algorithm. *European Journal of Neurology, 8*(s5), 98-108.
- Rodda, J., Graham, H. K., Carons, L., Galae, M. P., & Wolfe, R. (2004). Sagittal gait patterns in spastic diplegia. *J Bone Joint Surg Br., 86*, 251-258.
- Romkes, J., & Brunner, R. (2002). Comparison of a dynamic and a hinged ankle-foot orthosis by gait analysis in patients with hemiplegic cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *Gait & Posture, 15*(1), 18-24.
- Romkes, J., Hell, A. K., & Brunner, R. (2006). Changes in muscle activity in children with hemiplegic cerebral palsy while walking with and without ankle-foot orthoses. [Paper]. *Gait & Posture, 24*(4), 467-474.
- Rose, J., Gamble, J. G., Burgos, A., Medeiros, J., & Haskell, W. L. (1990). Energy expenditure index of walking for normal children and for children with cerebral palsy. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, *32*(4), 333-340.
- Rosenbaum, P., Paneth, N., Leviton, A., Goldstein, H., Bax, M., Damiano, D., Dan, B., & Jacobsson, B. (2007). A report: the definition and classification of cerebral palsy April 2006.
  Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology, 49, 8.

- Rosenthal, R. K., Deutsch, S. D., Miller, W., Schumann, W., & Hall, J. E. (1975). A fixed-ankle, below-the-knee orthosis for the management of genu recurvation in spastic cerebral palsy. [Paper]. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*, *57*(4), 545-547.
- Sackett, D., Straus, S., Richardson, W. S., Rosenberg, W., & Haynes, R. B. (2000). *Evidence-based Medicine - How to Practice and Teach EBM* (2nd ed.). London: Churchill Livingston, Harcourt Publishers.
- Sackett, D. L., Rosenberg, W. M. C., Gray, J. A. M., Haynes, R. B., & Richardson, W. S. (1996). Evidence based medicine: what it is and what it isn't. *British Medical Journal, 312*, 71-72.
- Sankey, R. J., Anderson, D. M., & Young, J. A. (1989). Characteristics of ankle-foot orthoses for management of the spastic lower limb. [Paper]. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 31(4), 466-470.
- Schwartz, M. H., & Rozumalski, A. (2008). The gait deviation index: A new comprehensive index of gait pathology. *Gait & Posture, 28*(3), 351-357.
- SCPE. (2000). Surveillance of cerebral palsy in Europe: a collaboration of cerebral palsy surveys and registers. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 42*, 816-824.
- Sienko-Thomas, S., Buckon, C. E., Jakobson-Huston, S., Aiona, M., & Sussman, M. (2002). Stair locomotion in children with spastic hemiplegia: the impact of three different ankle foot orthosis (AFOs) configurations. [Paper]. *Gait & Posture*, 16(2), 180-187.
- Simon, S. R., Deutsch, S. D., Nuzzo, R. M., Mansour, M. J., Jackson, J. L., Koskinen, M., & Rosenthal, R. K. (1978). Genu recurvatum in spastic cerebral palsy. Report on findings by gait analysis. [Paper]. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*, 60(7), 882-894.
- Small, G. (1994). The orthotic management of the foot in cerebral palsy. In Condie, D. (Ed.), Report of a consensus conference on the lower limb orthotic management of children with cerebral palsy (pp. 123-126). Durnahm, N. Carolina: International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics
- Smiley, S. J., Johnston, R., Jacobsen, F. S., Park, C., Mielke, C., & Ovaska, G. J. (2002). A comparison of the effects of solid, articulated, and posterior leaf-spring ankle-foot orthoses and shoes alone on gait and energy expenditure in children with spastic diplegic cerebral palsy. [Paper]. Orthopedics, 25(4), 411-415.
- Smith, P. A., Hassani, S., Graf, A., Flanagan, A., Reiners, K., Kuo, K. N., Roh, J. Y., & Harris, G. F.
  (2009). Brace evaluation in children with diplegic cerebral palsy with a jump gait pattern. Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, 91(2), 356-365.
- Stallard, J. (1987). Assessment of the mechanical function of orthoses by force vector visualisation. [Paper]. *Physiotherapy*, *73*(8), 398-402.
- Stallard, J., & Woollam, P. J. (2003). Transportable two-dimensional gait assessment: routine service experience for orthotic provision. [Paper]. *Disability & Rehabilitation*, 25(6), 254 -258.
- Stanley, F., Blaire, E., & Alberman, E. (2000). *Cerebral palsies: epidemiology and causal pathways* (Vol. 151). London: MacKeith Press.
- Sumiya, T., Suzuki, Y., & Kasahara, T. (1996). Stiffness control in posterior-type plastic ankle-foot orthoses: Effect of ankle trimline Part 1: A device for measuring ankle moment. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International, 20*(2), 129 – 131.
- Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe. (2002). Prevalence and characteristics of children with cerebral palsy in Europe. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 44(9), 633.
- Sutherland, D. H., & Davids, J. R. (1993). Common gait abnormalities of the knee in cerebral palsy. *Clinical Orthopedics and Related Research, 288*, 139-147.
- Suzuki, N., Shinohara, T., Kimizuka, M., Yamaguchi, K., & Mita, K. (2000). Energy expenditure of diplegic ambulation using flexible plastic ankle foot orthoses. [Paper]. *Bulletin of the Hospital for Joint Diseases, 59*(2), 76-80.
- Teplicky, R., Law, M., & Russell, D. (2002). The effectiveness of casts, orthoses, and splints for children with neurological disorders. [Article]. *Infants and Young Children, 15*(1), 42-50.
- The Cochrane Library. (Updated February 2008). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.0.0* The Cochrane Collaboration.

- Thompson, N. S., Taylor, T. C., McCarthy, K. R., Cosgrove, A. P., & Baker, R. J. (2002). Effect of a rigid ankle-foot orthosis on hamstring length in children with hemiplegia. [Paper]. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, *44*(1), 51-57.
- Treatment Outcomes Committee. (2004). AACPDM Methodology to Develop Systematic Reviews of Treatment Interventions (Revision 1.1): American Academy of Cerebral Palsy and Developmental Medicine.
- van den Hecke, A. I. d., Malghem, C., Renders, A., Detrembleur, C., Palumbo, S., & Lejeune, T. M. (2007). Mechanical Work, Energetic Cost, and Gait Efficiency in Children With Cerebral Palsy. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics, 27*(6), 643-647 610.1097/BPO.1090b1013e318093f318094c318093.
- Van Gestel, L., Molenaers, G., Huenaerts, C., Seyler, J., & Desloovere, K. (2008). Effect of dynamic orthoses on gait: a retrospective control study in children with hemiplegia. [Paper]. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, *50*(1), 63-67.
- Van Gheluwe, B., Kirby, K. A., Roosen, P., & Phillips, R. D. (2002). Reliability and Accuracy of Biomechanical Measurements of the Lower Extremities. *Journal of the American Podiatric Medical Association, 92*(6), 317-326.
- Weist, D. R., Waters, R. L., Bontrager, E. L., & Quigley, M. J. (1979). The influence of heel design on a rigid ankle-foot orthosis. *Orthotics and Prosthetics*, 33(4), 3-10.
- Wells, G., Shea, B., O'Connell, D., Peterson, J., Welch, V., Losos, M., & Tugwell, P. (2008). The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. Retrieved October 31, 2008, from http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical\_epidemiology/oxford.htm
- Wells, R. P. (1981). The projection of the ground reaction force as a predictor of internal joint moments. *Bulletin of prosthetics research*, *10*(35), 15-19.
- Wesdock, K. A., & Edge, A. M. (2003). Effects of wedged shoes and ankle-foot orthoses on standing balance and knee extension in children with cerebral palsy who crouch. [Paper]. *Pediatric Physical Therapy*, 15(4), 221-231.
- Westberry, D. E., Davids, J. R., Shaver, J. C., Tanner, S. L., Blackhurst, D. W., & Davis, R. B. (2007).
  Impact of ankle-foot orthoses on static foot alignment in children with cerebral palsy.
  [Paper]. Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, 89A(4), 806-813.
- White, H., Jenkins, J., Neace, W. P., Tylkowski, C., & Walker, J. (2002). Clinically prescribed orthoses demonstrate an increase in velocity of gait in children with cerebral palsy: a retrospective study. [Paper]. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 44(4), 227-232.
- Wilson, H., Haideri, N., Song, K., & Telford, D. (1997). Ankle-foot orthoses for preambulatory children with spastic diplegia. [Paper]. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics, 17*(3), 370-376.
- Winter, D. A. (1987). *The biomechanics and motor control of human gait*. Waterloo, Ont.: University of Waterloo Press.
- Winters, T. F., Gage, J. R., & Hicks, R. (1987). Gait patterns in spastic hemiplegia in children and young adults. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*, *69*, 437-441.
- Wood, E., & Rosenbaum, P. (2000). The Gross Motor Function Classification System for Cerebral Palsy: a study of reliability and stability over time. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 42(5), 292-296.
- World Health Organisation. (2001). *International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health. Short Version.* Geneva: WHO.
- Wren, T. A. L., Rethlefsen, S., & Kay, R. M. (2005). Prevalence of Specific Gait Abnormalities in Children With Cerebral Palsy: Influence of Cerebral Palsy Subtype, Age, and Previous Surgery. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics*, 25(1), 79-83.
- Wright, J. G., & Feinstein, A. R. (1992). Improving the reliability of orthopaedic measurements. . Journal of bone & Joint Surgery Br, 74-B, 287-291.